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Chesapeake Energy Corporation

Corporate Profile

Chesapealie Energy Corporation is the largest indefendent and third-largest overall producer of natural
gasinthe US. Headquartered in Oklahoma City, the company’s aperations are focused on exploratory
and developmental drilling and corporate and property acquisitions in the Fort Worth Barnett Shale,
Fayetteville Shale, Haynesville Shale, Mid-Continent, Appalachian Basin, Permian Basin, Delaware Basin,

South Texas, Texas Gulf Coast and Ark-La-Tex regions of the U.S.

On the cover, a stylized
natural gas molecule
symbolizes the Age of
Natural Gas. Unlike coal or
oil molecules - which are
dense, complex and carbon
heavy - natural gas is a
light and simple molecule
comprised of one carbon
atom and four hydrogen
atoms, which results inno
particulate and fewer (0;
emissions. Because of its
molecular advantages and
its abundance, we believe
“carbon-light” natural
gas is the best answer for
meeting the nation’s and
the world’s ¢challenge of
generating more energy
with fess pollution.
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Revenues 3 .
0il and naturat gas sales $5.61 $3.8 119% $1.297 § 568
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Cumutative effect of accounting thange - - - 00 -
EFs “amuming fluflom =% 5 TR o gt 0 If £435 LS 4753 .S {1
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Balance Sheet Data (at end of period) l .
e R S Sl . s R T8 B IR 1 112 OO 1 ¥ ¥ 281
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[Stotkhoidess’ oquity (OGHOTY = o - en e, oo (B e v gt ol (81 130 Sl $6,174 13,163 §1,133 %
~Qther Operating and Financial Data -
Proved reserves In fatural s equivalents (bicke) . oIS 4507 AT fki
Fifire net oil and tul'l‘_ fevenies dstuinied SR §20504_ 158 s37
Natural gas price used in reserve report {per mcf) $8.76 §565 $5.68 §42
0ib price used in reserve report (per bbl) 45641 13900 $30.2 §30l
Natural gas production (bef) 122 o2} 40 1€
0il production (mmbtis) 11 68 47 3
[:Production (befe) -~ -5 750 (17 63 68 (L)
Sales price pes mcfe *** 1690 $5.23 478 §3€
Production expense per mcfe $0.68 1056 1051 $05
Production tayes per mete $0.44 $0.9 $0.29 $01
General and administrative expense pes mcfe $014 $010 1009 $01
Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense per mfe $153 $2.02 $1.69 114 §13
Numbes of emplovees (full-time at end of peried) 4883 2885 118 1192 8b
(ash dividends dedlared per common share ; $0.3 10155 Jo7 $0.35 160
{Stack prite {at end of petfod - spiit anusied) R §$39.0 | 85 0] 41650 SES 1. $1
* e page 25 Sor dehnetion of thes non-SAAP maxe.
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Chesapeake’s Five-Yeér Common Stock Performance

The adjacent graph 5600 - o - ] ' -
compares the performance ‘ As of December 31
of our common stock to a 1500 . - ) 500 e CHK
group of peer companies ‘ \/ = Peer Group'
and the S&P 500 Index :
for the past five years. o0 _ : W0 == S&P 500 Index
The graph assurmes an ;
investment of $100 on 0 . : 50
December 31, 2002 and / -
the reinvestment of all : / : .
dividends. The graph shows 100 o o $100
the value of the investment / /
at the end of each year. i =

1100 P 1100

Pi—mr e ©
124 03 [iF? 6] 0% ®

The 2007 peer group was comprised of Anadarka Petroleum Corporation, Apache Carporation, Cabot O & Gas Corporation, Devon Energy Cerporation, ECG Respurces, Inc., Forest Qi Corporation,
Newfield Expioration Company, Noble Energy, Inc., Occidental Petroleum Corporation, Pioncer Natural Resources Company, Quicksilver Resources, Inc., Range Resources Carporation, Southwestern Energy
Company, 5t Mary Larxd & Explaration Company and XTO Eneray. ne. Poga Producng Co. was nat wxhuded in the 2007 peer groun dus (o its acawsition by Plans Explocation & Producton Company.
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In 2007 it became increasingly clear that the public, media and policymakers lacked
a fundamental understanding of the merits of natural gas, espedally its abundance
right hereinthe USS.

Even the obvious benefits of natural gas were often lost behind a “fossit fuel” label
and its historical industry relationship with oil. The fact is, natural gas is unique.
It's CLEAN, ABUNDANT, AFFORDABLE and AMERICAN. No other available, scalable
fuel offers these four key advantages that make natural gas the best solution to our
nation’s most pressing energy, security and environmental issues.




Natural Gas Advantages §

Natural gas is by far the cleanest-burning hydrocarbon on the planet. We believe its
“carbon-light” structure represents a key advantage for America’s energy future.

cal

Natural Gas Is
Carbon Light

Naturat gas is by far the cleanest-burning hydro-
carbon on the planet. Unlike coal or oil molecules,

which are dense, complex and heavy with carbon, -

natural gas is a simple molecule with only cne
carbon atom and four hydrogen atoms. This results
in less CO; emissions and no mercury or particu-
late emissions. We believe this “carbon-light”
structure provides a key advantage for natural
gas in America’s energy future and is the reason
we have showcased the natural gas molecule on
the cover of this year’s annual report,

Since natural gas is readily available today, it's
also an immediate answer to the urgent need to
reduce carbon and particulate emissions around
the world.

A Greener Grid

As a fuel for power generation, natural gas emits
half of the carbon dioxide of coal. With the grow-
ing concern about climate change that has been
triggered by rising levels of greenhouse gas emis-
sions, such as from carbon dioxide, a consensus is
forming that America can no longer afford “cheap”
electricity promised from new coal-fired power
plants. In the past two years alone, proposed coal
plants have been rejected in at least 22 states.

At the same time, natural gas is a natural partner
for clean, renewable fuels such as solar and wind
power. It provides electricity when the sun doesn't
shine and the wind doesn't blow.

Particulates and mercury emissions, which are
additional problems with coal-generated power
plants, are virtually non-existent when burning
natural gas. Acid rain-causing sulfur dioxide emis-
sions are also absent.

EMISSION LEVELS:

NATURAL GAS VS. OIL & COAL
Pounds of Air Pollutants Preduced per Billion BTU of Energy

POLLUTANT NATURAL GAS ol
CARBON DIDXIDE 117,000 164,000 | 208,000
. (ARBON MONOXIDE 40 3 208
NITROGEN OXIDES 9 448 45
" SULFUR DIOXIDE 1 1122 2591
PARTICULATES i 84 2,184
MERCURY 0.000 0.007 0.016

Source: 5. Dept. of Energy, EIA “Naturat Gas Issues and Trends™

The public is just beginning to understand pollu-
tion's costs to public health and the environment.
Doctors and scientists have long seen the toll that
breathing polluted air takes at every age, contrib-
uting to serious heart and lung ilinesses.

The low levels of nitrogen oxide and sulfur dioxide
in natural gas - combined with near zero levels of
mercury, particulates and other pollutants - are
vital attributes, helping power plants, cities and
states meet EPA standards and protect their
populations.

In addition, climate change legislation makes
carbon-friendly natural gas the natural choice
for reducing carbon emissions.

Green Vehicles

As a vehicle fuef, natural gas not only cuts the
carbon dioxide emissions of gasoline by about
30%, but it also offers an alternative to U.S. ail
imports. Overall, vehicles that use compressed
natural gas (CNG) emit approximately 90% less
pollution than gasoline. Using clean CNG also
extends engine life, reducing maintenance and
operating costs.

These natural gas vehicles (NGVs) have been
popular around the world for decades, but are
just now gaining popularity in the U.S. There are
5 million NGVs worldwide, but only 150,000 in
America.

To date, most American NGVs have been fleet
vehicles, which are appropriate candidates for
natural gas fueling because of their high mile-
age and typically urban locations. Cities such as
Washington, D.C., Fort Worth, Denver and Los
Angeles were early adapters of cleaning-burning
NGV buses as they replaced diesel buses. Today,
22% of municipal bus systems in the U.S. rely on
CNG. There is also growing interest in the use of
CNG in refuse trucks and taxicabs.

Perhaps most significantly, NGV passenger cars
are gaining public notice, with performance and
operation equal to gasoline-powered models. Ad-
ditional model choices and the building of more
CNG fueling stations are key steps to broader use
of NGVs, as is the development of residential fuel-
ing davices which will allow owners to fill up natural
gas fuel tanks overnight if their homes are already
connected to natural gas distribution lines.

Clean transportation; natural
gas-powered shuttle buses
move Chesapeake employees
around the company’s corporate
headquarters locations in
Oklahoma City.

(ompressed natural
gas-fueled vehicles emit
approximately 90% less
pollution than gasoline-
fueled vehicles.
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a field of sunflowers epitomizes

natural abundance.




Natural Gas Advantages

7

Vast new natural gas resources are being discovered every year across North America,
and according to recent estimates, we have at least a 120-year supply.

Abundant

America is not running out of natural gas! Vast
new natural gas resources are being discovered
every year across North America, and according to
recent academic and government agency studies,
we have at least a 120-year supply.

Natural gas drilling activity is at 25-year highs and
supplies are rapidly growing. In fact, less than
2% of the natural gas the U.S. consumes comes
from outside North America these days. Yet many
policymakers and media hold on to the inaccurate
notion of natural gas scarcity.

Furthermore, natural gas has been the fastest-
growing primary energy source since the 1970s.
In September 2007, the Potential Gas Committee
at the Colorado School of Mines announced an
“unprecedented increase in U.S. natural gas re-
sources.” Its report indicates recoverable natural
gas reserves have grown by 18% in just the past
two years.

Stronger natural gas prices combined with new
horizental drilling techniques and well comple-
tion technolcgies have enabled U.S. producers
to unlock the potential of previously uneconomic
shale formations.

For example, the prolific Barnett Shale in North
Texas has become the largest natural gas field in
the country. Five years ago it was uneconomic to
develop, and today the Barnett Shale is estimated
to hold more than 26 trillion cubic feet of potential
natural gas reserves and is projected to produce
up to 50 vears. Other shale plays are located in
27 states acress America, many just beginning
to be developed.

A top priority for the American Clean Skies Foun-
dation (ACSF), based in Washington, D.C. and
founded in 2007 through grants from Chesa-
peake and others, is to provide the public better
information on the availability and abundance of
natural gas in America.

In 2007, ACSF commissioned research from tead-
ing academic institutions and scientific organiza-
tions to compare domestic natural gas estimates
with those of the government.

The resuits of those new studies will be made
public later in 2008 and should help correct
the chronic underestimation of U.S. natural gas
resources.

Abundant distribution: more
than 2.3 miflion miles of pipeline
transport natural gas from
production fields to consumers
across the nation.

Natural gas has been the
fastest-growing primary
energy source since the

1970s.
Sousce; U.S. Dept. of Energy, EIA

Located in the heart of the
Barnett Shale, at expected

peak production, Chesapeake’s
Dallas/Fort Worth intemational
Airport lease should rank as a
Top-30 U.S, natural gas producer
if it were a stand-alone company.

¥

B
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Downtown Fort Worth
provides a dramatic backdrop
for a Chesapeake rig drilling
24/7 in the Barnett Shale.
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Chesapeake’s industry-leading drilling activity helps ensure a steady supply of clean-burning
natural gas - and enables it to remain the affordable fuel of choice for America’s cleaner future.

Affordable

The affordability of natural gas is based on several
factors: its abundance, refiability, efficiency and
the cost of alternative sources of energy. Like all
commeodities, the cost of natural gas is affected
by supply and demand and can vary with inves-
tor sentiment, usage levels, availability, storage
quantities and weather trends. However, natural
gas has remained a great value for years.

The traditional price comparison between a barrel
of oil and ene thousand cubic feet of natural gas
{mcf) is a ratio of 61 because the energy content
of six mcf of natural gas is approximately equal to
one barrel of cil. Today, with oil prices over $100
per barrel, natural gas remains a highly attractive
alternative at its current price of less than $10 per
mcf. In fact, with $100 oil, natural gas at parity
with ail for its energy content woutd be priced
at more than $16 per mcf.

Today, with its superiority as the clean fuel, natu-
ral gas provides even greater value to American
consumers seeking solutions to ever-growing
energy needs,

Natural gas is abundant in North America and
around the world, and its supply is increasing
as technology unlocks previously unreachable,
uneccnomic sources such as in shales and other
unconventional reservoirs. Record-breaking
drilling activity - reaching a 25-year high in
2007 - promises a growing supply for many
years to come,

Not only is natural gas supply abundant, it is reliable.
Domestically produced and delivered primarily
through an extensive, safe and environmentally
friendly underground pipeline network, natural gasis
less subject to supply disruptions than other fuels.

This reliability, combined with its attractive cost, has
rmade natural gas the fuel of choice for many years
in residential heating. In 2007, the cost of heating
hormes with natural gas per British Thermal Unit (BTU)
was less than half that of electricity. More than half of
existing American homes are heated by natural gas,
with approximately 70% of new home construction
featuring natural gas heating systems.

Americans can count on the reliability and value of
natural gas to continue making their hormes comfort-
able and affordable.

Affordable, Clean Electricity

Today, natural gas value and reliability is being
put to increasingly good use in a larger arena, as
a growing number of utilities are choosing natu-
ral gas over coal for meeting growing electrical
generation needs. An overwhelming majority

of electric plants being constructed will rely on
natural gas because gas-fired combined-cycle
technology offers higher efficiency, less pollution,
lower capital and maintenance costs and shorter
construction lead times.

The cost of building natural gas plants is only 25%
that of highly capital intensive coal-fired power
plants, which can cost ratepayers $2 billion to $4
billion and often run over budget because of the
plants' size, complexity and rising global demand
for construction materials, such as steel and ce-
ment, and engineering expertise.

Since construction lead times for natural gas-fired
electrical generating plants are shorter, growth
can be accommaodated as required, which makes
utility systems more flexible and less subject to
guesswork about future capacity needs.

Natural gas also avoids the additional cost burdens
associated with more highly polluting coal-fired
plants, such as damage to the environment and
compromised public health. Finally, it is increas-
ingly likely that coal and il will bear a much
greater economic burden as a result of looming
future carbon emission legislation that may include
a carbon tax.

Affordable, Clean
Transportation

As a vehicle fuel, natural gas (CNG, or compressed
natural gas) makes great economic sense, cost-
ing approximately $1 to $1.25 less per gallon of
gasoline equivalent.

Congress has passed legislation which offers
incentives to use more natural gas in our transpor-
tation network. Cities and individuals purchasing
natural gas vehicles (NGVs) or converting gasoline-
powered vehicles to natural gas will be eligible for
tax credits for both NGVs and for home refueling
compressors. Already 22% of America's municipal
bus systemns are powered by compressed natural
gas (CNG), and we believe a good portion of the
U.S. automobile fleet should be converted to CNG
use as well. This would reduce pollution, lower
fuel costs, reduce costly oil imports and enhance
national energy security.

As the nation’s number one driller and largest
independent producer of natural gas, Chesapeake
achieved a 23% increase in production during
2007, as we successfully focused on develop-
ing domestic, onshore resources. We are doing
maore than our part to ensure a growing supply
of clean-burning natural gas - and to maintain
its position as the affordable and reliable fuel of
choice for America.

Affordable power: from heating
homes to fueling massive
electric plants, natural gas offers
value and refiability.

Natural gas is attractively
priced relative to oil, and
with its superiority as the
clean fuel, it provides even
greater value to American
consumers.




fuel, produced in 32 states

quintessentially American
from coast to coast.

Providing fuel for American
homes, natural gasis a
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As America’s leading independent producer of natural gas and most active driller, 100% of
Chesapeake’s production is located onshore in the U.S.

AMmer

Domestically produced natural gas reduces the
need for oil imports and supports our nation’s
economic vitality and security. Currently, about
98% of the natural gas Americans use comes from
the U.S. and Canada.

Meanwhile, we import almost 60% of the oil we
use, This creates a daunting financial burden for
the U.S., as our oil import bill will likely exceed $500
billion this year. Much of this capital is exported to
countries who do not share the same interests and
values as Americans. This leaves the U.S. vulnerable
to economic and political disruption,

Qil dependence also adds to the trade deficit, and
a weakened dollar is the result, Meanwhile, 96%
of our transportation is fueled by oil products — a
figure which has remained unchanged over the
past three decades.

By increasing awareness, availability and use of
domestically produced natural gas as a vehicle
fuel, we can reduce our oil addiction and reverse
its negative impact on our energy budget, our
national security and the U.S. dollar.

America’s natural gas industry accomplishes more
than reducing the flow of U.S. dollars overseas. It is
an economic boost to thousands of communities
in dozens of states across the nation, stimulating
economic growth and providing excellent career
opportunities, At year-end 2007, Chesapeake
alone employed more than 6,200 people, a

Caln

27% employment increase over last year.
The company paid more than $215 million
in production taxes during 2007, and paid
approximately $1.2 billion in royalty payments
to 122,000 mineral owners. These economic
benefits ripple throughout local, state and na-
tional economies, spurring business growth and
increasing prosperity.

The effect of even a single natural gas well is
significant. Last year for example, Chesapeake
spent $2.1 million to drill the Cole Family 1-16,
a typical natural gas well located near Marlow,
Oklahoma. Maore than 75% of its $2.1 million cost
went to 100 local service and supply companies.
Once the well began production, it paid annual
royatties totaling $1 million to 300 fractional
mineral interest owners and more than $425.000
in Oklahoma production taxes on the sale of
natural gas and oil.

That was one typical well and Chesapeake added
more than 3,600 new wells in 2007. Chesapeake
also owned interests in more than 38,500 other
wells in 2007, producing almost 4% of the nation's
total natural gas.

By demonstrating strong growth and increasing
both reserves and production, Chesapeake and
cother U.S. producers are proving that natural
gas will play an ever-increasing role in America's
energy future.

American at heart: the nation's
natural gas industry reduces

the flow of LS. dollars overseas
while providing an economic
boost to communities and states
across the nation,

100% of Chesapeake’s
prodiction is located
onshore in the U.S.

Scenic landscape in the Four
Canyon Preserve, a Nature
Conservancy project in Ellis
County in western Oklahoma.
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\

Since 2000, Chesapeake has actively built the nation’s largest natural gas B Counties with CHK Leasehold

resource base and now owns a substantial leasehold position in every

major onshore natural gas resource play east of the Rocky Mountains. We

recognized earlier than most of our competitors that vast new areas of the
' U.S. would open up for natural gas exploration and development when new
‘ horizontal drilling and completion technologies were applied to different

types of rocks (now commonly referred to as "unconventional reservoirs™)
in a time of structurally higher natural gas prices. We believed this decade
would go down in natural gas history as a once-in-a-generation opportunity
to acquire leases in the modern-day equivalent of the great Cklahoma land
runs of the late 1800s. Today that “land run” is largely over for Chesapeake,
and we believe we have emerged with a superior position by acquiring a
leasehold inventory of more than 13 million net acres, on which we expect
to drill more than 36,000 net wells in the years to come.
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@ Fort Worth Barnett Shale 1n 2007, the Fort Worth Barnett Shale was again Chesa-

peake’s area of largest investment and will be the most important contributor to our growth
in 2008. In the Barnett, Chesapeake is the second-largest producer of natural gas, the most
active driller and the largest leasehold owner in the Tier | sweat spot of Tarrant, Johnson and
western Dallas counties. We rapidly increased cur drilling activity in the play during 2007 and
expecl to be completing, on average, one new Barnett Shale well approximately every fifteen
hours in 2008.

@

2007 Total Production:
93 befe, +1N%", 13%*

123107 Proved Reserves;
2,063 hcfe, +81%", 19%"*

123407 Net Leasehold Acres:
240,000, +32%, 2%

@ Southern Oklahoma chesapeake's Southern Okizhoma area encompasses somme of

(klahema’s oldest and largest fields, several of which date back to discoveries in the early
1900s, This area is also home to Chesapeake's earliest drilling successes in the Gotden Trend
and Sholem Atechem fields. Today our activities focus on the Bray, Southwest Duncan, Colt and
(ement areas where we are developing botht conventional and ungonventional objectives. We
have recently made a new discovery it the Coll Granite Wash area of Stephens County that
looks very promising.

2007 Total Production:
68 bfe, +24%, 10%

123307 Proved Reserves:
B8O befe, +14%, 8%

12731707 Net Leaseholg Acres;
500,000, +29%, 4%

€ Anadarko Basin The Anadarko Basin, which remains one of Chesapeake’s largest areas

of natural gas production, is characterized by a wide variety of play types and depth ranges,
including some of the most complex and prolific natural gas reservoirs in the U.S. In this area,
{hesapeake remains the most active driller and largest producer and focuses on three major
play types found between 12,000 and 20,000 feet: deen Morrow/Springer; medium-depth
Red Fork and Morrowy/Springer; and horizontally drilled medium-depth Granite Washes. The
company's newest discovery is the estimated one tcfe Colony Granite Wash discovery made in
Custer and Washita counties in western Qklahoma.

2007 Total Production:
109 befe, +7%, 5%

12/34/07 Proved Reserves:
1i3 befe, +7%, 10%

12/31/07 Net Leasehold Acres;
690,000, +14%, 5%

© Northern Mid-Continent The Nerthern Mid-Continent area was a key contributar to

our growth in 2007 and incledes northwest Oklahoma, the Texas and Oklahoma panhandles
and southwest Kansas. In addition to various conventional plays in this area, we focus on the
massive Sahara unconventional natural gas resource profect. In Sahara, Chesapeake s by far the
dominant operator with more than 850,000 net acres under lease in this multi-county area of
excellent low-risk, shallow natural gas production. Since 1998, we have drilled over 1,400 walls
in Sahara and have pians to drill an additional 9,000 net wells in the years ahead.

. 2007 Tota! Prodluction:

138 cfe, +18%, 19%

12/31/07 Proved Reserves;
2,268 hicie, +18%, 2%

123107 Net Leasehotd Acres;
1,815,000, +20%, 14%

0 Oklahoma Arkoma The Okizhoma portion of the Arkoma Basin has long been an

extremely prolific natiral gas region. In this area, Chesapeake is targeting a variety of plays
ranging from complex overthrust geelogical targets in the southern portion of the basin, 1o
shallow horizontally ¢rilled coalbed methane wells in the northern portion of the basin, to
the unconventional Woodford Shale play in the western portion of the basin. In early 2008,
(hesapeake divested 27,000 net acres of Woodford Shale leasehold for $170 million to high-
grade its leaseholdings in the area.

2007 Total Production:
42 befe, +14%, 6%

12/31/07 Proved Reserves:
491 befe, +25%, 4%

1231107 Net Leasehold Acras:
540,000, +17%, 4%

O Fayetteville Shale chesapeake owns the industry's second-fargest acreage position n the

core area of the high-potential Arkansas Fayettevilie Shale play, totaling just under 690,000 nat
acres. During 2007, we accelerated our drilling activity and shifted to an aggressive develapment
program from initial testing of the play in previous years. As a result, the Favetteville Shale
play provided substantial growth in 2007 and will likely be one of the largest contributors to
the company’s 2008 production growth. We plan to drill more than 5,700 net wells on our
Fayetteville acreage in the years ahead.

2007 Tota! Production:
17 bicfe, +325%, 2%

1213107 Proved Reserves;
370 befe, +302%, 3%

12/31/07 Net Leasehotd Acres;
1,500,000, +18%, 10%

* (ompared to last year
** % of company {atat
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€) East Texas incast Texas, Chesapeake s focused on developing varioustight natural gas sand
formations inmedium tc deep horizons, including the Pettet, Travis Peak and Cotton Valley forma-
tions. Inaddition, we are one of the top three leasehold owners in the emerging Deap Bossier
play that has recently yielded impressive exploration results by the industry. New honizontal
play ideas have been developed as well and several of these will be tested in 2008.

2007 Total Production:
18 bcfe, +75%, 4%

12/31/07 Proved Reserves:
414 bicte, +7%, 4%

1R2131/07 Net Leasehold Acres;
625,000, +27%, 5%

€ Texas Gulf Coast chesapeake has established a significant presence ina number of counties
along the prolific Texas Guif Coast. Throughaut this area we utilize 3-D seismic data to delineate
structural and stratigraphic traps, primarily in the Frio, Yegua and Wilcox formations. During the
past few years, Chesapeake has obtained 2,000 square miles of 3-D seismic data and has drilled
a number of significant wells as aresult, During 2008, Chesapeake will drill severalimportant
deep wells in the area that will search for larger than normal reserve targets.

2007 Total Production:
Lilxle, T, 4%

12/31/07 Prowed Reserves:
105 befe, -2%, 1%

i2/31/07 Net Leasebiold Acres:
225,000, 1%, 2%

©) South Texas e SouthTexas area remained a significant area of atural gas production or
(hesapeake in 2007, In South Texas, our operations are primarily focused in Zapata County, which
is Texas' pumber one natural gas producing ounty and where Chesapeake is the third-largest
natural gas producer. During 2008, we will focus on developing deeper structural opportunities
that are deeper than our traditional Lobo and Perdido objectives.

2007 Total Production;
53 Icfe, +2%, 1%

12/31/07 Proved Reserves:
500 befe, -10%, 5%

12/31/07 Net Leasehold Acres:
145,000, -T%, 1%

D Permian Basin In the northern portion of the Permian Basin, Chesapeake has focused
on discovering and developing various shallow- to medium-depth oil and natural gas plays
and also operates a number of secondary recovery oil projects. In 2008, our facus in this area
will be on testing several horizontal play concepts that coutd have very important implications
for this district.

2007 Total Production:
29 hile, -17%, 4%

13/31/07 Proved Reserves:
528 bife, +10%, 5%

11/31/07 Net Leasehld Acres:
1435,000, +67%, 11%

(D Delaware Basin we have built the largest leasehold position in the emerging Bamett
and Woodford Shale plays. We believe that substantial natural gas reserves exist in this stacked
shale play and we are working diligently toward commerciality, The Delaware Basin akoincludes
the Deep Haley play, which is centered in Loving County, Texas. In Haley, Chesapeake owns the
industry's largest leasehold where we are targeting the prolific and gver-oressured Strawn,
Atoka and Morrow formations that are located at depths of 15,000-18,000 feet.,

2007 Total Production:
36 bufe, H25%, 5%

12/31/07 Proved Reserves:
462 bfe, +90%, 4%

12/31/07 Net Leaseheld Aces;
815,000, +22%, 6%

€D Louisiana in touisiana, Chesapeake is primarily focused on the northern porton of the
state where we are actively devetoping such prolific formations as the Hosston, {otton Vatley
and Deep Bossier, all of which are tight sand plays and offer significant upside potential. We
are also pursuing unconventional bjectives such as the Haynesville Shale in which we recently
announced a major discovery. The area appears to hold great promise or significant reserves
and production growth in the years to come.

2007 Total Production:
2 ixfe, -1%, 4%

12/31/07 Proved Reserves;
281 befe, -14%, 3%

12/31/07 Net Leasehold Acres:
265,000, +14%, 2%

& Appalachia often referred to as America's most crilled, buteast explored area, Appalachia
presents abundant growth opportunities through the application of leading-edge exploration,
drilling and production technologies in which Chesapeake is a recognized industry leacer, We
are currently testing the commerciality of various shate plays including the Marceltus and Lowar
Huron, in which Chesapeake has the industry’s largest combined leasehold position. We are
also assessing the potential of deeper drilling opportunities and will be aided by a substantial
amount of new proprietary 3-D seismic data. In Alabama, we are pursuing 2 variety of new
initiatives to develop unconventional shates and are currently drilling our first operated shate
well in Alabama.

2007 Total Produdtion:

> 8bele, +1%, %

12/31/07 Proved Reserves:
1,404 befe, 6%, 5%

12/31£07 Met Leasehold Acres:
4,550,000, +19%, 3%
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Letter to Shareholders

Dear Fellow Shareholders:
Welcome to the Age of Natural Gas! Just
as the 17t century and before was the Age
of Wood, the 18" and 19* centuries the Age
of Coal and the 20" century the Age of Qil,
we believe the 215 century will be the Age
of Natural Gas. No other company is better
positioned than Chesapeake to prosper in
this new age.

The cover of this year’s annual report features
animage representing the simple and elegant
molecular structure of natural gas - CHs, one
atom of carbon and four atoms of hydrogen.
This molecular structure provides the key to
understanding why the 27 century will be

prize in meeting the world’s energy needs.
A world powered by an abundant fuel that
is 80% hydrogen is a world powered by
a clean fuel that is superior to the more
complex carbon-filled molecules of coal
(commonly CusHasQaNS) or oil {ranging
from CsHy to CagHz).

As the Age of Natural Gas unfolds, Chesa-
peake plans to lead the way in developing
and producing the new supplies of clean-
burning natural gas that our nation and our
world will increasingly require to meet the
challenge of generating more energy with
less poliution.

The 21 century will be the
Age of Natural Gas and no
other company is better
positioned than Chesapeake
to prosper in this new age.

Chesapeake’s Okiahoma

City headquarters provides a
beautiful environment and a
distinctive corporate culture for
mare than 2,400 employees.

the Age of Natural Gas - it’s clean, abundant,
affordable and American. We are proud to
highlight these key advantages of our su-
perior product in this year's report.

Natural gas is 80% hydrogen, the most
abundant form of matter on earth and listed
first in the periodic table of elements be-
cause it’s the lightest of all elements. When
burned, hydrogen creates only light, heat
and water and it represents the ultimate

2007 In Review

The past year was a year of outstanding
achievement for Chesapeake. We be-
came the largest independent producer
of U.S. natural gas and ended the year
with our largest-ever backlog of future
drilling opportunities - more than 36,000,
representing approximately 100 trillion
cubic feet of natural gas equivalent (tcfe)
of potential future reserves. Despite volatile




Letter to Shareholders 17

N TTITIITI(ITT]

T

I

e .—-:—-.-Lm“;,__‘_,"gmm
o e s

¥ s
e
WA Ay

\

Gyt ot
PR

b i ;
&y 3

A s, ]
[ b
S
P .

i

: ’ﬁ‘"zf'i . Rt 3 N AR

) rey:C McClendon” —~ —

e Ehairm;gﬁot the‘h%? o
. -and (hief ExeculivedHicer-

1

IRAEIF

o
- ety L)
_ R

¥ & "‘a-"";?"f




18 Chesapeake Energy Corporation

oil and natural gas prices, modestly lower
realized hedging gains and slightty higher
operating costs than in 2006, our company
generated the strong financial and operating
results highlighted below:

» Average daily oil and natural gas pro-
duction increased 23% from 1.59 billion
cubic feet of natural gas equivalent
{bcfe) to 1.96 bcfe;

* Proved oil and natural gas reserves in-
creased 21% from 9.0 tcfe to 10.9 tcfe;

» Reserve replacement for the year
reached 369% at a drilling and ac-
quisition cost of $2.08 per thousand
cubic feet of natural gas eguivalent
(mefe)™,;

+ Revenues rose 6% from $7.2 billion to
$7.8 billion;

+ Adjusted ebitda® increased 13% from
$4.4 billion to $5.0 billion;

+ Operating cash flow® grew 14% from
$4.0 billion to $4.6 billion; and

» Chesapeake’s stock price increased
by 35%, from $29.05 per share to
$39.20 per share.

We are pleased with the market’s recognition
of our accomplishments over the years and
the value delivered to shareholders through
our stock price increase from $1.33 per
share at our IPO in February 1993 to more
than $46 today. This accomplishment is the
second-best stock price perfermance in our
industry during the past 15 years.

What were the keys to delivering this strong
operational and financial performance in
20077 As we have discussed in the past,
Chesapeake’s major advantage is our sin-
gular focus on delivering a great product,
natural gas, and the consistent execution of
a business strategy that is underpinned by
our industry's three key building blocks of
success - people, land and science. Each of
these building blocks is vital for significant
achievementin o(Jr industry and Chesapeake
has abundant inventories of all three.

Creating Shareholder Value

People - We always begin discussions about
creating shareholder value with a focus on
our employees, 6,200 strong at year-end
2007. Last year, we added more than 1,300

employees as the company continued to
grow its exploration and preduction (E&P)
activities and its service operations. Approxi-
mately 60% of our employees work in our
E&P business while 40% work for the service
cormpanies that manage our drilling rigs and
provide other field services that support our
primary mission of finding and producing
natural gas as efficiently as possible.

We are especially proud that Chesapeake
was named one of the FORTUNE 100 Best
Companies to Work For? in 2008 Two
other Oklahoma City-based companies re-
ceived this honor, giving our hometown the
distinction of having more of the FORTUNE
100 Best Companies to Work For® per capita
than any other major city in the U.S. In ad-
dition, Forbes magazine honored us during
the past year as “The Best Managed Qil and
Gas Company”® and we were also named
the “Hydrocarbon Producer of the Year” at
the 9% Annual Platts Global Energy Awards
in New York. We appreciate receiving these
accolades and look forward to maintaining
our high rankings in these surveys.

Chesapeake continues to place a par-
ticularly strong focus on expanding our
capabilities in the geoscience, engineering,
operations and land departments. Dur-
ing 2007, we added more than 400 new
employees in these technically focused
departments, an increase of approximately
20%. We also are hiring many new young
peaple throughout the company because
our industry faces a wave of retirements
during the next 10-15 years. Today, 40%
of our Oklahoma City headquarters work
force of 2,400 is comprised of employees
younger than 30 years old. We have cre-
ated an attractive corporate campus and
a distinctive corporate culture, enabling us
to attract the dozens of talented and dedi-
cated new employees needed every month
to meet the increasing size and scope of
our operations. Our early recognition of
the challenges of expanding the industry’s
work force has been a key advantage for
the company in executing its growth plans
during the past few years and will serve us
especially well in years to come.
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Land - To deliver great results, great people
need great assets and | believe Chesapeake
has the best assets in the U.S. E&P industry.
We now own interests in approximately
38,500 producing wells and we are add-
ing more than 3,600 wells every year.
Our assets are located entirely onshore
in the U.S. and they are characterized by
low operating costs, predictable decline
curves and substantial upside potential.
In an industry that until very recently was
incapable of growing its natural gas produc-
tion, Chesapeake has led the way in building
a backlog of future drilling cpportunities,
operating the nation’'s most active drilling
program and leading the industry in natural
gas production growth.

This drilling activity enabled the company
to increase its average daily natural gas
production in 2007 by more than 23%
compared to 2006, or approximately 350
millicn cubic feet (mmcf) per day. Including

inventory of leasehold. Why is lease owner-
ship so important? It's easy - without the
lease, any good geological or engineering
idea is just that, an idea. Our job is to turn
ideas into leases and leases into production
and production into shareholder value. We
have assembled a large and efficient lease-
buying machine to do just that. We now
employ 700 professionals in our tand and
lease records departments, plus we sup-
port more than 3,000 independent leasing
agents in the field who are researching land
ownership records and buying new leases
for Chesapeake.

As the industry has discovered that un-
conventional formations, especially many
shales, can now be made productive through
advanced horizontal drilling and comple-
tion technologies, a great land run has oc-
curred during the past five years to stake
claims to newly prospective areas. In the
exciting and historic tradition of the great

Chesapeale has won the
great land run of the early
2000s and now owns some of
the largest stakes in the best
shale plays inthe U.S.

our partners’ working and royalty interests,
our drilling efforts directly and indirectly
accounted for approximately one-third of
the industry's increase in U.S. natural gas
production during 2007. Remarkably, we
accomplished this performance using only
one-twelfth of the nation's drilling rigs.

Chesapeake now owns more than 13 million
net acres of leasehold and we believe this
is the independent E&P industry’s largest

Oklahoma land runs of the late 1800s, we
believe Chesapeake has won the great land
run of the early 2000s. We now own some
of the largest stakes in the best shale plays
inthe U.S,, including the Barnett, Fayetteville,
Woodford, Marcellus, Lower Huron and, most
recently, and perhaps most importantly, the
Haynesville. These shale plays complement
our ownership in other great plays, such
as the East Texas tight sands, the massive
Sahara play in northwest Oklahoma and the

Chesapeake owns almost 600,000
net acres of prospective leasehoid
in the core area of the Arkansas
Fayetteville Shale play.
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Granite Wash plays of the Anadarko Basin in
Oklahoma and the Texas Panhandle. Wher-
ever there is a big new onshore play in the
U.S., east of the Rockies, unconventional or
conventional, you will very likely find Chesa-
peake right in the middle of it.

Science - There has never been a more
exciting time to be a scientist in the E&P
industry. In addition to the marvels of
horizontal drilling, advances in 3-D seismic
technology have made understanding
the complexities of the earth easier and
locating hidden deposits of natural gas
reserves more successful than ever before.
Chesapeake leads the industry in onshore
3-D seismic information with more than 19
million acres of data now in inventory and
under evaluation. In 2008, we have bud-
geted $250 million to acquire even more
3-D, likely the largest budget for 3-D in the
U.S. Our view on 3-D is simple - we have
yet to shoot a 3-D seismic survey that has

in late 2006 and early 2007. This survey
is the only 3-D seismic survey ever con-
ducted at a major U.S. airport. Restricted
to shooting only at night and acquired
under the strictest of safety, homeland
security and regulatory oversight rules,
Chesapeake’s 3-D survey has been criti-
cal to our success in drilling Barnett Shale
wells at DFW. Using this 3-D information
to avoid intersecting major faults in the
Barnett Shale, we have been able to drill
more than 50 successful wells to date
and will drill another 250 or so during
the next three years. We are producing
approximately 60 mmcfe per day from
the DFW lease and project that peak
gross production may reach 250 mmecfe
per day by 2010, which should rank it as
a Top-30 U.S. natural gas producer if it
were a stand-alone company!

Another notable scientific achievement in
2007 was the completion of our Reservoir

There has never beena

more excting time than

today to be a scientist in
the EGP industry.

Scientists in the company’s
Reservoir Technology Center study
core samples with the aid of a
scanning electron microscope.

failed to significantly improve our odds of
finding natural gas reserves. In 2008 and
beyond, we plan to extend our leadership
in this area and will continue generating
and delivering the significant benefits of
this very important scientific asset.

Perhaps the most distinctive 3-D seismic
survey we have ever acquired was the one
we shot across the 18,000-acre Dallas/
Fort Worth International Airport (DFW)

Technology Center (RTC). Opened last
April, the RTC is where we “crack the code”
in evaluating new shale plays through our
proprietary analysis of shale core sam-
ples. Not all shales are created equally.
It is essential for us to determine whether
shale formations are likely to be produc-
tive prier to investing hundreds of mil-
lions of dollars leasing and drilling in a
new play. There were several shale plays
that Chesapeake avoided this past year
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because the RTC was able to predict they
would not be commercially productive.
The RTC also allows us to more quickly
evaluate new ideas and accelerate com-
mercialization of unconventional shale
plays, thereby giving Chesapeake a tre-
mendous head start on our competition.
We believe it's the only such proprietary
shale core research lab in the industry and
it provides a critical scientific advantage
for the company.

Results - Putting land, people and science
together working on great assets with the
right business strategy can create impres-
sive operational results and significant
increases in shareholder value. Although
we have 17 operating districts and dozens
of individual fields and plays generating
impressive results, | thought highlighting
our three most important plays could help
provide a better understanding of how
value is created at Chesapeake.

the second-largest producer of natural gas
from the Barnett with gross production
exceeding 650 mmcfe per day. We believe
we can continue growing our Barnett pro-
duction by 300-500 mmcfe per day during
each of at least the next three years as we
work through the company's backlog of
more than 3,500 undrilled locations on our
260,000 net acres of Barnett leasehold.
This play could ultimately provide nearly
10 tcfe of potential natural gas reserves
for Chesapeake. To accelerate production
and value creation from the Barnett, we
recently announced a planned increase in
our Barnett rig count from 40 rigs currently
to 45 rigs by year-end 2008.

Our second-biggest shale play is the Fay-
etteville Shale located in north-central
Arkansas. We entered this play in early
2005 and drilled our first wells in 2006.
Today we own almost 600,000 net acres of
prospective leasehold in the core area and

In less than four years, we

have become the second-

|argest producer of natural

gas from the Barnett Shale
in North Texas.

gt:.i‘—— -

ST

The most productive of these three areas
is the Barnett Shale. Centered around Fort
Worth in North Texas, the Barnett Shale
has quickly become the largest producing
natural gas field in the U.S. Chesapeake
made its first investment in the Barnett
in late 2004 with an 18,000-acre acquisi-
tion that included just 25 mmcfe per day
of production. At the time, that made us
barely a Top-10 player in the field. However,
in less than four years we have become

are producing 150 mmcfe per day, making
Chesapeake the second-largest producer
in the Fayetteville. The company’s future
looks very bright in the Fayetteville - we
have only drilled 150 wells to date, yet
have a drilling backlog that exceeds 5,700
future wells. This play could ultimately
provide nearly 12 tcfe of potential natural
gas reserves for Chesapeake. To acceler-
ate production and value creation from
the Fayetteville, we recently announced

Chesapeake plans to increase
its rig count in the Barnett Shale
from 40 rigs currently to 45 rigs
by year-end 2008.
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a planned increase in our Fayetteville rig
count from 12 rigs currently to 25 rigs by
year-end 2008.

Finally, | would like to highlight our new-
est shale success story - the Haynesville
Shale in Louisiana. This is a project devel-
oped in-house two years ago and through
great geoscience and engineering skill,
combined with early and aggressive leas-
ing work, we have made a major new dis-
covery. Although for competitive reasons
we have not yet disclosed any detailed
technicat information about the play, we
believe we have potentially discovered
at least 7.5 tcfe underlying our more
than 200,000 net acres in the play. We
believe the Haynesville will be among the
three biggest projects in Chesapeake’s
inventory for years to come and that it
could potentially have a larger impact
on the company than any other play in
which Chesapeake has participated to

is on creating shareholder value, we are
also focused on creating a better worid
around us. Fortunately, we believe that
is much easier to do when you produce
a product as environmentally friendly as
natural gas. But in addition to selling a
great product, Chesapeake goes above
and beyond the normal requirements of
good corporate citizenship in a number
of areas worth highlighting.

Environmental Stewardship - How a
great product is produced is sometimes
just as important as the value of the
product itself. That is why Chesapeake
has been a driver and adopter of the best
environmental practices in our industry.
For example, we have been a leader in
developing the ability to use one surface
padsite from which to drill many wells,
The fewer the padsites, the smaller the
footprint we make on the earth’s surface
and the happier our surface cwners are,

Chesapeake hasheena
driver and aclopter of the
hest environmental
practices in our industry.

A Chesapeake environmental
coordinator inspects one of the
company’s compressor stations
in West Virginia,

date. To accelerate development and
value creation from the Haynesville, we
recently announced a planned increase
in our rig count from four rigs currently
to 10 rigs by year-end 2008,

Creating a Better World

Certainly this is an ambitious title for
the next section of this letter, but | be-
lieve our shareholders should understand
that while Chesapeake’s primary focus

We have also been a leader for the past
15 years in the development of horizon-
tal drilling, which allows us to recover
from one well what could take as many
as 10 vertical wells to recover. Again,
less drilling means a smaller footprint,
more environmental benefits and greater
capital efficiency.

We are also pleased to report that in
2007, the American Clean Skies Foun-
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dation (ACSF) was formed through
grants from Chesapeake and others. It
is @ Washington, D.C.-based foundation
dedicated to promoting energy conserva-
tion and the greater use of cleaner fuels,
including natural gas, to meet our coun-
try's need for more electricity and less
pollution. More information on ACSF can
be found at www.cleanskies.org and its
online television affiliate can be viewed
at www.cleanskies.tv.

Finally, we made some new friends this
year. We reached out to two leading en-
vironmental organizations, the Sierra Club
and the Natural Resources Defense Council
{NDRCQC), to discuss areas where our inter-
ests might be aligned. In discussions during
2007 and thus far in 2008, we have de-
termined that there are many areas where
Chesapeake, Sierra and NRDC can work
together. We believe this collaboration
is unigue in the industry and will benefit

the plains of North Texas and Oklahoma
out to the deserts of West Texas and New
Mexico. In dozens of areas, ranging from
wide-open farm and ranch country to rural,
suburban and urban communities, Chesa-
peake is deeply engaged in the lives of the
communities in which we operate.

Our employees donate their time and
Chesapeake donates its resources to en-
sure that we are always focused on im-
proving the quality of life in the areas in
which we operate. During 2007, more than
1,200 Chesapeake employees volunteered
for dozens of projects and the company
donated more than $20 million to various
philanthropic and charitable endeavors.

One of our most satisfying and important
areas of stewardship is education. From
our various mentoring programs at local
grade schools to our Chesapeake Scholars
Program in colleges and universities, we

Through our mentoring
initiatives and our
Chesapeake Scholars
Program, we are investing
in the lives of young people
across our areas of operation.

Chesapeake Scholars from
Oklahoma State University are
Joined by the school’s mascot,
Pistol Pete.

both Chesapeake and these environmental
organizations for years to come.

Community Stewardship - Chesapeake
owns assets in 17 states and we current-
ly have drilling operations that stretch
from the Finger Lakes region of central
New York through the mountains of West
Virginia to the hills of central Alabama,
and then west through the piney woods
of northern Louisiana and East Texas to

are investing in the lives of young people
acress our areas of operation. The Chesa-
peake Scholars Program has become es-
pecially effective. We now have awarded
scholarships to more than 225 students
at 32 universities and colleges in 12 states.
This program gives us the opportunity
to invest in the lives of many deserving
young pecople and also helps increase the
number of qualified job candidates for
Chesapeake employment,
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Looking Forward

As much as | always enjoy writing this
letter and looking back at the year just
ended to reflect on the accomplishments
of the company and the value created for
our shareholders, | enjoy looking into the
future even more. Not that 1 have any special
insight into what the future holds - it's just
that I strongly believe this management team
is comfortable anticipating and responding
to opportunities and challenges in our in-
dustry. In fact, | would hope that observers
see Chesapeake as the most dynamic and
adaptable company in our industry.

Ever since entering this industry 27 years
ago, | have been energized by studying and
anticipating trends in the industry. We were
early to recognize the value of horizontal
drilling and to recognize the value of natural
gas. More recently we have been among
the earliest to understand the impact that
uncenventional plays would have on our
industry and our country.

Today we are entering a fascinating period
when both the U.S. and the world will be
grappling with one of the great challenges
of our time - how to supply more energy.
but with less pollution. It is increasingly
clear that natural gas is the only clean fuel
the U.S. has in sufficient quantities to meet
this daunting challenge. The problem is that
most policymakers and consumers believe
we are running out of natural gas and that
it can not be depended upon to meet the
growing need for more energy, especially
more clean-burning energy.

That is where Chesapeake has a rewarding
opportunity and an important responsibil-
ity - first, to convince policymakers and
consumers that our country and our world
has a rich endowment of natural gas, and
second to remain an industry leader in
increasing natural gas production year
after year so that our nation can continue
counting en the promise of natural gas - it’s
clean, abundant, affordable and American.

The Age of Natural Gas is now upon us
and | believe there is no other company
in our industry better positioned in this
new age than Chesapeake to create and
deliver shareholder value. | appreciate
the investments our shareholders have
made in Chesapeake over the years as we
have grown 740-fold from a $50 million
enterprise value company at the time of
our IPO in 1993 to a $37 billion enterprise
value industry leader today.

| also recognize and appreciate the efforts
of our Board of Directors, our manage-
ment team and our 6200 employees on
Chesapeake’s very successful 2007. | look
forward with great optimism to 2008 and
beyond.

Best regards,

Mo - Jprc Lt

Aubrey K. McClendon
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
March 31, 2008

™ Reserve replacement is calculated by dividing the sum of reserve additions from all spurces by actual production for the
corresponding period. We calculate drilling and acquisition cost per mcfe by dividing total costs incurred during the year,
less certain costs primarily related to unproved property acquisitions, geclogical and geophysicat cost and deferred taxes
refated to corporate acquisitions by total proved reserve additions excluding price-related revisions.

@ Adjusted ebitda is net income before interest expense, income tax expeanse, and depreciation, depleticn and amortizaticn
expense, excluding certain items that management beliaves affect the comparability of cperating results.

& Qperating cash flow is net cash provided by operating activities before changes in assets and liabiiities.

“ FORTUNE 100 Best Companies to Work For” listed in the magazine's February 4, 2008 issue.

) Forbes' Platinum 400 list of America's Best Big Companies and recognized as the best managed company in the Qil & Gas
Cperations category in the magazine's January 8, 2007 issue,

Note: Reconciliations and other information on the measures referenced innotes 1, 2 and 3 are presented on the Reconciliation
of Non-GAAP Financial Measures page on our wabsiie at www.chk.com

Qur nation can continue
counting on the promise
of natural gas - it’s clean,
abundant, affordable and
American.
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Responsiility

e

DOING A WORLD OF 600D

Operating in a responsible manner is more than the smart thing to do - it’s the right thing
to do. By taking care of our employees, our communities and our environment, we create
greater value for our shareholders and for future generations.
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(hesapeake’s 20 Million
of Charitable Giving in 2007

B Community Development 37%
T3 Education 35%

Social Services 18%
IR Heaith 10%

Charitable Support

As Chesapeake explores for and produces natural
gas, our operations invigorate the economies and
improve the infrastructures of entire regions. As
a corporate citizen committed to excellence in all
that we do, Chesapeake provides much-needed
resources to bring about brighter futures for the
communities where we operate.

Those resources take the form of both monetary
contributions and active volunteer participaticon.
Last year, Chesapeake contributed and com-
mitted $20 million to support programs in the
areas of education, health, social services and
community development. Just as important
as philanthropy, however, communities benefit
from our spirit of service, as employees lend a
hand to help the towns where they live, work
and play.

Chesapeake strongly supports employee par-
ticipation acrass a wide range of charitable
initiatives. Senior management team members
share their insights and leadership as board
members for nonprofit organizations. Rig hands
serve as volunteer firefighters. Land techni-

The company also supports education at the
elementary, middle and high schogol levels,
contributing to numercus public and private
schools. Last year, Chesapeake contributed more
than $150,000 to the Knowledge |s Power Pro-
gram (KIPP) ccllege preparatory middle school,
which serves low-income, inner-city students in
Oklahoma City. The gift will fund an extended
day program.

In addition to providing financial resources to
schools, Chesapeake employees in Oklahcma,
Texas and West Virginia bave chosen to serve
as tutors at local public schoals on company
time. These volunteers not only help students
with homework, they also serve as positive adult
role models,

Community Development

Everywhere Chesapeake operates, we strive
to build positive relationships with civic and
government leaders and to support focal initia-
tives for stronger, more vibrant communities. In
2007, the company’s community development
contributions funded projects as varied as the
cities and towns they benefited, including a new
youth sports complex in a rural West Virginia

Chesapeake employees
across the nation volunteer
time and talent in hundreds

of community programs.

Scholarship
{ontributions
2003 - 2007

cians tutor grade school students. Geologists
lead Boy Scout troops. Every day, Chesapeake
employees know that their time, talents and
contributions have helped enhance the quality
of life, both today and in the future, for their
friends and neighbors.

Commitment to Education

Investments+in education help ensure a bright,
talented work force for years to come. Chesa-
peake partners with educational institutions
from universities to preschools to help prepare
future leaders and citizens. Many of the com-
pany’s university-level partnerships focus on
scholarships for students pursuing careers in
the energy industry and the development of
energy-related programs. In the past five years,
the Chesapeake Scholars Program has grown
to include more than 225 students attending 32
universities in 12 states.

community and a $200,000 gift to the Fort
Woarth Zoo in Texas. Other programs focus on
historical, arts and cuitural institutions as well
as public health and fitness initiatives and civic
expansion projects. Together, these efforts will
strengthen communities for generations.

One such project is the Chesapeake Boathouse,
which was built in 2005 near downtown Oklahoma
City. Today the boathouse serves as a catalyst
for economic development along the Oklahoma
River. In addition to attracting world-class rowing
events, three more boathouses are being planned
by local universities, which will heighten the area’s
visibility as a premier American rowing venue.

In 2007, the company provided emergency funds
to assist a number of Oklahorma communities after
devastating ice storms, tornadoes and floods.
Through contributions to the American Red Cross
and other agencies, shelters were set up, meals
served and cleanup efforts assisted.
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Ensuring Employee Health
and Safety

Ensuring that our employees return home safely
each day is especially important at Chesapeake.
Drilling for natural gas can occasionally lead to
accidents, and we make it a top priority to reduce
aon-the-job injuries through training, education
and constant vigilance.

The company focuses on proper training and
education to help prevent accidents and conducts
on-site safety training and regularly scheduled
meetings to ensure that employees operate by
the company’s stringent safety standards.

Such efforts are paying big dividends. Chesa-
peake production employees in America's fastest-
growing natural gas play, the Barnett Shale in
North Texas, completed 2007 without a single
.S, Occupational Safety & Health Administration-
recordable incident - while logging more than
180,000 employee hours. In 2007, the company’s
operations showed a total incident rate ap-
proximately 8% better than the Bureau of Labor
Statistics industry average for crude petroleumn
and natural gas extraction,

Safety efforts extend beyond our rigsites into
the communities around them to ensure the
well-being of our neighbors. We continually
review and improve our drilling operations and
work closely with local responders to maintain
emergency readiness,

Environmental Commitment

Protecting the beauty of the areas where Chesa-
peake operates is an important part of the drilling
process, We start each job with caution and care
for the environment, an attitude that continues
throughout each well’s producing life’ Our objec-
tive is to leave each site in as good, if not better,
condition than when we started drilling.

Increased efficiency in exploration and production
of natural gas not only helps our bottom line, it
reduces our environmental footprint. Continu-
ally improving 3-D seismic technology provides
more precise infermation for locating natural gas
beneath the earth’s surface, resulting in fewer dry
holes and preventing unnecessary drilling.

At each potential drilling site, the company uses
its expansive Geographic Information Systems
database along with ground surveys to determine
potential environmental concerns, When sensitive
habitats are identified, our teams develop specific
plans with environmental stakeholders to mitigate
habitat disruption or avoid the area altogether.
Chesapeake also trains both employees and
contractors to construct drillsites that minimize

our environmental footprint. Leading-edge tech-
riologies such as horizontal wells and rmulti-well
padsite drilling allow the company to operate as
many as 16 wells from a single padsite, which can
reduce the acres impacted by as much as 80%
compared to conventional vertical wells.

Environmental Partnerships

In addition to operating in an environmentally
sound manner, Chesapeake partners with a
number of groups to preserve and protect the
earth and the people and wildlife with whom
we share it.

We work closely with government agencies at all
levels, strictly adhering to local, state and federal
regulations and participating in environmentai
initiatives. The most recent demonstration of
this commitment is our membership in the Envi-
ronmental Protection Agency's Natural Gas Star
Program, a voluntary initiative encouraging oil
and gas companies to work with the government
and each other to reduce greenhouse gas emis-
sions. Although we had ailready adopted many
of the practices promoted by the program, our
participation will further broaden our efforts.

Chesapeake partners with private and non-
profit organizations that educate the public on
environmental issues and preserve America’s
wilderness areas. We are a key contributor to the
Nature Conservancy and the Qklahoma Energy
Resources Board, which has remediated at no
cost to taxpayers more than 7,800 abandoned

wellsites across Oklahoma, most of which were | [nareased efficiency not only
drilled during times of lower environmental hEIDS ourbottom “ne lt

awareness. In addition, we support educational .
outreach programs from the Oklahoma Associa- reduces our enwronmental
tion of Conservation Districts and the Oklahoma | footprint.

Water Resources Board.

About a year ago, Chesapeake helped form a
Washington, D.C.-based foundation dedicated to
educating the public on the impertance of clean
energy and the environment. This new entity, the
American Clean Skies Foundation (www.clean-
skies.org), is already launching efforts to fulfill
its mission of providing objective information '
on energy and environmental policy.
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Building Better Communities

Over the years, Chesapeake has developed a reputation as one of the most phifanthropic corporations inthe U S,
It's just one of the ways we demonstrate our commitment to the communities in which we operate.

The Big Sandly, a tributary to the
Cheat River in West Virginia, hosts
whitewater kayakers frorm across
the country.

(hesapeake donated a
parcel of land to Friends
of the (heat, providing
kayalters improved access
to a popular launching
point at Rockville on the
Big Sandy River.

Festival Celebrates the
Cheat River Recovery

Chesapeake served as a major sponsor of the
13th annual Cheat River Festival in Albright, West
Virginia, in May 2007. The event is the largest
fundraiser for Friends of the Cheat, a group
committed to improving water quality, natural
beauty and recreaticnal access within the Cheat
River watershed.

The spring festival is an annual celebration of the
river, offering entertainment, music, refreshments,
art and a downriver whitewater race for kayaks
and canoes.

In addition to its sponsorship of the festival,
Chesapeake donated a parcel of land to Friends
of the Cheat, a group that will provide kayakers
improved access to a popular launching peint at
Rockville on the Big Sandy River, a whitewater
tributary of the Cheat River.

Since its founding, the Friends of the Cheat or-
ganization has completed numerous restoration
projects that have helped the river recover from
an accidental release of acidic water from a sealed
coal mine in 1994,

Habitat for Humanity
Makes Dreams of Home
Ownership Come True

Using volunteer labor and contributions, Habitat
for Humanity has provided safe, attractive, af-
fordable housing for more than a million pecple
in 3,000 communities. Chesapeake employees
donated their time, energy and money to support
Habitat activities in three states during 2007.

In central Oklahoma, Chesapeake supported Hope
Crossing, Hahitat's first energy-efficient residential
neighborhood. Each home in the development
features geothermal technology that uses the
earth as a natural contributor to heating and
cooling, providing homeowners with year-round
comfort, high-efficiency performance and much
lower utility bills. Chesapeake’s contribution will
help develop lots for as many as 66 homes in
Hope Crossing.

Employees in West Virginia alsc volunteered at
Habitat for Humanity of Kanawha and Putnam
Counties, donating 320 hours in a single weekend
to help build a new home for Connie Andrews,
just in time for Christmas.

Chesapeake’s Midland, Texas, field office and
employees supported their local Habitat for Hu-
manity chapter as well, contributing funds and
man-hours to the organization's “Building to New
Heights” campaign, which made 2007 the Midland
chapter's most successful year.

West Virginia employees lend a hand to
Habitat for Humanity.
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Discovering Tomorrow’s
Leaders in Zapata

Student leaders in Zapata, Texas, were recognized
through Chesapeake's Discovering Tomorrow's
Leaders Educational Sponsorship Program. The
10-week program asked Zapata residents to nomi-
nate young members of the local Boys and Girls
Club and the Zapata 4-H Club who demonstrated
outstanding leadership qualities.

Each week a winning entry was selected and
featured on local radio stations KKRG and KJBZ
and in the Zapata News. In addition, honorees
received plagues commemorating their achieve-
ments, and a refurbished computer was donated
to each honoree’s school in his or her name.

Winners were also honored at an awards dinner
where each of their names was placed into a grand
prize drawing for a personal laptop computer,
Laptop winners were Ramiro Reyes of Zapata
High School and Esteban Lopez of Fidel & Andrea
R. Villarreal Elementary School.

“All of the nominees and winners are very involved
in their schools and communities,” said Mike Laue,
Chesapeake Production Superintendent, “but
most importantly these outstanding leaders all
display a willingness to help others. They are all
very deserving kids."

Chesapeake recognizes young achievers
at an awards dinner in Zapata, Texas.

Communities Benefit from
United Way Contributions

Thousands of lives are touched each year by
United Way agencies across America. Last fall,
Chesapeake employees from New Mexico to West
Virginia pitched in to support the nationwide fund-
raising campaign with corporate and employee
gifts totaling more than $2.1million, a $500,000
increase from the previous year.

In Oklahoma City, the company's United Way
campaign kicked off with a Duck Derby Race and
culminated with a campus-wide Halloween party
complete with a costume contest and prizes.

Campaigns were also held in Charleston, West
Virginia; Fort Worth, Texas: Midland, Texas; and
Hobbs, New Mexico. Chesapeake’s Eastern Division

Thousands of toy ducks go into Chesapeake Creek at the company’s United Way kickoff celebration.

was actively involved through its annual United
Way Day of Caring. Employees in Charleston,
West Virginia, spent a day landscaping the lawn
outside of the Hubbard Hospice House, a United
Way sponsored agency. "It was great to see how
our contributions are really helping people in
need,” said Natasha Caines, Human Resources
Assistant - Eastern Division.

Revitalizing Heber Springs
Heber Springs, Arkansas, is receiving a much-
needed facelift intended to help stimulate eco-
nomic growth and improve the appearance of the
city's downtown district. Chesapeake contributed
to the revitalization through the Downtown Net-
work Heber Springs organization.

"Downtown Heber Springs is a great place to live,
work and shop, but we also want to make it an
attractive investment option,” said Mary Margaret
Couch, President of Downtown Network Heber
Springs. “This generous donation from Chesapeake
will help us achieve our objectives.”

WTS o X . o
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Downtown Heber Springs, Arkansas

“This generous donation
from Chesapeake will
help us to achieve our
objectives.”

- Mary Margaret {ouch
President
Downtown Network
Heber Springs
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Health, Safety and Environment (HSE)

Recognizing its role as a steward of the environment, Chesapeake takes great pride in the
- safe production of clean-burning natural gas.

Noise-dampening technology
allows Chesapeake rigs to
operate between 45 and

65 decibels in Barnett Shale
neighborhoods. Normal
conversation levels are
approximately 60 decibels.

Noise Control innovations
Help Make Chesapeake a
Good Neighbor

Gary Eidsnees, Texas Operations Manager for
Environmental Noise Control, says that when it
comes to controlling noise in residential areas,
Chesapeake “is one of the best companies at
staying ahead of the game.”

Most municipalities have strict ordinances detailing
when normal sound levels can be exceeded and
by how much. Chesapeake's goal when finding
and producing energy in urban areas is to perform
better than those ordinances require.

The company uses advanced muffler technology
and rig design, control engineering techniques and
mechanical shields ta reduce the noise footprint
of drilling and production equipment.

“When Chesapeake put up a rig a block from my
apartment, | was expecting it to be very loud,” said
Carol A. Ray-Odems, who works in the develop-
ment department of the oil and gas applications
division for the city of Fort Worth. "It wasn't loud
at all. We can sit out on the balcony and talk and
you can't even hear it.”

Promoting Employee
Health and Wellness

Chesapeake promotes health and wellness among
its employees by encouraging and rewarding
healthy lifestyles. To accomplish its fitness goals,
the company built a state-of-the-art fitness facil-
ity at corporate headquarters in Oklahoma City.
With more than 80% of the company's corporate
staff employees joining, an expansion project is
underway that will almost double the facility's size
to 71,000 square feet. Oklahoma City employees
also benefit from the new Chesapeake Health
Center, which opened in November 2007, provid-
ing a wide range of medical and dental services
to employees and their families.

The company's health and wellness programs
extend far beyond Oklahoma City. Fitness mem-
berships and programs are available for employ-
ees in the company's regional and field offices.
Field services employees have an opportunity to
participate in the company's Living Well Program.
Through Living Well, employees can earn sizable
cash bonuses each year by exercising, completing
three prevention measures, and taking an an-
nual wellness performance assessment. Almost
2,000 employees are enrclled in Living Well for
2008, hoping to improve their health and overall
wellness - and put cash in their pockets.

Employeas use the oh-campus fitness facility in Oklahoma City.
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Long-Standing Partnership
With The Nature Conservancy

Chesapeake's dedication to protecting the earth's
plants, animals and natural habitats through
endowments, contributions and support of lo-
cal preserves has resulted in a successful and
long-standing partnership with The Nature Con-
servancy.

The creation of the Chesapeake Endowment for
Stewardship in West Virginia, serves to testify
to the company's continued dedication to The
Nature Conservancy and its mission. This latest
contribution will allow for conservation easerment
in needed areas throughout West Virginia.

In northern Oklahoma, the company's continued
support of the restoration of the 38,000-acre
Tallgrass Prairie Preserve has resulted in a rein-
troduction of the once endangered bison. The
herds of bison, seen today roaming the pre-
serve, have once again become a mainstay to
the prairie’s ecosystem.

The Nature Conservancy helps protect wildlife
across America.

Nomac Crews Achieve
Remarkable Safety
Performance in 2007

Seventeen Oklahoma and Texas Nomac crews
were honored for outstanding safety performance
in 2007. Nomac is Chesapeake's Mid-Continent
drilling subsidiary. Each crew worked an entire
calendar year without sustaining any U.S. Occupa-
tional Safety & Health Administration-reportable
incidents. One Oklahoma rig crew, on Nomac
#10, celebrated two years incident free. Nomac
celebrated the 12-month safety milestone of each
rig with special receptions and dinners for each
of the crews.

“With many, many seven-day weeks, 10- to 12-hour
days and millions of pounds of iron and equipment,
achieving no injuries in a year is a great feat,” said
Jerry Townley, Nomac Operations Manager. “The
men definitely deserve this honor.”

“This is a remarkable accomplishment given their
hours of hard work amid record-breaking wet
weather and the company’s growth,” said Sam
McCaskill, President - Nomac Drilling. “In the
past three years, Nomac has grown at an average
annual rate of 170%.”

A derrickman checks pipe on a Nomac drilling rig.

Nomac operates many of the company’s rigs cur-
rently working in Oklahoma, Texas, Arkansas and
Louisiana. During the past year, Nomac added 15
rigs to its fleet, a 31% increase from 2006. Thirteen
of the rigs were new builds and two were added
from Nomac's sister company, Yost Drilling, bring-
ing the company’s total rig fleet to 81

Contractor Training for HSE

Chesapeake believes workplace safety, employee
welfare, protection of our natural resources, care
of the enwironment and compliance with govern-
ment legisiation should be a fundamental part of
our business philosophy and daily operations.

That commitment extends to outside companies
who do contract work for Chesapeake, but some-
times contractors lack the human, physical and
financial resources necessary to meet and maintain
our rigorous safety standards. S0 Chesapeake has
designed its own Site Construction Contractor
Training Program. Launched in Arkansas during
2007, the program is rolling out in other operat-
ing areas this year.

By educating contractors on important environ-
mental and safety topics, Chesapeake takes a
proactive approach to reducing environmental
impact while improving contractors’ operations
at the same time.

“l want to thank you for the opportunity to
attend the environmental training provided by
Chesapeake for their pad site contractors,” wrote
Zachary Schools, General Manager - Arkansas
Operations, Global Erosion, Inc. “I believe the
training and materials you provided will be ben-
eficial to your contractors. Also, | felt the Arkan-
sas Department of Environmental Quality and
Arkansas Fish & Wildlife were a helpful addition
to your presentation.”

“This is a remarkable
accomplishment given
their hours of hard work
amid record-breaking
wet weather.”

- Sam McCaskill
President
Nomac Drilling Corperation
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Board of Directors

e

Aubrey K. McClendon Richard K. Davidson Frank Keating Breene M. Kerr Charles T. Maxwell

Chairmian of the Board Former CED and Chairman Former Governor, Oklahoma Private Investor Senior Energy Analyst
and Chief Executive Officer Union Pacific Corporation President and CEO Easton, MD Weeden & (0.
Oklahoma City, 0K Omaha, NE American Council of Life Insurers 1)} Greenwich, (T

1.3 Washington, B.C. @

Merrill A, “Pete” Miller, Jr.  Don Nickles Frederick B. Whittemore
(hairman, President and (EO Former US. Senator, Oklahoma Advisory Director
National Qilwell Yarco, Inc. Founder and Principal Morgan Stanley
Houston, TX The Nickles Group New York, NY
)] Washington, 0. 23
U]

() Audit Committee
{2) Compensation Committee
() MNominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Corporate Governance

Qur Board of Directors is responsible to our sharehaolders for ihe oversight of the company and for the imptementation and operation of an efiective and sound corporate governance environment.
We believe that effective corperate governance contributes to tong-term corporate performance. An effedive governance structure should reinforce a culture of corporate integrity, faster the
company’s pursuit of long-term strategic goals of growth and profit, and ensure quality and continuity of corporate leadership. Our directors will continue to be diligent in their efforts to preserve
the public trust while fostering the long-term success of the company,
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Corporate Officers

Aubrey K. McClendon Marcus C. Rowland
(hairman of the Board Executive Vice President
and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

1

Martha A. Burger Jeffrey A. Fisher

Senior Vice President - Senior Vice President -
Hurnan and Corporate Resources Production

Michael A. Johnson Stephen W. Miller
Senior Vice President - Senior Vice President -
Accounting, Controlles Drilling

and Chief Accounting Offices

Steven C. Dixon Douglas J. Jacobson J. Mark Lester
Executive Vice President - Executive Vice President - Executive Vice President -
Operations and Chief Operating Officer  Acguisitions and Divestitures Exploration

Jennifer M. Grigshy
Senior Vice Presicient,
Treasurer and Corporate Secretary

2=

Jeffrey L. Mobley
Senior Vice President -
Investor Relations and Research

Henry J. Hood James (. Johnson
Senior Vice President - Senior Vice President -
Land and Legal and General Counsel  Energy Marketing

Thomas S. Price, Jr. (athy L. Tompkins

Senior Vice President - Senior Vice President -
Corporate Development Information Technology

and {hief Information Officer
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Our Emplovees

1988 (4)
Wark Lester
Kinney Louthan
Aubrey McClendon
Patsy Watters

1990 (5)
Kevin Decker
David Higgins.
Linda Peterburs
Cindli Williams
Jaft Willams

1991 (9)
Steve Dixon

Wes Kruckenberg
Joe McClendon
Marilyn Pollard
Patli Schiegel
Yivian Smith
John Striplin
Randy Summers
Lkie Washam

1992 (3)
Tom Price
Melanie Weaver
Ken Will

1993 (7)
Ratph Ball
Davidl Desaivo
{harles Imes
Mike Johnson
Randy G. Piesce
Mar¢ Rowlang
Dave Wittmar

1994 (18)
Barbara Bale
Martha Burger
Michael Coles
Teakd (00K

Ron Goff

Greg Knight

Dan LeDonne
Felipe Maldonade
Steve Miller
Tommy Morphew
Pat Pope

Bobby Portille
Danny Rutledge
Stepharie Shedden
Ronnie Ward
Janet Weeks
Shelly White
Gerald Zgabay

1995 (35)
Richay Albright
Paula Asher

Eric hshimore
Randy Borlaug
Shelli Butler
Leon Carmona
llan Cathey
Meltssa Chambers
Dale Cook

Ted Davis
Mandy Duane
Kyle Essmiller
Steve Gasking
Jennifer Grigsby
Ciff Hanodh
Gavle Harris
Carol Holden
Henry Hood

Lorrie Jacobs
Mike Jehnston
Jesse Langford Jr.
Barty Langham
(indy LeBlanc
Leland Murray
Fred Portitio
John Quatk

Pal Rolla

Hank Scheei
Charles Scholz
Charlie Smith
Stan Stinnett
Brenda Stremble
Greg Weinschenk
Brian Winter
limmy Wright

1996 {35)
Heather Anderson
Judy Arias
Jamie Carter
Jasen Davis
George Denny
Tim Denny

Gary Dunlap
Laurie Eck

Jan Fair

Barbara Frailey
Linda Gardner
Charlene Glover
Randy Goben
Jim Gomez
Melissa Gruanewald
Doug Johnson
Jim Johson
Tavior Kemp
Sandi Lagaly
Mike Lebsack
Steve Lepretre
lanet Lowrey
Larry Lunardi
John Marks
Carnol McCoy

Liz Muskrat
Angela Ports
Buddty Powedl Jr.
Tommy Putz
Bryan Sagebiel
Kurt Schrantz
Ricky Sruggs
Phyllis Trammelt
Joa Yaughan
Allan Waldroup

1997 (36}
Linda Allen

Karla Aftford
Sara Caldwel)
Steve Cody
Kristine Conway
Randy (omelsen
Michelle Culten
Bruce Dixon
Greg Drwenski
Mark Evans

Joy Franklin

Rob ilkes

Kim Ginter
Shane Hamilton
Michael Hem
Eric Hughes
David 8. Jones
Susan Keller
Carolyn Lindmark
Wike Ludiow

Sarah Lumen
Lauren Matock
Sam MeCaskil
Bab Nely

Bab Pope

Erick Porter

Les Rodman
Jolene Schur
April Smith
Wilma Smith
Lynda Townsend
Frank Unsicker
Ivajean Wallace
Craig White
Diri Witliams
Curtis Williford

1998 (72)
Stephen Adams
{rae Barr
Francy Beesley
Joel Bennett
Leonard Berpy Jr.
Susan Bradtord
Waida Brawley
Mark Brown
Randy Brown
Lovi Budde

Ken Bynum
Tetry Caldwell
Bob Campbell
Ted Camphelf
Jesse Canaan
Sheni Childers
Tana Clark
Jeninifer (pelznd
David Crayeraft
Iris Drake

Mac Drake

Don Dunn

Gary Egger
Steve Emick
Dan Estes

Gary Finn
Charles Royd
Dennis Frick
Randy Gasaway
Stacy Gilbert
Jim Gowen
Kelsey Hammit
Tresa Hammond
Jeff L Barrls
Debbie Hulett
Jutis Ingranm
Tammw kelln
Rose Kim

Steve King
Hike Lancaster
Chris Lee

Carrie Lewis-Crawford
(raig Madsen
John Marshafl
Kim Massey
Allen Way
Dennis McGae
Allen A, Miller
Bil Miller

Carey Milligan
David Mobley
Wes Myers

Bud Reff ir.
Kathy Nowlin
Don Pannell
Michael Park
Mandy Pena
Matt Rockers

At Chesapeake, the talent and commitment of our employees is the key factor to the successful execution of the company’s business
strategy to produce clean-huming natural gas. We have grown from 462 employees in 2000 t 6,219 at the end of 2007, with 60%
of those working in our E&P oparations and 40% in our service operations. Nearly 2,500 of those employees are in the company’s
industry-leading geoscience, land, engineering and operations departments. We appreciate the etforts and achievements of all
(hesapeake employees and we are proud they have chosen our company as their professional home.

Keliy Ruminer
Oan Scolt

Greg Small

Bill Snydear
George Solo

Dan Sparks

Linda Steen
Becky Thomas
John Tracy
Jonnifer Yan Meir
Shelby YanWinkle
Rusty Walker
Lynn Whipple
Mancly Whipple

1999 (27
Jonathan Balf
Mel Barker

Sure Black

Dory Dovglas
Mark Edge
Jenny Ferguson
Jeanie Fulter
Dan Garvey
Susan Green
Yamei Hou
Doug Jacobson
Jim Kedley
Sleve Lane
Lynn Looper
Beg Mengers.
Michae} Mitter
David Mutray

Tammy Nguyen
Lacosta Rawls
Tom Sharp
Larry Shipley
Michelle Smith
Trish Thompson
Connie Turner
Courtney Tyson
Tonya Yallerand
Tobin Yocham

2000 (53)
Shellie Ashworth
Johnnie Bartlett
Doug Bailis
JanBenton
Bobby Bollon
Jett Brooks

Mike Brown
Tom Carroll
Becky (assel
Rachel Clapp
Debbie Curtis
Keith Curtis Jr.
Mark Deal
Tarmmy Fields
Gregg Flaming
Pam Fard

Rabin Gonzalez
Annie Hamillen
Mary Hartman
Twila Hines

Eric Hoffman
Ronnie Howell
Jennifer Jatques
Jim Kehiman

Don Lee

Debbie Lioyd
Jay May Ir.
Andrea Mecall
Cindy McClintack
Collin MeEiath
(ourtney Moad
Geortria Moller
Meca Dshan
Edward Puffinbarger
Hike Sawatzky
{indy Schwiegar
Brent Scruggs
Yance Shires
Stuart Skelton
David Smith
Sandr Smith
Chantelle Sousa
(atherin Stairs
Jerry Tewnley
Rol Underwood Jr.
Warig Warrick
Rick Wavers
Brenda Wheeler
Bob Whitman
David Whitten
Brent Williams
Bob Woodside
Kendra Zmek

2001 (M7)
Sharlot Abernatha
Jerry Aebi

Karen Atbarnoz (ranford
Jeremy Allison
David Anderson
Terry Ashton
Setsy Ball

Gloria Bates
Michelle Bender
Bruce Boeckman
Boyte Boelen
Sharon Bradford
Tom Brennan
Von Brinkley
Dearne Brooks
Marty Byrd
Carlos Caraveo
Bilf Carter

John Carter

Keith (ase
Marika Chambers
Kristi Clemmens
Tim Cloud
Kyle{ale

John Cook

Tim Cook

Juznita Cooper
Jim (orsoro
Leigh Ann{rain
James (ropp
Brian Cunningham
Garry Cumry
Shawn Downey
Jeft Eager
Richard Easterly
Tommy Edler
Amanda Elam
Brian Exline

Hlex Gallardo Ir.
Kristin Galloway
Matt Garmbill

Roy Gentry
Suzie Goolshy
Randy Grayson
Richard . Green

Kajsa breenhoward
Jackie Grass
Johnny Hariis
Melanie Hayhurst
Jeremiah Jackson
Knsta Jcobson
lustin: Johnson
Keith Johnson
Rob lones

John Kapchinske
Ginni Kennedy
Edward Killen
Jutie Knox
Daniel Koehn
Kennetta Lee
Jeff Lenockar
Julia Lillard
Darwin Lindenmuth
Trawvis Long
Peter Manter
Rita Marple
JimMazza
Kenny McGuire Jr.
Jim McHenry
Debbie Mrkee
Gon Messerly
Bobhy Mitchell

1. C. Marris
Melinda Neher
Lee Nelson
Kewin Newherry
Tim Newville
Shanon Norton
Deborah §'Neal
Daron Patterson
Ricky Petty
Dianne Pickard
Catherine Ratliff
Lynn Regouby
Gina Romano
Johr Romine
Larry Ross

Wika Rossiter
Don Rozzel
Lindsay Seaman
Larry Seitle
Mike Shilar Jr.
Dee Smith .
Palrick $imith
Chris Sorrels
Dennis Splan
Jason Stamper
Cindy Stevens
Bill Stittwell
Gary Stoner
Haward Stout
Lisa Stratkbein-Carlson
Tim Taylor

Jason Thaxton
Alvin Thomas
Rudy Thomas
James Thrash
Larry Watars
lohany White
Paige Whitehead
fim Wilkinson
Connie Witliams.
Freda Witliams
Dawn Wilson
Brandon Winsehl
Marvin Winler Jr.
Amanda Young

2002 (162)
Paula Abla
Nicole Adams

Jenny Adking
Roger Aldrich
Jimmy Alexander
Brian Babb
Chartie Bagley
Magan Bain

Bab Baker
Lynard Barrera
(indy Barrios
Shane Barron
Dennis Bass
James Beavers
Stephen Benham
Randy Bergen
Legnard Blackwill
Paul Bowyer
Tray Bradford
Rabert Bradley
Don Bredy
Tamimy Brewer
Jim Brock

Cindy Brown
Kathy Brown
Lynn Broyles
Jason Budde
Greg Burchett
Aaron Bush
Ernest Byrd
Cindy Carden
Chris Carter
Paul Childers
Jackie Cooper ir.
Lori (rabtree
Cary Crusinbery Ii.
James Davis
Kurt Davis
Cathy DeGiusti
Trent Delano
Cheryl Delzer
Larry Dill
Sherry Dixon
{hristopher Dudgeon
Stephanie Dugan
Bryan Dunn
Eidon Eagan
Eric Edwards
Michaef Faler
Mark Falk
Shawn Fields
Tom Flesher
Yiel Flores
Justin Foust
Adam Gaskill
Tamara Gathers
Fred Gipson
Cornelio Gomez
Eleuterio Gomez-
Martinez

David Gouker
Steve Hall
Melvin Harper
Abe Henry

John Henry
Kathy Henry
Jaryis Hensley
John R. Hornsby
Dan Huifman
Ratayna Hurley
Jofn Hurst

Todd lce
Rhonda Ingle
Bud Jackson
Jay Jarvis
Danniy Jech

fim finkins

Gary lohnson
Holly Johnson
Roy Johnsen
William D. Johnson
Chris Jones

Joe Jones

Robin lones

Mike Kee

Dax Kimble
Nancy Knox

Greg Kochenower
Jeramie Koehn
John Kutz
Spencer Land
Steve Larman
Ricky Laster
(asidy Lee

Ken Leady
Stephen Lobaugh
Billy Long

Shawn Marsh
Richard Martinez
Andrew McCalmont
Dusty McDaniel
Mitch MeNeill

Lisa Meier
Richard Mieser
Steve Mills
Sidney Mitchel
{laudia Molina Cifuentes
Wathan Morrison
Todd Murphy

Jeft Newby
Migued Nunez
Rick Nunley

John Ortiz

David Parker
Robert Pennel
Ryan Phillips.
Sharan Pool

Bob Portman

Eric Powell

Uovd Putfinbarger
Mika Raddick
Ronald Reidle
AD. Robison
Randy Rodrique
Yem Roe Jr.
Danny Schmidt
Kary Schneberger
Stacy Settles

Jeff Sharp
Dewayne Shaw
Michae! Sherwood
Will Shisler

lim Shoplaw
4rag Skiles

(had Smith

Jesse Smith

Duff Snow

Maria Strain

Josh Swift

Oscar Thiems
Leonard Murber
Oleg Tolmathey
Chiis Townsend
Michella Townsend
Ryan Tuiner

Rodney Yaeth
Fred Vasquez
Ruben Yega Jr.
Oon Yermiftion
Al Warner

James Wemer
Hichael Weese
Hazel Welch
Leslie Wertz
Eddie Whitehead
Jobin Wilken
Gary Willeforg
Merrill Williamson
Mark Willson
Jemry Wilson
Robert Wilkon
Roy Wilson
Travis Wilson

2003 (260)

Ronakd Aaron

Pat Abla

Lisa Bagwell

Corky Baker

Jim Bali

Staci Barenting-Bogle

Charlie Bateman

Travis Bates

Mike Bathtel

John Biggs

Johnny Boland

Bruce Boyd .
Tammi Bradford |
George Bradley

Kim Bracty

Serena Branch

David Brannen

Jerry Bray

Aron Bridges

lennifer Broomfiakd

Beyan Brown

Jeff Brown

Heather Brunker

Kenneth Brunson

iohn Buflard

Bayley Burns

Cyrddy Bumis

Buster Buron Ir

A Bush

Loti Bysd

Kaith Camercn

Bob 0. Campbell

Joe Gamphell

Pat Carson

Gary W. Carter

Dennis Cemy

Davia Chisum

Andy Christensen

HMike (hurchwell

Tony Clark

Michae (linton

Amanda (glbert

Matthew (olbert

Karen Conk

Tom Corley

Beian Cox Ir.

Bryan (ox

Michaet Cramer !
Ann (roan

Jared Cunningham

Wendy Cunningham

Iohn Davig

Jon Davig

Ryan Dean .
Stott Dickson |
Dennis bix |
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Derek Dixon
Steve Donley
Sharon Dries
Shanon Dunlzp
Jody Dunn

Gary Durkee
Jack Elliot
kmimy Embery
Charlene Emest
Kesth Ervin

Jim Fansher
Ursula Faus
Carol Fehrenbacher
Mark Ferbrache
Jelt A Fisher
David Fies
Mitch Aoresca
Tomemy Foust
T.R.Fox

Justin Froehlich
Edd Gabbart
Fred Gagliardh
Tun Galiegly
Travis George
BK Gibson
Kenneth Gideon
Dana Ginanni
John Gist

Randy Gladden
David Godsey
lefl Gorlon

Liz Gotcher

Em Govenlodk
Larry Grey
Patk Haxdzefiga K,
Paul Hagemeier
Buk Hall
Michael Hall
Rornie Haney
Jessie Hardin
Graham Hairs
Lis3 Harris
Roger Harrod
Rich Hearst
Pancho Hencricks
Tara Henry

Glen Hersiey
Sue Ann Henthom
{atherine Hestee
fohe Hogan
Lanny Holman
Mty Holtgeete
Paul House
Brian L. Howard
Roy Howe
Donna Huft
Rosie Hutton
Angela Ingargiola
Lames lnman
John K. Jackson
Anckew lairett
Oave Johns
Tomeny Johnson
Joseph Kennedy
David Kerrigan
Melissa Ketchum
Joe Kidwetl

Nedt Kincade
Danny Kig
Melvin Kingcade
Iufie Kirk

Malt Klaassen
Jennifer Knott
David Kiueger
Petelane ir.

Jetl Lasater

Al lavenua

Kathy Leasura
Sarah Ledgerwood
Dustin Lenharl
Xeyry Letoumeau
Nick Littie

Dusstin Locke
George Loman
Chint Lord

Jason Lowrey
Jack Lowry
Sergio Lijan
Shane Lukasek Jr,
Sharon Luttrel)
Lews Lynch

Mark Mabe

Ali Mallett
Jevemy Marple
Shetly Martin
Alfredo Martiez
Alex McCalmont
Jay McGuttee
Kenneth McGusre S1.
Meneoa McHone:
Carol MKenzie
Ryan Meacham
Randy Mettecd Il
Eddtre Morkel

RT. Miller

Brent Mlly

Jay Monyoe
Allreda Monirel

Lucretia Monris
Hueey Morton
Laery Massman
Paul Manding
Maureen Netson
Lason Nichols
Jane Ann Norris
Tal Oden

Tory fivier
Rena Owen
Ashiey Paine
Tabin Parrs
Rancy Parker
Gary Parks

Gale Parman
Kellie Patterson
Donnie Patton S,
Andrea Patzkowsky
Michaed Philligs
Ronnie Mitts
Brent Pleicher
Esta Pletcher
Jerty Preston
Jennifer Pryse
Regan Raft

Ken Rechlin

¥ies Redding
Bart Reece

m Refsch
Katherine Rirmes
Wt Richardson
Matt Roberts
lody Robertsan
Martin Roberison 1)
Anita Robinson

Knsten Rogstad
Doug Romero
Monita Rowell
Mark Russo
Bavarty Sampsen
Larry Sovage
Bob Schumickes
Rutel Schnidt
Dave Schoonmaker
Kim Scott

Kily Seaman
Jaret Selfng
Keith Shahan
Clay Sharmblin
Kethy Stupley
Aaron Siemers
Jen Sis

Kam Smalts
Stacy Smith

Joe Southern Ir.
Kristing Stacey
Blake Stacy
Joyee Stanmire
Seolt Stearman
Rick Stong

Mara Strack
Luka Strickland
Michelle Surratt
Blake Surrell
Danieife Sydnor
Jaime Tatro
Amber Thomas
(hevy Thomason
loanne Thompson
Jerry Todd
Scoltie Treje
Karen Trowbridge
Seth Unuh

Jon Yanburen
o Vasauez
Larry Venliis
Johnay Voth
Buddy Wade
Keith Wagnon
Marty Wall

Jash Wangler
Brad Watkins
Noel Way

Dan Wekh

David Wesnli

De Ann Williams
Judy Williams
Hicole Williams
David B. Wills
Bill Wince k.
Martin Wise
James Worsham Jr.
Lacey Wright
Todd Wright
Linn Yousay

Loci Zang
2004 (430)
Greg Adams
Justin Adarms
Kyle Adams
Carol Adler

Gary Allen
Stephanie Allstery
Tim Anciews
{had Anton
Brian Awbrey
Ronald Babers
Kristi Bacon
Jefirey Bailey
Trevor Baird

Bobby Baker
Emily Balasko
Darman Ball 5r.
Jeff Balland

Eri Barbee
Paul Baresed
Tina Barnbéll
Joe Barnwedl
lenvufer Barett
Damon Beaskey
Geoff Beauliey
Terrye Bedl
Curtis Blake
Tiffary Blalock
Loiraine Banchard
Kelsey Blenden
Bradley Blevins
Lee Blevims
haron Bloedow
Courtney Blocd
Elizabeth Eohanan
Debarah Bord
Brian Baoker

David Bowes
Darre! Branson
Rudy Bravo Jr.
Avis Bray

Jeff Bray

Roxi Bt
Dustin Brinkley
Jeff Brinlee
Terri Bristow
Darren Brittain
Mark Broaddus
Anita Brogrick
Donaki Bromlow
Brad Brown
{hnstie Brown
Daniel J. Brown
Diana Brown
Harlan Brown
lason . Brown
Famela Brown
Ronitie Brown
Travis Brown
Aaton Buchanan
(raig Buck
Kingrley Buske
Josh Burris

Tim Butkus
Ambxr Butler
Juan Caibilla
Mike Campbeli
Cwistopher (antrell
Randy {antwetl
Larry Carter
Lupe Castro
Jana Cathers
John Chester
Michazl Chester
Yong Cho

Tony Churchill
Cherokee Clark
Jason R. Clark
Justin Clark
(arohm {oble
Brenda (offman
Kida Cioker

Rich Colbert
Paul (aleman
Amber {ollier

(1aig Codlins.
Andrea Conner
Hershel Conrad
Ken Copeland
Melissa (ostelle
Dansetie Costilla
{ole Courson
Patrick (rain
Sharon (rain
Tim {rissup
Michaed {rouch
Justin Cruse
Lr{ulp

Cathy Cuntks
Rvan (urtts
Glenn (ushenbery
(lint Daity
Evelyn Daniel
Jenniter Davis
Robbie Dean
Luke Del Greco
David Delao
Kedly Dobos
Johna Dadson
Ancea Doughesty
Kork Doogherty
Dustin Drew
Keith Dudley
Chuck Duginski
Lorrie Bunn
(had East

Peggi Elliott
Brian Etithorn
Jonathan Esparza
Carkos Evans
Rotain Evans
Sheila Even

Ron Everatt
Liblry Fanning
Erik Fares

1ackie Fenimore
Fred Ferbrache
Mare Fergason
Dustin Fick
feremy finefrock
Iett Finnelt
larod fite
Walter Fletcher
Tommy Ford Jr.
Amvilte Franars
Linda Fries
Terry Frobnapfel
Gary Garmson
Jotn Ganrison
Guy Gaskil

Pavl Geisinger
Sl Gelvin

Kiista Gibbs
Ronnie Givens
Koth Glancy
Jobn Ghym
Jason Gofl
Linda Gocd
Michael Goossen
Michael Gorman
Jenniler Granger
Angie Green
Coty Greer
Boonie Griggs
Barbara bumn
Penny Guy
Wark Hadlock
Victor Haley
Mark Hamilton
Notman Hamilton

Katy Hampton
Rachael Hanixh
Andrew Hanscom
Joel Harris

Linda Havrills
Heather Hawking
Mike Hawkins
Janel Henderson
Rebecca Henderson
Ty Hendrix

Tim Henley

Chris Henry
Francisco Hernandez
Rarkly Hesring

1.0, Hertweck
Melitsa Hesel
Holly Hiks-Black
Alvin Highfill
Kewin Hill

Danny Hink
Randy Hodge
Theresa Hodgkinson
Buz Holloway
Jub Holt
Latania Holt
Alan Hoeton
Doug Howeth
Wil Hubbard
#andal Huber Lorenz
Kristy Humphrey
Lauren Humphrey
Cristy Hutchers
Adam Hutchirson
Mark Hylign
Jarmie Jackson
Randy kxkson
Jett James

Ryan Jameson
Jayson Janas
Amanda Jeantet
Sam Johnson
Jetirey L Jones
Steven Jones
Britney Kealing
Jotin Keeling
Shamara Keith
Lindsay Keller
Botby Kepley Il
Bill Kerby
Jennifer Kera
Kiazy Kirx

Fason Kneedy
Brenda Knight
Brtt Knight
Jennifer Knight
fosh Komarek
Matt Kopt

Pam Koscinski
John Kucewnz k.
James Lardnes
Cory Lews

Shea Lewts
Jason Lierle
Brent Lightsey
Malvin Like
Darwin Lime
Curt Lockiar
Heath Loftin
Rachard Laftin
Dorothea Logan
Harokitopez
Mark Llord

Jackie Lovell r.
Justin Lucas
David Lynn

Liske Lyons
Stanley Major
Regan Manass
Michael Marker
Tara Martin

Loy Martmer
Rogebo Marner
forme Maxwel
Matt Mayhew
Bill McBraver
John McCariney
Kelly McCannell
Duane McDawel)
Mike: Bictinnis
Dorva MGt
Natahe Mched
Ryan Mceil
Clitf Marritt
Matthew Milledge
Pat Mills
Sheldon Mills
Rudelfo Molina
Elton Monroe
Kendra Monsoe
Pennry Monlgomery
Dana Moore
Steve Moore
Adria Morgan
Sim Mergan
Jimrmy Morris
Fiisa Mount

HMichael New
Rich Newton
Matthew Nowln
Karyn Otschesky
Timaikry Olson
Shery Orahood
lacy Bsburn
Steven Owen
Lindsey Pargeter
Glenn Parker
Michael 1. Parker
Ryan Parmen
Walter Patten
Deone Pearcy
Ancrea Pennes
Raymond Perer
Ovwain Peterson
Terry Phillips
Randy E. Pierce
Dehbie Piette
Stacie Pinion
Dennis Piemons.
Kaitha Pumiee
Bryan Poited
Janae Pewer
Kedly Price

John Priast

Fla Prieto

Josh Purcell
(die Ouigley
Shelty Quimby
Rackey Rackley
(a¥y Ragsdale
Loren Raley
Brad Rafstin
Juan Ramirez
Jeff Ranmsdell
fom Reasnor
Shannon Reed

Melanie Renfrow
Doug Reuss

Jack Rhine

Darsty Rhoads
Serry Rivmes
Joe Richardsoe
Anji Reie
Renee Riebe
Tina Riggs
Debbfe Risinger
Dustin Roadifer
Gary Robtuns

Bill Roberts

Iat Rodrigue X,
Chip Roemesch r,
Dack Rosencrans
Kelty Rother
Mary Amn Sanders
Larry Satterfield Jr.
Perry Scheffler
Peter Schieffer
Brandon Schreck
Ty Scifres

Joel Scott

Jack Shaver
Paul Shelite
Gene Shepard
Kyle Shicley
Paul Sketton Jt.
Stacy Slater
Iudie Slaton
Kursten Smedley
Clay Smith

Mark Smith
Monte Smith
Jewiel Sneed
Heather Snider
6ail Spencer
Rodert Sperandio
Terry Statioed
Samuel Stangs k.
Daryl Staliings
Steve Steacham
Joe Stewarl
Pete Stewarl
David Stone
Travis Stout
hoha Stoute .
Tom $tovall

Bob Streeter
Trawis Striphn
lasan Sutterfield
Kelsey Swinford
Mark Syzemore
Barry farman
Ray Tavior

Jon Terredl
Gerald [homas
fandall Thomas
Renee Fhomas
Robert Thompson
Kelly Thormsen
Ryan Thomsen

Cathy Tompkins
Alene Tran

T/ Treece I¥

Tom Treece

Bty Trent

Mike Tumer
Jobn Urdeahake
Bilty Upligrove
Mareo Vignal
Aaton Yrbenec
Terésa Vu

Jud Walker

Jm Walters
Desicoe Waltort
fred Wankes
Bryce Ward
Brandon Walson
{hancey Walls
(indy Wegener
Kyl Welcher
Patrick Whitman
Amanda Whitrire
Dusten Whitmore
Moke Wiberg
Tom Wible
ke Wids
Andy Widmer
Hisly Wiese
Leon Wildman
Ann Williams
(hase Wiltiars
Randy Williams
Antoine Wikon
Kelty Wikson
Dave Winchester
Robh Winfiekd
Joft Wolf

Jerry Womack
Dana Woo

Carka Wood
Harok] Wooley
Landon Worth
B Wray

Jase Yaner
Mark Yeisley
Becky Young
Josh Young
David Zerger
Steve Zmek

20085 (958)
Danied Abeyta br.
Jim Adams

John Adams
s Adams
Roberl H. Adams
Tony Adarns
Ronald Addington
{wista Adians
famie Adyins
Jeff A Adkirs
Wame Adking
Nancy Aguilar
Rashid Alam
Tatum Alberson
Reford Alcorn
Michael Alaxandar
Bill Allenght
Cindy Allen
(laude Aflen

Erin Allen

Sandy Alvarady
Fred Amburgey
David 0. Anderson
Jeff Andesson
Kristi Anderson
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Gary Anthomy Rodney Burgess Christy Dare Ricky French Mike Hal William Ireson
Randy Anthony Sieve Burnedt Fred Dawgherty Yictor Frias Joe Hakstead Bobty tson
Jetian Anton Abiel Buruato Donaid Davey Kret Frie Wheeder Hammit Jahnay lson
Linda Aramibeia Ronnie Bynum Bryce Davis ott Friedman Dave Hancock Bryan Jackson
Dawn Arismendez Gavan Byrd Emily Davis Mike Friend Buddy Harbison Cory Jackson
Lee Ameokd Skye Callantine Jxcob Davis Rodney Friend Rusty Hardin Mike fackson
Davic Atha Deric Canary Rod Davis Andy Fritsch Lonnie Harl Kiis Janzen

Natt Athing Elmes Canary Roger Davis Rachael Fugate Dewey Harlesy Mike John
Jefirey Atteberry Michete Cantre Ricky Dew Tokry Fullbright Mike Harless Dariied Jotts &.
Ryan Atwell Stews Cantret Scolt Delaney Kewin Furs Hathan Harless Braydn Johnson
Rebera Avant Patrick Carey Mario Delao Dennis Gagliardi Shanna Harmon Brent Johnson
Brian Bailey Silas Carmes Jaramy Denton Michael Gallo Earl Harris Bruce Johrsan
Leigh Ann Bailey BJ. Garney Atssa DeVaughn Beau Gafloway Michelle Harris George Johson
Marty Bain Dennis (arpenter Aletha Dewtre-King (leat Gamble Phlis Hatrls Mark Johnson
Kyle Baker Mendy (arpenter Hank DeWitt Afma Garda Toow Harrs PJ, Johison
Tinki Bakes Shannon Carrion Brent Dixon Lori Garcia Laforya Hamson Steve 5. Johnson
Melvin Batdridge Cathy Carter Monty Dixon Tomya Garrett Denise Hart

Milis Bale Kyl Carter Darrell Dedlens Savanah Garrison Kenneth Hartfield

Gary Barmard Tulema (asas Pete Dominguez Fred Gales Sleve Harvath

Rick Bames (assie Casto Tvler Dogten Liz Gerhard Randy Hatfield

Mark Baminger Lunn Chance Barney Dosier Lovelia Gibetyou Meissa Hatfield-

Shawn Barron Daes (handlier Tyred Dotson feank Gibson Alkinson

Karen Bartley Donaid Chaney Josh Drewry Josh Gibson Daniel Hattaway

{oxdy Barton Chad Chapman Stephen DuBoks vincent Gibson Gavion Havel Yevin Johaston
Bob Bary Rush Chapman Dane Dunegan John Githert Tyler Hawkins Lonnie Jofnston
Beverly Battiest Bilty Childers Jerry Dunlap Rhonda Giles loe Hays David . Jones
Bob Baxendale Anila Chin Dstin Durkee Kelly Gilkerson William Hays Fied Jones
Dushin Baxter PRichard Chin Houston Eagleston David Gilliam Brian Heckert Mark Jones
Lynda Beasiey Hikki ChurchYemon Joe Eavley Jennifes Gillizm Fred Hein Pat Jones
Thomes Beaty Cathy Clark Anthony Eamest Keith Glasgow hustin Hednken Greg Jordan

Joe Beaudom {hartes Clark Mike Edwards David Glass Kl Heitert Jessica Jorms
Tker Beaver Lingia Clark William Edwards Tane Qlassock Kimberty Hemmingson Frances Jowers
John Beckwith Rip Clary Travis Egner Jason Glassey Dan Handarson loe Juarez

Keith Bell James Clay Amber Eichler Mitch Goble Darin Herndon Larry Justice
William Bennetl Dana Gavion Fric Eller Dave Gacke (raig Hicks Erin Kaiser

Kesry Bad Hlizabeth Clem Robert ot Brian Goins Fem Hicks Brandon Kammerer
{omeks Birminghanm Jack Clement b, Brvan His Heather Gomes Garry Hicks Kevin Kappes
Ancrew Elack Bevan Clevinger Linda Biis Alex bonzaler Eric Higgins Earl Kanckholf
fackie Black Paud Coffey Rob Ellis Martin Gonzale: John Highfield Robert Keenan
Kenneth Blackburn latkie Cole Kay Eirod Laroline Goodall Themas Hilbum I John Keller
Blake Blackwell 1(. Coleman Alan Elswick Paula Grace Donna Hilderbrandt Eamest Kelough
Jon Blaker Robert W. (oleman Ricky Endicott Brian Graefnitz Rick Hill Kate Kelser
Asa Bevins. John (oflette Angie England Daviel Gratam Tittany HIl Brad Kemp

Ron Bliss Kevin Collins Ramudfo Escamifla Henry Granados Kay Hillabold Ron Kendrick
(onnie Bloss Tiftarny Coftins Jon Escuibel Jay Gy Chenym Hilte Crysial Kennedy
Dot Biythe Chistian Cornbs Jim Estep Kelley Gray Jan Hinjesa Don Kerby
Leonard Boeckman Jr. Douglas {ombs Gant Estes Kenneth Gray Arthur Hoehne Frank Ketterly
Nick Boeckman Gary (omplon David Eudey Stephen Gray Gary Hohenberger Mike Key
(harlie Boggs Michele (ompton Stacey Evans Rodney Greathouse Ray Holden Thomas Kidd
fimothy Bohonnan Bill (onnard Sarg bvorett Marus €. Green Casery Holder Chopper King X.
Raymond Bohnel Paul Comeay Stacy Evetl Shane Greesh Thomeas Hoftand Donna King

KP: Boland Stephen Cook Deanna Farmer Tracy Green Matnan Hoboway Gary kig
Corey Bolding Tim Cooper Marcy Farrand Lynette Greene Pat Holman Bill Kirk

Kenzi Bond Steve Copeland Mika Fealy Brady Grear Alfred Hooper Jr. Ryan Klein
Rennie Bonnett Phlls Copley K.C. Ferguson Edcy Grey Randy Hooper Mark Knapp
Adam Bos Curtis (orcoran Tora Femguson David Griffith Drew Hopkins Bead Knight
Jason Bessard Muranda Cornelius Mark Ferman Greg Gromadzki Dertver Hom Jonathan Knight
Amber Bostic Glenn (omette Cori-Dawn Feids Rorinie Guestern Joann Hom Andrew Kock
Tim Bostick Geror: Cottam Giover Fields Xara Gustbeau Miichedl Hom George Kohtafer [l
Mark Bottred Tim Cottred Roger Fiekls Dave fum Teresa Hormback Jernifet Kraszewski
Joe Bradford Rachel Couch Kip Fife Todd Gum Jimmy House Rusty Kreizenbeck
Everedt Bradley Al lox Braxd Finley Jim Gumim Tim £ House Kim Kremer
Kenny Bragg Exie Cox Docatd Fisher Rodney Gunter Tim M. Howse Kris Kuehn
Dawid Branham Khari {iox Denle Fisher Scott Gunwall Lindsay Houston Linda Kurtz
Detra Branham Metinda (ox Jef} L Fisher (el Gutiermez Brian Howard km Kwasny

Gail Branham Sabvina Cox Mt Fefscher Toberto Gutierrez Dayle Howard Anthorry Lafferty
Det Brazeal Marisa (raig Adam Flres Jarad Guynes Kelli Howard Bil Lafterty
Cheis Brennan Dennis Crisp Lendel Pournoy John Gwyrn Greg Howell Paul Lafferty
Randel Briggs Ronnia (rowder Patty Haffey Sonny Hioon Jennie Lambert
Jardan Brim Vernon Crumim I g Curtis Hagen Paul Hudgins Sidney Lane
Candy Brinegar Joe Cruz il Talmadge Hager Jaff Huetskamp Karen Langley
Dennis Brock Joshua (rystal Lea Hain Janet Hutiman Terry Latham
Brenit Brordow (harioite Cullifer Ronald Habest Chistine Hughes Henry Latimer
Witfrad Broussard Larry Cunningham Donny Hale Larry Hughes Mindii Laderdale
Donnz Brown Ronnie Cunmingham g Garrett Hate Rodney Hughes Mike Laue

Keith Brown Arthur {urry Meara Foreman Paul Hale Tachary Humphrey Will Lawler
Richard Brown Billy Curry Sherman Formhals Barf Hall Rabert Hurst Ronnie Lawrence
Kathy Buckley Jake Curry Darcie Faster Bridgette Hall Amy Hutchinson Gina Lawson
Michael Buckner David Cutright Lason Fournier Don Hall Jason le Joshua Lawson
Nichole Buersmeyer Irene Da Rocha Jobn Freerman Lynn Hall Sunie Ingram Brad Lan

Vicki Bumpas Bo Daniel Ray french Marcus Hall Betsy lreson Fobén Layne

Jeremmy Lee
Larry Lee

Keith Lehman
Bragt Lemon

loe Lemon
lames Lenhar)
Shannon Lenhart
Marty Lechery
Join Pawl Leslie:
Dustin Lewis
Alleya

Martha Lerama
Wayne Light Jr
Teri Lindsey
D4 Logata
Becky Loton
Michael Lovelace
Michael Lovero
Alison Lowe
Jerry Lowe

Jefi Lumpkin
Jason Lundy
Paol Lixpaxrchsy
Shauna tyon
Sean Macias
hngie Mackey
Tach Malchi

Beth Mallory
(raig Manaugh
Bobbi Manos
Amy Marburger
George Marcum
Shannon Marcem
Merry Marks
Robert Marsh
Jace Marshall
Billy Martin
Danery Martin
Deb Martin
James Martin
Kandy Martin
Robett Martin
Thomeas A Martin
{hemma Martinez
Homer Martinez
Bill Mathews.
Thomson Mathews
Mack Matthews
Bruce Matthey
Joshua Marey
Jeit Maxwel]
Mike May

James Maynard
Andrea Mays
John-Paul Mavs
Vikki McBride
Vicki Mcabe
Kanna Mc(asin
Dax McCaudey
Cheis McClaine
Mike McClellzn
lackie Mc(omas
Thomas McComas
Meri Meorde
Dave Mclormack
Jotwary Mcoy
Rocky Mcloy
Steve Mc(racken
Gene Mc{ulcheon
(asey MiDonough
Yanessa McDougal
Wiliam McFadden
Teiry McGrady
Jelt MGuire
Donny McHenny
Amy Mcllhenimy
Staty Mikay
Mlin McKee
Keith McKee
Jarry McKenoe
Nick McKenzie

Bill icKinney
Doug McPherson
Dirk McReynokts
Stenhanie McYay
Donnie Meade
Derek Meador
Melissa Meeker
Dan Melcher
Barb Metion
Bruce Melton
Oscar Mendoza
Saron Mesa
Casey Miller
Cathy Miller
Daryl Miles

Jelf Miller

Kefli Miller

Mark Milter
Higah Mills

Tom Mills

Maya Mims

Kyle Mavard
Greg Mitchum
JeH Mobley
Leisa Monk
frankie Montez
lim Moore
Kichael L. Moore
Sherrie Moore
Terésa Moore
Dave Marehouse
Josa Morena IIt
Phil Moser

Jim Mottesheard
Doug Mulling
laime Munoz
Dan Muret

Sean Murphy
Justin Murray
Steve Myers
Bhavin Naik

Tim Nance

Tim Napier
Rusty Hash
James Neal .
Scolt Nease
Tommy Neathery
Dorna Neel

Lisa Netson
larrad Newberry
Kena Newman
Roger Newsome
Robert Nigver
Yacie Micholsen
Sid Niles

Justin Nipeod
Kty Nix

Cuetis Kixon Jr.
Kenneth Nolan
Greg Northein
Rodney 0'Brien
‘Adam Olivares Jr.
Michele Qirver
John O'Neal
Dara Dney
Cheryl Ormston
Charies {sbom
Shane Oshom
Billy Osendott
Bryan Ott

Kary Ot

Katie Gverton
Torry Padgett
ke Paetrold
Wray Paine

Bill Parker
Michael W, Parker
Toni Parks-Payne
Trisha Pate

Hoot Patterson
Kevin Patterson

Kenneth Payne
Deborah Payre-
Sherwood
Hicky Peacock
Tom Pepper
(harles Perez
Phitip Permenter
Brooks Pemry
Gena Perry
Jody Perry
Mike Perny
Denvard Peters
Joe Peterson
Donald Petzodd .
Kevin Plister
Greg Pichler
Michael Pickers
Susan Pickens
Joe Pierce

Billy Fillars
Josh Pitts

Kyle Pty
HevePoe k.
Haruid Porter
Johwtiy Porter
Lean Potter
Jared Pounts
(ara Pourtorkan
Ly Powell
Liy Prater
Raco Preece
Adam Price
Bol Price

John Prichard
Jenwnifes Prince
Martin Province
Boblry Putman
Randy Queen
Terry Quentrill
Ann Raclitt
Jeff Rafnes
Weddon Rainey
Larry Raleigh
Lus Raimérez
Kyke Range
Keith Rasmussen
Bilky Ratif
Jennifer Ratliff
Peler Rauscher
Donna Ray
Jobn Ray

" Lonnie Ray

Vickie Ray

Gavin Reed
Kenneth Reed
Melissa Reed
Hathan Reed
Stevie Reed
Brian Reeder
torie Renfra
Philips Renner
R.J. Retzer

Nate Reutotar
Jason Reynolds
Jeifery Rhoades
Sewart Rhoades
Jerad Rhodes
Mike Rice

Ray Rice

Bill Richardson
(had Richardson
Joni Richardson
Ralph Ritfle
Johindelta Ritey
Johney Riley
Steven Riley
Brandon Ripley
Al Risner

Hakita Rizo
Rober: Robicheaux
Ben Robinson
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(arole Robimson
Jon Robirtson
Rusty Robinson
Pedro Rodriguez
Brad Rogers
Clift Rogers
Dionrie Rogers
1ohn Rogers
Chuck Rose
Diayton Rose
Kristin Rose

d Rothman
Uovd Rubottom
Gary Russefl
George Russell
Jm Russedl
Jobn Ryza

Scott Sachs
Clinton Satyers
Rachel Saman
Bratt Sample
Amy Sanders
Gany Sanders
Jason Sarakatsannis
Jay Sevill
Brandon Scheffier
Rob Schindler
Dowg Schrnidt
Rason Schmidt
Rancial Schwitz

Stewe Seliquini
fvan Semien
Perry Settles
Gayl Shackelford
Jeft Shaler
Tommry Shaffes
oy Sham

John B. Sharp
Stan Shaw
Donald Sheley
Harvin Shepherd
Jobn Shlflets
Greqg Sungleton
amny Shingleton
Mike Short

John Shreve
Odie Shreve

Lee Shreves

Tara Shumate-Lee
Desick Sier

Bob Simmons
Brian Simmons
Sleve: Savems
Justin Sinonton
Billy Sines &,
Caeni Sims

Leo Smnot k.
Brian Skidmore
Ratph Skinner Jr.
Maicom Slone
James Smalts
Enc Smith

John Smith
Jonathan Smilh
Lindsey C. Smith
Roy Smith

Solt Smith
Stephen Smuth
Tim Smith

Deby Snodgrass
Donna Snyder
Ronald Srydes k.
Manuel Soriano .
David Southern

Myion Sowaitk Leonard Walters
Shellee Spencer Seth Ward
James Spiller hstin Wardrop
Keuth Spitzenberger Steve Warnick
Nesson Spradin Brian Wasinger
Lanry Slacy Henry Watson
Briana Steelman Karen Walsan
Tarza Steiner Kathy Watson
Marshall Stephens. Vickye Watson
Sheila Stepp Delanna Waits
Terry Stewart John Weaver
Robert Stickler || Ganary Webh
(rystal Stidham James Webb
Jason Stidham Thomas Webb
Justin Stinson Lisa Webk Johnson
Fryson Slock Shae Weddle
Jack Stockton Jeft Weades
Brandon Strack Keith Weils

Sam Suraley Lee Wescott

Dan Stricker Kirsta Whiddon
Lola Strickland Kyle White

Shay Stricklin Larry White
Callie Stuckey Matore White
Dave Stumbo Dan Wiitmarsh
Tom Sudchai Valerie Wible
Scott Sulvan Charles Wilbwrn
Teavis Sultivan Qay Wikox
Tedd Swartzbaugh Dale Wikiman
Anthony Sweency Brooke Wiley
Charles Swrizer Mark Wiley Il
Amanda [aimich Lisa Wilkison
JmTampke Dallas Wilkams
Philip Taoner Darvid Wiliams
Mike Tarpley Meredith Williams
Brian Jatro Nancy Wilkiams
Frad Tayky Teiry Williams
Gearold Tavlor B.J. Williamson
Jody Taviot Jason Williamson
Stephen Taylor Hack Wallis

Eric Tannanl Ronnie Willis
Amanda Terry Kent Willoughry
teslie Terry Jeremy Wilhard
Stews Tharg Fichelle Witson
Joe Thamas Brian Wines
Lawrence Thomas Kelli Witte

Yal Momas Brad Wittrock
Debea Thompson hustin Wollenberg
Willie: Thomson Iutie Yoodard
Mike Tigner Maros Woodard
Jckie Tikery Ricky Workman
Bity Timmons tLeann Wright
Richard Torres Sharon Wright
Kelty Tomi Yandy Yarbough
Jason Tothergw Doug Yeagar
Huy flﬂlj Danna Yeargin
Mate] Triska Ba Youngblocd Il
Scolt Truesdale John Youngblood
Vemetta Tubbs Justin Zerkle
Matt Surner

Susan firler 2006 (1,752)
Kenna {hderich Gary Abbott
Sharon Ukmer Russedl Ables
Traci Underkoffler Jessica Adkat
fason Updegealt Cloude Adarms
Jana Yaden Kelli Adars
hustin Valolradeh fom Adkins
Joseph Valesio Il William Adkison
Banner Yanderpool Ethan Adler
Lakie Yaughan

Ryan Yeirs

Suzanne Yictoria

Lupe Yillarral Jr.

Tammie Voelker

Lincksey Yon Tungeln

Hancy Wade

(arol Wagner

Kenneth Wagoner

Jay Walker

Benny Wallace

(harles Wallen

Richard Walks ¥ Aldridge

Dasvel Alford
Kenny Alford
Lames Allen
Jamie Allen
Jason Alen
Hshua Allen
Randall Allen
Jimmy Allred
Richard Attums
Alklonzo

Bily Alven

Joe Aly

James Amelung
Bod Ammyx
Rodney Ancel
Carol Anderson
Gary Anderson
[tis Andérson
Randy Anderson
Shelby Androw
Melanie Andrews
Charles 7. Angle
Charlie 0. Angle
Mike Armstrong
Quentin Amdl
Howard Amold
Lachary Amokd
Dave Amiogton
Thad Ashoiaft
Kevin Ashiey
Tim Ashiey

Amy Askew
Mxah Assutin
Mactioel Alkinson
Roger Averiit
David Avery

Ed Back

Mirsty Baeza

Tim Bagty

Alen Bagley
Michael Bahrenburg
Ronald Bailey
Butch Bawrd
{harles Baker
Denixs R. Baker
Siiaraman Balakrishnar
Boomi Batayibva-
maniyan
teonarda Bakionada k.
Chista Ball
Micheal Ba)

Lisa Ballard
Janice Balliet
Michael Bane
Megan Barber
Vitfiam Barker
Dean Barnes
Emily Bames
Keith Barrett
Kirk BamBeaux
(e¢edia Rarrington
Alirson Barta
Joshua Barton
Rebecca Barton

Warren Bass
Douglas Baughman
Tammy Baxter
Nicate Baylos
Larry Beard
Tim Beard
Johnny Beasley
Jesse Beion
Diavidt Beaty
Tistany Beaver
Ben Beckar
Tedti Becher
Sieven Becketl

b Bedford
Qint Bagty
Austin Baeter
Dawid Beers
Steve Beeson
Danny Beets
Jet! Betymer
Bo Bekendam
Rabyn Bedew
Paige Benedict
Cheryl Berinett
Dustin Bennett
Garmedt Bentoo
Johin Bergrnan
Dany Berkey 1l
Sharon Berkley
Sherry Bemstein
Eric Bess

Larry Beswick
fomes Bethell
Tom Bettrs
Robert Bevel
Amar Bhakta
Ricky Rias
fandy Bickel Jr.
Liz Bicoy

Jacob Biematki
Pam Billingsley
Foster Bingaman
Matthew Birch
Don Brshop
Ryan Bishop
Bryant Black
Jerexryy Black
Jererny T. Black
David Black .
Witlts Blaker Il
Phullip Blankenship
Emily Blaschke
Tony Blasier
Joel Bledsoe
fimmy Blevins
Randy Blcod
Doug Balen

Dever Bawles
Donald Bewman
Drew Boyer

Ernie Bozarth
Prillip Bradferd Il
Iustin Bradley

Bradie Brewlon

H. Briant

Melvin Bright Jr.
Greg Brillhart
Thormas Brinegar
Wesley Broodin
Bty Bromiow
Ronaid Bromiow
David Brooks
Vernon Beoomeield
Rob Rroti

Purssedl Broussard k.

Danief Brown
Donald Brown
1P Brown
James L Brown
Jay Brown

Kevin Brown
Hatascha Brown
Rodney Brown &.
I. Brown

Tyanne Bruce
Tumathy Brummage
#kan Brumson
Greq Bruton
Cheryl Brvan

1.0 Bryant

Ron Bryant
Marria Brydon
Kala Buerger
Joshua Buie
Todd Bules
Clitton Bullard
Blait Burkh

Riki Burch

Jay Burlord
Roger Burlord
Darrel Burghardt
hustin Buegin
Adde Burke
Jobn Burkhouse .
Jake Buenett
Jim Bumett
Aaron Bums
Burton Burns
James Burms
Lynn Burns
Charbes Burnsworth
Donny Bumsworlh
Richard Burrhus
Phul Burrow
loseph Burton
Daniel Busher
Dustin Burshinesl
Casey Burster
Adrian Butler
Bill Bgan
Michael Buzan k.
Joarond Bylord
Eric Bynum

Tom A Byun
Tom W. Bynum
Eric Byrd

Kotev Byrd

Sam Byrd

Seett Byrum

Jeff Cable

Juan (atwera
Stephanie Catull
Natasha Caines
Jerry Caldwell
Frank (athoun
Rickie Cattender lll
§ason (amefon
lohnnie Campbell
Karen (ampbell
Kenury Camobedl
Kim (ampbef
Shanna (ampbell
John Canary
Noed Canty
Steven Cardet
Oscar (ardona
Bryan Carey

Calt Carpenler
Connie (arpenter
Octavio (arpio
Json Carr

David (amod
Deti Camod
Dewey Lamoll
Deaper Larmoll
James Canob

Stephan Carrod
{heis Carson
Audie Cartes
lames Carter
Stadi Carter
Francis Carullo X.
Alex Casias
(harkes (255

John Chadwick
Tim Chaloupek
Harvey Chambliss
Paul Charies
David Chavarria
Oscar Chavez
Kathy Cheesiman
James {heshire
Henry Childress
Richard (hikdress
Stephanie Choate
Rodney (hristian
Twila Chrsty
kerry Oaop
Swanne (appes
Brandon (lark
David {lark
Dustin Clark
James Clark
Leon Clark
Stacey (lark
Steve Clark
fason Claunch
Heather (lay
Brad CRaypool
Jesse Uayton
(athi Jemenis
Enc CJements
Jetf Clemons
Michael Clevenger
Ronakd Cifl
Lindy Cochran
Rabrt (ochran
Timothy Cockerhiam I
Brent Cockrell
Lagren Coco
Ryan Coe

Byron (oie
Sargh (ole

Yicgil Colernan
Davy {otins
Katie: Colfins
Dee Combs
Jason Conawy
Greq Condray
Ronaid Conder
Jeff Condey
Chrissy Conner
Andy Conyers
Blayne (ook

Jim ook

MHelissa (ook
Jacob Cooper
Larry Cooper
Linda Coaper
hustin Coots
Scott Copeland
James (opeley
Brad (ocbén

Jeti Coenefiurs
Justin Cornell

Steve Comett
Manued (oronado
Preston {om
Diego Corter
Mario Corlaz

fonice (ory

Bob Costelle
{ody Costello
Larry Costelie
Sioney Costelo
Williarn Coslon
Racky {otton
{hris Courtney
Jereme Cowan
Jeffery (owger
Chris Cox
Jeremy Cox
Steven R. Con
Steven W. Cox
Yince {ox
Donnie (rafl
Tina (raft Grant
Dave (raig

Travis (aig
Denise (ramey
Bud Cravey
Jonathan Creagan
Joe (reach

Jerry Cridet 1)
Ritky Crider
Seott (rim
Jmmy Crone
John Crooks
Murphey Crosty
Paul (row
Genique (rowder
Mary {nnkshank
Cabvin (ulpepper
Cisey Cutpepper
Melfssa (umemens
Kewin (unninghom
Ray Cunninghad
Douglaxs (ake
Aaron Daharsh
Carrie Daigle
Laurie Damson
Michael Damion
Bracey Dangarfield
David Dani

Alvin Danley Ji.
David Danley
Joseph Dart
Beverly Darl
Jeffrie Davidson
Betsy Davis
Chad Davis
Gy Davs
Jennifet L Davis
Katry Davis
Megan Davis
Mictiaed (. Davis
Michaed Davis
fodger Davis
Ron Davrs
Kenny Dawsen
Robiie Day

Mark D. Deshazo
Karl Dexter
Gianny Diaz

Kim Dickerson
Andrew Dickins
Todd Diehl

Traoe Dodd
Nicolas Domingue?
Gary Danley
Donald Dotson
Stephanie Doty
Dawn Douglas
Greg Dougiay
Lorie Dougtas
Jobary Deweddy
John Downing
Timathy Dewns
lamimy Dxesser
Wayre Drew
Raul Duenas
Altomso Duenez
Wade Cuncan
Dustin Dunlap
Regina Dunlap
{otton Dunlewvy
{Lurtis Dunn Jr.
Larry Durant
Paul Duren

Jim Derst
Dustin Oye
Tammy Eaton
Robxn Ebarb
Michael Eddins
Jonathan Fddy
Lisa Edinger
Robert Edwards.
Johwny Egnoe fr.
Jotwnny Egnor &.
(raig Eder
Jammie Elder
Jeft Eidar

Ryan Elfetson
tbbin Hiatt Jr.
Jordan Elliott
Robert Eltiott Jr.
Melanie Ellis
Kety Efswick
Darvel Enderfin
Blake Engelnan
Rchard England
Jon Engtish
Tachard Fnoff
Robert fpperly
Steven £pps
Jarmod Espanza
Crang Estes
Edaee Estes
Jonathan Evbank
David Evans
Gary Evans

lody Evans
Ricky bvans
Ronald Fvans
|eann Evers
Ronrse Eremadk
John Farsworth
Ricky Fasworth
Andrew Farrs
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Marcie Farris
Stvla Fast
Steven Feisal
Bryan Ferguson
Keith Ferguson
Tessie Ferguson
Petry Fields I
José Fietros
Miguel Figueroa
Tommy Fitkmen
Thomas finch
Brent Finley
Lurtis Fintey
Steve Fisbeck
David fishey
Jerry Fisher
John fisher
WMichael Fite
Cheis Fanagan
Michael Panery
Matt Fleischer
Brenda Flesher
David Fiores
Jense Floses X,
Jarses Flores Jr.
Manuel Flores U
Gamet! Flowers
Joshoa Flovd
Richaed Floryd
Teery Floyd k.
Thornzs Fiynn Jr.
Danny Ford
Martha Ford
Jimimy Forsyth
Anthorry Foster
Clarence Foster
Robext Foster
Clayton foutch
Jusie Fox
Aejancko Fraire
Sandra frame
Tina Franis
Greg Franz
Jason franze
Jim Frasee
Anvie Fredrickson
Travs [rels
Colby Friday
Joint Fintchet
(havles D. Frizred
Charie (. Frizzell
Kimberty Frast
Larry Frost
Wiltiam Fry
Sam frydenlund
lames Fryman
Gilerto Fuentes-Pere:
Stephen futts
Evan fugua i,
Christine Furbee
(arol Gaddis
Frank Gagliardi
Sarah Gainer
Morgan Gallimore
(ecil Gamble
Junior Garcia X.

Lisa Garrett
Mark Garrett
Amanda Garza
Javier Garza
Javiey H. Garza
Joe! P Garza
Raul Garzes
John Gasaway
Seotl Gaston

Scott L Gaston
Brian Gauntt
Kesie Gay

Anne George

m Gersines
Bobty Gbson
Steven Giddings
Timothy Giddings
Jon Giffin
Deviayne Gilkerson
Bobby Gillette
Anthony Gitliam
{ameron Gilmer
fm Gipson K,
William Glancy
Ryan Glen

Ron fiobte

Dova Gof-Parsors.
David Gomez J.
Jesse Gome?
lindi Gomez

Zac Gonsior

Eric Gonzales
Alherto Gonzalez
Alfreto Gonzale?
Apeil Gozaler
Edgar Gonzater
Gerardo Gonralez
Guadakupe Gonzale?
o Gonzater
Maises Gonzalez Ir.
Billy Goodnight
Justin Goodson
Eiijah Gordon
liathan Gore
Donn Goss
Lindsay Gowan
Milch Grand
Kenneth Graves
Bl Gravitt

Ron Gray

Gabe Green
Drvlan Grey
Medgan Griffith
(ammGrim
Thomas Grienadi
Lane Grimes [
Bradkey Gairnm
Frankie Grogan
Jody Grunder
Rafael Guersy
Donald Gunnoe
Jefl Gunter

{alen Gustavus
Henry Gutierra? X,
Ivan Guzman

Losen Hagar
Larry Hagelberg
Bob Hagerdon
Wayne Haire
Frecidy Hale
K Haley
David Kalt
Gabried Hal
Karen Had

Bulty Hattman
John Hamitton
Joy Hamillkon
hathan Hamilton
Nick Hancock
Clint Hancox
Donna Hare
Greg Haney
Nathan Hanks
Joe Hanna
Jonathan Hanng

Robert Kanna
Torry Hansen
Randy Hansford
Dustin Kanson
Jodie Handie
Josh Bardie
Dean Harding
Mark Harding
Fawn Hardman
James Hardway
Ryan Harkins
James Harman
Rob Harmon I
Cody Harrel
Johe Harrington r.
Bryan Harris

Loy Harrson
Samuel Harroff
Oarref Hart

Don Hart

Robert Harl

Kevin Hartl

Roger Hartley
Bobby Hasvey
Steven Harvey
Dor: Harvitle
Thomas Hass
Timumy Hass

Darcy Hawkins
Luxas Hayden
Carroll Hayes

Eric Haves
(hvistopher Hayward
Robert Hayward
Teresa Hearn

Brad Heath

Justin Healh

Tery Heath x.
Virginia Hebert
Amber Hedges
Keyin Reflin
Daniel Henderson
Gegrge Henderson
Hicholas Henderson
{had Hendrick
Brian Henley

Mary Henning
Mark Henry

Dan Hensley
Jeremy Herman
Armando Hernandez
David Hernardez
Gorton Kemandez
Rafael Hesnandez
Matthew Herrin
Kevin Hess
Weston Hesterly
Jamie Hibbs

Joe Heds

Sid Hicks.

Terry Hicks

Lorie Higginbotham
Jennifer Higging
Chad Hill

Lames Hill

Joy il

Steve HAl

Richard Hilton
Chyde Hinson

Branii Hively
Mark Hlatky
Chad Hled:k
Justin Hobbs
Ky Hodges
Joseph Hodges
Jstin Hodges
Patty Hoeckes
Eric Hoehne
Chad Halfman
Lisa Hoffman
Bradley Holland
Tom Helland
Michael Hollaway
Thormas Holliman
Muchetle Holls
Mike Hollis
Brachey Hotman
William Holman .
Bryce Holmes
Timothy Holmes
Michaei Hokon
Larry Holt

Dustin Homestey

Steven Hoover
Melissa Hoppe
Ronnie Hoskins
Jon-Aaron House
Debbie Houston
Seth Houston
(orey Hovis
Kevin Howard
Malt Howard
ot Howard
SethHoward
Jzsan Howe
kenneth Kubbard
landon Hubbart
David Hutkabea
Cheryl Hudak
Chase Hoddleston
Tara Hodson
Donnie Hutfmaa
Jared Hughes
Asstin Hoghes
Mark Hughes
Marshall Hughes
HMichael Hughes
Chris Humphreys
Kirk Hungerford
Frankie Hunt
Bret Hunter

Tami Huriter
Deqinis kdtett
Eiest Idlett
hustin et

Lovd kdiett

Pete Ity

Jefl Iven

Robert lzeil
Sherry lzell
Christopher Jacks
Joe Jackson
Lindsay Jacksoa
Harianne Jadkson
Pameta Jackson
Johnnie Jaccbs
Kristi hobs

Troy lacobs
lavey lamison
Lance Jamison
Todd Jamison
{Ivistopher Lanzen
Rachel Jarrett
Anthony Jeansonne
Travis Jenlins

Eric Jenkinson
Jessica Jennings
Jon Jemigan
David Krousek

Ranxdy fohnsen
Steve G. Johnson
William Johnson
Jei Johnston
Joy iohnsion
Cindy Jones
Gary Jones

Kyle Jones
Travis Jones

Bev Jordan
Doug Jordan
Jelf judd
Nichotas huckd
Ryan Katkiey
Huntee Kam
(hrigtian Kanady
Brent Xanaly
Pauf Karstens
Hemanl Kataria
Trgy Keel

Marvin Keeling Jr.
Kenneth Keeton
Belo Keflam Il
Larry Keller
Diana Kelley
Tommy Kelley
Tracy Kedting
Samery Kendall
Kris Kendeick
Jash Kennedy
Stephanie Kennedy
Joe Ketirer

Gil ¥iaha

Russel Kidd
John Kieschnick
Paul Kiesperl X
Jed! Kiker
Wame Kimberking
John Kimbieion
Fay Kincher
Jessiea King
Richard King
Rachel Kircher
Jared Kirkwood
Kathan Kirtley
Jeffrey Klinged
Axon Knaop
Bury knapp
Allen Knippers
Jeff Knoblotk
Charles Knotts
Steve Knowles
Laurie Knox
Sanjay Kodam
Danise Koger
Biake Koonce
Hathan Kress
Crystal Keimeky
Mahamed Kuburic
Surita Kuburic
Cameron Kuykendall
Mike LaGrange
Roges Lahti
Hoang Lam

Jane Lam

Tony Lamas
Gina tamb
{Jennis Lambert k.
Janie: Lambert
Jery Lambert k.
floyd Lancaster

Corbin Land
Sandra Landgraf
Bob Langdon
Matt Lanstord
Diave 1arch

B Laman

Mike Latshaw
Chwis Lauhon
John |awman
Clint Lawrence
Johnny Lawrence
Michael Lawrence
Corey Lawson
Fethy Lawson
Tom Layman
Daniel Le

Gamett Leatherman
Jomes A LeBouel
Sumimer Ledbetter
Ryan Lee

Samuel lee
Slanley Lee
Martha Leiva

Erin Lennart
Dave Leopold
Stacy Levescy
Austin L ewolien
Cindy Lews

Fred Lewis
Haroid Lewss
Matthew Lewis
Hathan Lewis
Peter Lewis
Shane Lewis
Karen Liles
JimLinceey
Jmeny Linger .
D Linkenauger
Trey Littau

Monty Livety
{harles Livingston
Ronald Loeftler
Donnie Lollar
Jairy Lonewolf
Chnistopher Long
Clvton Long
ERlen Long

Terisa lomg
James Looney
David Lopez
Guadahipe Lopez
Jaime Loper
Niles Lowdenslager
{andice Love
Dusslin Lovell
lennifer Lowther
Sihvano ozada-Lina

Charlie Lumpkin I
Alfonso luna
Brent Lurry

Kerry Lynn

Josh Lyons,

Abel Macias
Jessica Mack
Steven Mack
Jefirey Mackay
Kevin Mackey
Iamie Maddy
Jesus Maldonado
Jarge Malgonado
Juan Maldonado
Ramon Maldonado
Monica Malkey
John Mann

Lames Manning
Kevin Maning

Inan Manriquez
Jim Manry

Kerry Manuel
Laura Marcellus
hustin Marietta
Karkus Marr

Patty Matin
Biauto Martner
Luts Martinez
Mark Martinez
Valente Martinez
Luis Martinez Suare?
Missy Martini
Michae! Marunowski
Eovd Maser
Briey Masters
Tilfary Mather
Malthew Malos
Bobby Matthews
Nicholas Matthews
Maya Maximova
Delores Maxwell
Greg May

Michaed Maylield
Honty Hayfiekd
Angela McAlister
Deraid McAlister
Bradtey MeCad
Iufie Mclann
Jessa MCants
Sason Melartney
Anthoay McCarty
Rich Mc(lanahan
Katie McCord
Chris Mc{ormack
Lacy McComack
Garrett Me(utiough
Shaun McDianse!
Stephen Mcorakd
David McDougal
Jennd McBachern
Kelle McEwen

Ray Mcranand
Harry McGarr
Meghan McGhee

G |
Todd McGinley
Christopher McGinnis
Johin McGowen
Richard Mcguire
Rocky Mcbuire
Curtis Medntyre
kma Mcntvre
(hod MiKamag
Dennts McKamie
John MeKay

Brad McKillop
Palrick Mckim

Eric McKintey
Heather McLain
Anmy Mclanahan
Walter McLaughiin
Aamon Mclean
Kipgry Meleland
(abeb MLoud
Matthew McHahon
Steve McMillen
Beau McMillin
Bobiry McMarries
Mail McMumry
Heather Mcheil
Bob McMutt

Danny McRae
Jaemes McWhirter
Doneie McWhorter

Ed Meade

Tom Meadaws
Fernando Medina
Dennis Meigs
Clayion Meisch
Jurior Melender
Dougls Melton
Wener Menchy
Juan Mendez-
Hermandez

Wes Merchant
{urtis Merilatt
David Merkel
farod Merle
Lane Meritt
hustin Metz
Steven Meyes
Barry Michets
Allen Middieman
Adam Milter
Alten ). Miller Il
Greq R. Miller
Gregory W. Miller
Matthew Miller
Ronald Miller
Toni Miflcan
(keb Mills
Audrey Himbs
Benjamin Miner
Jarrod Mink
Dustin Minton
Santiago Miranda
Tracy Miskofsky
Gewxge Moats Ji.
Qs Mobley
Lanice Modksette
Keith Moffatt
Jacke Moffett
Mohamamad Moénuddin
Jeramy Moler
John Moles
Angela Moniger
Andrew Monigomery
Bud Moody

Tom Mooney
Bilty Moore Jr.
(raig Moore

Arturo Morales
Charles Morales
Guillermo Morales
Heclor Morales
Guilizrmo Morales-Mata
{haries Morckal
Samuel Morehead Y.
1ack Morey
Carrol Morgan
Christopties Morgan
Eurgens Morgan

lay Morgan

Rogar Morgan

Nick Morland
Shannon Morley
Tim Morphis
Kristina Morel
Anthorry Moris
kmes T. Morrs
Mike Hors
Nitholas Morris
Ralph Menis

Billy Morske

Joffery Mortashed

Yicky Mullins
Greg Humme Il
Lewis Munz
Arlie Murcar
Danny Mamay
Jason Moray
Biandon Murry
Gary Murry

Matt Murry
Glenn Kance
Lauren Mashert
Antoinette Nell
1W. hielson
Laverne Netson
Rodney Helson
Lacey Neuman
Yyle Nevels

Jere Newberry
Travis Newbery
Christopher Newkirk
Eric Kewman Ir,
$Shane Newman
Rodney Newion
Lori Nguyen
Thomis Neuyen
Kara Nichotson
Tyler Niederiter
Wk Niemann
Bty Kixon
Derec Norman
Palrick Novak
Drew Nugent
Reng Kunez
David 0'Brien
Warvin Odermatt
Jason Offerman
Michael Ochctree
fope quryomi
Dennis (Handley
Anthory Olivas
Jorge Oirvas
Michael Oliver
Mark Orgren
Christy Orosce
Keith Oumick
Randy Orsbum
Don Osborn
Maithew Dsbome
Robert Oswatt
Dasrel Overgaand
Casey Qvertwitz
De (Qverstreet
Thomas Gverstreet I
April Owens.
Lacay Dwens

Lingtsay Pabarzolo
lanie Paima
Kurt Patmer
Robert Palmer Jr.
Brian Panetta
Betty Pacdini
Bob Paokini
Candy Parkes
David P, Parkes
Edwin Parkes
e Parket
(ole Parkhurst
(arla Pamrish
Cindy Parsons
Marc Passmore
Jashua Pate
Umesh Patel
Buba Patterson
Monte Patierson
John Paul
Steven Paul
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Hachzel Fayne
Rickey Payton

Sof Phifips
Pacd Phillips
Yadenna Phillips
Abon Pierce
Marty Plence
James Pine

Mati Pinion

Jedt Pinter
Roger Pippirs k.
Lara Pitchford
Brooke Pittard
Michaed Pittser
Femon Prastendia-
Aceves

Lynes Platania
Charles Platt
Nictwolas Plart
Lori Phumiey
Richard Pogoe
Glenda Pohl
Oavid Poindexter

{Ivk Rice
Josh Richardson
Cori Riches

Jackie Riodle Ir.
Henry Rifte
Patrick Ry
Sari Riley

Larry Ritter

Greg Rivesa

Rick Robbns .
Courtney Reberts
lettrey Roberts Ir,
Jash Roberts
Matthew Roberts
Nicoke Roberts
Raymond Roberts
Stacy Roberts
Yincent Roberts
Daniel Rabertson
Michael Rodestson
Scnit Robertson
Broake Robinette
S¢ott Rabinson
Paut Rdesney
John Rodgers
Andrew Rodriguez I

Jeremiah Rogers
Jon Rogers
Batey Rollins
David Romine
Daniefle Roper
Leonact Roper
RyanRoper
Vinson Roper
GlennRose
Michael Rerss
Richard Ross
Richefle Ross
Rabest Ross
Torimy Ross
hireq Rossman
Seott Retruck

lennifer Roush
loni Rowan

David Rowland
Daniel Rucker

Eric Rucker
Michaed C Rushing
Michael & Rushing
Dena Russell

Do Russell
Jadkie Russet
Dusty Rust

Tracy Rust

Jason Ruth
Matthew Rutiedge
Norman Sadler
Gurpreet Saluja
Uriel Samaniego
Matthew Sanders
Steven Sanders
Dale Sanderson
Jobn Satterfiedd I
Terry Saurbom
Phillia Saxen
Perry Scales
David Sctmidt ir.
Shawn Schmidt
Karen Schmuhl

Stoney Scrivier
Legh Seaman
David Searls

William Selt
Kenneth Sell
Jobey Seflers
Jon Setzer

Louis Senkyrik
Michelle Senters
(hiod Sepulvado
Amanda Sema
Rabwert Setile
1L Settles
Brooke Shannon
Douglas Shannon Jr.
Jimmy Sharp ir.
Jenumy Sharp St
Wendie Sharp
Farey Shaw
Frederick Shaw J.
Lamoll Shearer
Jarnes Sheets
David Shellstrom
Robert Shefton
Michaed Sherman
Michae! Shiers
Jerry Shifflett
Kurt Shipley
Mandie Shipman
Stewe Shire
Steven Shockley
Chad Shotfner
Carl Shorter
Allen Shuarnaker
Kelly Shuttz
e Sierma
Pedro SiFuentes-Deleon
Andrew Sikoryak

Vincer Sitk
Gragorio Silva
Terzy Simmors
Athe Simons
Denald Simons
0).Sims
Chtstopher Sims
Mary Sims.
Randy B. Sims
Randy §. Simg
Rickie Sims
Rudy Sims ¥,
Werd Sims Jr.
Trevor Sinclair
s Singh
Ricky Singletary
Danny Singleton
Ousty Singleton
William Sisson
Charles Sitton
Michae! Slamick

Uiy A Smith
Mithaet C Smith
Michael £. Smith
Mitzi Smith
Monte K Smith
Robert Smith
Pusssell Smuth
Rusty Smith
Suzanne Smith
Tornrmy Smuth
Troy Smath
Waykon Smith
Brian Snider
Hotly Snices
Chad Soow

Rich Serycer
Pam Soltani
Backy Southerland
Joshua Southeriand
Pele Spadatova
Shad Sparks
Rodney Spencer
Lou Spitznogle
Derek Spreiar
s Spreses
Frene SL Prerme
Steve Stafford
(raig Stakey
Jason Statey
Lynn Standage i.
Hoviard Stane
Pixie Stanford
Don Stankey k.
Jeft Stanley
Rornée Statton
Jobn Stephens
Petoe Stephens
Anne Stepioe
Robby Stevers
Roger Stevens
Bree Stewar}
Lyvorne Stawart

Jason Stollings
Michael Stone
Shawnd Storey
Richard Stotler k.
Jennifer Stowasser
Andy Strealy
Russell Streetat
Convrd Strickland
Johin Strickland
Ronnie Stroh
Stucky

Perry Studebiaker
Yoscel Suarer
Pear Sudthai
Teresa Suffivan
Gary Summers
Heidi Swi

John Sugtes

Roger Sutterfield
Anastasia Svee
Rick Svor

layee Swartz
Joshua Swartz
Dee Swiger
Kewin Swiger
Benjamin Swiney
Colby Tackett
Kewin Tanner
Lasmy Tanner
Ronnie Tarver
David Torwater
Donny Taulbee i,
Alan Taylor
David Tavlor

Fack Taylor
Matthew Tavior
Mike Tavlor

Rick Tayior
Sarah Tavkor
Andtrew Tences
Hicholas Terech
Darviel Terry
Dustin Tesry
Rros Terry
Samson Testaselassie
Brian Thomas
Gwen Thomas
Jason €, Thomas
Jason D. Thomas
Latey Thomy
Paul Thomas
Richard Thompson
Tim Thompson
Fravis Thomgson
Justin Thrift

Joei Threnburg
Patricia Theower
tsidry Tijernna
Eimo it
Andrew Tipton
Kesth Tombin
Mikki Tomlimson
Scott Tomlinson
Jeiry Toney

Joha Taney
Brandon Tree
lgnacio Treving Ir
Juan Trevino
Dominic frivitt
Matthew Troup
Danny Trcwhridge
Daniel fruong
lrina Tucke

Jerry Tune

Steve Turk

Chris Turner Jr.
Corey Turner
Jaffe Turrer
Marcus Tufnes
Danala Tussey
Joshua Tyeer

Luts Yalencia
James ¥an Alstine
Jefifrey Von Grevenhol
Jeff Vanata

(lyde Vante
Jeremy Vange
Amanda Yanoven
Dakota Vaught
Brandt Vawter
Andires Vega-Tobias
Asturo Veler
Gerarde Vel
Terry Yernatter
Michael Yernon
Randy Yiflaire
Dustin Yinson
Brenda Vilatoe
Billy ¥o
Jonathan ¥ogel
Curths Voyles
Robert Wagoner
Hoey Wagslaff
Willie Wainman
Erin Walker

Noah Walker
Christagtier Wallace
Jason Wallgran
Donée Wallis
Katthew Walters
Kathy Wandling
David Wanrer
Emer Warnick
Matt Warren

Wil Warren

Keith Washington
Mart Watking
Mat Watking
Dusty Watson
James Watson
Luke Watson
Malthew Watson
Rod Weatherby
Gary Weathers
Lauren Webb
John Weber
Charles Wetister Il
John Webster
Brad Wethsler
Adam Weddington
Donald Weed
Jody Weideer
Thomas Weidner
Matt Weirrexh
John Weir .
Michael Welch
Samuel Welchel
B Wells

Tona Wells

Ann Wendart!
Leonard Wesiey
Luke Westtahl
Jake Weyrick
Williaen Weyrick
Scotty Wheatley
David Wheeles
Mithael Wheless
Grant Whipple
Sam Whitaker
Bob Whitbeck
Billy White
James B, White
James X White
lerry D. White
ferry D. White k.
Onristy Whited
Bernice Whiteshirt
Joe Whiteside
Jason Whitt
Earston Whel
Joshua Whyel
Annette Wilborne

Jettrey Wildrix
Kyle Wiley
James Wilhite
Kent Wikinson
Roy Wiltelord
Kyle Willey
Cindy Wilkams
Eric Williams

Jim Whlliams
Joshua Williams
ustin Witkiams
Kyle Williams
Marlene Williams
Rashaw Williams
Thad Williams
Vernon Williams
Tachary Williams
Calvin Wikiamson i,
Jeff Willts

Dea Willoughby
Tyler Wikyard
Andrew Wilsen
Brent Wikson
£had Wikon
e Wikson
Robin Wikson
Steve Wikon
Trista Wilson
‘Warren Wikon
Jim Wimemler
Franklin Windham
Amos Wise

Sara Withrow
(raig Wiltenhagen
hvan Wolanski
David Wotte
Matthew Wood
Mike Wood
Taunya Wood
Tolny Wood
Henry Woodnutf
Lasry Woodruft
Tara Woods

Dan Woodzell
Rick Worley
Shawn Wreath
Bradiey Wright
Chris Wright
Erran Wright
Hary Wright
Michaed Wright
Greg Wyall
Xeith Yankowsky
Kevin Yarbrough

Vincen Yost ir.
Debbie Young
Sttt Young
Ulya Young
Mina Zaheri
Kilo Jakdiver
Simen Zavala
Jason Zielke
Jeff tiga

Jody Tigier

2007 (2,236)
Kenneth Aaon
Michae! hary
Mighae] Abbott
fobert Abbott
Michael Absla
Chfton Ables
Laura Abney
Rodney Acgsta
(harlie Acre
(Cheis Adair
Christopher Adair

David Adams
James A, Adams
Jereimy Adars
joe Adams

Kedty Adams
Robent D. Adams
ictoria Adams
Jamie Adamson

O3 Adisa
Clarerice Advins
Kevin Agee
Rebert Ahart
Yemi Ajijolaiya
ik Ak

Tony Ake
Raymond Aking
Adrian Alaniz
tsrael Alaniz .
Leonarda Alcantar-
Lopez

John Abeorta
fack Akdridoe
Kedty Alison
Aaron Allen
Debbie Allen
Jotin Allen
Michael Allen
Ronnie Allen
Tomimy Allen
Tucker Atien
Rven Allison
Jacob Aityn

Ardy Amin

Jefi Amas

Boz Anderson
(ody Anderson
Dusty Anderson
lan Anderson
Katy Anderson
Maribeth Andersocy
Rick Anderson
Ryne Anderson
Wayne Anderson
Javier Andrade
Clenda Andrews
Shaneon Andrews
Joshua Angeline
Larry Angel
Hoises Arguiano
Hoises Aatonio
Hector Anty
Joshua Arbogast
Greg Archer
Steve Archer
Steve Arga
Dustin Armstrang
Morgan Arsstrong
xson Amokd
Kalbry Amolkd
Roger Amakd i,
Sandra Arthur
Amin Asaba
Jerry Ashley
Robert Atchison
Josegh At
Robert Avera Ji.
Rackey Avery
Hoa Avila
William Aycock
Penny Aiere
Donna Babiak
Wiiam Baghey k.
{his Bailey
Joseph Bailey

Joshwa Bailey
Kevin Railey
{arl Batey
Guris Baker
David Baker
David L Baker
Denns M. Baker
Erick Bakar
Gamett Baker
Jeremy Baker
Joe Baker
John Bakes
Teddy Baker
{(hag Bakke
Maxk Ball

Rick Ball
Raberi Ball
Loy Bakly
Lachary Bandy
Jeremy Banes
Amy Bany

Edgar Bencomo
Scott Bender
Apdrew Bernetl
Brooks Bennett
Laura Bennett
Nathan Berg
Lyssey Bargren
Baery Bergstrom
Ty Bermea
Pam Bert
James Bettencourt
Ashiynn Beverty
Jon Biegel
Marvin Biggar
Eractey Biogs
Bryce Biggs
Quadic Bilal
Joseph Billings
Matthew Bilings
Randy Billings
Randy T, Biltings.
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Ryan Billings
Laura Binkley

Ed Birdshead
Jereny Birkes
Wes Bishop
Robert Bitner
Miranda Black
Quirston Black
Roblry Black i,
Shawn Black

(raig Blackburn
Raywmond Blackmon
fimothy Blackmon
Jerry Blair

John Blake Jr.
Ronakd Blakely
Jared Blakley
Valerie Blankenbiler
Branden Blevins
Sammie Btevins
Tom Blevin

Jason Blockburger
Jacobs Bloxham

Darrzn Bond
Asstin Bond
Chelty Booker
Dustint Boone
Jared Boren
Christogtier Besth

Nathan Boyd

Eddie Bovdston
Gene Bover

Yvle Bradford

Jason Bradiey
Thomas Bradshaw
William Bradshaw
Casery Brady

Lyndon Bragg
Danny Branch
James rend

lordan Brangenburg
Eugene Brantem
foe Branham

Banny Bratcher il
Robert Brauer

Erika Braver

Denris Breaklield
Jonathan Breitenkarip

Sryan Bretand

(had Brefand
Christopher Bretand
Dyl Breland
Wiliam Breland
(had Brandle

Lovi Brewklander
Cheisting Breuninges

Josse Brian

Phillip 8ridges
Jelf Bridgwater
Eric Britton

Ker} Brock

Jim Brooks

Jobwn Broomfield Jr.
{anner Broomfieid
Deanna Brouifiette
Lester Broussard
haron (. Brown
Aaron R Brown
Benjamin Brown
David Brown
Dustin Brown
Eddie Brown
Jason 0. Brown
Kenneth Brown Ir.
Scott Brown
Stevie Bown

Jotf Browning
Emily Bruce
lames Brumley
(had Brummer
Teresa Brung
Jerermy Bryan
Kasey Brvan

Gty Brvant

(raig Butesbaugh
Chase Butler
Rody Butler

Kt Bymum
Dovid Byme

Matt Cagigal
Christopher Capla
Raymond Cagle
Melissa (aknupp
Jonathian (aldwedl
Nathan Caldwett
Rodney (athoun
James. (2l
Alan {allahan
Matthew (allahan
James (atloway
Andrea Calvanese
Robert {alvin
Alonso Lamacho
Salvacor (amacho
Andria Campbell
Bilty Carmphedl 17
lan{ampbell
Jotirey Camphell

fochard Camphet]
Rockie Campbel
Dweyne (anron
William (annon
Juzn (ano
feremy Canirell
fon Cantu

Mario Carenas

Alicia Carey

Bratt Cargile

Terry Cariker
brant Carisle
John {amey

Wark Carpenter
Earl (amr

Seott Caroll

(raig (arte

Binmi Carter

Darry Carter 51.
Gary, (aner

1C Carver

Holly Cary

Jutie Ann Casas
Ben(ase

Gary {ase
Jon{ase

Matthew Casey
Hex (astaneda
Jose (asteflano
Ricarda Castillo
Richard Castillo
fsaac Lasto

John Casto

Roge: (asto
Johnathen Caton
Jotertry Caywood
Curtis Cedestine k.
Crystal Cefsur
Bobby Cepi
Filimon Chagotia .
1awa Chamberdain
William (hambers
Kathy (handler
Blizabeth Chaney
Gocdon (hanned
Philip Chapman
Ryan Chappell
Ward (hse k.
Jamée (hastain
Lisa Chastain
Armando {havez Ir.
Jeremy Cheely
Steve iipera
John Chism
Phillip Chism
Shandie (hoate
Jobn Chistmas X,
Rached Christophes
Ronnie Christopher
Sundee (hristopher
Richard (humiey
Chyde Church

John Churchwell
Kelly Ciccareio
Rosa (isneros
Angie (lagg

Darin {lanton
Jasan . Clark
Matt Clark

Robert Clark
Sharon Clark
Sheridan Clark
Terry Caek
William Clark
David Clawges Ir,
Dusty Clayton
{harles Clevenger
Richard Cifien
Colt Cinesmith
Thomas Gouette ||

Warvne Clootet
Andrew Chadius
Ryan Coalmer
Allen {obum
Timathy (e
Susan Cofey
Justin Coffell
Toble Coffey
Gary (ottman I
Dor ogar
Stephanie Coil
Kyle {okdizon
Adam (ole
Dustin {ole
John Cole

Bob (oleman
Cody Coleman
Robert T. Coleman
Mark Collier
Dustin Collins
Joshua Colfns.
Stephen (olfns
Brad (oflison
Layla Compion
Denisa (ondos
Dustin Confey
Kyle Conlay
Sleven (o

Bl Convor
Dameon Connor
Dustin Connor
Brandon (ook
Rathan Cook
Doughas Coopec
Dustin Cooper
Justin Coopar
Pty (ooper
Rusty Cooper
(atie Coppage
Jonathan Cordava
Edgarda (oéona
tsmael {omea
Christopher (orrente
Anthony Corso )
Chad Corwin
Boblry {ostefio
Dennis {ottrill Jr.
William Coudding
Michae! {ounts k.
Ronald Courson
Todd Coursan
Carl Covey
(heistoher Covey
iy Cowey
Toby Cowley
Brian Cox
Chwis D, (o
Jenngfes Cox
Ry G
Stephen (rabb
Kimbesty Craft
Levi (raig
Robert (rank
Rex ravens
Helaroe (rawlxd
Thomas Creecy
Brently Creel
Gary Crenshaw
Dactied Critfield
Jeffrey Crihfield
Timatity Criner
Heath riss
Pheflip Crites
Steve (rockar
Jade Crockett
Tachary (romer
Hick Crouch

KW, Cryes

Jutia Cuiksa
Heath Cubver
Robert (umberlandt Jr.

Terry (umbertedge
Jered (nningham
Joshua Cunningham
Robert (unningtiam
Timothy (armutte
Donakd Dabbs
Jeroeny Dabbs

Tasie Dahl

Monte Dain

Josiah Danil [V
Steve Daniel

John Daniefs
Lindsay Danizl
Rick Daniels

Haley Dark

David Davls
Davy Devks
Donatd Davis
Gl Davis
Josh Davis
Kevin Davis
Kathan Oavis
Nicole Davig
Sean Davis
Steven (. Davis
Trannen Davis
Tvler Davis
William Davis
Butch Day Il
Rogue B¢ La Tore
Becky Deacon
Charles Dean

Jeff Delancy
(hartes Delhotal
Eric Dencenry
Williarn Dewry
Holky DeRousse
Jerry Derr

Lisa DeSpain
Tracey Devera
Charles Devilla
Dewey Deville
hdam Devries
Trey Dewald
Samuet Diaz
Daniel Diffey
Beyan Dilger
Kaye Dillingham
Danny Dinkins I
Custin Dixon
Traty Dixon
Donald Dobtys
Kristopher Dotibs
Martin Dobson
Jeregen Doby
Dustin Doert
Kyle Doleral
(had Dome
William Donahoe [ll
Kevio, Donaldson
Michaed Donisch
Staphanie Dookittla
ZLach Dorsey
Adam Doss
Lonnie Dossey
Angie Dotson
Adam Doty
Larry Dowthitt
Gary Driskefl

12 Dube

Nicole OuBais

Jed Duclley

Tim Dugan
Shannon Dulin
Buck Duncan
Jacody Bupuy
Jonathan Durgan
Bunky Dussetschleger Ir.
Joshua Dutton
Dorald Duty
Brian Duvall
Richard Dyke

Joseph Eddy Ir.
Daniel Edwards
e Eddwardy
Jason Eider
Jokny Eldridge
James Ellard Ir.
Ricky ELington
Steven Elington
Billy Elliott
Catey Eliott
Jobn Ellott
Lauren Efictt
Hurptry Elliott

Paige Elliott
Adam Ellis

Tyler Ellis
Joshua Elfison
Ladi Elmore
Keith Elroy
Bryan By
Amber Embrey
Alex Emerson
leremy Engles
Matthew Enkot
Gregory Ennis
Anthony Enriquez
Diane Erskin

Sef Estajeda
Torm Esparza
Jose Espinora
Heather Estes
Joseph Etheredge
Bobbry Etheridge
David . Evany
Jay bvans
Jayson Evans
Megan Evams
Michelte Evars
Sarah Evans
Stephen bvans
Depune Evecett
John Everett
John Evey

Issax Facemire
Jobhn Faircloth .
David Fanchet
Rosa Farias
Keith Faris

Tery Farley
Gary Famum
Tim Farrington
James Faulkner
Kris Faulkner
Roberl Feely
Christopher Fenelon
Amy Ferguson

Davic Ferguson
Joe Ferguson
Raginald ferguson
Joe Femandaz
William fesrebee
Adarn Fields
Edward Fields
Faith Fiedds
Tisothy Fielk
Candace Figres
Ken Fila

Wayne Files
£dhwin Fisher

Jil Fishex

Joshua Figher
Ranson Fisher
Jery Fisher k.
Brlan fitzperakd
Suzanne Fitzpatrick
Sam Flaming
Kenny Flanagan
Stephani Flegt
Matt Fletcher
Armando Flores
Dtomie] Flores
Heath Fiowers
Toby Flovd
Roger Foley
James Foecuct
Howt Ford

Rob Ford
Christophies Fora
Kodi Foreman
Jim Forney

Jake Formest
Douglas Fortrey |l
Parssel Fory
Danny Foster
Jerod Foster

Jake Fowler
Timothy Fowler
Jetfrey Fox
Tarnara Fox
Kristen Fraley
Kevin Frame
Patrick Franklin
Daron Fredridison
Tesi Freeland
Dan Freeman
Holly Freeman
Pauk Freeman
Prifip Freeman
Steven Freeman
Amanda Friese
Ayse Fryar

Joe! Fulenwider
Mark Fufkerson
Kim Fuller
William Fulles
Lisa Fulmer
Bobiry Furr
Jesus Gabalden
David Gaddy
Randy Gafford
Michael Gagnon
(raig Gainer
Banjamen Gaines
Niguel Gaitan
hian Galegos Jr.
Kartla Galloway
Gerardo Galvan
Danay Games
David Gann
Christopher Ganz
Erasmo Garda

Fefipe Garcia
Gerando K. Garcia
fase Garca

Martin Garcla Jt.
Rad Garda
Romeo Gartia
Stephanie Garda
Midissa Gardner
Bilty Gary

foel Garza
Roberto Garza
Austin Gaspard
Tam Gaston

Don Gatewood
Todd Gatewood
Yelena Gatewood
Wichael Getlis
Haley Gautey
Justin Gauthier
Eill Gee

Erandon Geer
James Gefser
Matthew Gelnar
Joseph Genovese k.
Tina Gendry
Charles Gedfich
Eric Ghee

Marissa Gibbs
Qurisii Gibson
Davin Gibson
Jonathan Gill

Eric Gillespie

Belan Gilliam
Danied Gilmore
Diavid Gitmre
Andrew Gimmel
Tvket Gizzi

Shane Glassey
Malt Gobbte

Barry Gober
Betsy Godirey
Neva Godwin
Pablo Gomez

Amy Gonzales
Oscar Gorzles
Alfonso Gonzaler ¥.
Francisco Gonzalez
Hector 6. Genzaler k.

Richard Geaf
Jacob Grafa
Zach Gragg
Divid Graham

Lee Grampp
Kenneth L. Graves
Kevin Graves
Amands Graves
Fybe Gravunder
D'Angelo Gray
Jimeny W, Gy
Kevin Gray
Tler Gray
Marcus A, Green
Randy Green

Benita Guajardo
Homero Guerr Jr.
Roy Guerra

Eric Guiley
Nathan Gumny
Brianne Gungol
Donald £. Gunnoe 1
Giert Guthorre? i,
Jose Gutierrez
Derrick Gueman
Salvador Guzman
Summer Gwinn
Timothy Haack
Greg Haddock
Clarence Hadley
Jamie Hadtey
Clint Hager

Josh Halbert

Trey Hale BI

Troy Hate

Cary Hall

Rob Hall

Timethy Hal
Michaed Hatpin
Steve Hakted
Robert Ham

Taid Hamdokh
Jererny Hamil
Donakd Hamilton
Heather Hamilton
Weston Hamilton
Diavid Hamner
Auma Hampton
(ynihia Harmrick
Lot Hantodk
Shedla Harder
Scott Hardison
hustin Hargett
Melaria Harless
Michoad Harman
Larce Harmon
Charlie Harrington
haron Harris
Ay Hais
Chartes Harris
Dustin Harris

Jeff A Harris
Jobn Haeis

Matt Harrts
Michaet A. Harris
Michae! Harzls
(raig Harvison.
Harold Harmison
Mark Harrison

Christopher Hartman
Kevin Hastman
Michael Harvey
David Hatton

Jemy Hausman
Michae) Hawins
Shane Havden
Amanda Haves
Charles Hayes

Kelby Haves
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Patrick Haves {olby Holand Jesemy James Megan Kksimerer Angie Lohner Juan Matinez Joe Melton Roger Moreay Winired O
Stephanie Haves Janice Hofloway Ken fames Doug Knight Ashley Long lawa Martini Guadahmpe Mendez Dwight Morey David Ortega
Deug Haymaker Advianne Holmes Tommy lamison Kyl Knomeies Fthel Long David Masiker Matio Mendoza Muchaet Morey Michael Ortego
Heather Haynes Chase Holmes Jr, Victor Jaramifio Antheny Knuppel James Long James Mason Chasta Merter (hrktian Horgan David Grth
Mike Haynes Dennis Holmes Stepharie Jamonek Mochael Koss James tong I Ryan Mason {hetsed Mercer Cody Morgan Tsmmaed driz
Dustin Hays Michael Holmes Mefinda Jay Mison Krittenbeink Rebekah Long Steve Mason Mebe Mercer Danney Morgan Vickd Otey
Sara Hays Don Kol Billy Jeffers Ryan Krittenbeink Jacoh bonging Brandon Masters Renea Marchant Gran! Morgan (raig vercash
Thomas Hays Kyle Hott Ricky Jetries Alischa Krystyniak Alired Loper John Masterson James Merrell Stephan Morgan Aaion Dvertur!
Tiles Hays Shetdon Hott Lee Jenkins fian Kueab Amaxsor Loper i, Michefle Matney Codan Meshel Virginia Morgan Jeff Owers
Kenreth Hazetwood Titiany Hophins Clint Jennings (his Kuetin Lavier Loper Dorrick Matthews Brian Messer John Mocansk Wichael Paintes
James Head Greg Hopper Biu Jemigan ¥im Kuehn Eric Loudenslager Bobby Mattice David Messar ‘Amber Morris Victor Falacios
Anne Heatly Jeremy Hopper hidam Jeter Roxanne Kuntz Hitch Louis Jaredd Maus Jennifer Messer Chad Mormis Chartes Parish
Jason Hedges Lava Horn Raed deter Miranda Lacey 1D, Louks Peggy Maradl ftenee Metcalf Jared Mortls Patrick Parish
Gary Heinen Rven Hom Li Jett Steve Ladner Karson Love Joseph May Megan Meyer Maic Horis Anckea Parker
(hristopher Heisid Ronniz Horre Patlo fimene: Miranda Lair Michael Love Benjamin Mayer Danryy Mevers Stankey Morrk X, Grant Packer
Keffy Feln Tim Horme Billy Johnson Tocd Lamb hrntber Lovelace Anthony Maze Jonice Meziere Steva Morris Matthew Parker
Kim Hehvey JohnS_ Homshy Brenda Johnsoe chiey Lambert Shirley Lovelady Ovvistopher McAhvain Ber! Middleton I¥ Jean Mort Michaet Parket
Rob Hembree Watthew Horion Dana Johnson Kelfy tamoreaux Brancion Lovedl Harok! McAsther Lange Midkgley Dianial Morton Shaphan Packer
Kim Henderson Robert Hosea Dannie Johnson Clay Lancon Michael Lovel Steve McBrien Derrick Mihegoty Don Mosher Robert Pare
Kristi Henderson Bud Hoselton Eric Johnson Juan Landa Cervantes Jessie Lovett Jr. Trent McCabe Tiffany Mikel Stave Mossor Benjie Parsons
Lixcas Henderson Erin Howard Jason Johrson Jason Landis Lu Lovest llen MeCall Jody Mikles Justin Moxley Jetirey Parsons
Roe Henderson Joe Howed Kyle Johnson Barion Landon k. James Lowe b, Jm Mclal k. Karen Miet Mark Muegge & Jonn Parsons
11 Henderson I John Howet Kyle R. Johnson Welissa Lands Jason Lowe Hichael McCann Ly Mier fchard Mufican Leske Parsons
[Na Hendrix Martin Howell Luczs Johnson Nikid Landsbergar Rancali Lowe Michelle McCarthy Anna Milledge Daniel Muncy Mark Parsons
BoHenry Hangy Hubbard Mavtin Johnson Bobby Lane Benjamin Lucs W, Whitney Mcartney Drew Mitlx Hactor Muno? Maithew Parsons
Greg Henry Tonnie Hubbard Randell Johnson Netson Lane Dugtin tuxcas Michael McClanahan Edwin Miller Roo Musryon Chép Petton M
Wiliam Henry Melissa Huddleston Stephen Johnson Dustin Langley Eyse Lucchesa Josh McClary Grant Miller Matt Murply 8 Mark Patton
Dave Heqson {vle Hudrall Timothy lohnson William LaPrarie Shane Lucken Josh McCollom larvie Miller Carl Murray Steven Patton
Wfonso Hemander Syl v Trler Jotnson Abel Lara Roxannatuegge Randy McColhrm Jetfery Mitler Chvis Murray Caritsa Palzkowsky
Abvaro Hernander Mont Huff I, Pery Johnston Linded Larison X. Gerando Lugo Rick McComas John M. Milles Rov Murray Ay Payne
Frandisco L. Hemandez Barry Huggins Christopher Joiver Robirs Latimer Sonia Lujan Crystad McCormick Johin Mfter Rvan Murray larmes Peaca
Jose A, Hemandez Clinton Hughes Aaron Jones Tobw Lattea Casey Lum Elizabeth McCormick Jonathan Miller Teavis Murrow Danny Peach
Jose Hemandez Keystore Hughes Anne Jones Aaron Laubhan Mark Lumpkin I, fames McCormick k. Lary Milier Lee Mustard Seth Peartow
Jose L Hemander Michae! §. Hughes Brian Jones favin Laoghiin Brvon Lna by MeConmack I, Mart Millet Daniry Myers Tom Pearson
Jose Hsizar Jason Jooes Eugene Lauricetla Cesar luna bereszry McCormick Maurey Miller Mindy Myers Ty Peck
Omar Huizar Jeff L Jones Andy Lawrence Matthew Luna Wayne McCormick Miranda Miller Patrick Myers Mark Pedrarine
Tracy Hubey Justin kones Wallace Lawrence Richand Luss leffrey McCoy Rodniey Miller Jory Nance Jotn Peek Sr.
Paut Hummel Lawwa Jones (heryl Lawson Dean Lutey Joia Mefioy Steven Miller (hiis Nartey Srandon Patfer
Matthew Humphrey Marvin Joces r. Danied Lawson i, Mary Ellen Lutey Lanry MeCoy Tiacy Miber Avar Katividad Scott Pegg
Json Humphries Holan Jones Jabe Lawson David Lynch Joshua McCray (raig Kills hian Nava (. Chuis Pennel
Joe Hunfey Scolt Jones Toni Lawwon Tesry Lyors Robart Mc(ue fames Mills k. Jimmy Neafis Michael Penner
Austin Humt Chad Jongeling Luke Lrwver Ashlee Maberry Jobn McCutioogh Soon Ml Chinton Neher Nick Penney
Danny Hunt Chis Jordan Haxi Le {olzen Magness Jamie McDanied Mathan Milsap David Netson Kellie Permington
Landon Hunt Bobby Joslin Reagan Lea Rhonda Maguire Michael McDaniel Rrad Minick Froger helson Claresie Peppers
Roneie Hunter Rigo Juarer Slen Leatherman Tomay Mahler Miles Mchaniel Terame Mink Cathy Nester Hathan Peppers
Garmett Hurd Chis Kaddatz Greg Ledbetter {harlie Makoim Robert McDaniel Steven Nestor Aprit Perdue
Orinn Hurdle Andy Kapchinske 1 Lee Micky Matham Dustin MDaugale ’ Mike Neves Fesmiando Perer
Aaron Hurst Anckiw Karber Melisa Lee tary Matmay Matt Mcbonald Metvin Newman Raméro Perer
Claudus Haster ir. Steven Hurst Titfanie Karber Mike Lea Flmer Mandia Debby McEhraalh Bob Newport Randy Perez
Lance Hewitt John Hurt & James Karrakes Tony Lea Jotin Manes Joseph MeElvea Joshua Hewport Hugo Peret Najera
Anna Hibbard Leo Hrt Doug Kathol Warrentee farissa Mamn Jon MeEntire Tary Newion Chffoed Perkins
Dauglas Hicks Richard Husbands Rita Keary Jeremy Leger Michael Mann Juan MeFadden Sean Kouven Richand Perking
Josh Hicks Keasha Kuser Chip Keating Il Emily legg Terry Mam Chatles McFarland Joshua Hichols Ruchard Perrigan
William Higginbotham Steven Hutchens k. Brachey Keath Brandon Lehaski Mark Manos Mandy McGee Gregq Miranda Thomas Hichotsen Gene Pefry
Hillary Hogins George Hutto (ayion Keenan Tien Lederer Amanda Mantooth Iuie MGil Mke Miranda Todd Nickets Bucky Petary
Layne Hightower Daniet Hyatt Dan Keffeter Dean Leiphart (Chwis Marble 1P McGenley Brian Mitchell Jason Nieken Xamberty Petate
Shawn Hignde Steven Hyatt Bill Kaller Logan Lemley Shawn Mariceli David Mctnturtf Chaet Mitchelt Jerimy Ning Tood Petitte
Rov Hidetrand Josh Hyden Karin Keller Kelly Lemons Charles Marietta k. Billy McKamie Dexter Mitchet Timothy Holand Harlery Petty
Adarm Hill Angela lbara 1Gm Keer Laura benket Ketth Marin Jake Mceever Michael Kitts Tomamy Norman Lason Pevelo
Barday Kt Antoéo bam Jason Kelley Lusk; lerma Travis Marker Mark McKetvey Brennan Moates Romalc Moeris Philip Plister
Christopher HiY Katy lgarta Ashley Kelly (hrista Levescy Hathan Marks Christopher Mckown Jeftrey Mos Scott Komis Lisa Phelps
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PART I ‘

ITEM 1. Business
General .

- We are the ‘third largest producer of natural gas in the United States (first among independents). We own
interests in approximately 38,500 producing oil and natural gas wells that are currently producing approximately
2.2 billion cubic feet equivalent, or befe, per day. 92% of which is natural gas. Qur strategy is focused on
dlscoverlng, acquiring and developing conventional and unconvenuonal natural gas reserves onihore in the U.S.,
east of the Rocky Mountam%

Our most important operating area has historically been in the ‘Mid-Continent region of Oklahoma,
Arkansas, southwestern Kansas and the Texas Panhandle. At December 31, 2007, 47% of our estimated proved
oil and natural gas reserves were located in the Mid-Continent region. During the past five years, we have also
built significant pesitions in various conventional and unconventional plays in the Fort Worth Basin in north-
central Texas; the Appalachian ' Basin, principally in West Virginia, eastern Kentucky, ~eastern Ohio,
Pennsylvania and southern New York, the Permian and Delaware Basins of West Texas and eastern New
Mexico: the Ark-La-Tex area of East Texas and northern Louwisiana; and the South Texas and Texas Gulf Coast
regions. We have established a top-three position in nearly every major unconventional play onshore in the U.S.
east of the Rockies, including the Barnett Shale, the Arkansas Fayetteville Shale, the Appalachian Basin
Devonian and ‘Marc¢ellus Shales, the Arkoma and Ardmore Basin Woodford Shale in Oklahoma, the Delaware
Basin Barnett and Woodford Shales in West Texas, and the Alabama Conasauga and Chattanooga Shales.

As of December 31, 2007, we had 10.879 trillion cubic feet equivalent, or tcfe, of proved reserves, of which
93% were natural gas and all of which were onshore. During 2007, we produced an average of 1.957 befe per
day, a 23% increase over the 1.585 bcfe per day produced in 2006. We replaced our 714 befe of production with
an internally estimated 2.637 tcfe of new proved reserves for a reserve replacement rate of 369%. Reserve
replacement through the drillbit was 2.468 tcfe, or 346% of production (including 1.248 tcfe of positive
performance revisions, of which 1.207 tcfe relates to infill drilling and increased density locations, and 97 befe of
positive revisions resulting from oil and natural gas price increases between December 31, 2006 and
December 31, 2007), and resérve replacement through acquisitions was 377 befe, or 53% of production. During
2007, we divésted 208 befe of proved reserves. As a result, our proved reserves grew by 21%'during 2007, from
9.0 tefe to 10.9 tefe. Of our 10.9 tefe of proved reserves, 64% were proved developed reserves.

During -2007, Chesapeake continued the industry’s most active drilling program and’ drilled 1,992 gross
(1,695 net) operated wells and participated in another 1,679 gross (224 net) wells operated by other companies.
The company’s drilling success rate was 99% for company-operated wells and 97% for non-operated wells. Also
during 2007, we invested $4.3 billien in operated wells (using an average of 140 operated rigs) and $708 million
in non-operated wells (using an average of 105 non-operated rigs). Total costs incurred in oil and natural gas
acquisition, exploration and development activities during 2007, including seismic, unproved properties,
leasehold, capitalized interest and internal costs, non-cash tax basis step-up and asset retirement obligations, were
$7.6 billion.

Our principal executive offices are located at 6100 North Western. Avenue, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma
73118 and our main telephone number at that location is (405) 848-8000..We make available free of charge on
our website at www.chk.com our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports
on Form &-K, and amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such
material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission. References to “us”, “we” and “our” in
this report refer to Chesapeake Energy Corporation together with its subsidiaries.



Business Strategy

Since our incepticn in 1989, Chesapeake’s goal has been to create value for investors by building one of the
largest onshore natural gas resource bases in the United States. For the past ten years, our strategy to accomplish
this goal has been to focus onshore in the U.S. east of the Rockies, where we believe we can generate the most
attractive risk adjusted returns. In building our industry-leading resource base during the period from 1998 to
2007, we integrated an aggressive and technologically-advanced drilling program with an active property
consolidation program focused on small to medium-sized corporate and property acquisitions. ‘During the past
two years, we have shifted our sirategy from drilling inventory capture to drilling inventory conversion. In doing
so, we have de-emphasized acquisitions of proved properties while further emphasizing our mdustry leading
drilling program and converting our substantial backlog of drilling opportunities into proved developed
producing reserves. Key elements of this business strategy are further explained below.

Grow through the Drillbit.  We believe that our most distinctive characteristic is our commitment and
ability to grow production and reserves through the drillbit. We are currently utilizing 138 operated drilling rigs
and 77 non-operated drilling rigs to conduct the most active drilling program in the U.S. We are active in most of
the unconventional plays in the U.S. east of the Rockies, where we drill more horizontal wells than any other
company in the industry. For the past ten years, we have been actively investing in leasehold, 3-D seismic
information and human capital to take advantage of the favorable drilling economics that exist today. We are one
of the few large-cap independent oil and natural gas companies that have been able to consistently increase
production, which we have successfully achieved for the past 18 consecutive years and 26 consecutive quarters.
We believe the key elements of the success and scale of our drilling programs have been our recognition earlier
than most of our competitors that (i) oil and natural gas prices were likely to move structurally higher for an
extended period, (ii) new horizontal drilling and completion techniques would enable development of previously
uneconomic natural gas reservoirs and (iii} various shale formations could be recognized and developed as
potentially prolific natural gas reservoirs rather than just as sources of natural gas. In response to our early
recognition of these trends, we have proactively hired thousands of new employees and have built the nation’s
largest onshore leasehold and 3-D seismic inventories, the building blocks of a successful large- -scale drilling
program and the foundation of value creation in our industry.

Control Substantial Land and Drilling Location Inventories. After we identified the trends discussed
above, we initiated a plan to build and maintain the largest inventory of onshore drilling opportunities in the U.S.
Anticipating an increase in commaodity prices and recognizing that better horizontal drilling and completion
technologies when applied to various new shale plays would likely create a unique opportunity to capture
decades worth of drilling opportunities, we embarked on a very aggressive lease acquisition program which we
have referred to as the “land grab”. We believed that the winner of the “land grab” would enjoy a distinctive
competitive advantage for decades to come as other companies would be locked out of the best new shale plays
in the U.S. We believe that we have executed our “land grab” strategy with particular distinction. We now own
approximately 13 million net acres of leasehold in the U.S. and have identified more than 36,300 drilling
opportunities on this leasehold. We believe this deep backlog of drilling, more than ten years worth at current
drilling levels, provides unusual confidence and transparency into our future growth capabilities.

Develop Proprietary Technological Advantages. In addition to our industry-leading leasehold position, we
have developed a number of proprietary technological advantages. First, we have acquired what we believe is the
nation’s largest inventory of three-dimensional (3-D) seismic information. Possessing this 3-D imventory enables
us to image deep reservoirs of natural gas that might otherwise remain undiscovered and to driil our horizontal
wells more accurately inside the targeted shale formation. In addition, we have developed an industry-leading
information-gathering program that gives us proprietary insights into new plays and competitor activity. As a
result of our initiatives, we now produce approximately 4% of the nation’s natural gas, drill 8% of its wells and
participate in almost an equal number of wells drilled by others. Consequently, we believe that we receive
drilling information on 20-25% of the wells drilled in areas in which we are focused. By gathering this
information on a real-time basis, then quickly assimilating and analyzing the information, we are able to react
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quickly to opportunities that are created through our drilling program and those of our competitors. Finally, we
have recently constructed a unique state-of-the-art Reservoir Technology Center (RTC) in Oklahoma City. The
RTC enables us to more quickly, accurately and confidentiaily analyze core data from shale wells and then
design fracture stimulation procedures that are designed to work most productively in the shale formations that
have been analyzed. We believe the RTC provides a very substantial competitive advantage in developing new
shale plays and improving existing shale plays.

Build Regional Scale. We believe one of the keys to success in the natural gas exploration industry is to
buitd significant operating scale in a limited number of operating areas that share many similar geological and
operational characteristics. Achieving such scale provides many benefits, the most important of which are
superior geoscientific and engineering information, higher per unit revenues, lower per unit operating costs,
greater rates of drilling success, higher returns from more easily integrated acquisitions and higher returns on
drilling investments. We first began pursuing this focused strategy in the Mid-Continent region ten years ago and
we are now the largest natural gas producer, the most active driller and the most active acquirer of leasehold and
producing properties in the Mid-Continent. We believe this region, which trails only the Gulf Coast and Rocky
Mountains in current U.S. natural gas production, has many attractive characteristics. These characteristics
include long-lived natural gas properties with predictable decline curves, multi-pay geological targets that
decrease drilling risk and have resulted in a drilling success rate of approximately 98% over the past 18 years,
generally lower service costs than in more competitive or more remote basins and a favorable regulatory
environment with virtually no federal land ownership. We believe the other areas where we operate possess many
of these same favorable characteristics, and our goal is to become or remain a top three natural gas producer in
each of our operating areas.

Focus on Low Costs. By minimizing lease operating costs and general and administrative expenses
through focused activities and increased scale, we have been able to deliver attractive financial returns through
all phases of the commodity price cycle. We believe our low cost structure is the result of management’s
effective cost-control programs, a high-quality asset base, extensive and competitive services and natural gas
processing and transportation infrastructures that exist in our key operating areas. In addition, to control costs and
service quality, we have made significant investments in our drilling rig and trucking service operations and in
our midstream gathering and compression operations. As of December 31, 2007, we operated approximately
22,400 of our 38,500 wells, which delivered approximately 85% of our daily production volume. This large
percentage of opérated properties provides us with a high degree of operating flexibility and cost control.

Mitigate Commodity Price Risk. We have used and intend to continue using hedging programs to seek to
mitigate the risks inherent in developing and producing oil and natural gas reserves, commodities that are
frequently characterized by significant price volatility. We believe this price volatility is likely to continue in the
years ahead and that we can use this volatility to our benefit by taking advantage of prices when they reach levels
that management believes are either unsustainable for the long-term or provide unusually high rates of return on
our invested capital. As of February 21, 2008, we have oil hedges in‘place covering %4% and 97% of our
expected oil production in 2008 and 2009, respectively, and $7% and 54% of our expecied natural gas production
in 2008 and 2009, respectively, thereby providing price certainty for a substantial portion of our future cash flow.

Muaintain an Entrepreneurial Culture. Chesapeake was formed in 1989 with an initial capitalization of
$50,000 and fewer than ten employees. Since then, our management teamn has guided the company through
various operational and industry challenges and extremes of oil and natural gas prices to create the largest
independent producer of natural gas in-the U:S. with 6,400 employees currently and an enterprise value of
approximately $36 billion. The company takes pride in its innovative and aggressive implementation of its
business strategy and strives to be as entrepreneurial today as it has been in its past. We have maintained an
unusually flat organizational structure as we have grown to help ensure that important information travels rapidly
through the company and decisions are made and implemented quickly. Our chief executive officer and
co-founder, Aubrey K. McClendon, has been in the oil and natural gas industry for 27 years and beneficially
owns, as of February 29, 2008, approximately 28.4 million shares of our common stock.
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Improve our Balance Sheet. We have made significant progress in improving our balance sheet over the
past nine years. From December 31, 1998 through December 31, 2007, we increased our stockholders’ equity by
$12.4 billion through a combination of earnings and common and preferred equity issuances. As of December 31,
2007, our debt as a percentage of total capitalization (total capitalization is the sum of debt and stockholders’
equity) was 47%, compared to 137% as of December 31, 1998.

Outlook

We believe that demand for natural gas will continue to increase in the U.S. and around the world as a result
of its favorable environmental characteristics and relative abundance, especially when compared to oil, which is
in increasingly short supply, and to coal, which has many unfavorable environmental characteristics.
Chesapeake’s strategy for 2008 is o continue developing our natural gas assets through exploratory and
developmental drilling and by selectively acquiring strategic properties in the Mid-Continent and in our other
operating areas. We project that our 2008 production will be between 851 befe and 861 befe, a 19% to 21%
increase over 2007 preduction, We-have budgeted $5.9 billion to $6.5 billion for drilling, acreage acquisition,
seismic and related capitalized internat costs. which is expected to be funded with operating cash flow based on
our current assumptions, our 2008-2009 financial plan and borrowings under our revolving bank credit facility.
Our budget is frequently adjusted based on changes in oil and natural gas prices, drilling results, drilling costs
and other factors.

Operating Areas

Chesapeake focuses its natural gas exploration, development and acquisition efforts in the six operating
areas described below.

Mid-Continent. Chesapeake's Mid-Continent proved reserves of 5.122 tcfe represented 47% of our total
proved reserves as of December 31, 2007, and this area produced 374 befe, or 52%, of our 2007 production.
During 2007, we invested approximately $2.1 billion to drill 2,126 (785 net) wells in the Mid-Continent. For
2008. we anticipate spending approximately 38% of our iotal budget for exploration and development activities
in the Mid-Continent region. ‘"

Barnett Shale. Chesapeake’s Barnett Shale proved reserves represented 2.063 tefe, or 19%, of our total
proved reserves as of December 31, 2007. During 2007. the Barneu Shale assets produced 93 befe, or 13%, of
our total production. During 2007, we invested approximately $1:3 billion to drill 512 (410 net) wells in the
Barnett Shate. For 2008, we anticipate spending approximately 35% of our total budget for exploration and
development activities in the Barnett Shale.

Appalachian Basin. Chesapeake’s Appalachian Basin proved reserves represented 1.404 tcfe, or 13%, of
our total proved reserves as of December 31, 2007. During 2007, the Appalachian assets produced 48 befe, or
7%, of our total production. During 2007, we invested approximately $344 million to drill 431 (374 net) wells in
the Appalachian Basin. For 2008, we anticipate spending approximately 5% of our total budget for exploration
and development activities in the Appalachian Basin.

Permian and Delaware Basins. Chesapeake’s Permian and Delaware Basin proved reserves represented
990 befe, or 9%. of our total proved reserves as of December 31, 2007. During 2007, the Permian assets
produced 65 befe. or 9%, of our total production. During 2007, we invested approximately $813 million to drill
253 (107 net) wells in the Permian and Delaware Basins. For 2008, we anticipate spending approximately 12% of
our total budget for exploration and development activities in the Permian and Delaware Basins.

Ark-La-Tex, Chesapeake’s Ark-La-Tex proved reserves represented 695 befe, or 6%, of our total proved
reserves as of December 31, 2007. During 2007, the Ark-La-Tex assets produced 56 befe, or 8%, of our total
production. During 2007, we invested approximately $556 million to drill 259 (176 net) wells in the Ark-La-Tex
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region. For 2008, we anticipate spending approximately 4% of our total budget for exploration and development
activities in the Ark-La-Tex area, .

South Texas and Texas Gulf Coast. Chesapeake's South Texas and Texas Gulf Coast proved reserves
represented 605 befe, or 6%, of our total proved reserves as of December 31, 2007. During 2007, the South
Texas and Texas Gulf Coast assets produced 78 befe, or 11%, of our total production. For 2007, we invested
approximately $315 million to drill 90 (67 net) wells in the South Texas and Texas Gulf Coast regions. For 2008,

we anticipate spending approximately 6% of our total budget for exploration and development activities in the
South Texas and Texas Guif Coast regions. ' '

Drilling Activity B ,
The following table sets forth the wells we drilled during the periods indicated, In the table, “gross” refers to
the total wells in which we had a working interest and “net” refers to gross wells multiplied by our working

interest. : S

2007 T 2006 . 2005
Gross Percent Net Percent Gross Percent Net Percent Gross Percent '-N_et Percent
'Development: ) ' o .
-Productive ... .... 3,439  98% 1,792  99% 2,844  98% 1,364 © 99% 1,736 97% 735 97%
" Non-productive ... 53 2 10 1 47 2 13 1 5t 3 .21 3
Total ........... 3492 100% 1,802 . 100% 2,891 100% 1,377 - 100% 1,787 100% 756 100%
Exploratory: - _
Productive . ...... 177 99% 116 99% 128 98% 7! 99% 177  98% 57 95%
Non-productive . . . 2 1 11 302 i SR 4 2 3 5

Total w......... - 179 100% 117 100% 131 100% 72 100% 181. 100% 60 100%

The following table shows the wells we drilled by area;

f 2007 Co2006 . 2008
' Gross Wells  Net Wells  Gross Wells  Net Wells  Gross Wells  Net Wells

Mid-Continent . ............. ... ..... 2,126 785 1,884 621 1,442 . 498
BamettShale .............. ... ..... 512 410 244 _ 187 —_ —
Appalachian Basin ................... 431 374 3190 M2 15 1
Permian and Delaware Basins . ......... 253 107 189 - 92 139 56
Ark-La-Tex .......... ... 259 176 - 248 175 * 257 7
South Texas and Texas Gulf Coast ...... 90 67 138 102 . 115 ﬂ

Total ....... . P 3,671 1,919 3,022 1,449 1,968 - 816

[

" At December 31, 2007, we had 289 (132 net) wells in process.

Well Data : : o

At December 31, 2007; we had interests in approXimately 38,500 (21,404 net) producing wells, including
properties in which we held an overriding royalty interest, of which 6,900 (3,832 net) were classified as primarily
oil producing wells and 31,600 (17,572 net} were classified as primarily natural gas producing wells. Chesapeake
operates approximately 22,400 of its 38,500 producing wells. During 2007, we driiled 1,992 (1,695 net) wells
and participated in another 1,679 (224 net) wells operated by other companies. We operate approximately 83% of
our current daily production volumes.



Production, Sales, Prices and Expenses

The following table sets forth information regarding the production volumes, oil and natural gas sales,
average sales prices received, other operating income and expenses for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

' Lo ' 2007 2006 2005
Net Production: ‘ .
Oil (mbbls) ........ e T 9,882 8,654 7,698
Natural gas {mmef) ... .o L 654,969 526,459 422,389
Natural gas equivalent {mmefe) ......... ... ... ... oL 714,261 578383 468,577
Qil and Natura) Gas Sales ($ in millions): '
Ol SalES ... e e $ 678 $ 527 § 402
Oil derivatives—realized gains (losses) ............oov it D - (15 . G4
Oil derivatives—unrealized gains (fosses) ........... .. 0., (235) 28 4
Totaloilsales ......... .. .. i I 432 540 372
Natural gassales ..... .. ....... . e 4,117 3,343 3,231
Natural gas derivatives—realized gains {losses) ................ L. 1,214 1,269 (367)
Natural gas derivatives—unrealized gains (losses) .................. .. (139) 467 37
Total natural gassales ................ S S S 5,192 5,079 2,901
Total oil and natural gassales . ............ ..o . § 5624 3 5619 § 3273

Average Sales Price
(excluding gains (losses) on derivatives):

Qil (B perbbl) ..o $ 6864 3 6086 $ 5220
Natural gas ($permef) ... ... ... ..o $ 629 $ 635 § 1765
Natural gas equivalent (S permefe) ...................... .. ..., $ 671 & 669 § 775
Average Sales Price
(excluding unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives):
Oil($perbbl) .......... g e $ 6750 $ 59.14 $ 47.77
Natural gas (Spermef) ... 0. ... T e $§ 814 § 876 $ 6.8
Natural gas equivalent (S permefe) ................. ..ol $ 840 $ 88 § 690
Other Operating Income ($ per mcfe):
Oi! and natural gas marketing ................... R $§ 010 & 009 § 007
SErvice OPerations . ... ......i..eet e i i $ 006 $ 011§ —
Expenses ($ per mcfe): ) .
Production expenses . .......... e, e $ 090 $ 085 $ 0.68
Production t@XES . . .« o\ttt ittt et e $ 030 $ 031 $ 044
General and administrative eXpenses ... .......... ... .c.oiiiiiaan.. $ 034 $ 024 $ 014
Qil and natural gas depreciation, depletion and amortization .......... $ 257 % 235 & 191
Depreciation and amortization of otherassets ...................... $§ 022 %5 018 § 01
Interest EXPEnse (A) . . v\ vvveee e v § 051 § 052 § 047

(a) Includes the effects of realized gains or (losses) from interest rate derivatives, but does not include the
effects of unrealized gains or {losses) and is net of amounts capitalized.




0Oil and Natural Gas Reserves

The tables ‘below set forth information as of December 31, 2007 with respect to our estimated proved

reserves, the associated estimated future net revenue and present value (discounted at an annual rate of 10%) of
estimated future net revenué before and after income tax (standardized measure) at such date. Neither the pre-tax
present value of estimated future net revenue nor the after-tax standardized measure is intended to represent the

current market value of the estimated oil and natural gas reserves we own.

P
-

December 31, 2007
Oil (mbbl) ' Gas(mmef)’  “Total (mmcfe)

Proved deve]oped .. .............................. N 88,834 6,408,622 6,941,626

Proved undeveloped ....... e 34,720 3,728,677 3,936,997

Total proved ................... ieeeoia. 123554 10,137.299 10,878,623

Proved Proved Total
Developed | Undeveloped Proved
. ] ) . (% in millions) . ]

Estimated future net revenue (8) .............. o $33523° % 12,798 " 46,321

Present value of estimated future net revenue (a} ....... 516621 % 3,952 $ 20,573

Standardized measure (a)(b) . ... .. ... . e B 14962

| . . Percent
Gas . of Present
Oil Gas * - Equivalent Proved ~ Value
} _ (mhbbl) (mmeh) - (mmcfe) Reserves (3 in millions)
Mid-Continent /. ........... ... ... . .0v.... . '66,256 4723987 5,121,522 47% - $11,050
Barnett Shale ......... e el 102 2,062476 2,063,091 19 2,969
Appalachian Basin . . .............. ... ..., 1,491 1,394,635 1,403,579 - 13 o 1,260
Permian and Delaware Basins,. .. .......... .. 47146 707,426 990,303 9 2,548
Ark-La-Tex .................... e 4,319 669,384 695,300 6 1,153
South Texas and Texas Gulf Coast ............. 4,240 579,391 604,828 _6 1,591
‘ Total ........oooevnv e, 123,554 10,137,299 10,878,623 |  100% $20,573(a)

(a)

(b)

Estimated future net revenue represents the estimated future gross revenue to be generated from the

production of proved reserves, net of estimated production and future development costs, using prices and

costs in effect at December 31, 2007. The prices used in our external and internal reserve reports yield
weighted average wellhead prices of $90.58 per barrel of oil and $6.19 per mcf of natural gas. These prices
should not bé interpréted as a prediction of future prices, nor do they reflect the value of our commeodity
hedges in place at December 31, 2007. The amounts shown do not give effect to non-property related
expenses, such as corporate general and administrative expenses and debt service, or to depreciation,
depletion and amortization. Estimated future net revenue and the present value thereof differ from future net
cash flows and the standardized measure thereof only because the former do not include the effects of
estimated future income tax expenses ($5.6 billion as of December 31, 2007).

Management uses future net revenue, which is calculated without deducting estimated future income tax
expenses, and the present value thereof as one measure of the value of the company’s current proved
reserves and to compare relative values among peer companies without regard to income taxes. We also
understand that securities analysts and rating agencies use this measure in similar ways. While future net
revenue and present value are based on prices, costs and discount factors which are’ consistent from
company to company, the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows is dependent on the
unique tax situation of each individual company.

The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows is calculated in accerdance with SFAS 69.
Additional information on the standardized measure is presented in Note !t of the notes to our consolidated
financial statements included in Item & of this report,
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As of December 31, 2007, our reserve estimates included 3.937 tcfe of reserves classified as proved

undeveloped (PUD). Of this amount, approximately 32%, 23% and 25% (by volume) were initially classified as

PUDs in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and the remaining 20% were initially classified as PUDs prior to

‘ 2005. Of our provecl developed reserves, 904 befe are non-producing. which are primarily “behind pipe” zones in
| producing wells. '

The future net revenue attributable to our estimated proved uhdévcloped reserves of $12.8 billion at

December 31, 2007, and the $4.0 billion present value thereof, have been calculated assuming that we will expend

approximately $7.3 billion to develop these reserves. We have projected to incur $2.6 billion in 2008, $2.0 billion in

2009, $1.0 billion in 2010 and $1.7 biilion in 201l and beyond, although the amount and timing of these

expenditures will depend on a number of factors, including actual drilling results, service costs, product pnces and

| the availability of capital. Chesapeake’s developmental drilling schedules are subject to revision and reprlontlzatlon

throughout the year, resulting from unknowable factors such as the relative success in an individual dévelopmental

drilling prospect leading to an additional drilling opportunity, rig availability, title issues or delays, and the effect

that acquisitions may have on prioritizing development drilling plans. We do not believe any of these proved

undeveloped reserves are contingent upon installation of additional infrastructure and we are not subject to
regulatory approval other than routine permits to drill, which we expect to obtain in the normal course of business.

Chesapeake employed third-party engineers to prepare independent reserve forecasts for approximately 79%

of our proved reserves (by volume) at year-end 2007. These are not audits or reviews of internally prepared

reserve reports. The estimates of the proved reserves evaluated by third-party engineers were within 99% of the

company’s own estimates and were used instead of our estimates for booking purposes. The estimates prepared

by the independent firms covered approximately 23,000 properties, or 45% of the 50,700 properties included in

the 2007 reserve reports. Because, in management’s . opinion, it would be cost prohibitive for third-party

engineers to evaluate all of our wells, we have prepared internal reserve forecasts for approximately 21% of our

proved reserves. All estimates were prepared based upon a review of production histories and other geologic,

economic, ownership and engineering data we developed. The estimates are not based on any single significant

assumption due to the diverse nature of the reserves and there is no significant concentration of proved reserves

volume or value in any one well or field. The portion of our estimated proved reserves evaluated by each of our

third-party engineering firths as of December 31, 2007 is presented below.

% Evaluated ) .
(by Volume) Principal Properties Evaluated
Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc. .. ............... 34% . Permian and Delaware Basins, Barnett

‘ , Shale, portions of Ark-La-Tex,
. L portions of Mid-Continent

Datd and Consulting Servites, !

Division of Schlumberger Technology Corporation ...... 12%  Appalachian Basin
Lee Keeling and Associates, Inc.' ............... .ov... 1% Portions of Mid-Continent, portions of
- ’ ‘ . South Texas/Texas Gulf Coast
Ryder Scott Company, L.P. ...... P e " 11% Portions of Mid-Continent, portions of
B ‘ South Texas/Texas Gulf Coast
LaRoche Petroleum Consultants, Ltd. ................. 11%  Portions of Mid-Continent, portions of
Ark-La-Tex

No estimates of proved reserves comparable to those included herein have been included in reports to any
federal agency other than the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Chesapeake’s ownership interest used in calculating proved reserves and the associated estimated future net
revenue was determined after giving effect to the assumed maximum participation by other parties to our farmout
and participation agreements. The prices used in calculating the estimated future net revenue attributable to
proved reserves do not reflect market prices for oil and natural gas production sold subsequent to December 31,
2007. There can be no assurance that all of the estimated proved reserves will be produced and sold at the
assumed prices.

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of proved reserves and in projecting
future rates of production and timing of development expenditures, including many factors beyond Chesapeake’s
conirol. The reserve data represent only estimaies, Reserve engineering is a subjective process of estimating
underground accumulations of oil and nataral gas that cannot be measured in an exact way, and the accuracy of
any reserve estimate is a function of the quality of available data and of engineering and geological interpretation
and judgment. As a result, estimates made by different engineers often vary. In addition, resulis of drilling,
testing and production subsequent to the date of an estimate may justify revision of such estimates, and such
revisions may be material. Accordingly, reserve estimates are often different from the actual quantities of oil and
natural gas that are ultimately recovered. Furthermore, the esumated future net revenue from proved reserves and
the associated present value are based upon certain assumptions, including prices, future production levels and
costs that may not prove correct. Future prices and costs may be materially higher or lower than the prices and
costs as of the date of any estimate. A change in price of $0.10 per mef for nawural gas and $1.00 per barrel for oil
would result in a change in the December 31, 2007 present value of estimated future net revenue of our proved
reserves of approximately $390 million and $56 million, respectively. The estimated future net revenue used in
this analysis does not include the effects of future income taxes or hedging. The foregoing uncertainties are
particularly true as to proved undeveloped reserves, which are inherently less certain than proved developed
reserves und which comprise a significant portion of our proved reserves.

The company’s estimated proved reserves and the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flovs
of the proved reserves at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, and the changes in quantities and standardized
measure of such reserves for each of the three years then ended, are shown in Note 11 of the notes to the
consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this report.
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Development, Exploration, Acquisition and Divestiture Activities

The following table sets forth historical cost information regarding our development, exploration,
acquisition and divestiture activities during the periods indicated:

December 31,
2007 2006 2005
($ in millions) |

Development and exploration costs: :
Developmentdrilling () .............. . ... ... ... ... e $4402 $2772 $1,567

Exploratory drilling . .. /.. L. e 653 349 253 !
Geological and geophysical costs (b) ........ e e ... 343 - 154 71
Asset retirement obligationandother . ... .. ... .. ... . L L. 29 23 52
TOtal . e 5427 3,298 1,943

Acquisition costs: ,

‘ Proved properties .............. e e e et e 671 1,175 3,554

Unproved properties {€) ... ..o oii it 2465 3473 1,667 i

Deferred income taxes ........ e e SRR 131 180 252 |

Total ........vvveeinn... P S 3,267 4828 5473 i

Sales of oil and natural gas properties ............ ... . ... .. .. (1,142) — &) .

TOtAl _ ..ot e $7,552 $8,126 $7,407 :

(2) Includes capitalized internal cost of $243 million, $147 million and $94 million, respectively.
{b) Includes capitalized internal cost of $19 million, $13 million and 38 million, respectively. !
(c) Includes costs to acquire new leasehold, unproved properties and related capitalized interest. ‘
Our development costs included $1.5 billion, $1.2 billion and $671 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, l
respectively, refated to properties carried as proved undeveloped locations in the prior year's reserve reports. |
|

A summary of our exploration and development, acquisition and divestiture activities in 2007 by operating
area is as follows:

Gross Net Exploration  Acquisitionof  Acquisition
Wells Wells and Unproved of Proved Sales of
Driled Drilled Development Properties Properties (a) Properties  Total

{$ in millions)

Mid-Continent ............... 2.126 785 $2,140 $1,038 $538 $§ — %3716
Barnett Shale .. .............. 512 410 1,259 681 6 — 1,946
Appalachian Basin ........... 431 374 344 149 9 (1.142) (640)
Permian and Delaware Basins . . . 253 107 813 422 170 — 1,405
Ark-La-Tex ................. 259 176 556 138 43 —_ 737
South Texas and Texas Gulf
Coast .........cuvieo... 90 67 315 37 36 — 388
Total .................. 3,671 1919 $5,427 $2,465 $802 $(1,142) $7,552

(a) Includes $131 million of deferred tax adjustments.
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Acreage . '

The following table sets forth as of December 31, 2007 the gross and net acres of both dcvé'lopegi and
undeveloped oil and natural gas leases which we hold. “Gross” acres are the total number of acres in which we
own a working interest. “Net” acres refer to gross acres multiplied by our fractional working interest. Acreage
numbers do not include our options to acquire additional leasehold which have not been e';gercised.

o . Developed Undeveloped + Total !

Gross Acres  Net Acres  Gross Acres  Net Acres  Gross Acres Net Acres
Mid-Continent ................... 4,266,308 2,091,034 5,270,933 2,755,286 9,537,241 4,846,320
Barnett Shale .................... 88,992 75,040 231,906 166,384 320,898 241,424
Appalachian Basin . ............... 522,591 522,591 4,474,155 4,027,473 4,996,746 4,550,064
Permian and Delaware Basins ... .... 361,339 202,990 2,968,378 1,819,508 3329717 2,022,588
Ark- La—Tex [ T 266,538 162,268 1,302,267 729,427 1,568,805 891,695
South Texas and Texas Gulf Coast ... 341,591 204,137 234,036 167,935 575,627 372,072
Total ........................ 5,847,359 3,258,060 14,481,675 9,606,103 20,329,034 12,924,163

Marketing

Chesapeake Energy Marketing, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Chesapeake Energy Corporation,
provides marketing services including commodity price structuring, contract administration and nomination
services for Chesapeake and its partners. We attempt to enhance the value of our natural gas production by
aggregating natural gas to be sold to natural gas marketers and pipelines. This aggregation allows us to attract
larger, creditworthy customers that in turn assist in maximizing the prices received for our production.

‘e . f . - ‘ 1

Our oil production is generally sold under market sensitive or spot price contracts. The revenue we receive
from the sale of natural gas liquids is included in oil sales. Qur natural gas production is sold to purchasers under
percentage-of-proceeds contracts, percentage-of-index contracts or spot price contracts. By the terms of the
percentage:of-proceeds contracts, we receive a percentage of the resale price received by the purchaser for sales
of residue gas and natural gas liquids recovered after transportation and processing of our natural gas.-These
purchasers sell the residue gas and natural gas liquids based primarily on spot market prices. Under
percentage-of-index contracts, the price per mmbtu we receive for our natural gas is tied to indexes published in
Inside FERC or Gas Daily. Although exact percentages vary daily, as of February 2008, approxtmately 80% of
our natural gas production was sold under short-term contracts at market-sensitive prices.

During 2007, sales to Eagle Energy Partners I, L.P. (Eagle) of $1.1 billion accounted for 15% of our total
revenues (excluding gains (losses) on derivatives). In 2007, we sold our 33% limited partnership interest in Eagle
Energy Partners I, L.P., which we first acquired in 2003, for proceeds of $124 million and a gain of $83 million.
Management believes that the loss of: this customer would not have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations or our financial position. No other customer accounted for more than 10% of total revenues
(excluding gains (losses) on derivatives) in 2007,

Chesapeake Energy Marketing, Inc. is a reportable segment under SFAS No. 131, Disclosure about
Segments of ar Enterprise and Related Informatron See Note 8 of the notes to our consclidated financial
statements in Jtem 8. e <o

Natural Gas Gathering

Chesapeake invests in gathering and processing facilities to complement our oil and natural gas operations
in regions where we have significant production, By doing so, we are better able to manage the value received for
and the costs of, gathering, treating and processing natural gas through our ownership and operation of these
facilities. We own and operate gathering systems in 13 states throughout the Mid-Continent and Appalachian
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regions. These systems are designed primarily to gather company production for delivery into major intrastate or
interstate pipelines and are comprised of approximately 8,900 miles of gathering lines, treating facilities and
processing facilities which provide service to approximately 11,000 wells,

We are currently in the process of forming a private partnership to own a non-operating interest in our
midstream natural gas assets outside of Appalachia, which consist primarily of natural gas gathering systems and
processing assets. We anticipate raising $1 billion for a minority interest in the partnership and closing the
transaction in the first half of 2008,

Drilling

Securing available rigs is an integral part of the exploration process and therefore owning our own drilling
company is a strategic advantage for Chesapeake. In 2001, Chesapeake formed its 100% owned drilling rig
subsidiary, Nomac Drilling Corporation, with an investment of $26 million to build and refurbish five drilling
rigs. As of December 31, 2007, Chesapeake had invested approximately $675 million to build or acquire 80
drilling rigs and to initiate the construction of one additional rig. During 2006 and 2007, we sold 78 rigs for
$613 million and subsequently leased back the rigs through 2017. The drilling rigs have depth ratings between
3,000 and 25.000 feet and range in drilling horsepower from 350 to 2,000. These drilling rigs are currently
operating in Oklahoma, Texas, Arkansas, Louisiana and Appalachia. The company's drilling rig fleet should
reach 84 rigs by mid-year 2008, which would rank Chesapeake as the fifth largest drilling rig contractor in the
u.s.

Trucking

In 2006, Chesapeake expanded its service operations by acquiring two privately-owned oilfield trucking
service companies. We now own one of the largest oilfield and heavy haul transportation companies in the
industry. Our trucking business is utilized primarily to transport drilling rigs for both Chesapeake and third
parties. Through this ownership we are better able to manage the movement of our rigs. As of December 31,
2007, our fleet included 178 trucks and 13 cranes which mainly service the Mid-Continent, Barnett Shale and
Appalachian regions.

Compression

During the past few years Chesapeake has expanded its compression business. Our wholly-owned
subsidiary, MidCon Compression, L.L.C., operates wellhead and system compressors 1o facilitate the
transportation of our natural gas production. In a series of transactions in 2007, MidCon sold a significant portion
of its compressor fleet, consisting of 1,199 compressors, for $188 million and entered into a master lease
agreement. These transactions were recorded as sales and operating leasebacks. Over the next 18 months, 365
new compressors are on order for $175 million, and we intend to simultaneously enter into salefleaseback
transactions with a financial counterparty as the compressors are delivered.

Hedging Activities

We utilize hedging strategies to hedge the price of a portion of our future oil and natural gas production and
10 manage interest rate exposure. See ltem 7A-Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Regulation

General.  All of our operations are conducted onshore in the United States. The U.S. oil and natural gas
industry is regulated at the federal, state and local levels, and some. of the laws, rules and regulations that govern
our operations carry substantial penalties for noncompliance. These regulatory burdens increase our cost of doing
business and, consequently, affect our profitability.
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Regulation of Oil and Natural Gas Operations. Qur exploration and production operations are subject to
various types of regulation at the U.S. federal, state and local levels. Such regulation includes requirements for
permits to drill and to conduct other operations and for provision of financial assurances (such as bonds)
covering drilling and well operations. Very few of our oil and natural gas leases are located on federal lands.
Other activities subject to regulation are: J ‘

. lhe location of wells

. lhe method of dn}lmg and completing wells .
+ the surface use and restoration of propemes upon whlch wells are drilled,

+ the pluggmg and abandoning of welis ‘ . .
» . the disposal of fluids used or other wastes generated in connectlon wuh operatlonq
+ the markelmg, trdnsportatlon and reporting of production, and

+ the valuation and payment of royalties.

.

Qur operations are also subject to various conservation regulations. These include the regulation of the size
of drilling and spacing units (regarding the density of wells that may be drilled in a particular area) and the
unitization or pooling of oil and natural gas properties. In this regard, some states, such as Oklahoma, allow the
forced pooling or integration of tracts to facilitate exploration,. while other states, such as Texas and, New
Mexico, rely on voluntary pooling of lands and leases. In areas where pooling is voluntary, it may be more
diffi cult to form units and, therefore, more difficult to fully develop a project if the operator owns less than 100%
of the leasehold. In addition, state conservation laws establish maximum rates of production from oil and natural
gas wells, generally prohibit the venting or flaring of natural gas and impose certain requirements regarding the
ratability of production. The effect of these regulations is to limit the amount of oil and natural gas we can
produce and to limit the number of wells and the locations at which we can drill.

Chesapeake operdtes a number of natural gas gathering systems. The U.S. Department of Transportatlon and
certain state agencies regulate the safety and operating aspects of the transportauon and storage activities of these
facilities. There is currently no price regulation of the company’s sales of oil, natural gas liquids and natural gas,
although, governmental agencies may elect in the future to regulate certain sales.

* We do not anticipate that compliance with existing laws and regulations governing exploration, production
and -natural gas gathering will have a matenal adverbe effect upon our capital expenditures, eammgs or
competitive position. ’

Environmental, Health and Safety Regulation. The business operations of the company and its ownership
and operation of real property are subject to various federal, state and local environmental, health and safety laws
and regulations pertaining to the discharge of materials into- the environment, the generation, storage,
transportauon handling and disposal of materials (including solid and hazardous wastes), the safety of
employees or ‘otherwise’ relating to pollution, preservation, remediation or protection of human health and safety,
natural resources, wildlife or the environment. We must take into’ account the dost of complying with
environmental regulations in plannmg deSIgmng, constructing, dritling, operatlng and abandoning wells and
rélated surface facilities. In most instances, the regulatory frameworks relate to the handling of drilling’ and
production materials, the disposal ‘of dn]lmg and production wastes, and the protecuon of water and air. In
addition, our operations may require us to obtain permits for, among other things,

¢ air emissions, T '

* the construction and operauon of- underground injection wells to dispose of produced saltwater and
other non hazardous oilfield wastes, and

« the construction and operation of surface pits to contain drilling muds and other non-hazardous fluids
associated with drilling operations. g
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Under federal, state and local laws, we could be required to remove or remediate previously disposed
wastes, including wastes disposed of or released by us or prior owners or operators in accordance with current
laws or otherwise, to suspend or cease operations at contaminated areas, or to perform remedial well plugging
operations or response .actions to reduce the risk of future contamination. Federal and state laws, including the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, or CERCLA, tmpose joint and
several liability, without regard to fault or legality of the original conduct, on classes of persons who are
considered responsible for response actions to address the release of a hazardous substance into the environment.
These persons include the owner or operator of the site where the release occurred, and persons that disposed of
or arranged for the disposal of hazardous substances at the site. The Environmental Protection Agency, state
environmental agencies and, in some cases, third parties are authorized to take actions in response 1o threats to
human health or the environment and to seek to recover from responsible classes of persons the costs of such
actions. Furthermore, certain wastes generated by our oil and natural gas operations that are currently exempt
from treatment as hazardous wastes may in the future be designated as hazardous wastes and, therefore, be
subject to considerably more rigorous and costly operating and disposal requirements.

Federal and state occupational safety and health laws require us to organize and maintain information about
hazardous materials used, released or produced in our operations. Certain portions of this information must be
provided to employees, state and local governmental authorities and local citizens. We are also subject to the
requirements and reporting set forth in federal workplace standards.

We have made and will continue to make expenditures to comply with efivironmental, health and safety
regulations and requirements. These are necessary business costs in the oil and natural gas industry. Although we
are not fully insured against all environmental, health and safety risks, we maintain insurance coverage which we
believe is customary in the industry. Moreover, it is possible that other developments, such as stricter and more
comprehensive environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, as well as claims for damages to property
or persons resulting from company operations, could result in substantial costs and liabilities, including civil and
criminal penalties, to Chesapeake. We believe we are in material Compllance with existing environmental, health
and safety regulations, and that, absent the occurrence of an extraordinary event, the effect of which cannot be
predicted, any noncompliance will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and
results of operations.

Income Taxes

Chesapeake recorded income tax expense of $890 million in 2007 compared to income tax expense of
$1.252 billion in 2006 and $545 million in 2005. Of the $362 million decrease in 2007, $347 million was the
result of the decrease in net income before taxes and $15 million was the result of a decrease in the effective tax
rate. Our effective income tax rate was 38% in 2007 compared to 38.5% in 2006 and 36.5% in 2005. Our
effective tax rate fluctuates as a result of the impact of state income-taxes and permanent differences between our
accounting for certain revenue or expense items and their corresponding treatment for income tax purposes. We
expect our effective income tax rate to be 38.5% in 2008. ‘ . . x

At December 31, 2007, Chesapeake had federal incoxﬁe tax net operating loss (NOL) can’yfbrwardS of
approximately $238 million and approximately $29 million of percentage depletion carryforwards. We also had
approximately $5 million of alternative minimum tax (AMT) NOL carryforwards available as a deduction
against future AMT income. The NOL carryforwards expire from 2019 through 2026. The value of the remaining
carryforwards depends on the ability of Chesapeake to generate taxable i income. In addition, for AMT purposes,
only 90% of AMT income in any given year may be offset by AMT NOLs.

The ability of Chesapeake to utilize NOL carryforwards to reduce future federal taxable income and federal
income tax is subject to various limitations under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The
utilization of such carryforwards may be limited upon the occurrence of certain ownershlp changes including the
issuance or exercise of rights to acquire stock, the purchase or sale of stock by 5% stockholders, s defined in the
Treasury regulations, and the offering of stock by us during any three-year period resu]tmg in an aggregate
change of more than 50% in the beneficial ownership of Chesapeake. - : A i
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In the event of an ownership change (as defined for income tax purposes), Section 382 of the Code imposes
an annual limitation on the amount of a corporation’s taxable income that can be offset by these carryforwards.
The limitation is generally equal to the product of (i) the fair market value of the equity of the company
multiplied by (ii} a percentage approximately equivalent to the yield on long-term tax exempt bonds during the
month in which an ownership change occurs. In addition, the limitation is increased if there are recognized
built-in gains during any post-change year. but only to the extent of any net unrealized built-in gains (as defined
in the Code) inherent in the assets sold. Certain NOLs acquired through various acquisitions are also subject to
Hemitations. The following table summarizes our net operating losses as of December 31, 2007 and any refaied
limitations: :

Net Operating Losses

’ Annual
. Total Limited Limitation

- {$ in millions)
Netoperating 10ss . ... $238 $27 310
AMT netoperating 108s ... ... oo e, $ 5 85 51

As of December 31, 2007, we do not believe that an ownership change has occurred. Future equity
transactions by Chesapeake or by 5% stockholders (including relatively small transactions and transactions
beyond our. control) could cause an ownership change and therefore a limitation on the annual utilization of
NOLs, Following an ownership change, the amount of Chesapeake’s NOLs available for use each year will
depend upon future events that cannot currently be predicted and upon interpretation of complex rules under
Treasury regulations. If less than the full amount. of the annual limitation is utilized in any given year, the unused
portion may be carried forward and may be used in addition to successive years’ annual limitation.

.We expect:to utilize opr NOL carryforwards and other tax deductions and credits to offset taxable income in
the future. However, there is no assurance that the Internal Revenue Service will not challenge these
carryforwards or their utilization. .

In June 2006, the Financial. Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation (FIN) No. 48,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Tuxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109. FIN 48 provides
guidance for recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions, as defined in SFAS 109, Accounting for Income
Taxes. FIN 48 prescribes a threshold condition that a tax position must meet for any of the benefit of the
uncertain tax position to be recognized in the financial statements. Guidance is also provided regarding
de-recognition, classification and disclosure of these uncertain tax positions. FIN 48 became effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 135, 2006.

Chesapeake adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007, As a result of the implementation of FIN
48, Chesapeake recognized a $7 million fiability for accrued interest associated with uncertain tax positions
which was accounted for as a reduction in the Janvary |, 2007 balance of retained earnings, net of tax. At the
date of adoption, we had approximately $142 million of unrecognized tax benefits related to alternative minimum
tax (AMT) associated with uncertain tax positions. As of December 31, 2007. the amount of unrecognized tax
benefits related to AMT associated with uncertain tax positions was $133 million. if these unrecognized tax
benefits are disallowed and we are vltimately required to pay additional AMT liabilities, any payments can be
utilized as credits against future regular tax liabilities. The uncertain tax positions identified would not have a
material effect on the effective tax rate. At December 31, 2007. we had a liability of $3 million for interest
related to these same uncertain tax positions. Chesapeake recognizes interest related to uncertain tax positions in
interest expense. Penalties, if any, related to uncertain tax positions would be recorded in other expenses.

Chesapeake files income tax returns'in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and local jurisdictions.
With few exceptions, Chesapeake is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local income tax examinations by
tax authorities for years prior to 2004. The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) completed an examination of
Chesapeake’s U.S. income tax returns for 2003 and 2004 in September 2007. This examination resulted in
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additional AMT liabilities of $9 million. These AMT liabilities can be utilized as credits against future regular
tax liabilities. The adjustments in the examination did not result in a material change to our financial position,
results of operations or cash flows,

Title to Properties

Our title to properties is subject to royalty, overriding royalty, carried, net profits, working and other similar
interests and contractual arrangements customary in the oil and natural gas industry, to liens for current taxes not
yet due and to other encumbrances. As is customary in the industry in the case of undeveloped properties, only
cursory investigation of record title is made at the time of acquisition. Drilling title opinions are usually prepared
before commencement of drilling operations. We believe we have satisfactory title to substantially all of our
active properties in accordance with standards generally accepted in the oil and natural gas industry,
Nevertheless, we are involved in title disputes from time to time which result in litigation.

Operating Hazards and Insurance

The oil and natural gas busifiess involves a variety of operating risks, including the risk of fire, explosions,
blow-outs, pipe failure, abnormally pressured formations and environmental hazards such as oil spills, natural
gas leaks, ruptures or discharges of toxic gases. If any of these should occur, Chesapeake could suffer substantial
losses due to injury or loss of life, sévere damage to or destfuction of property, natural resources and equipment,
pellution or other environmental damage, clean-up responsibitities, regulatory investigation and penalties, and
suspension of operations. Our horizontal and deep drilling activitics involve greater risk of mechanical problemns
than vertical and shallow drilling operations.

Chesapeake maintains a $50 miilion control of well policy that insures against certain sudden and accidental
risks associated with drilling, completing and operating our wells. There is no assurance that this insurance will
be adequate to cover all losses or exposure to liability. Chesapeake also carries a $300 million comprehensive
general liability umbrella policy and a $100 million pollution liability policy. We provide workers’ compensation
insurance coverage to employees in all states in which we operate, While we believe these policies are customary
in the industry, they do not provide complete coverage against all operating risks,

1 t .

Facilities

Chesapeake owns am office complex in Oklahoma City and we are in the process of constructing additional
corporate facilities in Oklahoma City and Charleston, West Virginia. We also own or lease various field offices
in the following locations:

. Arkaﬁsasf Searcy and Litile Rock

+ Illinois: Chicago

= Kansas: Garden City

+ Kentucky: Gray, Elkhorn City, Hueysville, Inez and Prcxtonsburg
. "Loummna Cheneyville, Goldonna and Shreveport

= New Mexico: Carlsbad, Eunice, Hobbs dnd Lovington

» New York: Horscheads

* Oklahoma: Arkoma, Billings, El Reno, Elk City, Enid, Forgan. Hartshorne, Hinton, Kingfisher,
Lindsay, Mayfield, Oklahoma City, Waynoka, Weatherford;, Wilburten and Woodward

. Pennsylvanla Mt Morris

+ Tennessee: Egan .



+ Texas: Alvarado, Borger, Bryan, Cleburne, College Station, Dumas, Fort Worth, Garrison, Marshall,
Midland, Ozona, Pecos, Tyler, Victoria and Zapata

*  West Virginia: Branchland, Buckhannon, Chapmanville, Cedar Grove, Clendenin, Hamlin. Kermit,
Shrewsbury, Tad and Teays Valley

Ewmployees

Chesapeake had approximately 6,200 employees as of December 31, 2007, which includes 2,271 employed
by our service operations companies. As a result of the CNR acquisition, we assumed a collective bargaining
agreement with the United Steel Workers of America ("USWA™) which expired effective December 1, 2006,
covering approximately 135 of our field employees in West Virginia and Kentucky. We continued to operate
under the terms of the collective bargaining agreement while negotiating with the USWA., Contract negotiations
began in October 2006 and have been mediated by the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service. On May 4,
2007, we presented the USWA leadership our “last, best and final offer”. On December 7, 2007, the USWA
membership voted to reject our offer and, effective February 1, 2008 we implemented the terms of our offer with
certain minor clarifications, There have been no strikes, work stoppages or slowdowns since the expiration of the
contract, although no assurances can be given that such actions will not occur.

Glossary of Oil and Natural Gas Terms _
The terms defined in. this section are used throughout this Form 10-K,
Bef.  Billion cubic feet.
Bcfe.  Billion cubic feet of natural gas equivalent.

Bbl. One stock tank barrel, or 42 U.S. gallons liquid volume, used herein in reference to crude oil or other
liquid hydrocarbons.

Bbru.  One billion British thermal units.

Bt British thermal unit, which is the heal required to raise the temperature of a one-pound mass of water
from 58.5 to 59.5 degrees Fahrenheit.

Commercial Well: Commercially Productive Well.  An oil and natural gas well which produces oil and
natural gas in sufficient quantities such that proceeds from the sale of such production exceed production

expenses and taxes.

Conventional Reserves. Oil and natural gas occurring as discrete accumulations in structural and
stratigraphic traps. '

Developed Acreage. The number of acres which are allocated or assignable to producing wells or wells
capable of production.

Development Well. A well drilled within the proved area of an oil or natural gas reservoir to the depth of a
stratigraphic horizon known to be productive.

Dry Hole: Dry Well. A well found to be incapable of producing either oil or natural gas in sufficient
quantities to justify completion as an oil or natural gas well. ‘
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Exploratory Well. A well drilled to find and produce oil or natural gas in an unproved area, to find a new
reservoir in a field previously found to be productive of oil or natural gas in another reservoir or to extend a
known reservoir.

Farmout. An assignment of an interest in a drilling location and related acreage conditional upon the
drilling of a well on that location.

Formation. A succession of sedimentary beds that were deposited under the same general geologic
conditions. '

Full-Cost Pool. The full-cost pool consists of all costs associated with property acquisition, exploration,
and development activities for a company using the full-cost method of accounting. Additionally, any internal
costs that can be directly identified with acquisition, exploration and development activities are included. Any
costs related to production, general corporate overhead or similar activities are not included.

Gross Acres or Gross Wells.  The total acres or wells, as the case may be, in which a working interest is
owned. < ' '

Horizontal Wells. Wells which are drilled at angles greater than 70 degrees from vertical.

Infill Drilling. Drilling wells between established producing wells on a leas‘e; a dril]ing proéram to reduce
the spacing between wells in order to increase production and/or recovery of in-place hydrecarbons from the
lease.

Mbbl.  One thousand barrels of crude oil or other liquid hydrocarbons,

Mbiu.  One thousand btus.

Mcf. | One thousand cubic feet. | .

Mcfe. One thousand cubic feet of natural gas equivalent.

Mmbbl.  Qne million barrels of crude oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.

Mmbtu.  One million btus.

Mmcf.  One million cubic feet.

Mmcfe. One million cubic feet of natural gas equivalent.

Net Acre"s or Net Wells. The sum of the fractional working interests owned in gross acres or gross wells.

NYMEX. New York Mercantile Exchange.

Play. A term applied to a portion of the exploration and production cycle following the identification by
geologists and geophysicists of areas with potential oil and gas reserves. ,

Present Value or PV-10.  When used with respect to oil and natural gas reserves, present value or PV-10
means the estimated future gross revenue to be generated from the production of proved reserves, net of
estimated production and future development costs, using prices and costs in effect at the determination date,
without giving effect to non-property related expenses such as general and administrative expenses, debt service
and future income tax expense or to depreciation, depletion and amortization, discounted using an annual
discount rate of 10%.
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Productive Well. . A well that is producing oil or natural gas or that is capable of production.

Proved Developed Reserves. Reserves that can be expected to be recovered through existing wells with
existing equipment and operating methods. Additional oil and natural gas expected to be obtained through the
application of fluid injection or other improved recovery techniques for supplementing the natural forces and
mechanisms of primary recovery should be included as “proved developed reserves” only after testing by a pilot
project or afier the operation of an installed program has confirmed through production responses that increased
recovery will be achieved.

Proved Reserves. The estimated quantities of crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids which
geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in future years from
known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions, i.e., prices and costs as of the date the
estimate is made. Reservoirs are considered proved if economic producibility is supported by either actual
production or conclusive formation test. The area of a reservoir considered proved includes (a) that portion
delineated by drilling and defined by gas-oil and/or oil-water contacts, if any, and (b} the immediately adjoining
portions not yet drilled, but which can be reasonably judged as economically productive on the basis of available
geological and engineering data. In the absence of information on fluid contacts, the lowest known structural
occurrence of hydrocarbons controls the lower proved limit of the reservoir. Reserves which can be produced
economically through application of improved recovery techniques (such as fluid injection) are included in the
“proved” classification when successful testing by a pilot project, or the operation of an installed program in the
reservoir, provides support for the engineering analysis on which the project or program was based.

Proved Undeveloped Location. A site on which a development well can be drilled consistent with spacing
rules for purposes of recovering proved undeveloped reserves.

, Proved Undeveloped Reserves. Reserves that are expected to be recovered from new wells on undrilied

i acreage or from existing wells where a relatively major expenditure is required for recompletion. Reserves on

! undrilled acreage are limited to those drilling units offsetting productive units that are reasonably certain of

production when drilled. Proved reserves for other undrilled units,can be claimed only where it can be

demonstrated with certainty that there is continuity of production from the existing productive formation. Proved |
undeveloped reserves may not include estimates attributable to any acreage for which an application of fluid

injection or other improved recovery technique is contemplated, unless such techniques have been proved

effective by actual tests in the area and in the same reservoir.

Reserve Replacement. Calculated by dividing the sum of reserve additions from all sources (revisions,
extensions, discoveries and other additions and acquisitions) by the actual production for the corresponding period.
The values for these reserve additions are derived directly from the proved reserves table located in Note 11 of the
notes to-our consolidated financial statements. In calculating reserve replacement, we do not use unproved reserve
quantities or proved reserve additions attributable to less than wholly owned consolidated entities or investments
accounted for using the equity method. Management uses the reserve replacement ratio as an indicator of the
company’s ability to replenish annual production volumes and grow its reserves, thereby providing some
information on the sources of future production. It should be noted that the reserve replacement ratio is a statistical
indicator that has limitations. As an annual measure, the ratio is limited because it typically varies widely based on I
the extent and timing of new discoveries and property acquisitions. Its predictive and comparative value is also
limited for the same reasons. In addition, since the ratio does not imbed the cost or timing of future production of |
new reserves, it cannot be used as a measure of value creation. - . |

Royalty Interest.  An interest in an oil and natural gas property entitling the owner to a share of oil or
natural gas production free of costs of production. '

Seismic. An exploration method of sending energy waves or sound waves into the earth and recording the
wave reflections to indicate the type, size, shape and depth of subsurface rock formation (3-D seismic provides
three-dimensional pictures).
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Shale. Fine-grained sedimentary rock composed mostly of consolidaied clay or mud. Shale is the most
frequently occurring sedimentary rock,

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows. The discounted future net cash flows
relating to proved reserves based on year-end prices, costs and statutory tax rates (adjusted for permanent
differences) and a 10-percent annual discount rate.

Tef.  One trillion cubic feet.
Tefe.  One trillion cubic feet of natural gas equivalent,

Unconventional Reserves.  Qil and natural gas occurring in regionally pervasive accumulations with low
matrix permeability and close association with source rocks.

Undeveloped Acreage. Lease acreage on which wells have not been drilled or completed to a point that
would permit the production of commercial quantities of cil and natural gas regardless of whether such acreage
contains proved reserves.

Unproved Properties.  Properties with no proved reserves.

VPP, A volumetric production payment represents an obligation of the purchaser of a property o deliver a
specific volume of production, free and clear of all costs, to the seller of the property.

Working Interest. The operating interest which gives the owner the right to drill, produce and conduct
operating activities on the property and a share of production.

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

Oil and natural gas prices are volatile. A declirie in prices could adversely affect our financial position,
Sinancial results, cash flows, access to capital and ability to grow. '

Our revenues, operating results, profitability and future rate of growth depend primarily upon the prices we
receive for the oil and natural gas we sell. Prices also affect the amount of cash flow available for capital
expenditures and our ability to borrow meney or raise additional capital. The amount we can borrow from banks
is subject to periodic redeterminations based on prices specified by our bank group at the time of
redetermination. In addition, we may have ceiling test write-downs in the future if prices fall significantly.

Historically, the markets for oil and natural gas have been volatile and they are likely to continue to be
volatile, Wide fluctuations in oil and natural gas prices may result from relatively minor changes in the supply of
and demand for oil and natural gas, market uncertainty and other factors that are beyond our control, including:

» worldwide and domestic supplies of oil and natural gas;

» weather conditions;

* the level of consumer demand;

= the price and availability of alternative fuels;

* the proximity and capacity of natural gas pipelines and other transportation facilities;

* the price and level of foreign imports;

* domestic and foreign governmental regulations and taxes;

¢ the ability of the members of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries to agree to and

maintain oil price and production controls;

20




+ political instability or armed conflict in oil-producing regions; and TR a

+ overall domestic and global economic conditions.

These factors and the volatility of the energy markets make it extreniely difficult to predlct future oil and
natural gds price movements with any certainty. Declines in oil and natural gas prices would not only reduce
revenue, but could reduce the amount of oil and natural gas that we can produce economically and, as a result,
could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and reserves. Further, oil
and natural gas prices do not necesqanly move in tandem. Because approximately 93% of our reserves at
December 31, 2007 were natural gas reserves, we are more affected by movements in natural gas prices.

D . . . PR . . t

* Our level of indebtedness may limit our financial flexibility. -

As of December 31, 2007, we had long-term indebtedness of dpproximately $10.950 bil'lio'ﬁ,‘w'ith $1.950
billion of outstanding borrowings drawn under our revolving bank credit facility. Qur long-term indébtedness
represented 47% of our total book capitalization at December 31, 2007. As of Fcbrudry 26, 2008, we had
approximately $2. 899 billion outstanding under our revolving bank credit facility.

Our level of indebtedness and preferred stock affects our operations in several ,Ways, mcludmg the
following:

= a portion of our cash flows from operating activities must be used to service our mdebtedneqs and pay
dividends on our preferred stock and is not available for other purposes;

+ " we may be at a competitive disadvantage as compared to similar companies that have less debt;’
- . ' ' B .

* the covenants contained in the agreements governing our outstanding -indebtedness and future

+ indebtedness may limit our ability. to borrow additional funds. pay dividends and make certain
investments and may also affect our flexibility in planning.for, and reactmg to, changes in the-economy
and in.our industry; ' '

= additional financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, general

corporate or other purposes may have higher costs and more restrictive covenants; and
. . . . - LI ' Y

= changes in the credit ratings of our debt may negatively affect the cost, terms, conditions and
availability of future financing, and lower ratings will increase the interest rate and fees we-pay on our
revolving bank credit facitity, N - . ' . - '
' . ' ' 1 . [ . T

We may incur additional debt, including secured indebtedness, or issue additional series,of preferred stock

in order to develop our properties and make future acquisitions.,A higher level of indebtedness and/or additional

preferred stock increases the risk that we may default on our obligations. Qur ability to meet our.debt obligations

and to reduce our level of indebtedness depends on our future performance. General economic conditions, oil and

natural gas prices and financial, business and other factors'affect our operations and our future performance.

Many of these factors are beyond our control. We may. not be able to generate sufficient cash flow to pay the

interest on our debt, and future working capital, borrowings or equity financing may not be available to pay or

refinance such debt. Factors that will affect our ability to raise cash through an offering of our capital stock or a

refinancing of our debt-include financial market conditions; the value of our assets and our performance at the
time we need capital. ‘

In addition, cur bank borrowing-base is subject to periodic redetermination..A lowering of .our borrowing

base could require us to repay indebtedness in excess of the borrowmg base; or-we might need to further secure
the tenders with additional collateral. e o
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Competition in the oil and natural gas industry is intense, and many of our competitors have greater
financial and other resources than we do,

We operate in the highly competitive areas of oil and natural gas development, exploitation, exploration,
acquisition and production. We face intense competition from both major and other independent oil and natural
gas companies in each of the following areas:

+

* seeking to acquire desirable producing properties or new leases for future exploration; and

»  seeking to acquire the equipment and expertise necessary to develop and operate our properties.

Many of our competitors have financial and other resources substantially greater than ours, and some of
them are fully integrated oil companies. These companies may be able to pay more for development prospects
and productive il and natural gas properties and may be able to define, evaluate, bid for and purchase a greater
number of properties and prospects than our financial or human resources permit. Our ability to develop and
exploit our o1l and natural gas properties and to acquire additional properties in the future will depend upon our
ability to successfully conduct operations, evaluate and select suitable properties and consummate transactions in
this highly competitive environment. '

Significant capital expenditures are required to replace our reserves.

QOur exploration, development and acquisition activities require substantial capital expenditures.
Historically, we have funded our capital expenditures through a combination of cash flows from operations, our
revolving bank credit facility and debt and equity issuances. Future cash flows are subject to a number of
variables, such as the level of production from existing wells, prices of cil and natural gas, and our success in
developing and producing new reserves. If revenues were to decrease as a result of lower oil and natural gas
prices or decreased production, and our access to capital were limited, we would have a reduced ability to replace
our reserves. If our cash flow from operations is not sufficient to fund our capital expenditure budget, we may
not be able to access additional bank debt, debt or equity or other methods of financing on an-economic basis to
meet these requirements.

If we are not able to replace reserves, we may not be able to sustain preduction. |

Qur future success depends largely upon our ability to find, develop or acquire additional oil and natural gas
reserves that are economically recoverable. Unless we replace the reserves we produce through successful
development, exploration or acquisition activities, our proved reserves and production will decline over time. In
addition, approximately 36% of our total estimated proved reserves (by volume) at December 31, 2007 were I
undeveloped. By their nature, estimates of undeveloped reserves are less certain. Recovery of such reserves will
require significant capital expenditures and successful drilling operations. Our reserve estimates reflect that our
production rate on producing properties will decline approximately 28% from 2008 to 2009. Thus, our future oil
and natural gas reserves and production and, therefore, our cash flow and income are highly dependent on our \
success in efficiently developing and exploiting our current reserves and economically finding or acquiring i
additional recoverable reserves. ' ’ : ‘

The actual quantities and present value of our proved reserves may prove to be lower than we have
estimated. ‘

This report contains estimates of our proved reserves and the estimated future net revenues from our proved
reserves. These estimates are based upon various assumptions, including assumptions required by the SEC
relating to oil and natural gas prices, drilling and operating expenses, capital expenditures, taxes and availability
of funds. The process of estimating oil and natural gas reserves is complex. The process involves significant
decisions and assumptions in the evaluation of available geological, geophysical, engineering and economic data
for each reservoir. Therefore, these estimates are inherently imprecise.

22




Actual future production, oil and natural gas prices, revenues, taxes, development expenditures, operating
expenses and quantities of recoverable oil and natural gas reserves most likely will vary from these estimates.
Such variations may be significant and could materially affect the estimated quantities and present value of our
proved reserves. In addition, we may adjust estimates of proved reserves to reflect production history, results of
exploration and development drilling, prevailing oil and natural gas prices and other factors, many of which are
beyond our control. Our-properties may also be susceptible to. hydrocarbon drainage from production by
operators on adjacent properties.

. ' -1

At December 31, 2007, approximately 36% of our estimated proved reserves (by volume) were
undeveloped. Recovery of undeveloped reserves requires significant capital expenditures and successful drilling
operations, These reserve estimates include the assumption. that we will make significant capital expenditures to
develop the reserves, including approximately $2.6 billion in 2008. You should be aware that the estimated costs
may not be accurate, development may not occur as scheduled and results may not be as estimated.

You should not assume that the present values referred to in this report represent the current market value of
our estimated oil and natural gas reserves. In accordance with SEC requirements, the estimates of our present
values are based on prices and costs as of the date of the estimates. The December 31, 2007 present value is
based on weighted average oil and natural gas wellhead prices of $90.58 per barrel of oil and $6.19 per mcf of
natural gas. Actual future prices and costs may ‘be materially higher or lower than the prices and costs as of the
date of an estimate. -

Any changes in consumption by oil and natural gas purchasers or in governmental regulations or taxation
wiil also affect actual future net cash flows,

The timing of both the production and the expenses from the development and production of oil and natural
gas properties will affect both the timing of actual future net cash flows from our proved reserves and their
present value. In addition, the 10% discount factor, which is required by the SEC to be used in calculating
discounted future net cash flows for reporting purposes, is not necessarily the most accurate discouint factor. The
effective interest rate at various times and the risks associated with our business or the oil and natural gas
industry in general will affect the accuracy of the 10% discount factor,

* Acquisitions may prove fo be worth less than we paid because of uncertamues in evaluating recoverable
reserves and potential liabilities.

Our growth during the past few years is due in large part to acquisitions of exploration and production
companies, producing properties and undeveloped leasehold. Successful acquisitions require an assessment of a
number of factors, including estimates of recoverable reserves, exploration potential, future oil and natural gas
prices, operating costs and potential environmental and other llablhtles Such assessments are mexact and their
accuracy is inherently uncertain. In connection with our assessments, we perform a review of the acquired
properties which we believe is generally consistent with industry practices. However, such a review will not
reveal all existing or potential probiems. In addition, cur review may not permit us to become sufficiently
familiar with the properties 1o fully assess their deficiencies and capabilities. We do not inspect every well, Even
when we inspect a well, we do not alwiys discover structural subsurface and environmental problems that may
exist or arise. As a result of these factors, the purchase price we pay to acquire oil and natural gas propemes may
exceed the value we realize.

We are generally not entitled to contractual indemnification for preclosing liabilities, including
environmental liabilities. Normally, we acquire interests in properties on an “as is” basis with limited remedies
for breaches of representations and warranties. When we make entity acquisitions, we may have transferee
liability that is not fully indemnifi ed. Our acquisition of Columbia Natural Resources, LLC (CNR) in November
2005 was made subject to claims which are covered in part by the indemnification of a prior owner, NiSource
Inc. NiSource and Chesapeake are co-defendants in a class action lawsuit brought by royalty .owners in West
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Virginia in which the jury returned a verdict in January 2007 awarding plaintiffs $404 million, consisting of $134
mitlion in compensatory damages‘and $270 million in punitive damages. Although Chesapeake believes its share
of damages that might ultimately be awarded in this case .will not have a material adverse effect on its resulis of
operations, financial condition or liquidity as a result of the NiSource indemnity and post-trial remedies that may
be available, Chesapeake is a defendant in other cases involving acquired companies where. it may have no, or
only limited, indemnification rights. In any such actions we could incur significant liability.

Exploration and development drilling may not result in commercially productive reserves.

We do not always encounter commercially productive reservoirs through our drilling operations. The new
wells we drill or participate in may not be productive and we may not recover all or any portion of our
investment in wells we drill or participate in. The seismic data and other technologies we use do not allow us to
know conclusively prior to drilling a well that oil or natural gas is present or may be produced economically. The
cost of drilling, completing and operating a well is often uncertain, and cost factors can adversely affect the
economics of a project. Our efforts will be unprofitable if we drill dry wells or wells that are productive but do
not produce enough reserves to return a profit after drilling, operating and other costs. Further, our drilling
operations may be curtailed, delayed or canceled as a result of a variety of factors, including:

. ,inereases in the cost of, or shortages or delziys in the availability of, drilling‘ rigs and equipment;
* unexpected drilling conditions;

= litle problems

* pressure or lrregularmes in formations; ' : T

+ equipment failures or accidents;

» adverse weather conditions; and

» compliance with en'virolnmenla_l and other governmental requirements.
Future price declines may result in a write-down of our asset carrying values.

We utilize the full-cost method of accounting for costs related to our oil and natural gas properties. Under
this method, ail such costs (for both productive and nonproducuve propertles) are capltahzed and amortized on
an aggregate basis over the estimated lives of the properties using the unit-of-production method. However, these
capitalized costs are subject to a ceiling test which limits such pooled costs to the aggregate of the present value
of future net revenues attributable 10 proved oil and natural gas reserves discounted at 10% plus the lower of cost
or market value of unproved propemes The full-cost ceiling is evaluated at the end of each quarter using the
prices for oil and natural gas at that date, adjusted for the impact of derivatives’ accounted for as cash flow
hedges. A 51gn1ﬁcant decline in oil and natural gas prices from current levels, or other factors, without other
mitigating c1rcumstances could cause a future writedown of capitalized costs and a non-cash charge against
future earnings.

Our hedgmg activities may reduce the realized prices received for our oil and natural gas sales and
reqmre us to provide collateral for hedgmg habdmes

In order to manage our exposure to price volatility in marketing our oil and natural gas, we enter into oil and
natural gas price risk management arrangements for a porticn of our expected production Commaodity price
hedging may limit the prices we actually realize and therefore reduce oil and natural gas revenues in the future.
The fair value of our oil and natural gas derivative instriments outstandmg as of December 31, 2007 was a
hablhty of approximately $369 million. In addition, our commodity price risk management transactions may
expose us to the rlsk of financial loss in certain crrcumslances including instances in whlch

= our production is less than expected; S : T
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« there is a widening of price differentials between delivery points for our production and the delivery
point assumed in the hedge arrangement; or

* the counterparties to our contracis fail to perform under the contracts.

All' but three of our commodity price risk management counterparties require us to provide assurances of
performance in the event that the counterparties’ mark-to-market exposure 1o us exceeds certain levels. Most of
these arrangements allow us to minimize the potential liquidity impact of significant mark-to-market fluctuations
by making collateral atlocations from our revolving bank credit facility or directly pledging oil and natural gas
properties, rather than posting cash or letters of credit with the counterparties. Future collateral requirements are
uncertain, however, and will depend on the arrangements with our counterparties and highly volatile natural gas
and oil prices.

Lower oil and natural gas prices coutld negatively impact our ability to borrow.

Our revolving bank credit facility limits our borrowings to the lesser of the borrowing base and the total
commitments (currently both are $3.5 billion). The borrowing base is determined periodically at the discretion of
the banks and is based in part on oil and natural gas prices. Additionally, some of our indentures contain
covenants limiting our abtlity to incur indebtedness in addition to that incurred under our revolving bank credit
facility. These indentures timit our ability to incur additional indebtedness unless we meet one of two alternative
tests. The first aliernative is based on our adjusied consolidated net iangible assets {(as defined in all of our
indentures), which is determined using discounted future net revenues from proved oil and natural gas reserves as
of the end of each year. The second alternative is based on the ratio of our adjusied consolidated EBITDA (as
defined in the relevant indentures) to our adjusted consolidated interest expense over a trailing twelve-month
period. Currently. we are permitted to incur additional indebtedness under both debt incurrence tests. Lower oil
and natural gas prices in the future could reduce our adjusted consolidated EBITDA, as well as our adjusted
consolidated net tangible assets, and thus could reduce our ability to incur additional indebtedness.

Oil and natural gas drilling and producing operations can be hazardous and may expose us to
environmenial liabilities.

Oil and natural gas operations are subject to many risks, including well blowouts, cratering and explosions,
pipe failures, fires, formations with abnormal pressures, uncontrotlable flows of oil. natural gas, brine or well
fluids, and other environmental hazards and risks. Qur drilling operations involve risks from high pressures and
from mechanical difficulties such as stuck pipes, collapsed casings and separated cables. If any of these risks
occurs, we could sustain substantial losses as a result of:

* injury or loss of life;

* severe damage to or destruction of property, natural resources or equipment;
» pollution or other environmental damage;

* clean-up responsibilities;

* regulatory investigations and administrative, civil and criminal penalties; and
* injunctions resulting in limitatton or suspension of operations.

There is inherent risk of incurring significant environmental costs and liabilities in our exploration and
production operations due to our generation. handling, and disposal of materials, including wastes and petroleum
hydrocarbons. We may incur joint and several, strict liability under applicable U.S. federal and state
environmental laws in connection with releases of petroleum hydrocarbons and other hazardous substances at,
on, under or from our leased or owned properties. some of which have been used for oil and natural gas

exploration and production activities for a number of years, often by third parties not under our control. While we
may maintain insurance against some, but not all, -of the risks described above, our instrance may not be
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adequate to cover casualty losses or liabilities. Also, in the future we may not be able to obtain insurance at
premium levels that justify its purchase.

In addition, studies have suggested that emissions of certain gases, commonly referred to as “greenhouse
gases,” may be comtributing to warming of the Earth’s atmosphere. Methane, a primary component of natural
2as, and carbon dioxide, a byproduct of the burning of natural gas, are examples of greenhouse gases. The U.S.
Congress is actively considering legislation to reduce emissions of greenhouse gases. In addition, at least nine
states in the Northeast and five states in the West including New Mexico have developed initiatives to regulate
emissions of greenhouse gases, primarily through the planned development of greenhouse gas emission
inventories and/or regional greenhouse gas cap and trade programs. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
is separately considering whether it will regulate greenhouse gases as “air pollutants™ under the existing federal
Clean Air Act. Passage of climate control legislation or other regulatory initiatives by Congress or various states
in the U.S. or the adoption of regulations by the EPA or analogous state agencies that regulate or restrict
emissions of greenhouse gases including methane or carbon dioxide in areas in which we conduct business could
have an adverse effect on our operations and demand for our products.

A portion of our oil and gas production may be subject to interruptions that could temporarily adversely
affect our cash flow.

A portion of our regional oil and gas production may be interrupted, or shut in, from time to time for
numerous reasons, including as a result of weather conditions, accidents, loss of pipeline or gathering system
access, field labor issues or strikes, or intentionally as a result of market conditions. If a substantial amount of our
production is interrupted at the same time, it could temporarily adversely affect our cash flow.

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

ITEM 2. Properties

Information regarding our properties is included in Item 1 and in Note 11 of the notes to our consolidated
financial statements included in Item 8 of this report.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

We are involved in various disputes incidental to our business operations, including claims from royalty
owners regarding volume measurements, post-production costs and prices for royalty calculations. In Tawney, et
al. v. Columbia Natural Resources, Inc., Chesapeake’s wholly owned subsidiary Chesapeake Appalachia, L.L.C.,
formerly known as Columbia Natural Resources, LLC (CNR), is a defendant in a class action lawsuit in the
Circuit Court of Roane County, West Virginia filed in 2003 by royalty owners. The plaintiffs allege that CNR
underpaid royalties by improperly deducting post-production costs, failing to pay royalty on total volumes of
natural gas produced and not paying a fair value for the natural gas preduced from their leases. The plaintiff class
consists of West Virginia royalty owners receiving royalties after July 31, 1990 from CNR. Chesapeake acquired
CNR in November 2005, and its seller acquired CNR in 2003 from NiSource Inc. NiSource, a co-defendant in
the case, has managed the litigation and indemnified Chesapeake against underpayment claims based on the use
of fixed prices for natural gas production sold under certain forward sale contracts and other claims with respect
to CNR's operations prior to September 2003.

On January 27, 2007, the Circuit Count jury returned a verdict against the defendants of $404 million,
consisting of $134 million in compensatory damages and $270 million in punitive damages. Most of the damages
awarded by the jury relate to issues not yet addressed by the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeais, although
in June 2006 that Court ruled against the defendants on two certified questions regarding the deductibility of
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post-production expenses. The jury found fracdulent conduct by the defendants with respect to the sales prices
used to calculate royalty payments and with respect to the failure of CNR to disclose post-production deductions.
On June 28, 2007, the Circuit Court sustained the jury verdict for punitive damages, and on September 27, 2007,
it denied all post-trial motions, including defendants’ motion for judgment as a matter of law, or in the
alternative, for a new trial. On December 5, 2007, the Circuit Court entered an order granting defendants” motion
to stay the judgment pending appeal conditioned upon filing an irrevocable letter of credit in the amount of $50
million. The. irrevocable letter of credit was filed January 4, 2008. On January 24, 2008, the defendants filed a
Petition for Appeal in the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals.

Chesapeake and NiSource maintain CNR acted in good faith and paid royalties in accordance with lease
terms and West Virginia law. Chesapeake has established an accrual for amounts it believes will not be
indemnified. Should a final nonappealable judgment be entered, Chesapeake believes its share of damages will
not have a material adverse effect on its results of operations, financial condition or liquidity.

Chesapeake is subject to other legal proceedings and claims which arise in the ordinary course of business.

In our opinion, the final resolution of these proceedings and claims will not have a material adverse effect on the
company.

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
Not applicable.
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PART I
ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities
Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “CHK”, The following table
sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of our common stock as reported by
the New York Stock Exchange:

Common Stock

Year ended December 31, 2047:
Fourth QUarer .. .......ort it e $41.19  $34.90 I
Third QUATTET . .. oottt i et e e ae e 37.55 31.38 !
Second QUAET ...\ttt 37.75 30.88 !
FIrst QUATIEr .. oottt et e ettt e e e i e 31.83 2727

Year ended December 31, 2006:
Fourth Quarter ... ......ouirtti ettt e e $3427 $2790
Third Quarter . ... e 33.76 28.06
Second QuUarter ..........c... it e 33.99 26.81
First Quarter ... 35.57 27.75 :

At February 26, 2008, there were 1,651 holders of record of our commen stock and approximately 260,000
beneficial owners.

Dividends

The following table sets forth the amount of dividends per share declared on Chesapeake common stock
during 2007 and 2006:

2007 2006
Fourth Quarter . ... ... i i e $0.0675 $0.06
Third QUarter . .. oo e e e 0.0675 0.06
Second Quarter .. ....... ... e e 0.0675 0.06
First Quarter .. ... ... .. i e 0.06 0.05

While we expect to continue to pay dividends on our common stock, the payment of future cash dividends
will depend upon. among other things, our financial condition, funds from operations, the level of our capital and
development expenditures, our future. business prospects, contractual restrictions and any other factors
considered relevant by the Board of Directors.

Several of the indentures governing our outstanding senior notes contain restrictions on our ability to
declare and pay cash dividends. Under these indentures, we may not pay any cash dividends on our common or \
preferred stock if an event of default has occurred, if we have not met one of the two debt incurrence tests
described in the indentures, or if immediately after giving effect to the dividend payment. we have paid total
dividends and made other restricted payments in excess of the permitted amounts. As of December 31, 2007, our
coverage ratio for purposes of the debt incurrence test under the relevant indentures was 7.46 to 1, compared to
2.25 to 1 required in cur indentures, Qur adjusted consolidated net tangible assets exceeded 200% of our total
indebtedness, as required by the second debt incurrence test in these indentures, by more than $1.9 billion.
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The following table presents information about repurchases of our common stock during the three months

endpd December 31, 2007:

Total Number of

Maximum Number

Shares Purchased  of Shares That May
Total Number Average as Part of Publicly  Yet Be Purchased
! of Shares Price Paid Announced Plans Under the Plans
) Period Purchased ()  Per Share (a) or Programs or Programs {b)
October 1, 2007 through October 31, 2007 .. .. 5,491 $39.236" — —
November 1, 2007 through November 30,
2007 . 5,667 $37.875 — —
December |, 2007 through December 31,
2007 ....... SO T 6,726  $39.210 — —
Total .............. .. L 17,884 $38.795 - —

(a) Includes the deemed surrender to the company of 1,417 shares of common stock to pay the exercise price in
connection with the exercise of employee stock options and the surrender to the company of 16,467 shares
of common stock to pay withholding taxes in connection with the vesting of employee restricted stock.

(b) We make matching contributions to our 401(k) plans and 401(k) make-up plan using Chesapeake common
stock which is held in treasury or is purchased by the respective plan trustees in the open market. The plans
contain no limitation on the number of shares that may be purchased for purposes of the company
contributions. There are no other repurchase plans or programs currently authorized by the Board of

Directors. ‘
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ITEM 6., Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial data of Chesapeake for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2003. The data are derived from our audited consolidated financial
statements revised to reflect the reclassification of certain items. In addition to changes in the annual average
prices for oil and natural gas and increased production from drilling activity, significant acquisitions in recent
years also impacted comparability between years. See Notes 11 and 13 of the notes 1o our consolidated financial
statements. The table should be read in conjunction with *Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements, inctuding the notes, appearing in
Items 7 and 8 of this report.

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
{$ in millions, except per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues:
Oiland natural gassales .. ... .. .. .. it P $ 5624 35619 $3273 51,936 ' $1.297
Oil and natural gas marketing sales ................ .00 e 2040 1,577 1,392 773, 420
Service OPeTatioNS FEVEMUE .. ... ... .ottt aiara e 136 130 —_ — —
) Total rEVENUES . .. ..o v e iaeaiiiiienees e 7800 7326 4,665 2,709 1717
Operating costs:
Production EXPEMSEs . . ... vueurir e e ! 640 490 317 205 138
Productiontaxes ................. ... e e 216 176 - 208 104 . 78
General and administrative EXPENSES . v vevevveere e aaiiiius feeeen 243 139 64 37 24
Oil and natural gas marketing eXpenses .. ... ..o iiiia i 1,969 1,522 1358 755 410
Service Operations eXPeIISE . ...\ e v e et en e 94 68 — — —
Oil and natural gas depreciation, depletien and amortization . . ............... 1,835 1,359 894 582 369
Depreciation and amontization of otherassets ............... ... 154 104 51 29 17
Employee retirement eXpense . ... ... i e — 35 — — —
Provision for legal SEUIEMENLS . ... ..ot — — — 5 6
Total OPerating COSLS ..\ v\ u v et ittt it i eiae et ar s a s 5.151 3913 2892 1,717 1,042
InCOME fTOM OPEFALIONS . ..ttt iat it ie ettt anaas ey 2,649 3,413 1,773 992 675
Other income (expense):
Interest and GLREr INCOME . .. ..o i aa s 15 26 10 5 !
[OLETESE EXPEIISE .« o e e e ve sttt e vee b e e ae e ae e (406) (301) (2200 (en (154)
Gainon sale OF iNVESUMENL ... ..o\ttt i eia it ia s 83 117 — — —
L.oss on repurchases or exchanges of Chesapeake seniornotes ............... ] — — (70) (25) 2n
Total other income (EXPENSEY ... ... .o vrrrn i aeaen (308) (158) (280) (187) (174)
Income before income taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change .. ......... 2341 3255 1,493 805 501
Income tax expense (benefity:
CUITEIML . &t e e et ettt i 29 5 — — 5
Deferred ... .. e e 861 1,247 545 290 185
Total INCOME LAX EXPEISE . . .o ovv v s errr e e e tnae e eriaaecanaeeeens 890  1.252 545 290 190
Net income before cumulative effect of accounting change, netoftax ............. i.451 2,003 948 515 311
Cumulative effect of accounting change. net of income taxes of $1 million ......... — — — — 2
NelInCOmE ..ottt e 1.451 2,003 948 515 313
Preferred stock dividends . ... ... i i i e (94) (89) 42) (40) (22)
Loss on conversionfexchange of preferred stock ... ... ... oo oot (128} (10) (26) (36) —
Net income available to common shareholders ... ... ... i iiineann $ 1220 $19504 $ 880 $ 439 § 291
Earnings per common share—basic:
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change ..................... $ 269 $478 3273 5173 %136
Cumulative effect of accountingchange . ... ... ... oottt — — — -— 0.02

$ 269 $478 $273 § 173 3138

Earnings per common share— assuming dilution:

Income before cumulative effect of accountingchange . ...... ... ... ..., $ 262 $435 $251 $1353 § 120
Cumulative effect of accounting change ... ............ ... .. ...l — — — — 0.01

$ 262 $435 $251 §$153 § 121

Cash dividends declared per commonshare ... ... ..ot iiiiine i e $0.2625 $ 023 $0.095 $ 017 30.135
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Years Ended December 31,

2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

{$ in millions, except per share data}

Cash Flow Data:

. Cash provided by operating activities . .. ...t s $ 4932
Cash used in investing activities ........ e e e e e 7,922
Cash provided by financing activities .............. ... .. ... . i "2,988

Ralance Sheet Data (at end of period):
oAl d88BES vttt e e e e $30.734
Long-term debt. net of current maturities .. ... .. o o oL 10,950
Stockholders’ equity ............. e e 12,130
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5 4,843
8.942
4,042

$24.417
1.376
11.251

$ 2407
6,921
4,567

$16,118
5,490
6.174

$1.432
3,381
1,915

$8.245
3075
3,163

§ 939
2,077
931

$4,572
2,058
1,733
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ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Financial Data

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the production volumes, oil and natural gas
sales, average sales prices received, other operating income and expenses for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Net Production:
L0111 3 9,882 8,654 7.698
Natural gas (MICEY . oo v r v ettt et e e e e e e 654,969 526,459 422,389
Natural gas equivalent (MmCFe} .. ... i e 714,261 578,383 468,577
Qil and Natural Gas Sales ($ in millions):
' LSS . oottt et e e e § 678 5 3527 § 402
il derivatives—realized gains {l0SSe8) .. v v oo (413 (15) (34
Qil derivatives—unrealized gains (IOSSER} ... .. covit i e (235) 28 4
TO1Al 01l SLBE . o4 v e e e 432 540 372
Natural gas SRIES .. ... oL e 4,117 3.343 3.231
Natural gas derivatives—realized gains (losses) ........ .. oo i 1.214 1,269 (367)
Natural gas derivatives—unrealized gains (I08S88) ... ... . i (139) 467 37
Total natural gas SAIES ., . ..ottt e e e 5,192 5,079 2,901
; Total oil and natural gas sales . .. .. .. . cv et e e $ 5624 § 5619 § 3273
| Average Sales Price (excluding gains {losses) on derivatives):
OIS perBbl) o $ 6864 % 6086 $ 5220
Natural gas (B per mcf) ... i e $§ 629 § 635 § 765
Natural gas equivalent (Spermcfe) .. ... . $ 671 § 669 5 735
Average Sales Price {excluding unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives):
OIS per Bbl) L e e $ 6750 5 5904 5 4777
Natural gas (3 permef) . ..o e $§ 814 § 876 § 678
Natural gas equivalent (S permefe) . ... . i e $ 840 $§ 88 § 690
Other Operating Income (a) (§ in millions):
Oil and natural gas Markeling . . .. ... it e 5 71 8 55 3% 35
SEIVICE OPETALIONS « - v e e oo n e e e e e et e s e e $ 42 3 62 § —
Other Operating Income (a) ($ per mcfe):
Ol and natural gas MArKBHIE . ..o v vt e e et it e e i e $ 01 3 009 $ 007
SErVICE OPEIALIONS L 4 . vt c et ottt et e e et e e e § 006 $ 011 3 —
Expenses ($ per mcfe):
ProdUCIION EXPEISES . .o vt vut v et nn s e ae e eat it s st e it e e $ 09 § 08 $ 068
PrOAUCTION LXES o o v v vttt e et e ettt ettt e $ 030 § 031 § 044
General and adminiStTative EXPEISES . .. o\ttt et e $ 034 % 024 § 014
Qil and natural gas depreciation, depletion and amortization . . ... o i e $ 257 § 235 3 191
Depreciation and amortization of otherassets ........ ... oo § 022 $ 018 $ 011
Tnterest eXPense (B) . . ..ottt e e e e $ 051 %5 052 % 047
Interest Expense (§ in millions):
[NHEIEST EXPEISE « .« o oo ettt ottt et et e e e e e $ 365 $ 301 § 227
Interest rate derivatives——realized (2ains) IOSSES ... .. oot e | 2 (5)
Interest rate derivatives—unrealized (gains}Josses ... ... i e 40 (2) (2)
Total INMETESL EXPENSE L L . o o et e ae ettt e e e e e vt n e e e $§ 406 $ 301 § 220
Net Wells DFlled . .. ..o e e e 1,919 1,449 816
Net Producing Wellsas of the Endof Period . ... 21,404 19,079 16,985

(a) Includes revenue and operating costs and excludes depreciation and amortization of other assets.
(b) Includes the effects of realized gains (losses) from interest rate derivatives, but excludes the effects of
unrealized gains (losses) and is net of amounts capitalized.

We manage our business as three separate operational segments: exploration and production; marketing; and
service operations, which is comprised of our wholly owned drilling and trucking operations. We refer you to
Note § of the notes to our consolidated financial statements appearing in [tem 8 of this report, which summarizes
by segment our net income and capital expenditures for 2007, 2006 and 2005 and our assets as of December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005.
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Executive Summary

We are the third largest producer of natural gas in the United States (first among independents). We own
interests in approximately 38,500 producing oil and natural gas wells that are currently producing approximately
2.2 befe per day, 92% of which is natural gas. Our strategy is focused on discovering, acquiring and developing
conventional and unconventional natural gas reserves onshore in the U.S., east of the Rocky Mountains,

Our most important operating area has historically been in the Mid-Continent region of Oklahoma,
Arkansas, southwestern Kansas and the Texas Panhandle. At December 31, 2007, 47% of our estimated proved
oil and naturat gas reserves were located in the Mid-Continent region. During the past five years, we have also
built significant positions in various conventional and unconventional plays in the Fort Worth Basin in north-
central Texas; the Appalachian Basin, principally in West Virginia, eastern Kentucky, eastern Ohio,
Pennsylvania and southern New York; the Permian and Delaware Basins of West Texas and eastern New
Mexico; the Ark-La-Tex area of East Texas and northern Louisiana; and the South Texas and Texas Gulf Coast
regions. We have established a top-three position in nearly every major unconventional play onshore in the U.S,
east of the Rockies, including the Barnett Shale, the Arkansas Fayetteville Shale, the Appalachian Basin
Devonian and Marcellus Shales, the Arkoma and Ardmore.Basins Woodford Shale in Oklahoma, the Delaware
Basin Barnett and Woodford Shales in West Texas, and the Alabama Conasauga and Chattanooga Shales.

Oil and natural gas production for 2007 was 714.3 befe, an increase of 135.9 befe, or 23% over the 578.4
befe produced in 2006. We have increased our production for 18 consecutive years and 26 consecutive quarters.
During these 26 quarters, Chesapeake’s U.S. production has increased 467% for an average compound quarterly
growth rate of 7% and an average compound annual growth rate of 30%.

During 2007, Chesapeake continued the industry’s most active drilling program and drilled 1,992 gross
{1,695 net) operated wells and participated in another 1,679 gross (224 net) wells operated by other companies,
The company’s drilling success rate was 99% for company-operated wells and 97% for non-operated wells. Also
during 2007, we invested $4.3 billion in operated wells (using an average of 140 operated rigs) and $708 mitlion
in non-operated wells (using an average of 105 non-operated rigs). Total costs incurred in oil and natural gas
acquisition, exploration and development activities during 2007, including seismic, unproved properties,
leasehold. capitalized interest and internal costs, non-cash tax basis step-up and asset retirement obligations, were
$7.6 billion.

Chesapeake began 2007 with estimated proved reserves of 8.956 icfe and ended the year-wilh 10.879 tcfe,
an increase of 1.923 tefe, or 21%. During 2007, we replaced 714 befe of production with an internally estimated
2.637 tefe of new proved reserves, for a reserve replacement rate of 369%. Reserve replacement through the
dritlbit was 2.468 tcfe, or 346% of production and 94% of the total increase (including 1.248 tcfe of positive
performance revisions and 97 befe of positive revisions resulting from oil and natural gas price increases between
December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2007). Reserve replacement through the acquisition of proved reserves
was 377 befe, or 53% of production and 14% of the total increase. During 2007. we divested 208 befe of proved
reserves. Our annual decline rate on producing properties is projected to be 28% from 2008 to 2009, 18% from
2009 to 2010, 14% from 2010 to 2011, 12% from 2011 to 2012 and 10% from 2012 to 2013. Qur percentage of
proved undeveloped reserve additions to total proved reserve additions was approximately 29% in 2007, 38% in
2006 and 36% in 2005. Based on our current drilling schedule and budget, we expect that virtually all of the
proved undeveloped reserves added in 2007 will begin producing within the next three to five years. Generalty,
proved developed reserves are producing at the time they are added or will begin producing within one year.

Since 2000, Chesapeake has invested $9.4 billion in new leasehold and 3-D seismic acquisitions and now
owns what we believe are the largest combined inventories of onshore leasehold (13 million net acres) and 3-D
seismic (19 million acres) in the U.S. On this leasehold. the company has approximately 36,300 net drillsites
representing more than a 10-year inventory of drilling projects.
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As of December 31, 2007, the company’s debt as a percentage of total capitalization (total capitalization is
the sum of debt and stockholders’ equity) was 47% compared to 40% as of December 31, 2006. The average
maturity of our long-term debt is almost nine years with an average interest rate of approximately 5.8%.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
2008 — 2009 Financial Plan

In early September 2007, we announced an enhanced financial plan designed to monetize unrecognized
balance sheet value and to fully fund our planned capital expenditures through 2009 without accessing public
capital markets. Since then, we have successfully implemented multiple aspects of the plan and anticipate further
progress during 2008 and 2009. We believe our planned transactions described below will allow us to monetize
approximately $3 billion of assets by the end of 2009.

Sale/Leasebacks. During 2007, we entered into sale/leaseback transactions involving 54 drilling rigs for
net proceeds of approximately $369 million. We now operate a total of 78 rigs under sale/leaseback
arrangements and anticipate similar transactions on our remaining 3 rigs during 2008, thereby completing the
sale/lenseback of our entire fleet of 81 drilling rigs. Also during 2007, we completed a sale/leascback faciiity for
our natural gas compression assets. We received approximately $188 million for the sale/leaseback of our
existing natural gas compression assets. and we will finance up to $175 million of future natural gas compression
assets under the same facility.

Producing Property Sales. In December 2007, we monetized a portion of our proved reserves and
production in certain Chesapeake-operated producing assets in Kentucky and West Virginia. In this transaction,
we sold a volumetric production payment (VPP) 1o affiliates of UBS AG and DB Energy Trading LLC (a
subsidiary of Deutsche Bank AG) for proceeds of approximately $1.1 billion. The VPP entitles the purchaser to
receive scheduled quantities of natural gas from Chesapeake’s interests in over 4,000 producing wells, free of all
production costs and production taxes, over a 15-year period. The transaction included approximately 208 befe of
proved reserves and 55 mmcte per day of net production, or approximately 2% of our proved reserves and net
production as of December 31, 2007. We have retained drilling rights on the properties below currently
producing intervals and outside of existing producing wellbores. In addition, we plan to pursue monetizations of
similarly mature properties in 2008 and 2009 for estimated proceeds of approximately $2.0 billion.

In the first quarter of 2008, we sold non-core oil and natural gas assets in the Rocky Mountains and in the
Arkoma Basin Woodford Shale play for proceeds of approximately $250 million.

Midstream Partnership. We are currently in the process of forming a private partnership to own a
non-operating interest in our midstream natural gas assets outside of Appalachia, which consist primarily of
natural gas gathering systems and treating assets. We anticipate raising $1 billion in the first half of 2008 by
selling a minority interest in the partnership.

Sources and Uses of Funds

Cash flow from operations is our primary source of liquidity to meet operating expenses and fund capital
expenditures {other than for acquisitions outside our budgeted leasehold and property acquisitions). Cash
provided by operating activities was $4.932 billion in 2007, compared to $4.843 billion in 2006 and $2.407
billion in 2005. The $89 million increase from 2006 to 2007 was primarily due to higher volumes of oil and
natural gas production. The $2.436 billion increase from 2005 to 2006 was primarily due to higher realized prices
and higher volumes of oil and natural gas production. Changes in cash flow from operations are largely due (o
the same factors that affect our net income, excluding non-cash items, such as depreciation, depletion and
amortization, deferred income taxes and unvealized gains and {losses) on derivatives. Net income decreased to
$1.451 billion in 2007 from $2.003 billion in 2006 compared to $948 million in 2005 and is discussed below
under Results of Operations.
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Changes in market prices for oil and natural gas directly impact the level of our cash flow from operations.
While a decline in oil or natural gas prices would affect the amount of cash flow that would be generated from
operations, we currently (as of February 21, 2008) have oil hedges in place covering 94% of our expected oil
production in 2008 and 87% of our expected natural gas production in 2008, thereby providing price certainty for
a substantial portion of our future cash flow. Our oil and natural gas hedges as of December 31, 2007 are detailed
in Item 7A of Part II of this report. We have arrangements with our hedging counterparties that allow us to
minimize the potential liquidity impact of significant mark-to-market fluctuations in the value of our il and
natural gas hedges by making collateral allocations from our bank credit facility or directly pledging oil and
natural gas properties, rather than posting cash or letters of credit with the counterparties. Depending on changes
in oil and natural gas futures markets and management’s view of underlying oil and natural gas supply and
demand trends, we may increase or decrease our current hedging positions,

Our bank credit facility is another source of liquidity. On November 2, 2007, we amended and restated our
syndicated revolving bank credit facility 1o increase the borrowing base to $3.5 billion (with commitments of
$3.0 billion) and extended the maturity to November 2012. We subsequently increased the commitments under
the credit facility to $3.5 billion. The amendment reflects the increased scale and scope of our operations and will
help accommodate timing differences between cash flow from operations, asset monetizations and planned
capital expenditures. At February 26, 2008, there was $596 million of borrowing capacity available under the
revolving bank credit facility, We use the facility to fund daily operating activities and acquisitions as needed.
We borrowed $7.9 billion and repaid $6.2 billion in 2007, we borrowed $8.4 billion and repaid $8.3 billion in
2006, and we borrowed $5.7 billion and repaid $5.7 billion in 2005 under the bank credit facility.

In 2007, we completed two public offerings of our 2.5% Coentingent Convertible Sentor Notes due 2037. In
the first offering, in May 2007, we issued $1.150 billion of notes and in the second offering, in August 2007, we
issued $500 million of notes. Net proceeds of approximately $1.124 billion and $483 million, respectively, were
used to repay outstanding borrowings under our revelving bank credit facility. The foilowing table reflects the
proceeds from sales of securities we issued in 2007, 2006 and 2005, ($ in millions):

2007 2006 2005
Total Net Total Net Total Net

Proceeds Proceeds Proceeds Proceeds Proceeds Proceeds

Unsecured senior nOIES . .. ..o ooievnvunnnenn.. $ — § — 31,799  $1,755 $2.300 %2252
Contingent convertible unsecured senior notes . . . . . 1,650 1.607 - — 690 673
Convertible preferred stock ... .. ... ... ... ... .. — —_ 575 558 1,380 1,341
Commonstock . ........ ... . . i, — — 1,800 1,759 1.025 986
Total ... ... $1,650 31,607 34,174 $4,072 $5395 $5,252

In December 2007, we sold a portion of our proved reserves and production in certain Chesapeake-operated
producing assets in Kentucky and West Virginia. In this transaction, we sold a volumetric production payment
(VPP) for proceeds of $1.1 billion, net of transaction costs.

We believe our cash flow from operations, in combination with the proceeds expected from our planned
producing property monetizations and other asset sales and the $1 billion increase in capacity under our bank
credit facility will provide us with sufficient liquidity to execute our business strategy without accessing the
public capital markets for the foreseeable future. We intend to use any cash in excess of our operating and capital
expenditure needs to pay down indebtedness under our revolving bank credit facility,

Our primary use of funds is on capital expenditures for exploration, development and acquisition of oit and
natural gas propertics. We refer you to the table under favesting Transactions below. which sets forth the
components of our oil and natural gas investing activities for 2007, 2006 and 2005. Our driiling, land and seismic
capital expenditures are currently budgeted at $3.9 billion to $6.5 billion in 2008. We believe this level of
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exploration and development will enable us to increase our proved oil and natural gas reserves by more than 14%
in 2008 and increase our total production by 19% to 21% in 2008 (inclusive of acquisitions completed or
scheduled to close in 2008 through the filing date of this report but without regard to any additional acquisitions
that may be completed in 2008).

We retain a significant degree of contro! over the timing of our capital expenditures which permits us to
defer or accelerate certain capital expenditures if necessary Lo address any potential liquidity issues. In addition,
higher drilling and field operating costs, drilling results that alter planned development schedules, acquisitions or
other factors could cause us to revise our drilling program, which is largely discretionary.

We paid dividends on our common stock of $115 million, $87 million and $60 million in 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively. The Board of Directors increased the quarterly dividend on common stock from $0.06 to
$0.0675 per share beginning with the dividend paid in July 2007. We paid dividends on our preferred stock of
$95 million, $88 millicn and $31 million in 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively.

In 2007, holders of our 5.0% (Series 2005) cumulative convertible preferred stock and 6.25% mandatory
convertible preferred stock exchanged 4,535,880 shares and 2,156,184 shares for 19,038,891 and 17,367,823
shares of common stock, respectively, in public exchange offers. The exchange resulted in a loss on conversion
of $128 million.

We received $15 million, $73 million and $21 million from the exercise of employee and director stock
options in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. We paid $86 million and $4 million to purchase treasury stock in
2006 and 2005, respectively. Of these amounts, $11 million and $4 million were used to fund our matching
contribution to our 401(k) plans in 2006 and 2005, respectively. The remaining $75 million in 2006 was used to
purchase shares of common stock to be used upon the exercise of stock options under certain stock option plans.
There were no treasury stock purchases made in 2007.

In 2007, 2006 and 2005, we paid $91 million, $87 million and $12 million, respectively, o settle a portion
of the derivative liabilities assumed in our 2003 acquisition of Columbia Natural Resources, LLC.

On January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS 123(R), which requires tax benefits resulting from stock-based
compensation deductions in excess of amounts reported for financial reporting purposes (o be reported as cash
flows from financing activities. In 2007 and 2006, we reported a tax benefit from stock-based compensation of
$20 million and $88 million, respectively. '

Qutstanding payments from certain disbursement accounts in excess of funded cash balances where no legal
right of set-off exists decreased by $98 million, increased by $70 million and increased by $61 million in 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively. All disbursements are funded on the day they are presented to our bank using
available cash on hand or draws on our revolving bank credit facility.

Historically, we have used significant funds to redeem or purchase and retire outstanding senior notes issued
by Chesapeake, although we had no such transactions in 2007 and 2006. The following table shows our
redemplion, purchases and exchanges of senior notes for 2005 (§ in millions):

Senior Notes Activity

For the Year Ended December 31, 2005: Retired Premium Other{a) Issued Cash Paid
8.375% Senior Notes due 2008 ... ... .cooiiitiiii et 519 - § 1 $— 5— $ 20
8.125% Senior Notes due 2011 . ... .. ... ...t 245 17 | — 263
9.0% Senior Notes due 2012 . .. ... . o 300 42 ! — 343
$564  $60 $ 2 $—  $626

(a) Includes adjustments to accrued interest and discount associated with notes retired and new notes issued,
cash in lieu of fractional notes, transaction costs and fair value hedging adjustments.
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Our accounts recetvable are primarily from purchasers of oil and natural gas (8798 million at December 31,
2007) and exploration and production companies which own interests in properties we operate (3175 million at
December 31, 2007). This industry concentration has the potential to impact our overali exposure to credit risk,
either positively or negatively, in that our customers and joint working interest owners may be similarly affected
by changes in economic,.industry or other conditions. We generally require letters of credit for receivables from
parties which are judged to have sub-standard credit, unless the credit risk can otherwise be mitigated.

Investing Transactions

Cash used ih investing activities decreased to $7.922 billion in 2007, compared to $8.942 billion in 2006 and
$6.921 billion in 2005. Over the past year, we have accelerated our drilling program and shifted our acquisition
strategy from significant stock and asset acquisitions to targeted leasehold and property acquisitions needed for
planned oil and natural gas development. Our investing activities during 2007 reflected our increasing focus on
converting our resource inventory into production as well as elements of our new financial plan. The following table
shows our cash used in (provided by) investing activities during 2007, 2006 and 2005 ($ in millions):

Oil and Natural Gas Investing Activities: : 2007 2006 2005

Acquisitions of oil and natural gas companies and proved properties, net of
cash ACqQUITEd . ... o e § 520 $1,104 %2759
Acquisition of leasehold and unproved properties . ............. ... ... ..., 2,187 3,301 1,591
Exploration and development of oil and natural gas properties .................. 4962 3,009 1,793
Geological and geophysical COStS .. ...t 343 154 71
Interest on leasehold and unproved properties . ... ... ... ... . .. 254 172 76
Proceeds from sale of volumetric production payment ........................ (1.08%y — —
Deposits for acquisitions . .. ... ... o i e 15 21 35
Other oil and natural gas activities ............ ... ... .. ... i ... — —_ (2)
Total oil and natural gas investing activities ................ ... 7,192 7,761 6,323
Other Investing Activities:
Additions to other property and equipment ......... ... ... .. ... ... ..... .. 1,310 594 417
Additions to drilling rigequipment . ...... ... ... ool 129 393 67
Proceeds from sale of drilling rigs and equipment . ........................... (369) (244) —_
Proceeds from sale of compressors .. ... ... . e (188) — —
Additions (0 INVESUMENTS . ...ttt e e e 8 554 135
Proceeds from sale of InVeStMEnts ... .. ... et e (124 (1539 —
Acquisition of trucking company, net of cashacquired . ....................... — 45 —
Sale of non-oif and natural gasassets ... ... .. .. L (36) (2) 20N
OHNeT L e — — -
Total other investing activities . ........... ..o vt 730 1,181 598
Total cash used in investing activiies ... ............. ... .vverrriunn.. $7.922 $8942 $6,921

Bank Credit and Hedging Facilities

On November 2, 2007, we amended and restated our syndicated revolving bank credit facility to increase
the borrowing base to $3.5 billion (with commitments of $3.0 billion) and extended the maturity to November
2012. We subsequently increased the commitments under the credit facility to $3.5 billion. As of December 31,
2007, we had $1.950 billion in outstanding borrowings under this facility and had utilized approximately $5
million of the facility for various letters of credit. Borrowings under the facility are secured by cenain producing
oil and natural gas properties and bear interest at our option of either (i) the greater of the reference rate of Union
Bank of California, N.A., or the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50% or (ii) London Interbank Offered Rate
(LIBOR), plus a margin that varies from 0.75% to 1.30% per annum according to our senior unsecured long-term
debt ratings. The collateral value and borrowing base are redetermined periodically. The unused portion of the
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facility is subject to a commitment fee that also varies according to our senior unsecured long-term debt ratings,
from 0.125% to 0.30% per annum. Currently the commitment fee is 0.20% per annum. Interest is payable
quarterly or, if LIBOR applies, it may be payable at more frequent intervals. Our subsidiaries, Chesapeake
Exploration, L.L.C. and Chesapeake Appalachia, L.L.C., are the borrowers under our revolving bank credit
facility and Chesapeake and all its other wholly-owned subsidiaries except minor subsidiaries are guarantors.

The credit facility agreement contains various covenants and restrictive provisions which limit our ability to
incur additiona! indebtedness, make investments or loans and create liens. The credit facility agreement requires
us to maintain an indebtedness to total capitalization ratio (as defined) not to exceed 0.70 to | and an
indebtedness to EBITDA ratio (as defined) not to exceed 3.75 to 1. As defined by the credit facility agreement,
our indebtedness to total capitalization ratio was 0.48 to | and our indebtedness to EBITDA ratio was 2.16 10 | at
December 31, 2007. If we should fail to perform our obligations under these and other covenants, the revolving
credit commitment could be terminated and any outstanding borrowings under the facility could be declared
immediately due and payable. Such acceleration, if involving a principul amount of $10 million (850 million in
the case of our senior notes issved after 2004), would constitute an event of default under our senior note
indentures which could in turn result in the acceleration of a significant portion of our senior note indebtedness.
The credit facility agreement also has cross default provisions that apply (o other indebtedness we may have with
an outstanding principal amount in excess of $75 million.

We have six secured hedging facilities, each of which permits us to enter into cash-settled oil and natural
gas commodily transactions, valued by the counterparty, for up to a maximum value. Outstanding transactions
under each facility are collateralized by certain of our oil and natural gas properties that do not secure any of our
other obligations. The hedging facilities are subject to an annual exposure fee, which is assessed quarterly based
on the average of the daily negative fair value amounts of the hedges, if any, during the quarter. The hedging
facilities contain the standard representations and default provisions that are typical of such agreements. The
agreements also contain various restrictive provisions which govern the aggregate oil and natura! gas production
volumes that we are permitted to hedge under all of our agreements at any one time, The maximum permitted
value of transactions under each facility and the fair value of outstanding transactions are shown below.

Secured Hedging Facilities (a)

#1 #2 #3 #4 #5 #6
($ in millions) i
Maximum permitted value of transactions under facility .... § 750 $ 500 $ 500 $ 250 $ 500 $ 500
Perannum exposure fee . ... ... ... .. i 1% 1% 1% 0.8% 08% 0.8%
Scheduled mawrity date . ......... ... ... oo 2010 2010 2011 2012 2012 2012
Fair value of outstanding transactions, as of December 31, o
2007 e $ 1 §(l44) $ (97) $ (19) & 371 § (53)

{4) Chesapeake Exploration, L.L.C. is the named party to the facilities numbered 1-3 and Chesapeake Energy
Corporation is the named party to the facilities numbered 4-6.

Our revolving bank credit facility and secured hedging facilities do not contain material adverse change or
adequate assurance covenants. Although the applicable interest rates and commitment fees in our bank credit
facility fluctuate slightly based on cur long-term senior unsecured credit ratings, the bank facility and the secured
hedging facilities do not contain provisions which would trigger an acceleration of amounts due under the
facilities or a requirement to post additional collateral in the event of a downgrade of our credit ratings.

)
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.Senior Note Obligations

In addition to outs‘landing revolving bank credit facility borrowings discussed above. as of December 31,
2007, senior notes represented approximately $9.0 billion of our long-term debt and consisted of the following (§
in millions):

7.5% Senior Notes due 2013 ... .. e e e e $ 364
7.625% Senior Notes due 2013 ... i e e 500
7.0% Senior Notes due 2034 ... e 300
7.5% Sentor Notes due 2014 . .. ... . . e e 300
7.75% Senior Notes due 2005 ..o e 300
6.375% Senior Notes due 2015 . ... ... i e 600
6.625% Senior Notes due 2016 . ... ... e 600
6.875% Senior Notes due 2016 .- .. ... o i e 670
6.5% Senior Notes due 2017 ... .. e - 1,100
6.25% Euro-denominated Senior Notes due 2017 (a) ... ... ... .. ... ... 876
0.25% Sentor Notes due 20018 .. ... ... . e e - 600
6.875% Senior Notes due 2020 .. ... . e 500
2.75% Contingent Convertible Senior Notesdue 2035 .. .......... ... ... .. ... 690
2.5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2037 ............... ... ..., 1,650
Discount on senior notes . ........ P S (105)
Premium for interest rate derivatives ... ... .. . i e 55
$9.000

fa) The principal amount shown is- based on the doltar/euro exchange rate of $1.4603 to €1.00 as of
December 31, 2007. See Note 10 of our accompanying consolidated financial statements for information on
our related cross currency swap.

No scheduled principal payments are required under our senjor notes until 2013, when $864 million is due.
The holders of the 2.75% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2035 may require us to repurchase. in cash,
all or a portion of these notes on November 15, 2015, 2020, 2025 and 2030 at 100% of the principal amount of
the notes. The holders of the 2.5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2037 may require us to repurchase,
in cash, all or a portion of these notes on May 15, 2017, 2022, 2027 and 2032 at 100% of the principal amount of
the notes.

As of December 31, 2007 and currently, debt ratings for the senior notes are Ba3 by Moody’s Investor
Service (negative outlook), BB by Standard & Poor's Ratings Services (positive outlook) and BB by Fiich
Ratings (negative outlook).

Our senior notes are unsecured senior obligations of Chesapeake and rank equally in right of payment with
all of our other existing and future senior indebtedness and rank senior in right of payment to all of our future
subordinated indebtedness. All of our wholly-owned subsidiaries. except minor subsidiaries, folly and
unconditionally guarantee the notes jointly and severally on an unsecured basis. Senior notes issued before July
2005 are governed by indentures containing covenants that limit our ability and our restricted subsidiaries’ ability
to incur additional indebtedness: pay dividends on our capital stock or redeem, repurchase or retire our capital
stock or subordinated indebtedness; make investments and other restricted payments; incur liens: enter into sale/
leaseback transactions; create restrictions on the payment of dividends or other amounts to us from our restricted
subsidiaries; engage in transactions with affiliates; sell assets; and consolidate, merge or transfer assets. Senior
notes issued after June 2005 are governed by indentures containing covenants that limit our ability and our
restricted subsidiaries’ ability to incur certain secured indebtedness; enter into sale-leaseback transactions; and
consolidate, merge or transfer assets. The debt incurrence covenants do not presently. restrict our ability to
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borrow under or expand our secured credit facility. As of December 31, 2007, we estimate that secured
commercial bank indebtedness of approximately $4.9 billion could have been incurred under the most restrictive
indenture covenant.

Contractual Obligations

The table below summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2007 (3 in millions):

Payments Due By Period

Less than 1.3 3-5 More than

Total 1 Year Years Years 5 years

Long term debt:

Principal ...... ... .00 $1o000 $ — 0§ —  $1,950 §$ 9.050
Interest . ...t e 5,581 520 1,040 1,040 2,981

Capital lease obligations . ............... ... ... .. ..... 8 4 4 - —
Operating lease obligations .. ... ......... ... ... ..... 857 121 227 222 287
Asset retirement obligations (@) .. ... ... ... 236 8 16 4 208
Purchase obligations(b) .............. ... ... ... .. ... 929 385 208 k12 224

Unrecognized tax benefits (¢) . ................. ... ..... 133 — 69 64 _

Standby letters of credit ................ ... ..., 6 6 — — —
Total contractual cash obligations .................. 818,750 $1.044 $1564 53392 $12,750

(a) Asset retirement obligations represent estimated discounted costs for future dismantlement and
abandonment costs. These obligations are recorded as liabilities on our December 31, 2007 balance sheet.

(b) See Note 4 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements for a description of transportation and
drilling contract commitments.

{c) See Note 5 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements for a description of unrecognized tax
benefits.

Chesapeake has commitments to purchase the production associated with the December 31, 2007 sale of a
volumetric production payment that extends over a 15 year term at market prices at the time of production and
the purchased gas will be resold. The obligations are as follows:

Mmecfe

2008 L e e 19,858
2000 18,601
200 L e e 18,043
1220 2 1 16,251
22 0 15,322
After 2012 L 119,949

TOtal e e e e 208,024

Hedging Activities
Qil and Natural Gas Hedging Activities
Our results of operations and operating cash flows are impacted by changes in market prices for oil and
natural gas. To mitigate a portion of the exposure to adverse market changes, we have entered into various
derivative instruments. Executive management is invelved in all risk management activities and the Board of

Directors reviews the company’s hedging program at its quarterly Board meetings. We believe we have sufficient
internal controls to prevent unauthorized hedging. As of December 31, 2007, our oil and natural gas derivative
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instruments were comprised of swaps, basis protection swaps, knockout swaps, cap-swaps, call options and
collars. Item 7A—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk contains a description of each of
these instruments. Although derivatives often fail to achieve 100% effectiveness for accounting purposes, we
believe our derivative instruments continue to be highly effective in achieving the risk management objectives
for which they were intended.

Hedging allows us to predict with greater certainty the effective prices we will receive for our hedged ol
and natural gas production, We closely monitor the fair value of our hedging contracts and may elect to settle a
contract prior to its scheduled maturity date in order to lock in a gain or loss. Commodity markets are volatile
and Chesapeake’s hedging activities are dynamic. ‘

Mark-to-market positions under oil and natural gas hedging contracts fluctuate with commodity prices. As
described above under Bank Credit and Hedging Facilities, we may be required to deliver cash collateral or other
assurances of performance if our payment obligations to our hedging counterparties exceed levels stated in our
contracts. Our realized and unrealized gains and losses on oil and natural gas derivatives during 2007, 2006 and
2005 were as follows:

)

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(% in millions)
Oiland natural gassales ... ... ... .o oo i $4,795  $3,870  $3,633
Realized gains on oil and natural gas derivatives .................. 1,203 1,254 (401)
Unrealized gains (losses) on non-qualifying oil and natural gas :
derivatives . ... . (252) 184 117
Unrealized gains (losses) on ineffectiveness of cash flow hedges . ... .. (122) 311 (76)
Total oil and natural gassales ................. PR $5.624 35619  $3.273

Changes in the fair value of oil and natural gas derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges, to the
extent effective in offsetting cash flows attributable to the hedged commodities, and locked-in gains and fosses of
dertvative contracts are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income and are transferred to earnings in
the month of related production. These unrealized gains (losses), net of related tax effects, totaled $53 million,
$546 million and ($271) million as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Based upon the market
prices at December 31, 2007, we expect to transfer to earnings approximately $127 million of the net gain
included in the balance of accumulated other comprehensive income during the next 12 months. A detailed
explanation of accounting for oil and natural gas derivatives under SFAS 133 appears under “Application of
Critical Accounting Policies—Hedging” elsewhere in this Item 7.
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The estimated fair values of our oil and natural gas derivative instruments as of December 31, 2007 and
2006 are provided below. The associated carrying values of these instruments are equal to the estimated fair
values. '

December 31,
2007 2006
($ in milltons)

Derivative assets (liabilities):

Fixed-price natural gas sWaps ... ...t e e S$G4H %51
Natural gas basis protlection SWaps .. ... ... i 151 187
Fixed-price natural gas knockout swaps . ... .. ... ... ... 108 122
Fixed-price natural gas counter-swaps . ......... . . . . . i e — (5)
Natural gascall options (2) .. ... ... e (230 3)
Fixed-price natural gascollars (b) ... .. ... . . e 4 €))
Fixed-price oil swWaps ... oo e (110 28
Fixed-price oil cap-swaps .. ... .. e, (7 24
Fixed-price oil knockout swaps .. .. ... ... . . e (125) —
Ol call OPtIoNS (T) . o . oo e (96) —
Estimated fair value . .. ... .. . e $(369) $345

(a) After adjusting for $255 millien and $15 million of unrealized premiums, the cumulative unrealized gain

related 10 these call options as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $25 million and $10 million,
respectively.

(by After adjusting for $8 million of unrealized discount, the cumulative unrealized loss related to these collars
as of December 31, 2007 was $4 million.

(c) After adjusting for $29 million of unrealized premiums, the cumulative unrealized loss related to these call
options as of December 31, 2007 was $67 million.

Additional information concerning the fair value of our oil and natural gas derivative instruments, including
CNR derivatives assumed, is as follows:

December 31,
2007 2006 2005
‘ ($ in millions)
Fair value of contracts outstanding, as of January 1 ... ... ... ... ... ... ... $ 345 § (946) § 38
Change in fair value of contracts ... ... .. i i s 972 3,423 (77D
Fair value of contracts whenentered into .. ... . o i e (295) (32) (614)
Contracts realized or otherwise settled .. ... . i (1,203) (1,254) 401
Fair value of contracts whenclosed . ... .. ... .. . . . . . i i (188) (846) —
Fair value of contracts outstanding, as of December 31 ........................ $ (369 § 345 $(946)

Interest Rate Derivatives

We use interest rate derivatives to mitigate our exposure to the volatility in interest rates. For interest rate
derivative instruments designated as fair value hedges (in accordance with SFAS 133), changes in fair value are
recorded on the consolidated balance sheets us assets (liabilities), and the debt’s carrying value amount is
adjusted by the change in the fair value of the debt subsequent to the initiation of the derivative. Changes in the
fair value of derivative instruments not qualifying us fair value hedges are recorded currently as adjustments to
interest expense.

Gains or losses from derivative transactions are reflected as adjustments to interest expense on the
consolidated statements of operations. Realized gains (losses) included in interest expense were ($1) million,
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($2) million and $3 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Pursuant to SFAS 133, certain derivatives do
not qualify for designation as fair value hedges. Chunges in the fair value of these non-qualifying derivatives that
occur prior to their matrity (i.e., temporary fluctuations in value) are reported currently in the consolidated
statements of operations as unrealized gains (losses) within interest expense. Unrealized gains (losses) included
in interest expense were ($40) million, $2 million and $2 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. A
detailed explanation of accounting for interest rate derivatives under SFAS 133 appears under “Application of
Critical Accounting Policies—Hedging” elsewhere in this Item 7.

Foreign Currency Derivatives

On December 6. 2006. we issued €600 million of 6.25% Euro-denominated Senior Notes due
2017. Concurrent with the issnance of the Euro-denominated senior notes. we entered into a cross currency swap
to mitigate our exposure to fluctuations in the euro relative to the dollar over the term of the notes. A detailed
explanation of accounting for foreign currency derivatives under SFAS 133 appears under “Application of
Critical Accounting Policies—Hedging” elsewhere in this Item 7.

Results of Operations

General.  For the year ended December 31, 2007, Chesapeake had net income of $1.451 billion. or $2.62
per diluted common share, on total revenues of $7.800 billion. This compares 1o net income of $2.003 billion, or
$4.35 per diluted common share, on total revenues of $7.326 billion during the year ended December 31, 2006,
and net income of $948 million, or $2.51 per diluted common share, on total revenues of $4.665 billion during
the year ended December 31, 2005. '

Oil and Natural Gas Sales.  During 2007, oil and natural gas sales were $5.624 billion compared to $5.619
billion in 2006 and $3.273 billion in 2005. In 2007, Chesapeuke produced and sold 714.3 befe of oil and natural
gas at a weighted average price of $8.40 per mcfe, compared to 578.4 befe in 20006 at a weighted average price of
$8.86 per mcfe, and 468.6 befe in 2005 at a weighted average price of $6.90 per mefe (weighted average prices
for all years discussed exclude the effect of unrealized gains or (losses) on derivatives of ($374) million. $495
million and $41 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively}. The decrease in prices in 2007 resulted in a
decrease in revenue of $329 million and increased production resulted in a $1.203 billion increase, for a total
increase in revenues of $874 miilton (excluding unrealized gains or losses on otl and natural gas derivatives). The
increase in production from period to period was primarily generated from the drillbit.

For 2007, we realized an average price per barrel of oil of $67.50, compared 10 $59.14 in 2006 and $47.77
in 2005 (weighted average prices for all years discussed exclude the effect of unrealized gains or losses on
derivatives). Natural gas prices realized per mef (excluding unrealized gains or losses on derivatives) were $8.14,
$8.76 and $6.78 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Realized gains or losses from our oil and natural gas
derivatives resulted in a net increase in oil and natural gas revenues of $1.203 billion or $1.68 per mefe in 2007, a
net increase of $1.254 billion or $2.17 per mcfe in 2006 and a net decrease of $401 million or $0.86 per mefe in
2005.

A change in oil and natural gas prices has a significant impact on our oil and natural gas revenues und cash
flows. Assuming 2007 production levels, a change of $0.10 per mcf of natural gas sold would result in an
increase or decrease in revenues and cash flow of approximately 365 million and $63 million, respectively. and a
change of $1.00 per barrel of oil sold would result in an increase or decrease in revenues and cash flow of
approximately $10 million and 39 million, respectively, without considering the effect of hedging activities.
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' The following table shows our production by region for 2007, 2006 and 2005:

Years Ended December 31.

2007 2006 2005

Mmcfe Percent  Mmcfe Percent  Mmcfe Pereent
Mid-Continent . .......... ... ... ... .. ... ... 373,941 52% 315,173 55% 297,773 64%
Bamett Shale . ........ ... ... ... .. ... ... .. 93,463 13 44,482 7 17,409 4
Appalachian Basin . ......... ... .. . . ... ..., 47922 7 45,031 8 5,878 1
Permian and Delaware Basins . .................. 64,897 9 48,510 8 42958 9
Ark-La-Tex . ... ... e 55,811 8 46,009 8 40,707 9
South Texas and Texas Gulf Coast . ............... 78,228 11 79,178 14 63,852 13

Total Production ©......................... 714262 100% 578.383  100% 468.577  100%

Natural gas production represented approximately 92% of our total production volume on an equivalent
basis in 2007, compared 1o 91% in 2006 and 90% in 2005.

Oil and Natural Gas Marketing Sales and Operating Expenses. il and natural gas marketing activities
are substantially for third parties who are owners in Chesapeake-operated wells. Chesapeake realized $2.040
billion in oil and natural gas marketing sales to third parties in 2007, with corresponding oil and natural gas
marketing expenses of $1.969 billion, for a net margin before depreciation of $71 million. This compares to sales
of $1.577 billion and $1.392 billion, expenses of $1.522 billion and $1.358 billion, and margins before
depreciation of $55 million and $35 million in 2006 and 2005, respectively. The net margin increase in 2007 and
2006 is primarily due to an increase in volumes and prices related to oil and natural gas marketing sales.

Service Operations Revenue and Operating Expenses. Service operations consist of third-party revenue |
and operating expenses related to our leased or owned drilling and oilfield trucking operations. These operations }
have grown as a result of assets and businesses we acquired in 2006 and 2007, Chesapeake recognized $136
million in service operations revenue in 2007 with corresponding service operations expenses of $94 million, for
a net margin before depreciation of $42 million. This compares to revenue of $130 million, expenses of $68
million and a net margin before depreciation of $62 mitlion in 2006. During 2005, service operations revenues
and expenses for third parties were insignificant.

Production Expenses. Production expenses, which include lifting costs and ad valorem taxes, were $640

million in 2007, compared to $490 million and $317 million in 2006 and 2005, respectively. On a

| unit-of-production basis, production expenses were $0.90 per mcfe in 2007 compared to $0.85 and $0.68 per

| mcfe in 2006 and 2003, respectively. The increase in 2007 was primarily due to higher third-party ficld service

| costs, fuel costs and personnel costs. We expect that production expenses per mcfe produced for 2008 will range
from $0.90 to $1.00.

Production Taxes. Production taxes were $216 million in 2007 compared to $176 million in 2006 and
$208 million in 2005. On u unit-of-production basis, production taxes were $0.30 per mefe in 2007 compared to
$0.31 per mcfe in 2006 and $0.44 per mcfe in 2005. In 2006, $2 million was accrued for certain severance tax
claims and was then offset by a subsequent reversal of the cumulative $12 million accrual for such severance tax

l claims as a result of their dismissal. After adjusting for these items, there was an increase of $30 million in
production taxes from 2006 to 2007. The $30 million increase is mostly due to an increase in production of 136
befe.

In general, production taxes are calculated vsing value-based formulas that produce higher per unit costs
when oil and natural gas prices are higher. We expect production taxes for 2008 to range {rom $0.32 to $0.37 per
mefe produced based on a NYMEX price of $76.49 per barrel of cil and natural gas wellhead prices ranging from
$7.40 10 $8.40 per mcf.
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General and Administrative Expense. General and administrative expenses, including stock-based
compensation but excluding internal costs capitalized to our oil and natural gas properties (see Note 11 of notes
to consolidated financial statements). were $243 million in 2007, $139 million in 2006 and $64 million in 2005.
General and administrative expenses were $0.34, 3024 and $0.14 per mcfe for 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. The increase in 2007, 2006 and 2005 was the result of the company’s overall growth as well as cost
and wage inflation. Included in general and administrative expenses is stock-based compensation of $58 million
in 2007, $27 million in 2006 and $15 million in 2005. The increase was mainly due to a higher number of
unvested restricted shares outstanding during 2007 compared to 2006 and 2005. We anticipate that general and
administrative expenses for 2008 will be between $0.33 and $0.37 per mcfe produced, 1ncludmg stock-based

compensation ranging from $0, [0 to $0.12 per mefe produced.

Our stock-based compensation for employees and non-employee directors is in the form of restricted stock.
Prior to 2004, stock-based compensation awards were only in the form of stock options. Employee stock-based
compensation awards generally vest over a period of four or five years. Our non-employee director awards vest
over a period of three years.

Until December 31, 2005, as permitted under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”)
No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, as amended, we accounted for our stock options under the
recognition and measurement provisions of APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued 1o Employees, and
related interpretations. Generally, we recognized no compensation cost on grants of employee and non-employee
director stock options because the exercise price was equal to the market price of our common stock on the date
of grant. Effective January 1, 2006, we implemented the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123(R),
Share-Based Payment, using the modified-prospective transition method. For all unvested options outstanding as
of January 1, 2006, the previously measured but unrecognized compensation expense, based on the fair value at
the original grant date, was recognized in our financial statements over the remaining vesting period. For equity-
based compensation awards granted or modified subsequent to January 1, 2006, compensation expense based on
the fair value on the date of grant or modification is recognized in our financial statements over the vesting
period. In addition, in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Staff Position No. FAS 123(R)-3,
Transition Election Related to Accounting for the Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards, we elected to use
the “short-cut” method to calculate the historical pool of windfall tax benefits. Results for prior periods have not
been restated.

The discussion of stock-based compensation in Note 1 and Note 9 of the notes to consolidated financial
statements included in Item 8 of this report provides additional detail on the accounting for and reporting of our
stock options and restricted stock, as well as the effects of our adoption of SFAS 123(R).

Chesapeake follows the full-cost method of accounting under which all costs associated with property
acquisition, exploration and development activities are capitalized. We capitalize internal costs that can be
directly identified with our acquisition, exploration and development activities and do not include any costs
related to production, general corporate overhead or similar activities. We capitalized $262 million, $161 million
and $102 million of internal costs in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, directly related to our oil and natural gas
property acquisition, exploration and development efforts.

Qil and Natural Gas Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization.  Depreciation, depletion and amortization
of oil and natural gas properties was $1.835 billion, $1.359 billion and $894 million during 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. The average DD&A rate per mcfe, which is a function of capitalized costs. future development
costs, and the related underlying reserves in the periods presented, was $2.57, $2.35 and $1.91 in 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively. The increase in the average rate from $2.35 in 2006 to $2.57 in 2007 is primarily the result of
higher drilling costs, higher costs associated with acquisitions and the recognition of the tax effect of acquisition
costs in excess of tax basis acquired in certain corporate acquisitions. We expect the 2008 DD&A rate to be
between $2.50 and $2.70 per mcefe produced.

45




o

Depreciation and Amortization of Other Assets.  Depreciation and amortization of other assets was $154
| million in 2007, compared to $104 million in 2006 and $51 million in 2005. The average D& A rate per mcfe was
| $0.22, $0.18 and $0.11 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The increases in 2007 and 2006 were primarily the
| result of higher depreciation costs resulting from the acguisition of various gathering facilities, the construction
' of new buildings at our corporate headquarters complex and at various field office locations and additional

information technology equipment and software. In 2006, increases were also attributed to the acquisition of
compression equipment and drilling rigs. The overall increase in 2007 was partially mitigated by various sale/
leaseback transactions throughout 2007 related to certain of our compressors and drilling rigs. Property and
equipment costs are depreciated on a straight-line basis. Buildings are depreciated over 15 to 39 years, gathering
facilities are depreciated over 20 years, drilling rigs are depreciated over 15 vears and all other property and
equipment are depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from two 1o seven years. To
the extent company-owned drilling rigs were used to drill our wells in 2005 and 2006, a substantial portion of the
rig depreciation was capitalized in oil and natural gas properties as exploration or development costs. As a result
of the sale/leaseback of our company-owned rigs, we did not recognize rig depreciation in 2007. We expect 2008
depreciation and amortization of other assets to be between $0.20 and 30.24 per mcfe produced.

Employee Retirement Expense.  Our President and Chief Operating Officer, Tom L. Ward, resigned as a
director. officer and employee of the company effective February 10, 2006. Mr. Ward’s Resignation Agreement
provided for the immediate vesting of all of his unvested cquity awards, which consisted of options to purchase
724,615 shares of Chesapeake’s common stock at an average exercise price of $8.01 per share and 1,291,875
shares of restricted common stock. As a result of this vesting, we incurred an expense of $335 million in 2006.

Interest and Other Income. Interest and other income was $15 million, $26 million and $10 million in
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The 2007 income consisted of $8 million of interest income and $7 million of
miscelluneous income. Income related to equity investments was not significant in 2007. The 2006 income
consisted of $5 million of interest income, $10 million of income related to equity investments, a $5 million gain
on sale of assets and $6 million of miscellaneous income. The 2005 income consisted of $3 million of interest
income, $2 million of income related to equity investment, and $5 million of miscellaneous income..

Interest Expense.  Interest expense increased to $406 million in 2007 Acompared to $301 million in 2006
and $220 million in 2003 as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

- ($ in millions)
Interest expense on senior notes and revolving bank credit facility ............... $ 616 $ 472 § 300

Cupitulized interest .. ........ ... ........ et e e s 269y (179 (79)
Amortization of loan discountand other .. ... ... ... ... ... .. ... 17 7 6
Unrealized (gain) loss on interest rate derivatives .. ............. e 41 (1) (2)
Realized (gain} loss on interest rate derivatives .. .................. ... | 2 (5)

TOtal INTEFESL EXPEIESE « o oot ettt e e et i et e e e e e s $ 406 § 301 §$ 220
Average long-lerm borrowings . ... ... . e $8,224 $6,278 $3,948

Interest expense, excluding unrealized (gains) losses on derivatives and net of amounts capitalized, was
$0.51 per mcfe in 2007 compared to $0.52 per mcfe in 2006 and 30.47 per mcfe in 2005. We expect interest
expense for 2008 to be between $0.50 and $0.55 per mefe produced (before considering the effect of interest rate
derivatives). :

Gain on Sale of Investments. 1o 2007, we sold our 33% limited parinership interest in Eagle Energy
Partners I, L.P., which we first acquired in 2003, for proceeds of $124 million and a gain of $83 million. In 2006,
Chesapeake sold its investment in publicly-traded Pioneer Drilling Company common stock, realizing proceeds
of $159 million and a gain of $117 million. We owned 7% of the common stock of Pioneer, which we began
acquiring in 2003.
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Loss on Repurchases or Exchanges of Chesapeake Senior Notes. In 2005, we repurchased or exchanged
$564 million of Chesapeake debt in order to re-finance a portion of our long-term debt at a lower rate of interest
and recognized a loss of $70 million. No such purchases or exchanges were completed in 2007 or 2006.

Income Tax Expense. Chesapeake recorded income tax expense of $890 million in 2007 compared to
income tax expense of $1.252 billion in 2006 and $545 million in 2005. Of the $362 million decrease in 2007,
$347 million was the result of the decrease in net income before taxes and $15 million was the result of a
decrease in the effective tax rate. Our effective income tax rate was 38% in 2007 compared to 38.5% in 2006 and
36.5% in 2005. Our effective tax rate fluctuates as a result of the impact of state income taxes and permanent
differences between our accounting for certain revenue or expense items and their corresponding treatment for
income tax purposes. We.expect our effective income tax rate to be 38.5% in 2008. Most of the 2007 income tax
expense was deferred and we expect most of our 2008 income tax expense to be deferred.

Loss on Conversion/Exchange of Preferred Siock. Loss on conversion/exchange of preferred stock was
$128 million in 2007 compared to $10 million in 2006 and $26 million in 2005. The loss on the exchanges
represented the excess of the fair value of the common stock issued over the fair value of the securities issuable
pursuant to the original conversion terms. See Note 9 of notes to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8
for further detail regarding these transactions.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

Readers of this report and users of the information contained in it should be aware of how certain events
may impact our financial results based on the accounting policies in place. The four policies we consider to be
the most significant are discussed below. The company’s management has discussed each critical accounting
policy with the Audit Committee of the company’s Board of Directors.

The selection and application of accounting policies is an important process that changes as our business
changes and as accounting rules are developed. Accounting rules generally do not involve a selection among
alternatives, but involve an implementation and interpretation of existing rules and the use of judgment to the
specific set of circumstances existing in our business.

Hedging. Chesapeake uses commodity price and finahcial risk management instruments to mitigate our
exposure to price fluctuations in oil and natural gas, changes in interest rates and changes in foreign exchange
rates. Recognized gains and losses on derivative contracts are reported as a component of the related transaction.
Results of oil and natural gas derivative transactions are reflected in oil and natural gas sales, and results of
interest rate and foreign exchange rate hedging transactions are reflected in interest expense. The changes in the
fair value of derivative instruments not qualifying for designation as either cash flow or fair value hedges that
occur prior to maturity are reported currently in the consolidated statement of operations as unrealized gains
(losses) within oil and natural gas sales or interest expense. Cash flows from derivative instruments are classified
in the sanie category within the statement of cash flows as the items being hedged, or on a basis consistent with
the nature of the instruments.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring that derivative instruments (including certain
derivative instruments embedded in other contracts) be recorded at fair value and included in the consolidated
balance sheet as assets or liabilities, The accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative instrument
depends on the intended use of the derivative and the resuiting designation, which is established at the inception
of a derivative. For derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges, changes in fair value, to the extent the
hedge is effective, are recognized in other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings.
Any change in the fair value resulting from ineffectiveness, as defined by SFAS 133, is recognized immediately
in oil and natural gas sales. For derivative instrumenis designated as fair value hedges (in accordance with SFAS
133), changes in fair value, as well as the offsetting changes in the estimated fair value of the hedged item
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atuributable to the hedged risk, are recognized currently in earnings. Differences between the changes in the fair
values of the hedged item and the derivative instrument, if any, represent gains or losses on ineffectiveness and
are reflected currently in interest expense. Hedge effectiveness is measured at least quarterly based on the
relative changes in fair value between the derivative contract and the hedged item over time. Changes in fair
value of contracts that do not qualify as hedges or are not designated as hedges are also recognized currently in
earnings. See “Hedging Activities” above and Item 7A-—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market
Risk for additional information regarding our hedging activities.

One of the primary factors that can have an impact on our results of operations is the method used to value
our derivatives. We have established the fair value of all derivative instruments using estimates determined by
our counterparties and subsequently confirmed the fair values internally using established index prices and other
sources. These values are based upon, among other things, futures prices, volatility, time to maturity and credit
risk. The values we report in our financial statements change as these estimates are revised to reflect actual
results, changes in market conditions or other factors, many of which are beyond our control.

Another factor that can impact our results of operations each period is our ability to estimate the level of
correlation between future changes in the fair value of the hedge instruments and the transactions being hedged,
both at inception and on an ongoing basis. This correlation is complicated since energy commodity prices, the
primary risk we hedge, have quality and location differences that can be difficult to hedge effectively. The
factors underlying our estimates of fair value and our assessment of correlation of our hedging derivatives are
impacted by actual resuits and changes in conditions that affect these factors, many of which are beyond our
control.

Due to the volatility of oil and natural gas prices and, to a lesser extent, inlerest rates and foreign exchange
rates, the company’s financial condition and results of operations can be significantly impacted by changes in the
market value of our derivative instruments. As of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the net market value of
our derivatives was a liability of $375 million, an asset of $293 million and a liability of $968 million,
respectively. The derivatives that we acquired in our CNR acquisition represented $184 million, $254 million and
$661 million of lability at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Oil and Natural Gas Properties. The accounting for our business is subject to special accounting rules that
are unigue 10 the oil and natural gas industry. There are two allowable methods of accounting for oil and natural
gas business activities: the successful efforts method and the full-cost method. Chesapeake follows the full-cost
method of accounting under which all costs associated with property acquisition, exploration and development
activities are capitalized. We also capitalize internal costs that can be directly identified with our acquisition,
exploration and development activities and do not include any costs related to production, general corporate
overhead or similar activities.

Under the successful efforts method, geological and geophysical costs and costs of carrying and retaining
undeveloped properties are charged to expense as incurred. Costs of drilling exploratory wells that do not result
in proved reserves are charged to expense. Depreciation, depletion, amortization and impairment of oil and
natural gas properties are generally calculated on a well by well or lease or field basis versus the aggregated “full
cost” pool basis. Additionally, gain or loss is generally recognized on all sales of oil and natural gas properties
under the successful efforts method. As a result, our financial statements will differ from companies that apply
the successful efforts method since we will generally reflect a higher level of capitalized costs as well as a higher
oil and natural gas depreciation, depletion and amortization rate, and we will not have exploration expenses that
successful efforts companies frequently have.

Under the full-cost method, capitalized costs are amortized on a composite unit-of-production method based
on proved oil and natural gas reserves. If we maintain the same level of production year over year, the
depreciation, depletion. and amortization expense may be significantly different if our estimate of remaining
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reserves changes significantly. Proceeds from the sale of properties are accounted for as reductions of capitalized
costs unless such sales involve a significant change in the relationship between costs and the value of proved
reserves or the underlying value of unproved properties. in which case a gain or loss is recognized. The costs of
unproved properties are excluded from amortization untif the properties are evaluated. We review all of our
unevaluated properties quarterly to determine whether or not and to what extent proved reserves have been
assigned to the properties, and otherwise il impairment has occurred. Unevaluated properties are grouped by
major producing area where individual property costs are not significant and are assessed individually when
individual costs are significant,

We review the carrying value of our oil and natural gas properties under the full-cost accounting rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission on a quarterly basis. This quarterly review is referred to as a ceiling test.
Under the ceiling test, capitalized costs. less accumulated amortization and related deferred income taxes, may
not exceed an amount equal to the sum of the present value of estimated future net revenues (adjusted for cash
flow hedges) less esttmated future expenditures to be incurred in developing and producing the proved reserves,
less any related income tax effects. In calculating future net revenues, current prices and costs used are those as
of the end of the appropriate quarterly period. Such prices are utilized except where different prices are fixed and
determinable from applicable contracts for the remaining term of those contracts, including the effects of
derivatives qualifying as cash flow hedges. Two primary factors impacting this test are reserve levels and current
prices, and their associated impact on the present value of estimated future net revenues. Revisions to estimates
of natural gas and oil reserves and/or an increase or decrease in prices can have a material impact on the present
value of estimated future net revenues. Any excess of the net book value, tess deferred income taxes, is generally
written off as an expense. Under SEC regulations, the excess above the ceiling is not expensed (or is reduced) if,
subsequent to the end of the period, but prior to the release of the financial statements, oil and natural gas prices
increase sufficiently such that an excess above the ceiling would have been eliminated (or reduced) if the
increased prices were used in the calculations.

The process of estimating natural gas and oi reserves is very complex, requiring significant decisions in the
evaluation of available geological, geophysical, engineering and economic data. The data for a given property
may also change substantially over time as a result of numerous factors, including additional development
activity, evolving production history and a continual reassessment of the viability of production under changing
economic conditions, As a result, material revisions to existing reserve estimates occur from time to time.
Although every reasonable effort is made to ensure that reserve estimates reported represent the most accurate
assessments possible, the subjective decisions and variances in available data for various properties increase the
likelihood of significant changes in these estimates.

As of December 31, 2007, approximately 79% of our proved reserves were evaluated by independent
petroleumn engineers, with the balance evaluated by our internal reservoir engineers. In addition, our internal
engineers review and update our reserves on a quarterly basis. All reserve estimates are prepared based upon a
review of production histories and other geologic, economic, ownership and engineering data we developed.
Additional information about our 2007 year-end reserve evaluation is included under “Oil and Natural Gas
Reserves™ in Item 1—Business.

In addition, the prices of natural gas and oil are volatile and change from period to period. Price changes
directly impact the estimated revenues from our properties and the associated present value of fulure net
revenues. Such changes also impact the economic life of our properties and thereby affect the quantity of
reserves that can be assigned to a property.

Income Taxes. As part of the process of preparing the consolidated financial statements, we are required to
estimate the federal and state income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which Chesapeake operates. This
process involves estimating the actual current tax exposure together with assessing temporary differences
resulting from differing treatment of items, such as derivative instruments, depreciation, depletion and
amortization, and certain accrued liabilities for tax and accounting purposes. These differences and our net
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operating loss carryforwards result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included in our consolidated
balance sheet. We must then assess, using all available positive and negative evidence, the likelihood that the
deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income. If we believe that recovery is not likely, we
must establish a valvation allowance. Generally, to the extent Chesapeake establishes a valuation allowance or
increases or decreases this allowance in a period, we must include an expense or reduction of expense within the
tax provisions in the consolidated statement of operations.

Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, an enterprise
must use judgment in considering the relative impact of negative and positive evidence. The weight given to the
potential effect of negative and positive evidence should be commensurate with the extent 1o which it can be
objectively verified. The more negative evidence that exists (a) the more positive evidence is necessary and
(b) the more difficult it is to support a conclusion that a valuation allowance is not needed for some portion or all
of the deferred tax asset. Among the more significant types of evidence that we consider are:

* taxable income projections in future years,
» whether the carryforward period is so brief that it would limit realization of tax benefits,

* future sales and operating cost projections that will produce more than enough taxable income to
realize the deferred tax asset based on existing sales prices and cost structures, and

« our earnings history exclusive of the loss that created the future deductible amount coupled with
evidence indicating that the foss is an aberration rather than a continuing condition.

If (a) natural gas and oil prices were to decrease significantly below present levels (and if such decreases
were considered other than temporary), (b) exploration, drilling and operating costs were Lo increase significantly
beyond current levels, or {¢) we were confronted with any other significantly negative evidence pertaining to our
ability to realize our NOL carryforwards prior to their expiration, we may be required to provide a vzluation
allowance against our deferred tax assets. As of December 31, 2007, we had deferred tax assets of $409 million.

FASB Interpretation (FIN) No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an Interpretation of FASB
Starement No. 109, provides guidance for recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions, as defined in SFAS
No. 109, Accounting for income Taxes. FIN 48 prescribes a threshold condition that a tax position must meet for
any of the benefit of the uncertain tax position to be recognized in the financial statements. Guidance is also
provided regarding de-recognition, classification and disclosure of these uncertain tax positions, Based on this
guidance, we regularly analyze tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return based on the threshold
condition prescribed under FIN 48. Tax positions that do not meet or exceed this threshold condition are
considered uncertain tax positions. We accrue interest related to these uncertain tax positions which is recognized
in interest expense. Penalties, if any, related to uncertain tax positions would be recorded in other expenses.
Additional information about uncertain tax positions appears in “Income Taxes” Item 1-Business.

Accounting for Business Combinations. Our business has grown substantially through acquisitions and our
business strategy is (o continue to pursue acquisitions as opportunities arise. We have accounted for all of our
business combinations using the purchase method., which is the only method permitted under SFAS 141,
Accounting for Business Combinations. The accounting for business combinations is complicated and involves
the use of significant judgment.

Under the purchase method of accounting, a business combination is accounted for at its purchase price
based upon the fair value of the consideration given. whether in the form of cash, assets. stock or the assumption
of liabilities. The assets and liabilities acquired are measured at their fair values, and the purchase price is
allocated to the assets and liabilities based upon these fair values. The excess of the cost of an acquired entity, if
any, over the net of the amounts assigned to assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recognized as goodwill,
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The excess of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed over the cost of an acquired entity, if any,
is allocated as a pro rata reduction of the amounts that otherwise would have been assigned 1o certain acquired
assets.

Determining the fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired involves the use of judgment, since some of
the assets and liabilities acquired do not have fair values that are readily determinable. Different techniques may
be uwsed to determine fair values, including market prices, where available, appraisals, comparisons to
transactions for similar assets and liabilities and present value of estimated future cash flows, among others.
Since these estimates involve the use of significant judgment, they can change as new information becomes
available.

We believe that the consideration we have paid for our oil and natural gas property acquisitions has
represented the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired at the time of purchase. Consequently, we have not
recognized any goodwill from any of our oil and natural gas property acquisitions, nor do we expect to recognize
goodwill from similar business combinations that we may complete in the future.

Disclosures About Effects of Transactions with Related Parties

As of December 31, 2007, we had accrued accounts receivable from our CEQ, Aubrey K. McClendon, of
$18 million representing joint interest billings from December 2007 which were invoiced and timely paid in
January 2008. Since Chesapeake was founded in 1989, Mr. McClendon has acquired working interests in
virtually all of our oil and natural gas properties by participating in our drilling activities under the terms of the
Founder Well Participation Program (“FWPP”) described below. Joint interest billings to him are settled in cash
immediately upon delivery of a monthly joint interest billing.

Under the FWPP, approved by our shareholders in June 2005, Mr. McClendon (and our co-founder and
former COQ, Tom L. Ward, prior to August 10, 2006) may elect to participate in all or none of the wells drilled
by or on behalf of Chesapeake during a calendar year, but he is not allowed to participate only in selected wells.
A participation election is required to be received by the Compensation Committee of Chesapeake’s Board of
Directors not less than 30 days prior to the start of each calendar vear. His participation is permitted only under
the terms outlined in the Founder Well Participation Program, which, among other things, limits his individual
participation to a maximum working interest of 2.5% in a well and prohibits participation in situations where
Chesapeake’s working interest would be reduced below 12.5% as a result of his participation. In addition, the
company is reimbursed for costs associated with leasehold acquired by Mr. McClendon as a result of his well
participation. Mr. Ward’s participation in the Founder Well Participation Program terminated on August 10,
2006.

As disclosed in Note 8, in 2007, Chesapeake had revenues of $1.1 billion from oil and natural gas sales to
Eagle Energy Partners I, L.P.. a former affiliated entity. We sold our 33% limited partnership interest in Eagle
Energy in June 2007.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) recently issued the following standards which were
reviewed by Chesapeake to determine the potential impact on our financial statements upon adoption.

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments—
an amendment of FASB Statements No. 133 and 140. SFAS 155 permits an entity to measure at fair value any
financial instrument that contains an embedded derivative that otherwise would require bifurcation, This
statement is effective for all financial insiraments we acquire or issue after December 31, 2006. Adoption of
SFAS 155 did not have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. This statement defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), and
expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This statement is effective for financial statements issued for
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. However, on February 12, 2008, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS
157-2, Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157 which delays the effective date of SFAS 157 for all
nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in
the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annuatly). This FSP partially defers the effective date of
SFAS 157 to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal years for
items within the scope of the FSP. We are currenily assessing the impact, if any, the adoption of this statement
will have on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows,

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities. This statement permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain
other items at fair value. This statement expands the use of fair value measurement and applies to entities that
elect the fair value option. The fair value option established by this statement permits all entities to choose to
measure eligible items at fair value at specified election dates. This statement is effective as of the beginning of
the first fiscal year that begins after November 15, 2007. We are currently assessing the impact, if any, the
adoption of this statement will have on our {inancial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In November 2007, the FASB issued its preliminary views on financial instruments with characteristics of
equity as a step preceding the development of a proposed Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, Such a
standard would affect accounting for convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon conversion,
including partial cash settlements. This accounting could increase the amount of interest expense required to be
recognized with respect to such instruments and, thus, lower reported net income and net income per share of
issuers of such instruments. Issuers would have to account for the liability and equity components of the
instrument separately and in a manner that reflects interest expense at the interest rate of similar nonconvertible
debt. We have two debt series that would be affected by such a standard, our 2.75% Contingent Convertible
Senior Notes due 2035 and our 2.5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2037. If the FASB adopts the
statement. it is expected to be effective for fiscal years starting after December 15, 2007. Companies would have
to apply the statement retrospectively to both existing and new instruments that fall within the scope of the
guidance.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements, an amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 5. This statement requires an entity to
separately disclose non-controlling interests as a separate component of equity in the balance sheet and clearly
identify on the face of the income statement net income related to non-controlling interests. This statement is
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December {5, 2008. We are currently
assessing the impact, if any, the adoption of this statement will have on our financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R}, Business Combinations. This statement requires
assets acquired and liabilities assumed to be measured at fair value as of the acquisition date, acquisition-retated
costs incurred prior to the acquisition to be expensed and contractual contingencies to be recognized at fair value
as of the acquisition date. This statement is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2008. We are currently assessing the impact, if any, the adoption of this statement will have
on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Forward-Looking Statements

This report includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act
of 1933 and Section 21E of the Sccuritics Exchange Act of 1934, Forward-looking statements give our current
expectations or forecasts of future events, They include statements regarding oil and natural gas reserve
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estimates, planned capital expenditures, the drilling of oil and natural gas wells and future acquisitions, expected
oil and natural- gas production, cash flow and anticipated liquidity, business strategy and other plans and
objectives for future operations and expected future expenses. Statements concerning the fair values of derivative
contracts and their estimated contribution to our future results of operations are based upon market information
as of a specific date. These market prices are subject to significant volatility.

Although we believe the expectations and forecasts reflected in these and other forward-looking statements
are reasonable, we can give no assurance they will prove to have been correct. They can be affected by inaccurate
assumptions or by known or unknown risks and uncertainties. Factors that could cause actual results to differ
materially from expected results are described under “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this report and include:

» the volatility of oil and natural gas prices,

+ our level of indebtedness,

*» the strength and financial resources of our competitors,

» the availability of capital on an economic basis to fund reserve replacement costs,
* our ability to replace reserves and sustain production,

* uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of oil and natural gas reserves and projecting future rates
of production and the timing of development expenditures,

+» uncertainties in evaluating oil and natural gas reserves of acquired properties and associated potential
liabilities, '

= inability to effectively integrate and operate acquired companies and properties,
-+ unsuccessful exploration and development drilling,
» declines in the value of our oil and natural gas properties resulting in ceiling test write-downs,

= lower prices realized on oil and natural gas sales and collateral required to secure hedging liabilities
resulting from our commodity price risk management activities,

= the negative effect lower oil and natural gas prices could have on our ability to borrow,
» drilling and operating risks,
» adverse effects of governmental and environmental regulation, and
« losses possible from pending or future litigation.
We éaution you not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the
date of this report, and we undertake no obligation to update this information. We urge you to carefully review

and consider the disclosures made in this report and our other filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission that attempt to advise interested parties of the risks and factors that may affect our business.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Oit and Natural Gas Hedging Activities

Our results of operations and operating cash flows are impacted by changes in market prices for oil and
natural gas. To mitigate a portion of the exposure to adverse market changes, we have entered into various
derivative instruments. As of December 31, 2007, our oil and natural gas derivative instruments were comprised
of swaps, basis protection swaps, knockout swaps, cap-swaps, call options and collars. These instruments allow
us to predici with greater certainty the effective oil and natural gas prices to be received for our hedged
production. Although derivatives often fail to achieve 100% effectiveness for accounting purposes, we believe
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our derivative instruments continue to be highly effective in achieving the risk management cobjectives for which
they were intended. -

+  For swap instruments, Chesapeake receives a fixed price for the hedged cbr'nmodity and pays a floating
market price to the counterparty. The fixed-price payment and the ﬂoatmg prlce paymem are netted,
resulting in a net amount due to or from the counterparty,

» Basis protection swaps are arrangements, that guarantee & price differential for oil or natural gas from a
specified delivery point. For Mid-Continent basis protection swaps, which have negative differentials
to NYMEX, Chesapeake receives a payment from the counterparty if the price differential is greater
than the stated terms of the contract and pays the counterparty if the price differential is less than the
stated terms of the contract. For Appalachian Basin basis protection swaps, which have positive
differentials to NYMEX, Chesapeake receives a payment from the counterparty if the price differential
is less than the stated terms of the contract and pays the counterparty if the price differential is greater
than the stated terms of the contract.

* For knockout swaps, Chesapeake receives a fixed price and pays a floating market price. The fixed
price received by Chesapeake includes a premium in exchange for the possibility to reduce the
counterparty’s exposure (o Zero, in any given month |f the floating market price is lower than certain
pre-determined knockout prices.

* For cap-swaps, Chesapeake receives a fixed price and pays a floating market price. The fixed price
received by Chesapeake includes a premium in exchange for a “cap” limiting the counterparty’s
exposure, In other words, there is no limit to Chesapeake’s exposure but there is a limit to the downside
exposure of the counterparty.

= For call options, Chesapeake receives a premium from the counterparty in exchange for the sale of a
call option. If the market price exceeds the fixed price of the call option, Chesapeake pays the
counterparty such excess. If the market price settles below the fixed price of the call -option, no
payment is due from Chesapeake.

* Collars contain a fixed floor price (put) and ceiling pnce (c,all) If the market price exceeds the call
strike price or falls below the put strike price, Chesapeake receives the fixed price and pays the market
price. If the market price is between the call and the put strike price, no payments are due from either

party.

Chesapeake enters into counter-swaps from time to time for the purpose of locking-in the value of a swap.
Under the counter-swap, Chesapeake receives a floating price for the hedged commodity and pays a fixed price
to the counterparty. The counter-swap is 100% effective in locking-in the value of a swap since subsequent
changes in the market value of the swap are entirely offset by subsequent changes.in the market value of the
counter-swap. We refer to this locked-in value as a locked swap. Generally, at the time Chesapeake enters into a
counter-swap, Chesapeake removes the original swap’s designation as a cash flow hedge and classifies the
original swap as a non-qualifying hedge under SFAS 133. The reason for this new designation is that collectively
the swap and the counter-swap no longer hedge the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows. Instead,
the swap and counter-swap effectively lock-in a specific gain {or loss) that will be unaffected by subsequent
variability in oil and natural gas prices. Any locked-in gain or loss is recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income and reclassified to oil and natural gas sales in the month of related production.

With respect to counter-swaps that are designed to lock-in the value of cap-swaps, the counter-swap is
effective in locking-in the value of the cap-swap until the floating price reaches the cap (or floor) stipulated in the
cap-swap agreement. The value of the counter-swap will increase {or decrease), but in the opposite direction, as
the value of the cap-swap decreases (or increases) until the floating price reaches the pre-determined cap (or
floor) stipulated in the cap-swap agreement. However, because of the written put option embedded in the
cap-swap, the changes in value of the cap-swap are not completely effective in offsetting changes in value of the
corresponding counter-swap. Changes in the value of cap-swaps and counter-swaps are recorded as adJubtmenls
to oil and natural gas sales. .
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In accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 39, to the extent that a legal right of set-off exists, Chesapeake nets
the value of its derivative arrangements with the same counterparty in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Gains or losses from certain derivative transactions are reflected as adjustments to oil and natural gas sales on the
consolidated statements of operations. Realized gains (losses) are included in oil and natural gas sales in the month of
related production. Pursuant to SFAS 133, certain derivatives do not qualify for designation as cash flow hedges.
Changes in the fair value of these non-qualifying derivatives that occur prior to their maturity (i.e., temporary
fluctuations in value) are reported currently in the consolidated statements of operations as unrealized gains (losses)
within oil and natural gas sales. Following provisions of SFAS 133, changes in the fair value of derivative instruments
designated as cash flow hedges, to the extent they are effective in offsetting cash flows attributable to the hedged risk,
are recorded in other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings. Any change in fair value
resulting from ineffectiveness is recognized currently in oil and natural gas sales as unrealized gains (losses). The
components of oil and natural gas sales for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 are presented below.

Ycars Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(% in millions)
Oiland patural gas sales .. ... ... .. ... oot $4,795  $3,870 $3,633
Realized gains on oil and natural gas derivatives .................. 1,203 1,254 {401)
‘Unrealized gains (losses) on non-qualifying oil and natural gas
QerivativeES . e (252) 184 117
Unrealized gains (losses) on ineffectiveness of cash flow hedges . .. ... (122) 311 (76)
Total oil and natural gassales . ..............covuneinnnnnnnn $5,624  $5,619  $3,273
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As of December 31, 2007, we had the following open oil and natural gas derivative instruments (excluding
derivatives assumed through our acquisition of CNR in November 2005} designed to hedge a portion of our oil
and natural gas production for periods after December 2007:

Natural Gas (bbtu):
Swaps: ]
1Q2008 .................

Basis Protection Swaps (Mid-
Continent):
1Q2008 ... ... ........

Basis Protection Swaps
{Appalachian Basin):

Q2008 ...l

WQ2008 ..o,

1Q2008 ..o ..

Fair
Weighted Weighted Value at
Average Fixed Weighted Average Net December 31,
Price to be Average Call Weighted Premiums 2007
Received Put Fixed Average SFAS 133 ($in ($in
Volume - (Paid) Fixed Price  Price  Differential Hedge millions) millions)
110.665 $ 8.5¢6 5 — 5 — § — Yes — $118
57425 (793 — — — Yes — 18
56,133 8.06 - — — Yes I
53,770 8.62 —_ —_ —_ Yes — 14
57.062 8.22 -— — — Yes —_ {17
10,199 7.86 — — — Yes — N
148 7.65 — — — Yes — —
33,215 — — — {0.30) No — 20
26.845 — — — {0.25) No -— 24
27.140 — — — {0.25) No _ 20
31410 _— — (0.28) No — 30
86.600 — — — (0.29) No — 58
10,700 — — — (0.34) No — 2
5,622 — — — 0.32 No —_— (n
5,783 — —_ 0.33 No —_ —
5,763 _ 0.33 No - —_
5,840 — — 0.33 No — —_
16,912 — — — 0.28 No — (B
10,199 — — — 0.26 No —_ i
12,086 — — —_ 0.25 No —_ (1)
134 — — — 0.1 No _ -
6,370 $ 7.89 § — § — 5 — No 5— $ 3
6,030 8.47 — — — No — 5
4,600 8.73 — — — No — 4
4,600 8.73 — — . No —_ 2
22,750 8.73 —_ _ — No — (14)
18,250 8.73 - _ e No —_ (16}
8,190 10.83 5.94 _ — No —_ 27
60,380 9.15 6.21 —_ — No —_ 52
62,560 9.32 6.21 — —_ No — 28
55,240 9.91 6.20 — — No — 19
152,350 Q.33 613 — — No — {18)
9.600 — — 10.27 — No 16 —
31,850 — — 10.25 — No 20 (4)
32200 — — 10.25 — No 21 (11)]
30.980 — — 10.26 — No 20 (21)
119,500 — — 11.12 — No 73 {65)
83,950 — — 10.00 — No 56 (69)
65,700 —_ — 10.11 — No 46 {55)
7.320 —_— —_ 11.00 — No 3 (5)
7.590 7.32 9.17 — Yes — 2
2,730 _— 7.50 9.68 — Yes —_ 1
2,760 — 7.50 9.68 — Yes — 1
2,760 — 7.50 9.68 — Yes — —
10,920 —_— 7.40/5.46 9.35 — No 4
27,375 — 7.97/5.83 11,18 — No (8) 5
247 163

56




Fair

Weighted Weighted " Value at
-Average Fixed Weighted Averape . . Net December 31,
Price to be Average Call Weighted - Premiums 2007
Received Put Fixed Average  SFAS 133 ($in ($in
Vaolume (Paid) Fixed Price  Price Differential Hedge  millions) millions)
0il (mbbls):
Swaps: ’
1Q2008 ................. 1,152 7032 — — — Yes — 29
202008 .. ... .. 1,183 70.25 — — — Yes — (28)
3Q2008 ...l 1,196 69.94 — — — Yes — (26)
4Q2008 ... 828 69.47 — — — Yes — (17
2009 .. 548 61.77 — — — Yes — (1)
Knockout Swaps .
Q2008 ................. 546 74.97 53.58 —_ —_ No — (11)
202008 ... e 546 75.16 33.58 - -— No — {10)
Q2008 ... 552 75.29 53.58 —_ — No — {1
4Q2008 ... 736 76.69 55.19 —_ —_ No — {11
009 ... 7,483 82.62 58.12 -— — No — {63)
2000 ... L 3.650 86.25 60.00 — — No -— (200
Cap-Swaps
1Q2008 ................. 273 T71.60 55.00 — — Ne — (5)
202008 ... o, 273 T71.60 55.00 — — No — (4)
32008 ...l 276 71.60 55.00 — — No — 4)
4Q2008 ... 276 T1.60 55.00 — — No — (4)
Call Options: .
1Q2008 ................. 455 — — — 81.00 No 1 n
Q208 ... 637 — — — 83.57 No 2 &)
3Q2008 ... 644 — — — 8157 No 2 (&)
4Q2008 ... ... 828 — — — 81.67 No 3 an
2009 ...l 2,190 — - B 75.00 No i2 (35)
2000 ..o 1,825 — — — 75.00 No 9 27
Total Ol ............. .. 29 (348)
Total Natural Gas and
Oid ................... $276 $(185)

{a) These include options to extend an existing swap for an additional 12 months at, 50,000 mmbtu/day at
$8.73/mmbtu. The options are callable by the counterparty in March 2009 and March 2010.

In 2006 and 2007, Chesapeake lifted or assigned a portion of its 2008 through 2022 hedges and has
approximately $215 million of deferred hedging gains as of December 31, 2007. These gains have been recorded
in accumulated other comprehensive income or as an unrealized gain in oil and natural gas sales. For amounts
originally recorded in other comprehensive income, the gain will be recognized in oil and natural gas sales in the
month of the hedged production,

We assumed certain liabilities related to open derivative positions in connection with our acquisition of
Columbia Natural Resources, LLC in November 2005. In accordance with SFAS 141, these derivative positicns
were recorded at fair value in the purchase price allocation as a liability of $592 million. The recognition of the
derivative liability and other assumed liabilities resulted in an increase in the total purchase price which was
allocated to the assets acquired. Because of this accounting treatment, only cash settlements for changes in fair
value subsequent to the acquisition date for the derivative positions assumed result in adjustments to our oil and
natural gas revenues upon settlement. For example, if the fair value of the derivative positions assumed does not
change, then upon the sale of the underlying production and corresponding settlement of the derivative positions,
cash would be paid to the counterparties and there would be no adjustment 10 oil and natural gas revenues related
to the derivative positions. If, however, the actual sales price is different from the price assumed in the original
fair value calculation, the difference would be reflected as either a-decrease or increase in oil and natural gas
revenues, depending upon whether the sales price was higher or lower, respectively, than the prices assumed in
the original fair value calculation. For accounting purposes, the net effect of these acquired hedges is that we
hedged the production volumes at market prices on the date of our acquisition of CNR.
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Pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 149, Amendment of SFAS 133 on Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities, the derivative insiruments assumed in connection with the CNR acquisition
are deemed to contain a significant financing element and all cash flows associated with these positions are
reported as financing activity in the statement of cash flows for the periods in which settlement occurs.

The following details the assumed CNR derivatives remaining as of December 31, 2007:

Weighted Fair
Average Weighted Weighted Value at
Fixed Average Average December 31, |
Price to be Put Call 2007
Received Fixed Fixed SFAS 133 $in “
VYolume {Paid) Price Price Hedge millions) ‘
Natural Gas (bbtu):
Swaps:
1Q2008 ... i 9,555 $4.68 $— 5— Yes $ (29)
2Q2008 .. ... 9,555 4.68 — — Yes (28)
302008 ..o 9,660  4.68 — — Yes (30)
4Q2008 ... 9,660 4.66 — — Yes (35)
2000 ... 18,250 5.18 — —_ Yes &h
| Collars:
2009 ... 3,650 — 4.50 6.00 Yes (9)
. Total Natural Gas . ........ $(184)

We have established the fair value of all derivative instruments using estimates of fair value reported by our
counterparties and subsequently evaluated internally using established index prices and other sources. The actual
contribution to our future results of operations will be based on the market prices at the time of settlement and
may be more or less than the fair value estimates used at December 31, 2007.

Based upon the market prices at December 31, 2007, we expect to transfer approximately $127 million (net
of income taxes) of the gain inciuded in the balance in accumulated other comprehensive income to ecarnings
during the next 12 months in the related month of production. All transactions hedged as of December 31, 2007
are expected to mature by December 31, 2022,

Additional information concerning the fair value of our oit and natural gas derivative instruments, including
CNR derivatives assumed, is as follows:

December 31,

2007 2006 2005
($ in millions)

Fair value of contracts outstanding, as of January 1 ................ $ 345 $ (946) $ 38
Change in fair value of contracts ...... ... ... . ... ... ... 972 3,423 {771) |
Fair value of contracts whenenteredinto ........................ (295) 32y (614
Contracts realized orotherwise settled . ......................... (1,203 (1,254) 401
Fair value of contracts whenclosed ............................ (188) (846) - ‘
Fair value of contracts outstanding, as of December 31 ............. $ 369 § 345 $(946)

The change in the fair value of our derivative instruments since January I, 2007 resulted from new contracts
entered into, the settlement of derivatives for a realized gain, as well as an increase in natural gas prices.
Derivative instraments reflected as current in the consolidated balance sheet represent the estimated fair value of
derivative instrument settlements scheduled to occur over the subsequent twelve-month period based on market
prices for oil and natural gas as of the consolidated balance sheet date. The derivative settlernent amounts are not
due and payable until the month in which the related underlying hedged wransaction occurs.

58



Interest Rate Risk

The table below presents principal cash flows and related weighted average interest rates by expected
maturity dates, As of December 31, 2007, the fair value of the fixed-rate long-term debt has been estimated based
on queted market prices,

Years of Maturity
2008 2000 2010 2011 2012 Thereafter Total Fair Value

($ in billions)
Liabilities:
Long-term debt—fixed-rate (a} .... $— $— $— 3$— § — $9.050 $9.050 $9.179
Average interestrate ............ — — — —_ — 5.8% 58% 58%
Long-term debt—variable rate . . . . . 5— $— $5— $— 51950 § —  $1.950 $1.950
Average interestrate ............ — — — — 5.8% — 5.8% 5.8%

(a) This amount does not include the discount included in long-term debt of ($105) million and the impact of
interest rate derivatives of $35 million.

Changes in interest rates affect the amount of interest we earn on our cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments and the interest rate we pay on borrowings under our revolving bank credit facility. All of our other
long-term indebtedness is fixed rate and, therefore, does not expose us to the risk of earnings or cash flow loss
due 1o changes in market interest rates. However, changes in interest rates do affect the fair value of our debt.

Interest Rate Derivatives

We use interest rate derivatives to mitigate our exposure to the volatility in interest rates. For interest rate
derivative instruments designated as fair value hedges (in accordance with SFAS 133), changes in fair value are
recorded on the consolidated balance sheets as assets (liabilities), and the debt’s carrying value amount is
adjusted by the change in the fair value of the debt subsequent to the initiation of the derivative. Changes in the
fair value of derivative instruments not qualifying as fair value hedges are recorded currently as adjustments to
interest expense.

Gains or losses from derivative transactions are reflected as adjustments to interest expense in the
consolidated statements of operations. Realized gains (losses) included in interest expense were ($1) million, ($2)
million and $5 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Pursuant to SFAS 133, certain derivatives do not
qualify for designation as fair value hedges. Changes in the fair value of these non-qualifying derivatives that
occur prior to their maturity (i.e., temporary fluctuations in value) are reported currently in the consolidated
statements of operations as unrealized gains (losses) within interest expense. Unrealized gains (losses) included
in interest expense were ($40) million, $2 million and $2 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.




As of December 31, 2007, the following derivatives were outstanding:

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Notional Average Average Average Fair Net Fair
Amount Fixed Floating Cap/Floor  Value Premiums Value
($ in millions)  Rate Rate Rate Hedge ($ in millions) ($ in miltions)
Fixed to Floating Swaps:
July 2005 - January 2018 ... .. $1.500 6.750% 6 month LIBOR — Yes §— $28
. plus 164 basis points

September 2004 — July 2013 ... § 325 7.942% 6 month LIBOR — No — 9

plus 297 basis points
Floating to Fixed Swaps:

August 2007 — July 2010 .. .. .. 3 750 4.803% 3 month LIBOR - No - (14)
Call Options:
August 2007 — February .
2008 ... $ 750 6.875% — — No 6 {32)
Collars:
August 2007 — August 2010 ., $1.075 — — 537%-432% No — (20)
5 6 5(29)

In 2007, we sold call options on six of our interest rate swaps and received $11 million in premiums. Two of
the options expired unexercised in 2007,

In 2007, we closed ten interest rate swaps for a gain totaling $18 million. These interest rate swaps were
designated as fair value hedges, and the settlement amounts received will be amortized as a reduction to realized
interest expense over the remaining term of the related senior notes.

Foreign Currency Derivatives

On December 6, 2006, we issued €600 million of 6.25% Euro-denominated Senior Notes due 2017, Concurrent
with the issuance of the Euro-denominated senior notes, we entered into a cross currency swap to mitigate our
exposure to fluctuations in the euro relative to the dollar over the term of the notes. Under the terms of the cross
currency swap, on each semi-annual interest payment date, the counterparties will pay Chesapeake €19 million and
Chesapeake will pay the counterparties $30 million, which will yield an annual dollar-equivalent interest rate of
7.491%. Upon maturity of the notes, the counterparties will pay Chesapeake €600 million and Chesapeake will pay the
counterparties $800 million. The terms of the cross currency swap were based on the dollarfeuro exchange rate on the
issuance date of $1.3325 to €1.00. Through the cross cutrency swap, we have eliminated any potential variability in
Chesapeake’s expected cash flows related to changes in foreign exchange rates and therefore the swap qualifies as a
cash flow hedge under SFAS 133. The euro-denominated debt is recorded in notes payable (3876 million at
December 31, 2007) using an exchange rate of $1.4603 to €1.00. The fair value of the cross currency swap is recorded
on the consolidated balance sheet as an asset of $23 million at December 31, 2007. The translation adjustment to notes
payable is completely offset by the fair value of the cross currency swap and therefore there is no impact to the
consolidated statement of operations. The remaining value of the cross currency swap related to future interest
payments is reported in other comprehensive income,
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

It is the responsibility of the management of Chesapeake Energy Corporation to establish and maintain
adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934). Management utilized the Commitiee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission’s
Internal Control—Integrated Framework (COSO framework) in conducting the required assessment of
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Management has performed an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting and has determined the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as
of December 31, 2007,

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, has
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in

their report which appears herein.

Aubrey K. McClendon
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Marcus C. Rowland
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Chesapeake Energy Corporation:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Chesapeake Energy Corporation and its
subsidiaries at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007 in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in
the accompanying index presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in
conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in
all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria
established in Internal Contrel—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements,
for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting appearing in Item 8. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements and on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in
accordance’ with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinions. ’

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii}-provide reasonable
assurance that transactjons are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements m accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition. use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also. projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions. or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Tulsa, QOklahoma

February 29, 2008
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cashand cashequivalents .. ........ ... o i
Accounts receivable ... e
Short-term derivative INSITUMEDIS . . . ..ottt e et ettt et ia e
Deferred INCOME [aXES . . . o v vt r e e e et e et e e e e e e e e
IVENIOTY .. e e
18 11 7<) o PP

T Total Curment ASSEES ..ot vi ittt it e e

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:
Oil and natural gas properties, at cost based on full-cost accounting:
Evaluated oii and natural gas properties .......... ... ... ... ... .. ..o ...
Unevaluated properties .. ... ......oueiine i
Less: accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization of oil and natural gas
PEOPEILIES L vttt et e e e e et e e

Total oil and natural gas properties, at cost based on full-cost accounting . . .
Other property and equipment:

Natural gas gathering systems and treating plants ..................... .. ...
Buildingsandland ................. ... e e
Drilling rigs and eqUIPIENT ...ttt e i e
Natural gas COMPressors . ...... ..ttt
101 17 L

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization of other property and
EUUIPITIENT .+ . vttt et et e e e e e e e i

Total Other Property and Equipment ....... ... .. .. 0.
Total Property and Equipment . ........... .. ... . .. o ...

OTHER ASSETS:
o0 14171 -
Long-term derivalive inStIUments . .. ...... ... it iiuin e
L1 T o T 1 PP

Total Other ASSelS . ..t ittt e i e e
TOTAL ASSE TS .o e e e e e e e e
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December 31,

2007

2006

($ in millions)

$ 13 3

1,074 845

203 225

1 -

87 58

30 23

1,396 1,154

27,656 21,949

5,641 3,797
7,112y (5,292)

26,185 20,454

1,135 552

816 429

106 301

63 127

327 241
(295) (200)

2,152 1,450

28,337 21,904

612 699

339

385 321

1,001 1,359

$30,734 $24.417




CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS—(Continued)

December 31,
2007 2006
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY ($ in millions)
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable ... ... e 51262 & 860
Short-term derivative insStrumMents . . . ... .ttt e 174 112
Accrued Babilities ... ... . 717 419
Deferred inCOme taXes . . . ..ot e e e s -— 39
Revenues and royalties due others ... ... ... .. ... ... o i 433 318
Accrued INTEFESE . . . . .. 175 142
Total Current Liabilittes ... ... .o e 2,761 1,890
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:
Long-termdebt, et . . .. ... . e e 10,950 7,376
Deferred income tax labilities . ... ... .. e 3,966 3,317
Asset retirement obligations ......... ... ... il 236 193
Long-term derivative instrill@NS .. ... ..o i e 408 160
Revenues and royalties dueothers .. ....... ... ... .. ... i, 42 30
Other Hablities . .. ..o it et e e e e e 241 200
Total Long-Term Liabilities ............. ... i iiiiieiinninna.. 15,843 11,276

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS (Note 4)
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Preferred Stock, $.01 par value, 20,000,000 shares authorized:
4.125% cumulative convertible preferred stock, 3,062 and 3,065 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, entitled in

liqguidationto $3 million ... ... ... . .. . . 3 3
5.00% cumulative convertible preferred stock {Series 2005), 5,000 shares and
4,600,000 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2007 and 2006,
entitled in liquidation to $1 million and $460 million ..................... i 460
4.509% cumulative convertible preferred stock, 3,450,000 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, entitled in liquidation to $345
M ON L e 345 345
5.00% cumulative convertible preferred stock (Series 2005B) 5,750,000 shares
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, entitled in
liguidation to $375 million . ... ... ... . . 575 575
6.25% mandatory convertible preferred stock, 143,768 and 2,300,000 shares
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively,
entitled in liquidation to $36 million and $575 million ................. ... 36 575
Common Stock, $.01 par value, 750,000,000 shares authorized, 511,648,217 and
458,600,789 shares issued December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively ............ 5 .5
Paid-in capital ... ... .. .. e 7.032 5,873
Retained earnings . ... .. ... .. oo 4,150 2,913
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax of $6 million and ($319)
million, respectively . ... . . e (in 528
Less: treasury stock, at cost; 500,821 and 1,167,007 common shares as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively . ... . . oo iiini i (6) (26)
Total Stockholders” Equity . ... ... . . . i 12,130 11,251
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY ....... e $30,734 $24,417

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
($ in millions, except per share data)
REVENUES:
Oil and natural gassales ............ .. ..o i $ 5,624 '$5619  $3.273
Qil and natural gas marketing sales ......... ... ... .. i 2,040 1,577 1,392
Service Operations FeVENMUE .. .. ...ttt iaa i nns 136 130 —
Total ReVeNUES . .. .ot ittt e 7.800 7,326 4,665
OPERATING COSTS:
Production eXPenSES .. ...t et 640 490 317
ProduCtion TAXES . ..ottt et et e 216 176 208
General and administrative eXpenses . .. ... ... it ans 243 139 64
Qil and natural gas markeling eXpenses . ........eeiiiiriiiieaaaans 1,969 1,522 1,358
Service Operations €XPENSE .. ... i s 94 68 —
Qil and natural gas depreciation, depletion and amortization . ... ........ 1,835 1,359 894
Deprectation and amortization of otherassets . ....................... 154 104 51
Employee retirement eXpense . ............ v i — 55 —
Total Operating COStS .. ... vvv e 5,151 3,913 2,892
INCOME FROM OPERATIONS ... ... ... ... ... .. ... . ... 2,649 3413 1,773
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):
Interest and other inCOME .. ... ...ttt e e e 15 26 10
INLETEST BXPEISE . ittt ettt (406) (301) (220)
Gainonsaleofinvestment . . ... ... .. . .. i e 83 117 —
Loss on repurchases or exchanges of Chesapeake senior notes ,......... — — 1Y)
Total Other Income (EXpense) . ... .. ..o . (308) (158) (280)
INCOME BEFOREINCOME TAXES ..... ... ... .. ..ot 2,341 3,255 1,493
INCOME TAX EXPENSE:
01T 1<) 1| 29 5 —
Deferred .. ..ot e 861 1,247 545
Totat Income Tax Expense ............ ... ... i it 890 1,252 545
NETINCOME ... .. . .. e i ees 1,451 2,003 048
PREFERRED STOCKDIVIDENDS . ..., ... .. ... ... ... . .. ... (94) (89) (42)
LOSS ON CONVERSION/EXCHANGE OF PREFERRED STOCK .. . ... {128) (10) (26)
NET INCOME AVAILABLE TO COMMON SHAREHOLDERS . ... ... 51229 31904 § B8O
EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE:
BaSIC L .ot $ 269 $478 3273
Assuming dilution . ... $ 262 $435 § 251
CASH DIVIDEND DECLARED PER COMMON SHARE .............. $0.2625 $ 023 $0.195
WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON AND COMMON EQUIVALENT
SHARES OUTSTANDING (in millions):
BaSiC . i e 456 398 322
Assuming difution . ... .. e 487 459 367

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

NET INCOME ... e e e

ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE NET INCOME TO CASH PROVIDED BY

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization ... ... . oo r i e
Deferred iNCOmME taXes .. ... ... .. i e
Unrealized (gains) losses on derivatives . ... ...t i iie i
Amortization of loan costsand bond discount ... ...
Realized (gains) losses on financing derivatives ... ... it i
Stock-based COmMPENSalIon . . ... . o e e e
Gainon sale of INVESIMENIS .. L L L. i e
Income ITOM eqUily INVESIIMIENTS © L ... .t ittt aarer sttt e et ines
Loss on repurchases or exchanges of Chesapeake Seniornotes .. ...........oooeveeeoan. ..
Premiums paid for repurchasing of seniornotes ......... .. ... ... .. ... il
140 T
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable . ... oo i e
(Increase} decrease in inventory and other assels ... . it iin i,
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable, accrued Habilities andother ... ... oo 0L
Increase (decrease) in current and non-current revenues and royalties due others ............

Cash provided by operating activities ....... ... e

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Acquisitions of oil and natural gas companies, proved and unproved properties, net

of cashacquired ... ... o . e
Exploration and development of oil and natural gas properties . ., ... .. ... .0 i,
Additions to other property and eqUIPMENT ... v vt
Additions to drilling fig eqUipment .......... . ... e
Additions to investments ................... e
Acaquisition of trucking company, netof cashacquired . .. ........ ... ... ..o,
Proceeds from sale of volumetric production payment ... ... .. ... .. .
Proceeds from sale of investmients .. ... e
Proceeds from sale of drilling rigs and equipment ... ... .. .. . Lol
Proceeds from sale of COMPIESSOTS . . ... ittt i e
Deposits for acquIsilions ... ... ... . e
Divestitures of oil and natural gas properties . ... ... oo it i
Sale of non-oil and natural gas asS€18 ... . ...l e

Cash used ininvesting activities .. ....... ... . . . . i i

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from long-term bOrrowings . ... ... e
Payments on long-term Borrowings .. ...ttt e
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes, net of offeringcosts .......... ..o oL
Proceeds from issuance of commaon stock, net of offeringcosts ........... ... ... ........
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock, net of offering costs . ............... .. L
Cash paid to purchase or exchange Chesapeake seniornotes ............... ..o,
Cash paid for common stock dividends . .........co it
Cash paid for preferred stock dividends . .. ... ... oo e
Cash paid for financing cost of credit facilities . .......... ... ... ...l
Cash paid for treasury S10CK . . ..o oo e e
Derivative SEUEMENtS ... ... e
Net increase (decrease) in outstanding payments in excess of cash balance .................
Cash received from exercise of stock options ... i i
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation . ...
L1 B T T T A PN

Cash provided by financing activities ........ . .. o i s

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents .......... ..o oL
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period ........ ... .. .

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period . .......... ...

Years Ended December 31,

2007

2006

2005

{$ in millions)

$ 1,451 $2003 § 948
LOTI 1,449 936
835 1252 545
415 (497) (43)

26 21 15
92)  (136) —
84 84 15
83 a1 -
— 10) —
— — 70
— — (60)
— [E)) —
(192) (22) (205
(65) (126 (67
456 1,020 92
126 (74) 161
4932 4843 2407

(2,961)  (3.960) (4,135)

(5305)  (3.779)  (2.162)

(13100 (594) {417
(129)  (393) (67)

(8)  (554)  (135)
1,089 _ —
124 159 —
369 244 —
188 — —
(15) (22) (35}
— — 10
36 2 20

(7,922)  (8.942) (6.921)
7932 8370 5682

(6,160) (8.264) (5,765)
L607 1,755 2,925
— 1,759 986
— 558 1,341
— — (566)
(115) (87 (60)
(95) (88) 3n

3 (5) &)
— (36) (4)
91) (87) (12}
(98) 70 61
15 73 21
20 88 —
24) (14} (6}
2988 4042 4567
(2) (57 53

3 60 7

$ 1§ 3 % 60

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS—(Continued)

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
($ in millions)

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION OF CASH PAYMENTS

FOR: .
[nterest, net of capalized IRLETESE . . ...\ ot it ittt vttt ia s it e ere e e $315 $273 $175
Income taxes, netof refunds recelved ... ... it e e $ 55 $— $—

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

As of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, dividends payable on our common and preferred stock were $53
million, $53 million and $38 million, respectively.

In 2007, 2006 and 2005, oil and natural gas properties were adjusted by $131 million, $180 million and
$252 million, respectively. for net income tax liabilities related to acquisitions.

During 2007, 2006 and 2003, accrued exploration and development costs of $97 million, $85 million and
$27 miilion, respectively, were recorded as additions to oil and natural gas properties.

We recorded non-cash asset additions to net oil and natural gas properties of $29 million, $23 million and
$77 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, for asset retirement obligations.

In 2007, holders of our 5.0% (Series 2005) cumulative convertible preferred stock and 6.25% mandatory
convertible preferred stock exchanged 4,535,880 shares and 2,156,184 shares for 19,038,891 and 17,367,823
shares of common stock, respectively, in public exchange offers.

In 2007, a holder of our 5.0% (Series 2005) cumulative convertible preferred stock exchanged 59,120 shares
into 244,420 shares of common stock in a privately negotiated exchange.

In 2007, holders of our 4.125% cumulative convertible preferred stock and 6.25% mandatory convertible
preferred stock converted 3 shares and 48 shares into 180 shares and 344 shares of common stock at a conversion
price of $16.643 per share and $34.855 per share, respectively.

In 2006, holders of our 5% (Series 2003) and 6% cumulative convertible prcfcncd stock converted 38,625
shares and 99,310 shares into 235,447 shares and 482,694 shares of common stock at a conversion price of
$16.405 per share and $10.287 per share, respectively. :

In 2006, holders of our 4,125% and 5.0% (Series 2003) cumulative convertible preferred stock exchanged
83,245 shares and 804,048 shares for 5,248,126 and 4,972,786 shares of common stock, respectively, in public
exchange offers.

In 2006, hoiders of our 4.125% and 5.0% (Series 2003) cumulative convertible preferred stock converted
2.750 shares and 183,273 shares into 172,594 shares and 1,140,223 shares of common stock, respectively, in
privately negotiated exchanges.

In 2006, we acquired 32% of the outstanding common stock of Chaparral Energy, Inc. for $240 million in
cash and 1.375,989 newly issued shares of our common stock valued at $40 miilion. Chaparral is a privately-held
independent oil and natural gas company headquartered in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS—{Continued)

In 2005, holders of our 6.0% cumulative convertible preferred stock converted 3,800 shares into 18.468
shares of common stock at a conversion price of $10.287 per share.

In 2005, holders of our 4.125% and 5.0% (Series 2003) cumulative convertible preferred stock exchanged
224,190 and 699,054 shares for 14,321,881 and 4,362,720 shares, respectively, of common stock in privately
negotiated exchanges.

In 2005, Chesapeake acquired Columbia Energy Resources, LLC and its subsidiaries, including Columbia
Natural Resources, LLC (“CNR"™), for a total consideration of $3.02 billion, consisting of $2.2 billion of cash and
derivative liabilities, prepaid sales agreements and other liabilities of $0.8 billion.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

(% in millions)

PREFERRED STOCK:

Balance, beginning of period ... o e e e e $198 $ 1577 § 491
Issuance of 6.25% mandatory convertible preferred stock .. .. ..... .. ... ..o — 578 —
Issuance of 5.00% cumulative convertible preferred stock (Series 2005) . ........... .. ... ..l _ —_— 4560
Issuance of 4.50% cumulative convertible preferred stock . ... ... o — — . 345
Issuance of 5.00% cumulative convertible preferred stock (Series 2005B) ............. ... .vei s —_ — 575
Exchange of common stock for 4,595,000, 0 and 0 shares of 5.00% preferred stock (Series 2005) ... ... (459) — —
Exchange of common stock for 2,156,232, 0 and 0 shares of 6.25% preferred stock ................. (539 — —
Exchange of common stock for 3, 85,995 and 224,190 shares 0f 4.125% preferred stock ., ........... —_ (86) . (224}
Exchange of common stock for 0, 1,025,946 and 699,054 shares of 5.00% preferred stock (Series .
200 ) e e e i - (103} m
Exchange of common stock for 0, 99,310 and 3,800 shares of 6.00% preferred stock ................ = (5} —
Balance, end of Pemiod . . ..o e 960 1958 1,577
COMMON STOCK:
Balance, beginning of period ... ... 5 4 3
[ssuance of 0, 58,750,000 and 32.200,000 shares of common stock ... .. ... ... o i - 1 1
Issuance of 0, 1,375,989 and 0 shares of common stock for the purchase of Chaparal ...............
Energy, Inc. common SIOCK ... o e — — —
Exchange of 36,651,658, 12,251,870 and 18,703,069 shares of commen stock for ............ ...
prefermed S1OCK ... e e _ -_— —_—
Exercise of St0CK OpLONS . . ... s — — —
Restricted SLOCK BIaNIS .. ... ottt i e i e e e e — — —
Balance. end of period ... ... . o e e 5 5 4
PAID-IN CAPITAL:
Balance, beginning of Period .. ... ... it e e 5,873 3803 2440
Issuance of COMMON SIOCK .. .. . vttt i et i e e — 1,799 1,024
Issuance of common stock for the purchase of Chaparral Energy, Inc. common stock ... ... ... .. ..., -— 40 —_
Exchange of 36,651,658, 12,251 870 and 18,703,069 shares of common stock for preferred stock .. .. .. 998 193 294
Equity-based compensation .. ... ... e 129 100 82
Adoption of SFAS 123(R) .. o s —_— (89 —
OfferINE BXPBIISES . oottt t s et ea s sttt i s e e e aaaa s — (58) a7y
Exercise 0f S10CK OPHONS . ..\ ov ittt it ettt e e 15 73 22
Release of 0, 6,500,000 and 0 shares from treasury stock upon exercise of stock options ............. — (75) —_
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options and restricted stock . ...oooo i 20 83 18
Preferred stock conversion/exchange Xpenses ... ... .. ool i i 3 €} —
Balance, end of period ... ... e 7.032 5873 _3.803
RETAINED EARNINGS (DEFICIT):
Balance. beginning of period ... ... .. 2913 1,101 263
T T 11T 1.451 2,003 948
Dividends on COmMMOM SIOCK . oo ottt ittt ettt tr et e e (12n (96) (65)
Dividends on prefemed SlOCK . ... o e {89) (95) (46)
Adoption of FINAS L. e {4) — —
Balance,end of period .. ... ... e 4150 2913 £,100
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (1.OSS):
Balance, beginning of period ... .. ... e 528 (195) 20
Hedging aetivily ... ... . . i i (5200 300 (266)
Markeiable SeCUNtIES ACHVILY ... ..\ttt i e i 9% (86) 51
Balance,end of PEriOG .. .. ... i (an 528 (195)
UNEARNED COMPENSATION:
Balance, beginning of period ... ... .. i e _— (3] (32)
Restricted stock granted . ... ... .. e — — (80)
Amortization of unearned COMPENSAON . .. o4ttt e nn e it ea e —_— — 23
Adoption of SFAS 123(R)} ... . e —_ 89 —
Balance, end of period . ... .. . e — — (89
TREASURY STOCK—COMMON:
Balance, beginning of period ... ... .. .. e (26) (26) 22)
Purchase of 0, 2.707.471 and 257,220 shares of treasury stock . ... ... ... i _— (86) (4)
Release of {0, 6,500,000 and 0 shares upon exercise of stock options .. ....... ... ... ... ....... —_ 75 —
Release of 666,186, 361,280 and 8,525 shares for company benefitplans ....................... .. 20 11 —
Balance, end of Period .. ... e e e e e {6) (26) (26)
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY ... ittt et ennnes $12,130  $11,251 %6174

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
- ($in milliun.s)
Nt INCOMIE ot e e e e e e e 51,451 82,003 § 948
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of income tax:.
Change in fair value of derivative instruments, net of income taxes of (856)

million, $1.033 billion and ($318) million, respectively . ............... (92 L1711 (353)
Reclassification of (gain) loss on settled contracts, net of income taxes of :

{$308) million, ($426) million and $137 million, respectively - ......... (504 (706) 238
Ineffective portion of derivatives qualifying for cash flow hedge accounting, ’ ~
net of income taxes of $46 million, ($116) million and $28 million,

FESPeCliVElY . . e 76 (195) 49
Unrealized gain on marketable securities, net of income taxes of ($11) ' )
million, ($8) million and $29 million, respectively .......... HE (19) {13) 51
Reclassification of gain on sales of investments, net of income taxes of $0, i
($46) million and $0, respectively . ... .. ... ... .. .. i, — 3 —
Comprehensive iNCOIME ... ... ... ... $ 912 $2,727 $733

+ . - - - - t
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Description of Company

Chesapeake Energy Corporation (“Chesapeake™ or the “company™} is an otl and natural gas exploration and
production company engaged in the exploration, development and acquisition of properties for the production of
crude oil and natural gas from underground reservoirs, and we provide marketing and midstream services for |
natural gas and oil for other working interest owners in properties we operate. Qur properties are located in
Oklahoma, Texas, Alabama, Arkansas, Louisiana, Kansas, Montana, Colorado, North Dakota, Nebraska, New
Mexico, West Virginia, Kentucky, Ohio, New York, Maryland, Michigan, Mississippi, Pennsylvania, Tennessee, :
Utah, Virginia and Wyoming. |

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Chesapeake include the accounts of our direct and
indirect wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the consolidated financial statements, Chesapeake considers investments in all highly liquid
instruments with original maturities of three months or less at date of purchase to be cash equivalents.

Accounts Receivable

Our accounts receivable are primarily from purchasers of oil and natural gas and exploration and production
companies which own interests in properties we operate. This industry concentration has the potential to impact
our overall exposure to credit risk, either positively or negatively, in that our customers may be similarly affected
by changes in economic, industry or other conditions. We generally require letters of credit for receivables from
customers which are judged to have sub-standard credit, unless the credit risk can otherwise be mitigated.

Accounts receivable consists of the following components:

2007 2006
($ in millions)
Oil and natural gassales . ... . e § 798 3618
B LT TR T 1= (-1 S 175 135
Service Operations .. ... ... ... e 10 17
Related parties . ... ... o e 18 12
L8 14511 O U 81 68
Allowance for doubtful accounts . ........ ... . i e &) (5)
Total accounts receivable ... ... . ... .. .. . .. ... ... ... ... $1,074 3845

December 31,



CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Inventory

Inventory, which is included in current assets, includes tubular goods and other lease and well equipment
which we plan to utilize in our ongoing exploration and development activities and is carried at the lower of cost
or matket using the specific identification method. Qil inventory in tanks is carried at the lower of the estimated
cost to produce or market value. Purchased natural gas inventory is recorded at the lower of weighted average
cost or market. ' '

Oil and Natural Gas Properties

Chesapeake follows the full-cost method of accounting under which all costs associated with property
acquisition, exploration and development activities are capitalized. We capitalize internal costs that can be
directly identified with our acquisition, exploration and development activities and do not include any costs
related to preduction, general cerporate overhead or similar activities (see Note 11). Capitalized costs are
amortized on a composite unit-of-production method based on proved oil and natural gas reserves. As of
December 31, 2007, approximately 79% of our proved reserves were evaluated by independent petroleum
engineers, with the balance evaluated by our internal reservoir engineers. In addition, our internal engineers
review and update our reserves on a quarterly basis. The average composite rates used for depreciation, depletion
and amortization were $2.57 per mefe in 2007, $2.35 per mcfe in 2006 and $1.91 per mcfe in 2005.

Proceeds from the sale of properties are accounted for as reductions of capitalized costs unless such sales
involve a significant change in the relationship between costs and the value of proved reserves or the underlying
value of unproved properties, in which case a gain or loss is recognized.

The costs of unproved properties are excluded from amortization until the properties are evaluated, We
review all of our unevaluated properties quarterly to determine whether or not and to what extent proved reserves
have been assigned to the properties and otherwise if impairment has occurred. Unevaluated properties are
grouped by major prospect area where individual property costs are not significant and are assessed individually
when individual costs are significant.

We review the carrying value of our oil and natural gas properties under the full-cost accounting rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission on a quarterly basis. This quarterly review is referred to as a ceiling test.
Under the ceiling test, capitalized costs, less accumulated amortization and related deferred income taxes, may
not exceed an amount equal to the sum of the present value of estimated future net revenues (adjusted for cash
flow hedges) less estimated future expenditures to be incurred in developing and producing the proved reserves,
less any related income tax effects. In calculating future net revenues, current prices and costs used are those as
of the end of the appropriate quarterly period. Such prices are utilized except where different prices are fixed and
determinable from applicable contracts for the remaining term of those contracts, including the effects of
derivatives qualifying as cash flow hedges. Our qualifying cash flow hedges as of December 31, 2007, which
consisted of swaps and collars, covered 358 befe, 82 befe and 10 befe in 2008, 2009 and 2010, respectively. Our
oil and natural gas hedging activities' are discussed in Note 10 of these consolidated financial statements.

Two primary factors impacting the ceiling test are reserve levels and current prices, and their associated
impact on the present value of estimated future net revenues. Revisions to estimates of natural gas and oil
reserves and/or an increase or decrease in prices can have a material impact on the present value of estimated
future net revenues. Any excess of the net book value, less deferred income taxes, is generally written off as an
expense. Under SEC regulations, the excess above the ceiling is not expensed (or is reduced) if, subsequent to the
end of the period, but prior to the release of the financial statements, oil and natural gas prices increase
sufficiently such that an excess above the ceiling would have been eliminated (or reduced) if the increased prices
were used in the calculations.
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We account for seismic costs in accordance with Rule 4-10 of Regulation S-X. Specifically, Rule 4-10
requires that all companies that use the full-cost method capitalize exploration costs as part of their oil and
natural gas properties (i.e., full-cost pool). Exploration costs may be incurred both before acquiring the related
property and after acquiring the property. Further, exploration costs include, among other things, geological and
geophysical studies and salaries and other expenses of geologists, geophysical crews and others conducting those
studies. Such costs are capitalized as incurred. Seismic costs directly associated with the acquisition and
evaluation of unproved properties are excluded from the amortization computation until it is determined whether
or not proved reserves can be assigned to the properties. The company reviews its unproved properties and
associated seismic costs quarterly in order to ascertain whether impairment has incurred. To the extent that
seismic costs cannot be directly associated with specific unevaluated properties, they are included in the
amortization base as incurred.

Other Property and Equipment

Other property and equipment consists primarily of natural gas gathering and processing facilities, drilling
rigs, land, buildings and improvements, natural gas compressors, vehicles, office equipment, and software. Major
renewals and betterments are capitalized while the costs of repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as
incurred. The costs of assets retired or otherwise disposed of and the applicable accumulated depreciation are
removed from the accounts, and the resulting gain or loss is reflected in operations. Other property and
equipment costs are depreciated on a straight-line basis. A summary of other property and equipment and the
useful lives are as follows: :

December 31
2007 206 Useful Life

(% in millions) (in years)
Natural gas gathering systems and treating plants . .. ......... .. ... .. ........ $1,135 % 552 20
Buildings and improvements ........... ... i i e 421 305 15-39
Drilling rigs and equipment ... ... ...t e 106 301 15
Other fixtures and eqUIPMENt . . .. ... ... e 327 241 2-7
Natural as COMPIESSOTS « . . ottt ettt ettt et e e e ae i eaannn, 63 127 15
Land . e e e e 395 124 —

Total oot $2,447 $1,650

Investments

Investments in securities are accounted for under the equity method in circumstances where we are deemed
to exercise significant influence over the operating and investing policies of the investee but do not have control.
Under the equity method, we recognize our share of the investee’s eamings in our consolidated statements of
operations. Investments in securities not accounted for under the equity method are accounted for under the cost
method. Investments in marketable equity securities accounted for under the cost method have been designated
as available for sale and, as such, are recorded at fair value.
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At December 31, 2007, investments accounted for under the equity method totaled $563 million and
investments accounted for under the cost method totaled $49 million. Following is a summary of our
investments:

December 31,

2007 2006
Approximate Accounting Carrying Carrying
% Owned Method VYalue Value
(% in millions)

Chaparral Energy, Inc. ... ... . ... 32% Equity $271 3280
Frac Tech Services, Ltd . ....... ... ... ... ... .. ... ...... 20% Equity 237 254
Gastar Exploration Ltd (a) ...... ... ... oo i it 17% Cost 42 69
Eagle Energy Partners LL.LP. ... ... . .. . i it 33% Equity — 36
DHS Drilling Company . ... oo 48% Equity 28 26
Mountain Drilling Company ........ . ... ... ... ... ..., 49% Equity 19 24
OtheT . — — 15 __1_9
5612 @

(a) Our investment in Gastar had an associated cost basis of $89 million and $86 million as of December 31,
2007 and 2006, respectively.

In 2007, we sold our 33% limited partnership interest in Eagle Energy Partners I, LP., which we first
acquired in 2003, for proceeds of $124 miltion and a gain of $83 million.

In August 2006, we invested $254 million to acquire a 19.9% interest in Frac Tech Services, Lid., a
privately-held provider of well stimulation and high pressure pumping services, with operations focused in Texas
(principally in the Barnett Shale) and the Rocky Mountains. The carrying value of our investment in Frac Tech is
in excess of our underlying equity in net assets by approximately $181 million as of December 31, 2007. This
excess amount is attributed to certain intangibles associated with the specialty services provided by Frac Tech
and is being amortized over the estimated life of the intangibles.

In September 2006, we acquired 32% of the outstanding common stock of Chaparral Energy, Inc. for $240
million in cash and 1,375,989 newly issued shares of our common stock valued at $40 million. Chaparral is a
privately-held independent oil and natural gas company headquartered in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma. The
carrying value of our investment in Chaparral is in excess of our underlying equity in net assets by approximately
$216 million as of December 31, 2007. This excess amount is attributed to the oil and natural gas reserves held
by Chaparral and is amortized over the estimated life of these reserves based on a unit of production rate.

In 2006, we sold our investment in publicly-traded Pioneer Drilling Company common stock, realizing
proceeds of $159 million and a gain of $117 million. We owned 17% of the common stock of Pioneer, which we
began acquiring in 2003.

Capitalized Interest

During 2007, 2006 and 2005, interest of approximately $269 million, $179 million and $79 miilion,
respectively, was capitalized on significant investments in unproved properties that were not being currently
depreciated, depleted or amortized and on which exploration activities were in progress. Interest is capitalized
using a weighted average interest rate based on our outstanding borrowings.
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Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Included in accounts payable at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, are liabilities of approximately
$150 million and $248 million representing the amount by which checks issued, but not yet presented to our
banks for collection, exceeded balances in applicable bank accounts. Other accrued liabilities include $262
million and $177 million of accrued drilling costs as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Debt Issue Costs

Included in other assets are costs associated with the issuance of our senior notes and costs associated with
our revolving bank credit facility and hedging facilities. The remaining unamortized debt issue costs at
December 31, 2007 and 2006 totaled $138 million and $116 million, respectively, and are being amortized over
the life of the senior notes, revolving credit facility or hedging facilities.

Asset Retirement Obligations

Chesapeake follows Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 143, Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations. This statement applies to obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-
lived assets that result from the acquisition, construction and development of the assets.

SFAS 143 requires that the fair value of a liability for a retirement obligation be recognized in the period in
which the liability is incurred. For oil and natural gas properties, this is the period in which an oil or natural gas
well is acquired or drilled. The asset retirement obligation is capitalized as part of the carrying amount of our oil
and natural gas properties at its discounted fair value. The liability is then accreted each period until the liability
is settled or the well is sold, at which time the liability is reversed.

Revenue Recognition

Oil and Natural Gas Sales. Revenue from the sale of oil and natural gas is recognized when title passes,
net of royalties. .

Natural Gas Imbalances. We follow the “sales method” of accounting for our natural gas revenue
whereby we recognize sales revenue on all natural gas sold to our purchasers, regardless of whether the sales are
proportionate to our ownership in the property. An asset or a liability'is recognized to the extent that we have an
imbalance in excess of the remaining natural gas reserves on the underlying properties. The natural gas
imbalance net position at December 31, 2007 and 2006 was a liability of $4 million and 35 million, respectively.

Marketing Sales. Chesapeake takes title to the natural gas it purchases from other working interest owners
in operated wells, arranges for transportation and delivers the natural gas to third parties, at which time revenues
are recorded. Chesapeake’s results of operations related to its cil and natural gas marketing activities are
presented on a “gross” basis, because we act as a principal rather than an agent. All significant intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Hedging

From time to time, Chesapeake uses commodity price and financial risk management instruments to
mitigate our exposure to price fluctuations in oil and natural gas and interest rates. Recognized gains and losses
on derivative contracts are reported as a component of the related transaction. Results of oil and natural gas
derivative transactions are reflected in oil and natural gas sales and results of interest rate hedging transactions
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are reflected in interest expense. The changes in fair value of derivative instruments not qualifying for
designation as either cash flow or fair value hedges that occur prior to maturity are reported currently in the
consolidated statement of operations as unrealized gains (losses) within oil and natural gas sales or interest
expense.

We have established the fair value of all derivative instruments using estimates determined by our
counterparties and subsequently evaluated internally using established index prices and other sources. These
values are based upon, among other things, futures prices, volatility, time to maturity and credit risk. The values
we report in our financial statements change as these estimates are revised to reflect actual results, changes in
market conditions or other factors.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities, establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring that derivative instruments (including certain
derivative instruments embedded in other contracts) be recorded at fair value and included in the consolidated
balance sheet as assets or liabilities. The accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative instrument
depends on the intended use of the derivative and the resulting designation, which is established at the inception
of a derivative. For derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges, changes in fair value, to the extent the
hedge is effective, are recognized in other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings.
Any change in the fair value resulting from ineffectiveness, as defined by SFAS 133, is recognized immediately
in oil and natural gas sales. For interest rate derivative instruments designated as fair value hedges (in accordance
with SFAS 133), changes in fair value are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets as assets (liabilities), and
the debt’s carrying value amount is adjusted by the change in the fair value of the debt subsequent 1o the
initiation of the derivative. Differences between the changes in the fair values of the hedged item and the
derivative instrument, if any, represent gains or losses on ineffectiveness and are reflected currently in interest
expense. Hedge effectiveness is measured at least quarterly based on the relative changes in fair value between
the derivative contract and the hedged item over time. Changes in fair value of contracts that do not qualify as
hedges or are not designated as hedges are also recognized currently in earnings.

Stock-Based Compensation

On January 1, 2006, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004},
Share-Based Payment (SFAS 123(R)), to account for stock-based compensation. Among other items, SFAS
123(R) eliminates the vse of APB Opinion No. 25 and the intrinsic value method of accounting for equity
compensation and requires companies 10 recognize the cost of employee services received in exchange for
awards of equity instruments based on the fair value at grant date of those awards in their financial statements.
We elected to use the modified prospective method for adoption, which requires compensation expense to be
recorded for all unvested stock options and other equity-based compensation beginning in the first quarter of
adoption. Upon adoption of SFAS 123(R), we elected to use the “short-cut”™ method to calculate the historical
peool of windfall tax benefits in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Staff Position No. FAS
123(R)-3, Transition Election Relaied to Accounting for the Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards. issued
on November 10, 2005. For all unvested options outstanding as of Janvary 1, 2006, the previously measured but
unrecognized compensation expense, based on the fair value at the original grant date, is recognized in our
financial statements over the remaining vesting period, For equity-based compensation awards granted or
modified subsequent to January 1, 2006, compensation expense based on the fair value on the date of grant or
modification is recognized in our financial statements over the vesting period. We utilize the Black-Scholes
option pricing model to measure the fair value of stock options. To the extent compensation cost relates to
employees directly involved in oil and natural gas exploration and development activities, such amounts are
capitalized to oil and natural gas properties. Amounts not capitalized to oil and natural gas properties are
recognized as general and administrative expenses or production expenses.
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Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R}, we followed the intrinsic value method in accordance with APB 25 to
account for employee stock-based compensation. Prior period financial statements have not been restated. Upon

adoption of SFAS 123(R), we eliminated $89 million of unearmed compensation cost and reduced additional
paid-in capital by the same amount on our consolidated balance sheet.

For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, we. recorded the following stock-based
compensation ($ in millions):

2007 2006 2005

Production expenses .. ... ..ooiiiiie i 319 §.7 55—
General and administralive eXpenses .. ..........outieirnineenn... 57 27 15
Service Operations EXPENSE . ...\t vvu st inn e i PR 3 — —
(il and natural gas markeling expenses .............. ... iuiaerainans 5 — —
Oil and natural gas properties ................ Seen e 68 23 12
Employee retirement €XPenSe . .. . ..ot et i aae s — 51 —

Total ............ S . $152  $108 % 27

SFAS 123(R) generally did not change the accounting for awards of restricted stock. The impact to income
before income taxes of adopting SFAS 123(R) for 2006 was a reduction of $3 million associated with stock
option awards. SFAS 123(R) also requires cash inflows resulting from tax deductions in excess of compensation
expense recognized for stock options and restricted stock (“excess tax benefits”) to be classified as financing
cash inflows in our statements of cash flows. Accordingly, for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, we
reported $20 million and $88 million, respectively, of excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation as cash
provided by financing activities on our statements of cash flows.

Pro forma Disclosures

Prior to January i, 2006, we accounted for our employee and non-employee director stock options using the
intrinsic value method prescribed by APB 25. As required by SFAS 123(R), we have disclosed below the effect
on net income and earnings per share that would have been recorded using the fair value based method for 2005
($ in millions, except per share amounts):

Year Ended
December 31, 2005
Net Income: .
AsTepOrted ... e 5948
Add: Stock-based compensation expense included in reported net income, net
Of INCOME IaX .. .. e e e 10
Deduct: Total stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value
based method for all awards, netof incometax ....................... (18)
Proformanetincome ...... .. ... ... . . ... i e 940
Basic earnings per common share:
Asreported ........... T 2.73
Proforma.......... e e e, e 2.71
Diluted eamings per common share: Lo :
CAS POt L. e e $2.51
Proforma . ... $52.48
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Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the consolidated financial statements for 2006 and 2003 to
conform to the presentation used for the 2007 consolidated financial statements.

2. Net Income Per Share

' Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, Earnings Per Share (EPS), requires presentation of
“basic” and “diluted” earnings per share, as defined, on the face of the statements of operations for all entities
with complex capital structures. SFAS 128 requires a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of the
basic and diluted EPS computations.

The following securities were not included in the calculation of diluted EPS, as the effect was antidilutive:

For the year ended December 31, 2007, diluted shares do not include the common stock equivalent of
our 5.00% (Series 2005} convertible preferred stock outstanding prior to conversion (convertible into
16,158,815 shares) and the preferred stock adjustments to net income do not include $76 million of
dividends and loss on conversion/exchange related to these preferred shares, as the effect on diluted
carnings per share would have been antidilutive.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, diluted shares do not include the common stock equivalent of
our 6.25% mandatory convertible preferred stock outstanding prior to conversion (convertible into
13,982,602 shares) and the preferred stock adjustments to net income do not include $99 million of
dividends and loss on conversionfexchange related to these preferred shares, as the effect on diluted
earnings per share would have been antidilutive.

For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, diluted shares do not include the common stock
equivalent of our 4.125% convertible preferred stock outstanding prior to conversion (convertible into
2,090.292 and 8,610,708 shares, respectively} and the preferred stock adjustments to net income do not
include $9 million and $29 million, respectively, of dividends and loss on conversion/exchange related
to these preferred shares, as the effect on diluted earnings per share would have been antidilutive.

For the year ended December 31, 2005, outstanding options to purchase 0.1 million shares of common
stock at a weighted-average exercise price of $29.85 per share, were antidilutive because the exercise
price of the options was greater than the average market price of the common stock. '
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A reconciliation for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 is as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31, 2007:
Basic EPS:
Income available to common shareholders ... .. ... L e

Effect of Dilutive Securities
Assumed conversion as of the beginning of the period of preferred shares outstanding during
the period:
Common shares assumed issued for 4.50% convertible preferred stock ...............
Commen shares assumed issued for 5.00% (Series 2005B) convertible preferred stock . . .
Commen shares assumed issued for 6.25% mandatory convertible preferred stock ... ...
Employee stock 0plions . . ... e e e
Restricted S10CK .. o v i e
Preferred stock dividends ... ...t e e

Diluted EPS income available to common shareholders and assumed conversions .. .....

For the Year Ended December 31, 2006:
Basic EPS:
Income available to common shareholders .. . ... . ... . i

Effect of Dilutive Securities
Assumed conversion as of the beginning of the period of preferred shares outstanding during
the period:
Common shares assumed issued for 4.50% convertible preferred stock .......... .. ...
Common shares assumed issued for 5.00% (Series 2005) convertible preferred stock . ...
Common shares assumed issued for 5.00% (Series 2005B) convertible preferred stock . . .
Common shares assumed issued for 6,.25% mandatory convertible preferred stock ......
Assumed conversion as of the beginning of the period of preferred shares outstanding prior to
conversion:
Common stock equivatent of preferred stock outstanding prior to conversion, 5.00%
(Series 2003) convertible preferred stock ... ... . L L e
Employee stock oplions ... e e
Restricted 100K ..o i e e i

For the Year Ended December 31, 2005:
Basic EPS:
Income available to common shareholders .. ... ... e

Effect of Dilutive Securities
Assumed conversion as of the beginning of the period of preferred shares outstanding during
the period:
Common shares assumed issued for 4.125% convertible preferred stock ..............
Common shares assumed issued for 4.50% convertible preferred stock . ........... ...
Common shares assumed issued for 5.00% (Series 2003) convertible preferred stock . . . .
Common shares assumed issued for 5.00% (Series 2005) convertible preferred stock . .. .
Common shares assumed issued for 5.00% (Series 2005B) convertible preferred stock . . .
Cominon shares assumed issued for 6.00% convertible preferred stock . ..............
Assumed conversion as of the beginning of the period of preferred shares outstanding prior 10
conversion:
Common stock equivalent of preferred stock outstanding prior to conversion, 5.00%
(Series 2003) converuble preferred stock . ........ .. . i i e
Employee stock options ... ... .. e e
S Tl U 1 o+t S
Loss on redemption of preferred stock . ... ... .
Preferred stock dividends . ... ... ... et

Dituted EPS income available to cornmon shareholders and assumed conversions .. ... ..
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3. Senior Notes and Revolving Bank Credit Facility

(a)

(b)

(©)

Our long-term debt consisted of the following at December 31, 2007 and 2006:

December 31,

2007 2006
. : ($ in millions)
7.5% Senior Notesdue 2013 . .......... ... ... . ... T $ 364 5 364
7.625% Senior Notesdue 2013 ........... [ A 500 500
7.0% Senior Notes due 2014 .. .. ... i e 300 300
7.5% Senior Notes due 20t4 . .. ... ... ... . ... .. ... e 300 300
7.75% Senior Notes due 2015 . ... . i 300 300
6.375% Senior Notes due 2015 . . ... .. .. . i e 600 600
6.625% Senior Notes due 2016 . ... ... i e 600 600
6.875% Senior Notes due 2016 .. .. ... i i e e 670 670
6.5% Senior Notes due 2017 .. ... . i i e 1,100 1,100
6.25% Euro-denominated Senior Notes due 2017 (a) . ... ... e 876 792
6.25% Senior Notes due 2018 . ... ... oo, e 600 600
6.875% Senior Notes due 2020 . .. ... .. i e 500 500
2.75% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2035(b) . . ................. 690 690
2.5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2037 (b} .. .................. 1,650 —
Revolving bank credit facility - . ........ ... i i - 1,950 178
Discount ON SENIOT MOLES . . . . .t it it e et ettt ettt et innaeeenens (105) (10D
[mpact of interest rate derivatives (C) .......... ... it 55 (7
Total notes payable and long-termdebt ...... ... ... .. ... ... .. ... $10,950 §7,376

The principal amount shown is based on the dollar/euro exchange rate of $1.4603 to €1.00 and $1.3197 to
€1.00 as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. See Note 10 for information on our related cross
currency 'swap.

The holders of our Contingent Convertible Senior Notes may requiré us to repurchase all or a portion of
their notes 3, 10, 15 or 20 years prior to the maturity date, or upen a fundamental change, at 100% of the
principal amount of the notes, payable in cash. The notes are convertible, at the holder’s option, prior to
maturity under certain circumstances, into cash and, if applicable, shares of our common stock using a net
share settlement process. In general, upon conversion of a convertible senior note, the holder will receive
cash equal to the principal amount of the note and common stock for the note’s conversion value in excess
of such principal amount. In addition, we will pay contingent interest on the convertible senior notes,
beginning with the six-month interest period ending May 14, 2016 with respect to the 2.75% Contingent
Convertible Senior Notes due 2035 and November 14, 2017 with respect to the 2.5% Contingent
Convertible Senior Notes due 2037, under certain conditions. Wé may redeem the convertible senior notes
once they have been outstanding for ten years at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount of the
notes, payable in cash. :

See Note 10 for further discussion related to these instruments.

No scheduled principal payments are requiréd under our senior notes until 2013 when $864 million is due,

In 2005, we repurchased or exchanged $364 million of Chesapeake debt in order to re-finance a portion of

| our long-term debt at a lower rate of interest and recognized a loss of $70 million. No such purchases or
| exchanges were completed in 2007 or 2006, : :
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Our outstanding senior notes are unsecured senior obligations of Chesapeake that rank equally in right of
payment with all of our existing and future senior indebtedness and rank senior in right of payment to all of cur
future subordinated indebtedness. We may redeem the senior notes, other than the 2.75% Contingent Convertible
Senior Notes due 2035 and the 2.5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2037, at any time at specified
make-whole or redemption prices. Senior notes issued before July 2005 are governed by indentures containing
covenants that limit our ability and our restricted subsidiaries’ ability to incur additional indebtedness; pay
dividends on our capital stock or redeem, repurchase or retire our capital stock or subordinated indebtedness;
make investments and other restricted payments; incur liens; enter into sale/leaseback transactions; create
resirictions on the payment of dividends or other amounts to us from our restricted subsidiaries; engage in
transactions with affiliates; sell assets; and consolidate, merge or transfer assets. Senior notes issued after June
2005 are governed by indentures containing covenants that limit our ability and our restricted subsidiaries’ ability
to incur certain secured indebtedness; enter into sale/leaseback transactions; and consclidate, merge or transfer
assets.

Chesapeake is a holding company and owns no operating assets and has no significant operations
independent of its subsidiaries. Our obligations under our outstanding senior notes have been fully and
unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, by all of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, other than minor
subsidiaries, on a senior unsecured basis.

On November 2, 2007, we amended and restated our syndicated revolving bank credit facility to increase
the borrowing base to $3.5 billion (with commitments of $3.0 billion) and extended the maturity to November
2012. We subsequently increased the commitments under the credit facility to $3.5 billion. As of December 31,
2007, we had $1.950 billion in outstanding borrowings under our facility and utilized approximately $5 million
of the facility for various letters of credit. Borrowings under our facility are secured by certain producing oil and
natural gas properties and bear interest at our option of either (i) the greater of the reference rate of Union Bank
of California, N.A. or the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50% or (ii) the London Interbank Offered Rate
(LIBOR), plus a margin that varies from 0.75% to 1.50% per annum according to our senior unsecured long-term
debt ratings. The collateral value and borrowing base are determined periodically. The unused portion of the
facility is subject to a commitment fee that also varies according to our senior unsecured long-term debt ratings,
from 0.125% to 0.30% per annum. Currently, the commitment fee rate is 0.20% per annum. Interest is payable
quarterly or, if LIBOR applies, it may be payable at more frequent intervals.

The credit facility agreement contains varicus covenants and restrictive provisions which limit our ability to
incur additional indebtedness, make investments or loans and create liens. The credit facility agreement requires
us to maintain an indebtedness to total capitalization ratio (as defined) not to exceed 0.70 to | and an
indebtedness to EBITDA ratio (as defined) not to exceed 3.75 to 1. As defined by the credit facility agreement,
our indebtedness to total capitalization ratio was 0.48 to 1 and our indebtedness to EBITDA ratio was 2.16 10 | at
December 31, 2007. 1f we should fail to perform our obligations under these and other covenants, the revolving
credit commitment could be terminated and any outstanding borrowings under the facility could be declared
immediately due and payable. Such acceleration, if involving a principal amount of $10 million ($50 million in
the case of our senior notes issued after 2004), would constitute an event of default under our senior note
indentures, which could in turn result in the acceleration of a significant portion of our senior note indebtedness.
The credit facility agreement also has cross default provisions that apply to other indebtedness we may have with
an outstanding principal amount in excess of $75 million.

Two of our subsidiaries, Chesapeake Exploration, L.L.C. and Chesapeake Appalachia, L.L.C., are the
borrowers under our revolving bank credit facility. The facility is fully and unconditionally guaranteed, on a joint
and several basis, by Chesapeake and all of our other wholly owned subsidiaries except minor subsidiaries.
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4. Contingencies and Commitments

Litigation. 'We are involved in various disputes incidental to our business operations, including claims
from royalty owners regarding volume measurements, post-production costs and prices for royalty calculations.
In Tawney, et al. v. Columbia Natural Resources, Inc., Chesapeake’s wholly-owned subsidiary Chesapeake
Appalachia, L.L.C., formerly known as Columbia Natural Resources, LLC (CNR), is a defendant in a class
action lawsuit in the Circuit Court of Roane County, West Virginia filed in 2003 by royalty owners. The
plaintiffs allege that CNR underpaid royalties by improperly deducting post-production costs, failing to pay
royalty on total volumes of natural gas produced and not paying a fair value for the natural gas produced from
their leases. The plaintiff class consists of West Virginia royalty owners receiving royalties after July 31, 1990
from CNR. Chesapeake acquired CNR in November 2005, and its seller acquired CNR in 2003 from NiSource
Inc. NiSource, a co-defendant in the case, has managed the litigation and indemnified Chesapeake against
underpayment claims based on the use of fixed prices for natural gas production sold under certain forward sale
contracts and other claims with respect to CNR’s operations prior to Septernber 2003.

On January 27, 2007, the Circuit Court jury returned a verdict against the defendants of $404 million,
consisting of $134 million in compensatory damages and $270 million in punitive damages. Most of the damages
awarded by the jury relate to issues not yet addressed by the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals, although
in June 2006 that Court ruled against the defendants on two certified questions regarding the deductibility of
post-production expenses. The jury found fraudulent conduct by the defendants with respect 1o the sales prices
used to calculate royalty payments and with respect to the failure of CNR to disclose post-production deductions.
On June 28, 2007, the Circuit Court sustained the jury verdict for punitive damages, and on September 27, 2007,
it denied all post-trial motions, including defendants’ motion for judgment as a matter of law, or in the
alternative, for a new trial, On December 5, 2007, the Circuit Court entered an order granting defendants’ motion
to siay the judgment pending appeal conditioned upon filing an irrevocable letter of credit in the amount of $50
million. The trrevocable letter of credit was filed January 4, 2008. On January 24, 2008, the defendants filed a
Petition for Appeal in the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals,

Chesapeake and NiSource maintain CNR acted in good faith and paid royalties in accordance with lease
terms and West Virginia law. Chesapeake has established an accrual for amounts it believes will not be
indemnified. Should a final nonappealable judgment be entered, Chesapeake believes its share of damages will
not have a material adverse effect on its results of operations, financial condition or liquidity.

Chesapeake is subject to other legal proceedings and claims which arise in the ordinary course of business.
In our opinion, the final resolution of these proceedings and claims will not have a material effect on the
company.

Employment Agreements with Officers. Chesapeake has employment agreements with its chief executive
officer, chief operating officer, chief financial officer and other executive officers, which provide for annual base
salaries, various benefits and eligibility for bonus compensation. The agreement with the chief executive officer
has a term of five years commencing January |, 2008, The term of the agreement is automatically extended for
one additional year on each December 31 unless the company provides 30 days notice of non-extension. In the
event of termination of employment without cause, the chief executive officer’s base compensation (defined as
base salary plus bonus compensation received during the preceding 12 months) and benefits would continue
during the remaining term of the agreement. The chief executive officer is entitled 1o receive a payment in the
amount of three times his base compensation upon the happening of certain events following a change of control.
The agreement further provides that any stock-based awards held by the chief executive officer and deferred
compensation will immediately become 100% vested upon termination of employment without cause, incapacity,
death or retirement at or after age 55, and any unexercised stock options will not terminate as the result of
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termination of employment. The agreements with the chief operating officer, chief financial officer and other
executive officers expire on September 30, 2009. These agreements provide for the continuation of salary for one
year in the event of termination of employment without cause or death and, in the event of a change of control, a
payment in the amount of two times the executive officer’s base compensation. These executive officers are
entitled to conlinue to receive compensation and benefits for 180 days following termination of employment as a
result of incapacity. Any stock-based awards held by such executive officers will immediately become 100%
vested upon termination of employment without cause, a change of control, death or retirement at or after age 55.

Environmental Risk. Due to the nature of the oil and natural gas business, Chesapeake and its subsidiaries
are exposed to possible environmental risks. Chesapeake has implemented various policies and procedures to
avoid environmental contamination and risks from environmental contamination. Chesapeake conducts periodic
reviews, on a company-wide basis, to identify changes in our environmental risk profile. These reviews evaluate
whether there is a contingent liability, its amount, and the likelihood that the liability will be incurred. The
amount of any potential liability is determined by considering, among other matters, incremental direct costs of
any likely remediation and the proportionate cost of employees who are expected to devote a significant amount
of time directly to any possible remediation effort. We manage our exposure to environmental liabilities on
properties to be acquired by identifying existing problems and assessing the potential liability. Depending on the
extent of an identified environmental problem, Chesapeake may exclude a property from the acquisition, require
the seller to remediate the property to our satisfaction, or agree to assume liability for the remediation of the
property. Chesapeake has historically not experienced any significant environmental liability, and is not aware of
any potential material environmental issues or claims at December 31, 2007.

Rig Leases. In a series of transactions in 2006 and 2007, our drilling subsidiaries sold 78 drilling rigs and
related equipment for $613 million and entered into a master lease agreement under which we agreed to lease the
rigs from the buyer for initial terms of seven to ten years for rental payments of approximately $87 million
annually. The lease obligations are guaranteed by Chesapeake and its other material subsidiaries. These
transactions were recorded as sales and operating leasebacks and any related gain or loss is being amortized to
service operations expense over the lease term. Under the rig leases, we have the option to purchase the ngs
starting in 2013 or on the expiration of the lease term for a purchase price equal to the then fair market value of
the rigs. Additionally, we have the option to renew the rig lease for a negotiated renewal term at a periodic rental
equal to the fair market rental value of the rigs as determined at the time of renewal.

Compressor Leases. In a series of transactions in 2007, our wholly-owned subsidiary, MidCon
Compression, L.L.C., sold a significant portion of its compressor fleet, consisting of 1,199 compressors, for $188
million and entered into a master lease agreement. The term of the agreement varies by buyer ranging from seven
1o ten years for aggregate rental payments of approximately $23 million annually. MidCon’s lease obligations are
guaranteed by Chesapeake and its other material subsidiaries. These transactions were recorded as sales and
operating leasebacks and any related gain or loss is being amortized to oil and natural gas marketing expense
over the lease term. Under the leases, we can exercise an early purchase option after six to nine years or we can
purchase the compressors at expiration of the lease for the fair market value at the time. In addition, we have the
oplion to renew the lease for negotiated new terms at the expiration of the lease. Over the next 18 months, 365
new compressors are on order for $175 million and we intend to simultaneously enter into sale/leaseback
transactions with a financial counterparty as the compressors are delivered.
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Commitments related to rig, compressor and other operating lease payments are not recorded in the
accompanying consolidated balance.sheets. As of December 31, 2007, minimum future lease payments were as

follows ($ in millions):

Rigs Compressors  Other  Total
2008 ... $ 87 327 $§8 $122
2000 . e 87 22 6 115
2000 .. 87 21 3 111
201 g7 21 2 110
2012 e 88 23 2 113
After2012 .. . 192 94 1 287
Total ... .. $628 $208 $22 3858

Rent expense, including short-term rentals, for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $81
million, $47 million and $30 million, respectively.

Transportation Contracts. Chesapeake has various firm pipeline transportation service agreements with
expiration dates ranging from one to 93 years. These commitments are not recorded in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. Under the terms of these contracts, we are obligated to pay demand charges as set
forth in the transporter’s Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) gas tariff. In exchange, the company
receives rights to flow natural gas production through pipelines located in highly competitive markets. Excluded
from this summary are demand charges for pipeline projects that are currently seeking regulatory approval. The
aggregate amounts of such required demand payments as of December 31, 2007 are as follows (3 in millions):

2008 . $ 69
2000 L 67
2000 . e 63
40 ) P 59
2002 33
AT 2002 224
7Y PR $535

Drilling Contracts. 'We have contracts with variocus drilling contractors to use 32 drilling rigs in 2008 with
terms of one to three years. These commitments are not recorded in the accompanying consolidated balance

sheets. Minimum future commitments as of December 31, 2007 are as follows ($ in millions):

200 e S144
2000 L e 57
2000 . e e e 11
AT 2000 .o e —

TOtal o $212
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Gas Purchase Obligations. QOur marketing segment regularly purchases gas from other owners in our oil
and gas properties and, accordingly, has commitments to purchase gas which typically are short term in nature,
We have also committed to purchase gas associated with the December 31, 2007 sale of a volumetric production
payment. The purchase commitment extends over a 15 year term at market prices at the time of production, and
the purchased gas will be resold. The obligations are as follows:

Mmcfe

2008 ... ... e e e 19,858
2000 18,601
2000 e e e 18,043
11 0 16,251
200 15,322
After 20012 e 119,949

TOl .+ . e e ettt et e . 208,024

Other. Chesapeake and a leading investment bank have an agreement to lend Mountain Drilling Company,
of which Chesapeake is a 49% equity owner, up to $32 million each through December 31, 20059. At
December 31, 2007, Mountain Drilling owed Chesapeake $21 million under this agreement.

Chesapeake has an agreement to lend Ventura Refining and Transmission LL.C, of which Chesapeake is a
25% equity owner, up to $31 million through January 31, 2017. At December 31, 2007, there was $26 million
outstanding under this agreement. Additionally, we have agreed to guarantee vanous commitments for Ventura,
up to $70 million, to support their operating activities. As of December 31, 2007, we had guaranteed $61 million
of commitments.

5. Income Taxes

The components of the income tax provision (benefit) for each of the periods presented below are as
follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
($ in millions)

Y T <111 $29 $ 5 § —
Deferred ... e e e R 861 1,247 545
O] .ot e e e e e $800 S$1,252 $545

The effective income tax expense differed from the computed “expected” federal income tax expense on
earnings before income taxes for the following reasons:

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
{$ in millions}

Computed “expected” federal income tax provision .............c.coiiiinanen. $819 51,139  $523
S1ALE INCOME TAXES . . . L oottt et et ittt et e e iaaan s enas 56 90 23
15T 15 23 (n

$890 81,252 3545
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Deferred income taxes are provided to reflect temporary differences in the basis of net assets for income tax
and financial reporting purposes. The tax-effected temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards which
comprise deferred taxes are as follows: ‘

. L . Years Ended December 31,
2007 . 2006

(% in millions)

Deferred tax liabilities:

Oil and natural gas properties .. ... i $(3,760) $(3,259)
Other property and equipment . ... ...ttt e (152) (106)
Derivalive InStruIments . ... ... et it e e e et (20} (398)
Volumetric production payment . ......... it {442) —
Deferred tax liabilities .. .. ... . . . o 4,374) ' (3,763)
Deferred tax assets: ' '
Net operating loss carryforwards .. ... .. .. i i $ 170 % 290
Assel retirement obligation .......... .. . . . .. 9N 74
Investments ......... ... . . . . oo, e P 33 , 7
Accried Habilities ... .. e e e 6 4
Percentage depletion carryforwards .. ... ... e 1 6
Alternative minimum tax credits .. ... ... e 61 6
Other......... L e e e e e AP 37 20
Deferred tax assets ........ T e e AT 409 407
Total deferred tax asses (liability) .....%............... IO S $(3,965)a)  $(3,356)
Reflected in accompanying balance sheets as: -
Current deferred income tax asset .. ................. e $ 1 3 —
Current deferred income tax liability ........ .. ... .. .. ... ... — 39}

Non-current deferred income tax liability ... .2 . ... ..., e {3,966) - (3317
) ‘ $(3,965) $(3,356)

(@) In addition to the income tax expense of $890 million, activity during 2007 includes a net liability of $131
million related to acquisitions and deferred tax assets for $314 million related to derivative instruments, $11
million related to investments, $20 million related to stock-based compensation, $56 million related to AMT
payments and $3 million related to the implementation of FIN 48. In addition, the activity includes a
reduction to deferred tax liabilities of $8 million related to state income tax payments and other
miscellaneous items. These items were not recorded as part of the provision for income taxes.

As of December 31, 2007, we classified $1 million of deferred tax assets as current that were attributable 1o
the current portion of derivative liabilities and other current temporary differences. As of December 31, 2006, we
classified $39 million of deferred tax liabilities as current that were attributable to the current portion of
derivative assets and other current temporary differences.
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At December 31, 2007, Chesapeake had federal income tax net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards of
approximately $238 million and approximately $29 million of percentage depletion carryforwards. Additionally,
we had $5 million of alternative minimum tax (AMT) NOL carryforwards available as a deduction against future
AMT income. The NOL carryforwards expire from 2019 through 2026. The value of these carryforwards
depends on the ability of Chesapeake to generate taxable income. In addition, for AMT purposes, only 90% of
AMT income in any given year may be offset by AMT NOLs. A summary of our NOLs follows:

NOL AMT NOL
($ in millions})

Expiration Date:

December 31, 20010 . . e e 517 $—
December 31, 2020 . ..o e e e 1 —
December 31, 2021 . e s 17 —
December 31, 2022 .o e e e 36 —_
December 31, 2023 . i e e e 126 2
December 31,2024 . ................ e 5 1
December 31, 2025 .. . o e e 22 —_
December 31, 2026 ... .. __li ___2
Total L. e e e s $238 $ 5

The ability of Chesapeake to utilize NOL carryforwards to reduce future federal taxable income and federal
income tax of Chesapeake is subject to various limitations under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended,
The utilization of such carryforwards may be limited vpon the occurrence of certain ownership changes,
including the issuance or exercise of rights to acquire stock, the purchase or sale of stock by 5% stockholders, as
defined in the Treasury regulations, and the offering of stock by us during any three-year period resulting in an
aggregate change of more than 50% in the beneficial ownership of Chesapeake.

In the event of an ownership change (as defined for income tax purposes), Section 382 of the Code imposes
an annual limitation on the amount of a corporation’s taxable income that can be offset by these carryforwards.
The limitation is generally equal to the product of (i} the fair market value of the equity of the company
multiplied by (ii) a percentage approximately equivalent to the yield on long-term tax exempt bonds during the
month in which an ownership change occurs. In addition, the limitation is increased if there are recognized
built-in gains during any post-change year, but only to the extent of any net unrealized built-in gains (as defined
in the Code) inherent in the assets sold. Certain NOLs acquired through various acquisitions are also subject to
limitations,

The following table summarizes our net operating losses as of December 31, 2007 and any related
limitations:

Annual
Total Limited Limitation

($ in millions)
Netoperating loss .. ... .. i $238 $27 310
AMT netoperating loss ........ ... . i $ 5 35 51

As of December 31, 2007, we do not believe that an ownership change has occurred. Future equity
transactions by Chesapeake or by 5% stockholders (including relatively small transactions and transactions
beyond our control} could cause an ownership change and therefore a limitation on the annual wtilization of
NOLs,
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In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation (FIN) No. 48,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109. FIN 48 provides
guidance for recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions, as defined in SFAS 109, Accounting for Income
Taxes. FIN 48 prescribes a threshold condition that a tax position must meet for any of the benefit of the
uncertain tax position to-be recognized in the financial statements. Guidance is also provided regarding
de-recognition, classification and disclosure of these uncertain tax posmons FIN 48 was effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2006.

Chesapeake adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. As a result of the implementation of FIN
48, Chesapeake recognized a $7 million liability for accrued interest associated with uncertain tax positions
which was accounted for as a reduction in the January 1, 2007 balance of retuined earnings, net of tax. At the
date of adoption, we had approximately $142 million of unrecognized tax benefits related to alternative minimum
tax (AMT) associated with uncertain tax positions. As of December 31, 2007, the amount of unrecognized tax
benefits related to AMT associated with uncertain tax positions was $133 million, If these unrecognized tax
benefits are disallowed and we are ultimately required 1o pay additional AMT liabilities, any payments can be
utilized as credits against future regular tax liabilities, The uncertain tax positions identified would not have a
material effect on the effective tax rate. At December 31, 2007, we had a liability of $5 million for interest
related to these'same uncertain tax positions. Chesapeake recognizes interest related to uncertain tax positions in
interest ‘expense. Penalties, if any, related to uncertain tax positions would be recorded in other eXxpenses.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of unrecogmzed tax benefits is as follows

($ in millions)

Balance at January 1,2007 . ... ... . ... .. ... ... o S 142
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year .. ............. 64
Reductions for tax positions of prioryears ......... ... i (52)
Settlements .. ... ... e 2n
Balance at December 31,2007 . .. ... i $ 133

Chesapeake files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and local jurisdictions,
With few exceptions, Chesapeake is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local income tax examinations by
tax authorities for years prior to 2004. The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) completed an examination of
Chesapeake’s 2003 and 2004 U.S. income tax returns in September 2007. This examination resulted in an
additional AMT liability of $9 million. This AMT liability can be utilized as a credit against future regular tax
liabilities. The adjustments in the examination did not result in a material change to our financial position, results
of operations or cash flows.

6. Related Party Transactions

As of December 31, 2007, we had accrued accounts receivable from our CEO, Aubrey K. McClendon, of
$18 million representing joint interest billings from December 2007 which were invoiced and timely paid in
January 2008. Since Chesapeake was founded in 1989, Mr. McClendon has acquired working interests in
virtually all of our oil and natural gas properties by participating in our drilling activities under the terms of the
Founder Well Participation Program (“FWPP"™) described below. Joint interest billings to him are settled in cash
immediately upon delivery of a monthlyJomt interest billing. . -

Under the FWPP, approved by our shareholders in June 2005 Mr. McClendon (and our co- founder and
former COO, Tom L. Ward, prior to August 10, 2006) may elect to participate in all or none of the wells drilled
by or on behalf of Chesapeake during a calendar year, but he is not allowed to participate only in selected wells.
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A participation election is required to be received by the Compensation Committee of Chesapeake’s Board of
Directors not less than 30 days prior to the start of each calendar year. His participation is permitted only under
the terms outlined in the Founder Well Participation Program, which, among other things, limits his individual
participation to a maximum working interest of 2.5% in a well and prohibits participation in situations where
Chesapeake's working interest would be reduced below 12.5% as a result of his participation. In addition, the
company is reimbursed for costs associated with leasehold acquired by Mr. McClendon as a result of his well
participation. Mr. Ward’s participation in the Founder Well Participation Program terminated on August 10,
2006.

As disclosed in Note 8, in 2007, 2006 and 2005 Chesapeake had revenues of $1.1 billion, $867 million and
$851 million, respectively, from oil and natural gas sales to Eagle Energy Partners I, L.P., a former affiliated
entity. We sold our 33% limited partnership interest in Eagle Energy in June 2007.

7. Employee Benefit Plans

Our qualified 401(k) profit sharing plan is the Chesapeake Energy Corporation Savings and Incentive Stock
Bonus Plan, which is open to employees of Chesapeake and all our subsidiaries except certain employees of
Chesapeake Appalachia, L.L.C. On January 1, 2007, a plan we maintained for the employees of our subsidiary
Nomac Drilling Corporation was merged into the Chesapeake plan. Eligible employees may elect to defer
compensation through voluntary contributions to their 401(k) plan accounts, subject to plan limits and those set
by the Internal Revenue Service. Chesapeake matches employee contributions dollar for dollar (subject to a
maximum contribution of 15% of the employees annual compensation) with Chesapeake common stock
purchased in the open market. For the Nomac plan, the matching percentage was 8% for 2005 through June 2006,
and 15% as of July I, 2006. The company contributed $28 million, $18 million and $10 million to the
Chesapeake plan in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and $2 million and a nominal amount to the Nomac plan
in 2006 and 2003, respectively.

In November 2005, Chesapeake acquired Columbia Natural Resources, LI.C, which sponsored the
Columbia Natural Resources, LLC 401(k) Plan. Chesapeake's 401(k) plan was amended effective January 1,
2006 to honor previous service by employees with CNR and predecessor companies and was open to CNR
employees in the Charleston, West Virginia headquarters office as well as exempt, administrative field
employees. The CNR plan was adopted by the new employer entity, Chesapeake Appalachia, L.L.C., and was
open to all non-administrative field employees, including union employees. The company contributed
approximately $t million to this plan in 2006, Effective January 1, 2007, these employees, other than union
employees, became eligible to participate in the Chesapeake plan. Union employees will continue participation in
the CNR plan pending the outcome of ongoing labor negotiations.

Prior to 2008, we maintained two nonqualified deferred compensation plans, the 401(k) make-up plan and
the deferred compensation plan. Effective on January 1, 2008, the deferred compensation plans were merged into
the Chesapeake Energy Corporation Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan. To be eligible to
participate in the amended and restated deferred compensation plan an empioyee must receive annual
compensation (base salary and bonus combined) of at least $100,000, have a minimum of one year of service as a
company employee and have made the maximum contribution allowable under the 401(k) plan. For employees
with at least five years of service as a company employee, the company matches employee contributions to the
plan in Chesapeake common stock. Chesapeake matches 100% of employee contributions up to 15% of base
salary and bonus in the aggregate for the 401(k) plan and the amended and restated deferred compensation plan.
We contributed $4 million, $2 million and $2 million to the 401(k) make-up plan during 2007, 2006 and 2003,
respectively. The company’s non-employee directors are able to defer up to 100% of director fees into the
amended and restated deferred compensation plan.
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Employees with at least one year of service receiving an annual base salary of at least $100,000 ($95,000 in
2005) during the 12 months prior to the enrollment date were eligible to participate in our deferred compensation
plan. In addition, non-employee directors were able to defer up to 100% of director fees into the plan. The
maximum compensation that can be deferred by employees under all company deferred compensation plans,
including the Chesapeake 401(k) plan, was a total of 75% of base salary and 100% of performance bonus.
Chesapeake made no matching or other contributions to the deferred compensation plan.

Any assets placed in trust by Chesapeake to fund future obligations of the 401(k) make-up plan and the
deferred compensation plan are subject to the claims of creditors in the event of insolvency or bankruptcy, and
participants are general creditors of the company as to their deferred compensation in the plans.

Chesapeake maintains no post-employment benefit plans except those sponsored by Chesapeake
Appalachia, L.L..C. As of December 31, 2006, a total of 188 employees were eligible for these plans. As of
January 1, 2007, participation in these plans was limited to union members (135 employees) and continuing
eligibility is the subject of ongoing labor negotiations. The Chesapeake Appalachia, L.L.C. benefit plans provide
health care and life insurance benefits to eligible employees upon retirement. We account for these benefits on an
accrual basis. As of December 31, 2007, the company had accrued $2 million in accumulated post-employment
benefit liability,

8. Major Customers and Segment Information

Sales to individual customers constituting 10% or more of total revenues (before the effects of hedging)
were as follows:

Year Ended Percent of
December 31, Customer Amount Total Revenues
(% in millions})
2007 Eagle Energy Partners 1, L.P. $1,072 15%
2006 Eagle Energy Partners 1, L.P. § 867 16%
2005 Eagle Energy Partners 1, L.P, $ 851 18%

In September 2003, Chesapeake invested approximately $6 million in Eagle Energy Partners I, L.P. and
received a 25% limited partnership interest. Through additional investments totaling $27 million, Chesapeake
increased its limited partner ownership interest to $33 million or approximately 33% as of December 31, 2006. In
2007, we sold our 33% limited partnership interest for proceeds of $124 million and a gain of $83 million.

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of
an Enterprise and Related Information, we have two reportable operating segments. Our exploration and
production operational segment and oil and natural gas marketing segment are managed separately because of the
nature of their products and services. The exploration and production segment is responsible for finding and
producing oil and natural gas. The marketing segment is responsible for gathering, processing, compressing,
transporting and selling oil and natural gas primarily from Chesapeake-operated wells, We also have drilling rig
and trucking operations which are responsible for providing drilling rigs primarily used on Chesapeake-operated
wells and trucking services utilized in the transportation of drilling rigs on both Chesapeake-operated wells and
wells operated by third parties.

Management evaluates the performance of our segments based upon income before income taxes. Revenues
from the marketing segment’s sale of oil and natural gas related to Chesapeake’s ownership interests are reflected

as exploration and production revenues. Such amounis totaled $3.5 billion, $2.6 billion and $2.4 billion for 2007,
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2006 and 2005, respectively. The following tables present selected financial information for Chesapeake’s

operating segments, Qur drilling and trucking service operations are presented in “Other Operations” for all
periods presented.

Exploration
and Other Intercompany Consolidated
For the Year Ended December 31, 2007: Production Marketing Operations® Eliminations Total
($ in millions)

Revenues ........... . ...ciiiiiiieninn... $ 5624 §5508 $ 493 $(3,825) 3 7,800
Intersegment revenues . ..................us —_ (3.468) (357 3825 -—

Total Revenues ~...................... 5,624 2,040 136 — 7,800
Depreciation, depletion and amortization ... ... 1,954 25 26 (16) 1,989
Interest and otherincome . .................. 14 1 — — 15
Interestexpense ................ciiinn... 406 — — — 406
Other income/expense . .................... 83 — — — 83
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES ... ... $2287 & 41 $ 135 $ (22 $ 2,341
TOTAL ASSETS ...... ... .. ... ... ... .. $29,317  $ 1,759 $ 487 $ (829) $30,734
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES . ... . ... ..... $ 7977 § 534 $(163) $ — $ 8,348
For the Year Ended December 31, 2006:
Revenues ............ . iiiniinnnn.. $ 5619 $4,135 $ 325 $(2,753) $ 7.326
Intersegment revenues ..................... — (2,.558) (195) 2,753 -

Total Revenues ............c.covvrenn. 5,619 1,577 130 — 1,326
Depreciation, depletion and amortization . .. ... 1441 10 28 (16) 1,463
Interest and otherincome . ... ............... 22 4 — — 26
Interestexpense ..............ccoiiiniin... 300 —_ 1 — 301
Other income/expense ..................... 17 — — — 117
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES ... ... $3192 § 41 $ 106 $ (84) $ 3,255
TOTALASSETS .......... . ... ... ... $23333 § 864 $ 786 $ (566) $24,417
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES .............. $ 8423 § 255 $ 231 5 — £ 8.909
For the Year Ended December 31, 2005:
ReVenUES ... .o e $ 3273 $3,788 $ 61 $(2,457) $ 4,665
Intersegment reVENUES . ...........vvvnanns - (2,396) (1] 2,457 _

Total Revenues ...............0ovunn-. 3,273 1,392 — — 4,665
Depreciation, depletion and amortization ...... 940 5 6 ()} 945
Interest and other income . .................. 9 1 — — 10
Interest eXpense . .........oviiiiniiinnaan 220 — — — 220
Other incomefexpense .................ns 70 — — — 70
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES ... ... $1467 $ 26 5 10 $ Qo) $ 1,493
TOTAL ASSETS ... ... ... ... ... .... $15,124  § 688 $ 306 $§ — $16,118
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES .............. $7696 § 133 $ 70 5 — $ 7,899

92




CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

9. Stockholders’ Equity, Restricted Stock and Stock Options

The following is a summary of the changes in our common shares outstanding for 2007, 2006 and 2005:

2007 2006 2008
(in thousands)
Sharesissued atJanuary 1 ... .. ... .. ... ... it 458,601 375,511 316,941
Stock option and warrant €Xercises ...........c.....oooaiaa 2,127 6,969 3,996
Restricted stock issuances (net of forfeitures) .................. 14,268 3,743 3,671
Preferred stock conversions/exchanges ....................... 36,652 12,252 18,703
Common stock issuances forcash .. ... ... ... . .. —_ 58,750 32,200
Common stock issued for the purchase of Chaparral Energy, Inc.
COMMON STOCK .« v oottt e e e e e v —_ 1,376 —
Shares issued at December 31 . ........ ... ... ... ... . ... 511,648 458,601 375,511

The following is a summary of the changes in our preferred shares outstanding for 2007, 2006 and 2005:

5.00% 5.00% 5,00 %
6,00% (2003) 4.125% {2005) 4.50% (2005B) 6.25%
(in thousands)

Shares outstanding at January 1,2007 ........... — —_ 3 4600 3,450 5750 2,300
Preferred stock issuances ... ............... —_ — — — —_ _— —
Conversionfexchange of preferred for common

StOCK . ... — —_ — (4,595 — —  {2,156)

Shares outstanding at December 31,2007 ........ — — 3 3 3,450 5,750 144

Shares outstanding at January 1,2006 ........... 99 1,026 89 4600 3450 5,750 —_—
Preferred stock issuances ... ............... — — — — — _— 2,300
Conversion/exchange of preferred for common

STOCK . .o e e e @) (1,026) (86) — — — —

Shares outstanding at December 31,2006 ........ — — 3 4600 3,450 5750 2,300

Shares outstanding at January 1,2005 .,..,...... 103 1,725 313 — _ — —
Preferred stock issuances ... ............... — — _ 4600 3,450 5,750 —_
Conversionfexchange of preferred for common

SIOCK . .o __(_54_) (699) (224) —_ — — —

Shares outstanding at December 31,2005 ........ 2 1,026 89 4,600 3,450 5,750 —
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In 2007, shares of our preferred stock were exchanged for or converted into common stock as follows:

3 shares of 4.125% cumulative convertible preferred stock were converted into 180 shares of common
stock pursuant to conversion rights;

59,120 shares of 5.0% (Sertes 2005) cumulative convertible preferred stock were exchanged for
244,420 shares of common stock in a privately negotiated exchange transaction;

4,535,880 shares of 5.0% (Series 2005) cumulative convertible preferred stock were exchanged for
19,038,891 shares of common stock pursuant to our tender offer for the shares;

48 shares of 6.25% mandatory convertible preferred stock were converted into 344 shares of common
stock pursuant to the holder’s conversion rights; and

2,156,184 shares of 6.25% mandatory convertible preferred stock were exchanged for 17,367,823
shares of common stock pursuant 10 our tender offer for the shares. :

In 2006, shares of our preferred stock were exchanged for or converted into common stock as follows:

221,898 shares of 5.0% (Series 2003) cumulative convertible preferred stock were exchanged for or
converted into 1,375,670 shares of common stock in privately negotiated exchange transactions or
pursuant to conversion rights;

804,048 shares of 5.0% (Series 2003) cumulative convertible preferred stock were exchanged for
4,972,786 shares of common stock pursuant to our tender offer for the shares;

2,750 shares of 4.125% cumulative convertible preferred stock were exchanged for 172,594 shares of
common stock in privately negotiated exchange transactions;

83.245 shares of 4.125% cumulative convertible prefemed stock were exchanged for 5, 248 126 shares
of common stock pursuant to our tender offer for the shares; and

the remaining 99,310 shares of 6.0% cumulative convertible preferred stock were exchanged for or
converted into 482,694 shares of common stock in privately negotiated exchange transactions or
pursuant to conversion rights.

In 2005, shares of our preferred stock were exchanged for or converted into common stock as follows:

3,800 shares of 6.00% cumulative convertible preferred stock were converted into 18,468 shares of
common stock; ’

699,054 shares of 5.00% (Series 2003) cumulative convertible preferred stock were exchanged into
4,362,720 shares of common stock; and

224,190 shares of 4.125% cumulative convertible preferred stock were exchanged into 14,321,881
shares of common stock.
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Dividends on our outstanding preferred stock are payable quarterly in cash or, with respect to our 6,.25%
mandatory convertible preferred stock and our 4.50% cumulative convertible preferred stock, we may pay
dividends in cash, common stock or a combination thereof. Following is a summary of our preferred stock,
including the primary conversion terms as of December 31, 2007:

Company’s
Liquidation  Holder’s Company’s Market
Preference Conversion Conversion Conversion Conversion Conversion
Preferred Stock Series Issuc Date per Share Right Rate Price Right From Trigger
6.25% Mandatory '
Convertible (a) ..... June/July 2006 $ 250 Any time 7.1725 $34.8551  Anytime $52.2827(b)
5.00% (Series 20035)
Cumulative , .
Convertible ........ Aprtl 2005 5 100 Any time 3.8864 $25.7308  April 15,2010 $33.4503(c)
4.50% Cumulative
Convernible ........ September 2005 3 100 Any time 2.2640 $44.1690  September 15,2010 $57.419%(c)
5.00% (Series 2005B)
Cumulative
Conventible ........ November 2005 3 100 Any time 2.5599 $39.0645  November 15, 2010 $50.7839(c)
4.125% Cumulative Market price
Convertible ........ March/April 2004 $1.000 >$21.62 60.1374 $16.6286  March 15, 2009 $21.6200(c)

(a) Each share converts automatically on June 15, 2009 into 7.1725 to 8.6071 shares of commen stock, depending on the common stock
market price at the time, )

{b) Convertible a1 initial conversion rate plus cash equal to present value of future dividends to June 15, 2009,

{c) Convertible at the company’s option if the company’s common stock equals or exceeds the trigger price for a specified time period.

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Under Chesapeake’s Long Term Incentive Plan, restricted stock, stock options, stock appreciation rights,
performance shares and other stock awards may be awarded to employees, directors and consultants of
Chesapeake. Subject to any adjustments as provided by the plan, the aggregate number of shares of common
stock available for awards under the plan may not exceed 17,000,000 shares. The maximum period for exercise
of an option or stock appreciation right may not be more than ten vears from the date of grant and the exercise
price may not be less than the fair market value of the shares underlying the epticn or stock appreciation right on
the date of grant. Awards granted under the plan become vested at dates or upon the satisfaction of certain
performance or other criteria determined by a committee of the Board of Directors. No awards may be granted
under this plan after September 30, 2014. This plan has been approved by our shareholders. Stock options to
purchase 150,000 shares of our common stock were issued to our directors from this plan in 2005. Inaddition,
87.500, 75,000 and 62,500 shares of restricted stock were issued to our directors from this plan in 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively. There were 14.7 million and 2,610 restricted shares issued, net of forfeitures to employees
and consultants during 2007 and 2006, respectively from this plan. As of December 31, 2007, there were
2,010,000 shares remaining available for issuance under the plan.

Under Chesapeake’s 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, restricted stock and incentive and nonqualified stock
options to purchase our common stock may be awarded to employees and consultants of Chesapeake. Subject to
any adjustments as provided by the plan, the aggregate number of shares available for awards under the plan may
not exceed 10,000,000 shares. The maximum period for exercise of an option may not be more than ten years
from the date of grant and the exercise price may not be less than the fair market value of the shares underlying
the option on the date of grant. Restricted stock and options granted become vested at dates determined by a
committee of the Board of Directors. No awards may be granted under this plan after April 14, 2013. This plan
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has been approved by our shareholders. There were 0.2 million, 4.0 million and 3.9 million restricted shares, net
of forfeitures, issued during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, from this plan. As of December 31, 2007, there
were 450,562 shares remaining available for issuance under the plan.

Under Chesapeake's 2003 Stock Award Plan for Non-Employee Directors, 10,000 shares of Chesapeake’s
commen stock are awarded to each newly appointed non-employee director on his or her first day of service,
Subject to any adjustments as provided by the plan, the aggregate number of shares which may be issued may not
exceed 100,000 shares. This plan has been approved by our shareholders. In each of 2007, 2006 and 2005, 10,000
shares of common stock were awarded to new directors from this plan. As of December 31, 2007, there were
60,000 shares remaining available for issuance under this plan.

Under Chesapeake's 2002 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan and 1992 Nonstatutory Stock Option
Plan, we granted nonqualified options to purchase our common stock to members of our Board of Directors who
are not Chesapeake employees. Subject to any adjustments provided for in the plans, the 2002 plan and the 1992
plan covered a maximum of 500,000 shares and 3,132,000 shares, respectively. The 1992 plan terminated in
December 2002 and the 2002 plan terminated in June 2005. Pursuant to a formula award provision in the plans,
each non-employee director received a quarterly grant of a ten-year immediately exercisable option to purchase
shares of common stock at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the shares on the date of grant. Both
plans were approved by our shareholders.

In addition 10 the plans described above, we have stock options outstanding to employees under 2 number of
employee stock option plans which are described below. All outstanding options under these plans were
at-the-money when granted, with an exercise price equal to the closing price of our common stock on the date of
grant and have a ten-year exercise period. These plans were terminated in June 2005 (with the exception of the
1994 plan which expired in October 2004) and therefore no shares remain available for stock option grants under
the plans.

Type of Shareholder

Name of Plan Eligible Participants Options Shares Covered Approved
2002 and 2001 Stock Option Incentive and

Plans ............c..... Employees and consultants  nonqualified 3,000,000/3,200,000 Yes
2002 and 2001 Nonqualified '

Stock Option Plans . ... .. Employees and consultants Nonqualified 4.000,000/3,000,000 No
2000 and 1999 Employee

Stock Option Plans ... ... Employees and consultants  Nonqualified 3,000,000 (each plan) No
1996 and 1994 Stock Option Incentive and

Plans ................. Employees and consultants  nonqualified 6,000,000/4,886,910 Yes

Restricted Stock

Chesapeake began issuing shares of restricted common stock to employees in January 2004 and to
non-employee directors in July 2005. The fair value of the awards issued is determined based on the fair market
vatue of the shares on the date of grant. This value is amortized over the vesting period, which is generally four
years from the date of grant for employees and three years for non-employee directors. To the extent
amortization of compensation cost relates to employees directly involved in acquisition, exploration and
development activities, such amounts are capitalized to oil and natural gas properties. Amounts not capitalized to
oil and natural gas properties are recognized in general and administrative expense or production expense. Note 1
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details the accounting for our stock-based compensation expense in 2007, 2006 and 2005. As of December 31,
2005, the unamortized balance of unearned compensation recorded as a reduction of siockholders’ equity was
$89 million, Upon adoption of SFAS 123(R) in January 2006, we eliminated the unamortized balance of
unearned compensation in stockholders’ equity ($89 million) and reduced additional paid-in capital by the same
amount on our consolidated balance sheet.

A summary of the status of the unvested shares of restricted stock and changes during 2007, 2006 and 2005
is presented below:

Number of Weighted Average

Unvested Grant-Date

Restricted Shares Fair Value
Unvested shares as of January 1,2007 ....... ... o it 7,074.761 $25.85
Granted . .. ... e e e e 15,560,570 34.25
VESted L e e e (2,255,384) 24.34
Forfeited . .. ... ... . M) 33.29
Unvested shares as of December 31,2007 ......... . .. i, 19,688,759 $32.42
Unvested shares as of January 1,2006 . ... ... .. ... . e 5,805,210 $18.38
Granted . ... .. e e e 4,392,270 31.77
VEsted L e e e e (2,818,249) 19.78
Forfeited . ... e e (304,470) 25.04
Unvested shares as of December 31,2006 . .......... .. ... ... ... .. ... 7,074,761 $25.85
Unvested shares as of Janvary 1,2005 ........... .. ... ... .. ... . ... 2,684,850 $14.35
Granted . ... e e e e e 3,940,405 20.41
Vested . e {739,255) 14.71
Forfelted . .. e e (80,790) 17.09

Unvested shares as of December 31,2005 . ... .. i, 5,805,210 $18.38

The aggregate intrinsic value of restricted stock vested during 2007 was approximately $73 million.

As of December 31, 2007, there was $565 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to
unvested restricted stock. The cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.11 years.

The vesting of certain restricted stock grants results in state and federal income tax henefits related to the
difference between the market price of the common stock at the date of vesting and the date of grant. During the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, we recognized excess tax benefits related to restricted stock of
$5 million, $4 million and $2 million, respectively, which were recorded as adjustments 1o additional paid-in
capital and deferred income taxes with respect to such benefits.

Our President and Chief Operating Officer, Tom L. Ward, resigned as a director. officer and employee of
the company effective February 10, 2006. Mr. Ward’s Resignation Agreement provided for the immediate
vesting of all of his unvested equity awards, which consisted of options to purchase 724,615 shares of
Chesapeake’s common stock at an average exercise price of $8.01 per share and 1,291,875 shares of restricted
common stock. As a result of this vesting, we incurred an expense of $55 million in 2006. -
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Stock Options

We granted stock options prior to 2006 under several stock compensation plans. Outstanding options expire
ten years from the date of grant and become exercisable over a four-year period.

The following table provides information related to stock option activity for 2007, 2006 and 2005:

Weighted

Average

Contract
Life in Years

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value (a)
($ in millions)

Weighted
Number of Average
Shares Exercise
Underlying Price
Options Per Share
Outstanding at January 1,2007 ... .................. 6,605703 § 743
Exercised . ... .. .. . (2,146,640) 7.16
Forfeited/ Canceled .......... ... ... ... ... .. ... (13,608) 9.90
Quistanding at December 31,2007 .. ... ..o o 4445455 § 7.55
Exercisable at December 31,2007 ..., ... ... .. ... 4422519 % 7.51
Shares authorized for future grants ................... 2,460,562
Fair value of options granted during period ............ $ —
Quistanding at January 1,2006 .................. ..., 20,256,013  $ 6.14
Exercised . ... .. ... .. e (13,494,835) 5.34
Forfeited/ Canceled ........................... (155,475) 20.22
Outstanding at December 31,2006 ................... 6,605,703 $ 743
Exercisable at December 31,2006 ................... 5,337,153 % 7.02
Shares authorized for future grants .. ................. 6,719,642
Fair value of options granted during period ............ 5 —
Qutstanding at Januvary 1,2005 ...................... 24228464 5 6.00
Granted .. ..o e e 177,500 18.67
Exercised . ... ... e (4,032,180) 5.78
Forfeited/ Canceled . ......... ... ... .. ...... (117,771) 8.51
Outstanding at December 31,2005 ................... 20,256,013 § 6.14
Exercisable at December 31,2005 ... ... . ......... 15,960,440 § 5.57
Shares authorized for future grants ................... 6,452,444
Fair value of options granted during period ............ 3 6.21

437
4.36

5.36
'5.14

$ 6l

5141
$140

$352

$143
b1IR

(a) The intrinsic value of a stock option is the amount by which the current market value or the market value
upon exercise of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price of the option.

As of December 31, 2007, unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options was not

significant.

During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, we recognized excess tax benefits related to
stock options of $15 million, $84 million and $16 million, respectively, which were recorded as adjustments to
additional paid-in capital and deferred income taxes with respect to such benefits.
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2007:

Outstanding Options Options Exercisable
Weighted-Avg.
Range of Number Remaining Weighted-Avg. * Number Weighted-Avg.
Exercise Prices Qutstanding Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercisable . Exercise Price
$094-5% 4.00 458,063 1.75 $ 265 458,063 $ 2.65
3.20- 520 502,623 4.56 5.20 502,623 5.20
535- 589 313,277 2.98 5.57 313,277 5.57
6.11- 611 942,023 376 6.11 942,023 6.11
640- 774 172,377 375 6.92 172,377 6.92
7.80- 7.80 663,684 5.01 7.80 663,684 7.80
7.86 - 10.01 184,331 4.75 8.51 184,331 8.51
10.08 — 10.08 738,818 5.47 10.08 738,818 10.08
10.10 - 16.08 414,009 6.22 ‘ 13.48 391,073 13.44
2249~ 2249 56,250 7.25 22.49 56,250 22.49

$ 0.94 -%22.49 4,445 455 4.37 $ 7.55 © 4,422,519 $ 7.51

Shareholder Rights Plan

Chesapeake maintains a shareholder rights plan designed to deter coercive or unfair takeover tactics, to
prevent a person or group from gaining control of Chesapeake without offering fair value to all shareholders and
to deter other abusive takeover tactics which are not in the best interest of shareholders.

Under the terms of the plan, each share of common stock is accompanied by one right, which given certain
acquisition and business combination criteria, entitles the shareholder to purchase from Chesapeake one
one-thousandth of a newly issued share of Series A preferred stock at a price of $25.00, subject to adjustment by
Chesapeake,

The rights become exercisable 10 days after Chesapeake learns that an acquiring person (as defined in the
plan) has acquired 15% or more of the outstanding common stock of Chesapeake or 1} business days after the
commencement of a tender offer which would result in a person owning 15% or more of such shares, Chesapeake
may redeem the rights for $0.01 per right within ten days following the time Chesapeake learns that a person has
become an acquiring person. The rights will expire on July 27, 2008, unless redeemed earlier by Chesapeake.

10. Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities
Oil and Natural Gas Hedging Activities

Our results of operations and operating cash flows are impacted by changes in market prices for oil and
natural gas. To mitigate a portion of the exposure to adverse market changes, we have entered into various
derivative instruments. As of December 31, 2007, our oil and natural gas derivative instruments were comprised
of swaps, basis protection swaps, knockout swaps, cap-swaps, call options and collars. These instruments allow
us to predict with greater certainty the effective oil and natural gas prices to be received for our hedged
production. Although derivatives often fail to achieve 100% effectiveness for accounting purposes, we believe
our derivative instruments continue to be highly effective in achieving the risk management objectives for which
they were intended.

* For swap instruments, Chesapeake receives a fixed price for the hedged commedity and pays a floating
market price to the counterparty. The fixed-price payment and the floating-price payment are netted,
resulting in a net amount due to or from the counterparty.
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+ Basis protection swaps are arrangements that guarantee a price differential for oil or natural gas from a
specified delivery point. For Mid-Continent basis protection swaps, which have negative differentials
to NYMEX, Chesapeake receives a payment from the counterparty if the price differential is greater
than the stated terms of the contract and pays the counterparty if the price differential is less than the
stated terms of the contract. For Appalachian Basin basis protection swaps, which have positive
differentials to NYMEX, Chesapeake receives a payment from the counterparty if the price differential
is less than the stated terms of the contract and pays the counterparty if the price differential is greater
than the stated terms of the contract.

»  For knockout swaps, Chesapeake receives a fixed price and pays a floating market price. The fixed
price received by Chesapeake includes a premium in exchange for the possibility to reduce the
counterparty’s exposure to zero, in any given month, if the floating market price is fower than certain
pre-determined knockout prices.

*  For cap-swaps, Chesapeake receives a fixed price and pays a floating market price. The fixed price
received by Chesapeake includes a premium in exchange for a “cap” limiting the counterparty’s
exposure. In other words, there is no limit to Chesapeake's exposure but there is a limit to the downside
exposure of the counterparty.

+ For call options, Chesapeake receives a premium from the counterparty in exchange for the sale of a
call option. If the market price exceeds the fixed price of the call option, Chesapeake pays the
counterparty such excess. If the market price settles below the fixed price of the call option, no
payment is due from Chesapeake.

+ Collars contain a fixed floor price (put) and ceiling price (call). If the market price exceeds the call
strike price or falis below the put strike price, Chesapeake receives the fixed price and pays the market
price. If the market price is between the call and the put surike price, no payments are due from either

party.

Chesapeake enters into counter-swaps from time to time for the purpose of locking-in the value of a swap.
Under the counter-swap, Chesapeake receives a floating price for the hedged commodity and pays a fixed price
1o the counterparty. The counter-swap is 100% effective in locking-in the value of a swap since subsequent
changes in the market value of the swap are entirely offset by subsequent changes in the market value of the
counter-swap. We refer to this locked-in value as a locked swap. Generally, at the time Chesapeake enters into a
counter-swap, Chesapeake removes the original swap’s designation as a cash flow hedge and classifies the
original swap as a non-qualifying hedge under SFAS 133. The reason for this new designation is that collectively
the swap and the counter-swap no longer hedge the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows. Instead,
the swap and counter-swap effectively tock-in a specific gain (or ioss) that will be unaffected by subsequent
variability in oil and natural gas prices. Any locked-in gain or loss is recorded in accumulated other
comprehenstve income and reclassified to oil and natural gas sales in the month of related production.

With respect to counter-swaps that are designed to lock-in the value of cap-swaps, the counter-swap is
effective in locking-in the value of the cap-swap until the floating price reaches the cap {or floor) stipulated in the
cap-swap agreement. The value of the counter-swap will increase (or decrease), but in the opposite direction, as
the value of the cap-swap decreases (or increases) until the floating price reaches the pre-determined cap {(or
fioor) stipulated in the cap-swap agreement. However, because of the written put option embedded in the
cap-swap, the changes in value of the cap-swap are not completely effective in offsetting changes in value of the
corresponding counter-swap. Changes in the value of cap-swaps and counter-swaps are recorded as adjustments
to oil and natural gas sales.
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In accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 39, to the extent that a legal right of set-off exists, Chesapeake
nets the value of its derivative arrangements with the same counterparty in the accompanying condensed
consolidated balance sheets.

Gains or losses from certain derivative transactions are reflected as adjustmenis to cil and natural gas sales on the
consolidated statements of operations. Realized gains (losses) are included in oil and naturat gas sales in the month of
related production. Pursuant to SFAS 133, certain derivatives do not qualify for designation as cash flow hedges.
Changes in the fair value of these non-qualifying derivatives that occur prior to their maturity (ie., temporary
fluctuations in value) are reported currently in the consolidated statements of operations as unrealized gains (losses)
within oil and natural gas sales. Following provisions of SFAS 133, changes in the fair value of derivative instruments
designated as cash flow hedges, to the extent they are effective in offsetting cash flows attributable 1o the hedged risk,
are recorded in other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings. Any change in fair value
resulting from ineffectiveness is recognized currently in oil and natural gas sales as unrealized gains (losses). The
components of oil and natural gas sales for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 are presented below,

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(% in millions)
Oil and natural gas sales . ... ... . . ... . . $4,795 $3,870 $3,633
Realized gains on oil and natural gas derivatives .................. 1,203 1,254 (401)
Unrealized gains (losses) on non-qualifying oil and natural gas
derivatives ... . i e e (252) 184 117
Unrealized gains {losses) on ineffectiveness of cash flow hedges . ... .. (122) 311 (76)
Total oil and natural gas sales ............................. $5,624  $5,619 $3,273

The estimated fair values of our oil and natural gas derivative instruments as of December 31, 2007 and
2006 are provided below. The associated carrying values of these instruments are equal to the estimated fair
values. '

December 31, December 31,
2007 2006
($ in millions)

Derivative assets (liabilities):

Fixed-price natural gas SWaps ... ... eteriii $ (54 51
Natural gas basis protection SWaps . ..... ...t enriineneeiiis 151 187
Fixed-price natural gas knockout swaps ............... .. ..o 108 122
Fixed-price natural gas counter-swaps . .........couirviennnrrrinnnein... — (5)
Natural gas call options (a} .......... .. ... ... .. . ... . i, (2300 3)
Fixed-price natural gascollars (b) . ... ... ... ... ... .. . .. 4 (7
Fixed-price oil swaps . ... ... . (110) 28
Fixed-price oil cap-swaps . ........ .. . ... . . (17 24
Fixed-price oil knockout swaps ...... ... .. .. .. . i {125) —
Oil call options (T} .. oo it i (96) —
Estimated fair value . . ... ... $(369) $345

(a) After adjusting for $255 million and $15 million of unrealized premiums, the cumulative unrealized gain
(loss) related to these call options as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $25 million and $10 million,
respectively.

(b) After adjusting for $8 million of unrealized discount, the comulative unrealized loss related to these collars
as of December 31, 2007 was $4 million.

(c) After adjusting for $29 million of unrealized premiums, the cumulative unrealized loss related to these call
options as of December 31, 2007 was ($67) million.
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In 2006 and 2007, Chesapeake lifted or assigned a portion of its 2008 through 2022 hedges and as a result
has approximately $215 million of deferred hedging gains as of December 31, 2007, These gains have been
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income or as an unrealized gain in oi] and natural gas sales. For
amounts originally recorded in other comprehensive income, the gain will be recognized in oil and natural gas
sales in the month of the hedged production. :

Based upon the market prices at December 31, 2007, we expect to transfer approximately $127 million (net
of income taxes) of the gain included in the balance in accumulated other comprehensive income to earnings
during the next 12 months in the related month of production. All transactions hedged as of December 31, 2007
are expected to mature by December 31, 2022,

We have six secured hedging facilities, each of which permits us to enter into cash-settled oil and natural gas
commodity transactions, valued by the counterparty, for up to a maximum value. Outstanding transactions under each
facility are collateralized by certain of our oil and natural gas properties that do not secure any of our other obligations.
The hedging facilities are subject to a per annum exposure fee, which is assessed quarterly based on the average of the
daily negative fair value amounts of the hedges, if any, during the quarter. The hedging facilities contain the standard
representations and default provisions that are typical of such agreements. The agreements also contain various
restrictive provisions which govern the aggregate oi! and natural gas production volumes that we are permitted to
hedge under all of our agreements at any one time. The maximum permitted value of transactions under each facility,
per annum exposure fees, scheduled maturity dates and the fair value of outstanding transactions are shown below.

Secured Hedging Facilities (a)
#1 #2 #3 #4 #5 #6
(% in millions)

Maximum permitted value of transactions under

facility ... o $ 750 $ 500 $500 %250 $500 $ 500
Perannumexposurefee .. ........ ... ool 1% 1% 1% 08% 08% 0.8%
Scheduled maturitydate ........................ 2010 2010 2011 2012 2012 2012
Fair value of ountstanding transactions, as of

December 31,2007 ... ... ool $ 1 $(144) $ 97y S (19 $ (37) § (53)

(a) Chesapeake Exploration, L.L.C. is the named party to the facilities numbered 1-3 and Chesapeake Energy
Corporation is the named party to the facilities numbered 4-6.

We assumed certain liabilities related to open derivative positions in connection with our acquisition of
Columbia Natural Resources, LLC in November 2005. In accordance with SFAS 141, these derivative positions
were recorded at fair value in the purchase price allocation as a liability of $592 million. The recognition of the
derivative liability and other assumed liabilities resulted in an increase in the total purchase price which was
allocated to the assets acquired. Because of this accounting treatment, only cash settlements for changes in fair
value subsequent to the acquisition date for the derivative positions assumed result in adjustments to our oil and
natural gas revenues upon settlement. For example, if the fair value of the derivative positions assumed does not
change, then upon the sale of the underlying production and corresponding settlement of the derivative positions,
cash would be paid to the counterparties and there would be no adjustment to oil and natural gas revenues related
to the derivative positions. If, however, the actual sales price is different from the price assumed in the original
fair value calculation, the difference would be reflected as either a decrease or increase in oil.and natural gas
revenues, depending upon whether the sales price was higher or lower, respectively, than the prices assumed in
the original fair value calculation. For accounting purposes, the net effect of these acquired hedges is that we
hedged the production volumes at market prices on the date of our acquisition of CNR.
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Pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 149, Amendment of SFAS 133 on Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities, the derivative insiruments assumed in connection with the CNR acquisition
are deemed to contain a significant financing element, and all cash flows associated with these positions are
reported as financing activity in the statement of cash flows for the periods in which settlement occurs, The
aggregate fair value of the remaining CNR derivatives as of December 31, 2007 was a liability of $184 million.

Interest Rate Derivatives

We use interest rate derivatives to mitigate our exposure to the volatility in interest rates. For interest rate
derivative instruments designated as fair value hedges (in accordance with SFAS 133), changes in fair value are
recorded on the consolidated balance sheets as assets (liabilities), and the debt’s carrying value amount is adjusted
by the change in the fair value of the debt subsequent to the initiation of the derivative. Changes in the fair value of
derivative instruments not qualifying as fair value hedges are recorded currently as adjustments to interest expense.

Gains or losses from derivative transactions are reflected as adjustments to interest expense on the
consolidated statements of operations. Realized gains (losses) included in interest expense were ($1) million, ($2)
miilion and $5 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Pursuant to SFAS 133, certain derivatives do not
qualify for designation as fair value hedges. Changes in the fair value of these non-qualifying derivatives that
occur prior to their maturity (i.e., temporary fluctuations in value) are reported currently in the consolidated
statements of operations as unrealized gains (losses) within interest expense. Unrealized gains (losses) included
in interest expense were ($40) million, $2 million and $2 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

~ As of December 3 i, 2007, the following interest rate derivatives were outstanding:

Notional Weighted Net Fuir
Amount  Average Weighted Fair  Premiums Value
(§in Fixed Weighted Average  Average Cap/ Value ($in ($in
millions) Rate Floating Rate Floor Rate Hedge millions} millions)
Fixed to Floating Swaps:
July 2005 — January 2018 ..., ... $1,500 6.750% 6 monmh LIBOR — Yes Fo 328
. plus 164 basis points
September 2004 - July 2013 .., .. $ 325 7.942% 6 momh LIBOR — No — 9

plus 297 basis points
Floating to Fixed Swaps: . . :
August 2007 - July 2010 . ........ $ 750 4.803% 3 month LIBOR — No — (14)

Call Options:

August 2007 - February 2008 .. ... $ 750 6.875% — — No 6 (32)

Collars: . .

August 2007 - August 2010 . ..., .. 31,075 — — 531%-432%  No — {20)
$ 6

s29)

ll

In 2007, we sold call options on six of our interest rate swaps and received $11 million in premiums. Two of
the options expired unexercised in 2007.

In 2007, we closed ten interest rate swaps for gains totaling $18 million. These interest rate swaps were
designated as fair value hedges, and the settlement amounts received will be amortized as a reduction to realized
interest expense over the remaining term of the related senior notes.
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Foreign Currency Derivatives

On December 6, 2006, we issued €600 million of 6.25% Euro-denominated Senior Notes due
2017. Concurrent with the issuance of the euro-denominated senior notes, we entered into a cross currency swap to
mitigate our exposure to fluctuations in the euro relative to the dollar over the term of the notes. Under the terms of
the cross currency swap, on each semi-annual interest payment date, the counterparties will pay Chesapeake
€19 miilion and Chesapeake will pay the counterparties $30 million, which will yield an annual dollar-equivalent
interest rate of 7.491%. Upon maturity of the notes. the counterparties will pay Chesapeake €600 million and
Chesapeake will pay the counterparties $800 million. The terms of the cross currency swap were based on the
dollar/euro exchange rate on the issuance date of $1.3325 to €1.00. Through the cross currency swap, we have
eliminated any potential variability in Chesapeake’s expected cash flows related to changes in foreign exchange
rates and therefore the swap qualifies as a cash flow hedge under SFAS 133, The euro-denominated debt is recorded
in notes payable (3876 million at December 31, 2007) using an exchange rate of $1.4603 to €1.00. The fair value of
the cross currency swap is recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as an asset of $23 million at December 31,
2007. The translation adjustment to notes payable is completely offset by the fair value of the cross currency swap
and therefore there is no impact to the consolidated statement of operations. The remaining value of the cross
currency swap related to future interest payments is reported in other comprehensive income.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following disclosure of the estimated fair value of financial instruments is made in accordance with the
requirements of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 107, Disclosures About Fair Value of
Financial Instruments, We have determined the estimated fair values by using available market information and
valuation methodologies. Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop the estimates
of fair value. The use of different market ussumptions or valuation methodologies may have a material effect on
the estimated fair value amounts.

The carrying values of financial instruments comprising current assets and current liabilities approximate
fair values due 1o the short-term maturities of these instruments. We estimate the fair value of our long-term
fixed-rate debt and our convertible preferred stock using primarily quoted market prices. Our carrying amounts
for such debt, excluding the impact of interest rate derivatives, at December 31, 2007 and 2006 were $8.9 billion
and §7.2 billion, respectively, compared to approximate fair vajues of $9.2 billion and $7.3 billion, respectively.
The carrying amounts for our convertible preferred stock as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 were $960 million
and $2.0 billion, respectively, compared to approximate fair values of $1.0 billion and $1.9 billion, respectively.

Concentration of Credit Risk

A significant portion of our liquidity is concentrated in derivative instruments that enable us to hedge a
portion of our exposure to price volatility from producing oil and natural gas. These arrangements expose us to
credit risk from our counterparties. Other financial instruments which potentially subject us to concentrations of
credit risk consist principally of investments in equity instruments and accounts receivable, Our accounts
receivable are primarily from purchasers of oil and natural gas products and exploration and production
companies which own interests in properties we operate. This industry concentration has the potential to impact
our overall exposure to credit risk, either positively or negatively, in that our customers may be similarly affected
by changes in economic, industry or other conditions. We generally require letiers of credit for receivables from
customers which are judged to have sub-standard credit, unless the credit risk can otherwise be mitigated.
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11. Supplemental Disclosures About Oil And Natural Gas Producing Activities
- -Net Capitalized Costs

Evaluated and unevaluated capitalized costs related to Chesapeake’s oil and natural gas producing activities
are summarized as follows:

December 31,
2007 2006
($ in millions}

Oil and natural gas properties:

Proved ... .. . . . $27,656  $21,949
Unproved .. ... . e e 5,641 3,797
Total .. . 33,297 25,746

Less accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization . ... .. ... (7,112) (5,292)
Net capitalized costs ........ e $26,185 320,454

Unproved properties not subject to amortization at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 consisted mainly of
leasehold acquired through corporate and significant 0i} and natural gas property acquisitions and through direct
purchases of leasehold. We capitalized approximately $269 million, $179 miliion and $79 million of interest
during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, on significant investments in unproved properties that were not yet
included in the amortization base of the full-cost pool. We will continue to evaluate our unevaluated properties;
however, the timing of the ultimate evaluation and disposition of the properties has not been determined.
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' Costs Incurred in Oil and Natural Gas Acquisition, Exploration and Development

Costs incurred in oil and natural gas property acquisition, exploration and development activities which
have been capitalized are summarized as follows:

December 31,
2007 2006 2005
(% in millions)

i Development and exploration costs:
Development drilling (8) ....... ... .. oo i $4.402 $2,772 $1.,567
Exploratory drilling ... ... ... i i e 6353 349 253
‘ Geological and geophysical costs (b) ........... e 343 154 71
Asset retirement obligationand other . ....... .. ... .. o i il 29 23 52
Total . e 5427 3298 1943

Acquisition costs:

Proved properties . ... ... ... e 671 1,175 3,554
Unproved properties (C) .. ... .ottt i e e s 2465 3473 1,667
Deferred income taxes . ...ttt it i i e e 131 180 252
Total . e 3,267 4828 5473
1 - $8,694 $8,126 $7.416

(a} Includes capitalized internal cost of $243 million, $147 million and $94 million, respectively.
{b) Includes capitalized internal cost of $19 million, $13 million and $8 million, respectively.
{c) Includes costs to acquire new leasehold, unproved properties and related capitalized interest.

Results of Operations from Oil and Natural Gas Producing Activities (unaudited)

Chesapeake’s results of operations from oil and natural gas producing activities are presented below for
2007, 2006 and 2005. The following table includes revenues and expenses associated directly with our oil and
natural gas producing activities. It does not include any interest costs or general and administrative costs and,
therefore, is not necessarily indicative of the contribution to consolidated net operating results of our oil and
natural gas operations.

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(% in milliony)
Oil and patural gas sales (a) ... ... .. .. .. i s $5624 §5619 §3273
Producion BXPEMSES . . . ..ottt e e s (640) 490y GI7
Production taxesy . ... .. . e (216) (176)  (208)
Depletion and depreciation ... ... ... o e (1,835 (1,359 (894}
Imputed income tax provision (b} ... .. .. . e (1,115 (1,383y (677) |
Results of operations from oil and natural gas producing activities .............. $ 1,818 $2211 $1,177

(a) Includes ($374) million, $495 million and $41 million of unrealized gains (losses) on oil and natural gas ‘
derivatives for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. |
(b) The imputed income tax provision is hypothetical (at the effective income tax rate) and determined without |
regard to our deduction for general and administrative expenses, interest costs and other income tax credits '
and deductions, nor whether the hypothetical tax provision will be payable. !
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Oil and Natural Gas Reserve Quantities (unaudited)

Independent petroleum engineers and Chesapeake’s petroleum engineers have evaluated our proved
reserves. The portion of the proved reserves (by volume} evaluated by each for 2007, 2006 and 2005 is presented
below.

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

Netherland, Sewell & Assoctates, Inc. .......... ... .. ... ... ... ... 34%  32%  25%
Data and Consulting Services, Division of Schlumberger Technology

COMPOration .. ... ittt e e e 12 16 16
Lee Keeling and Associates, Inc. .......... ... ... i i 14 15
Ryder Scott Company L.P. ... ... . e 11 10 12
LaRoche Petroleum Consultants, Ltd. .. ....... .. ... .. ... ... .. ...... i 8 8
H.J. Gruy and Associates, Inc. . ... ... i e —_ — 2
Internal petroleum engineers ....... ... i 2t 20 22

100% 100%  100%

The information below on our oil and natural gas reserves is presented in accordance with regulations
prescribed by the Securities and Exchange Commission. Chesapeake emphasizes that reserve estimates are
inherently imprecise. Qur reserve estimates were generally based upon extrapolation of historical production
trends, analogy to similar properties and velumetric calculations. Accordingly, these estimates are expected to
change, and such changes could be material and occur in the near term as future information becomes available.

Proved oil and natural gas reserves represent the estimated quantities of crude oil, natural gas, and natural
gas liquids which geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in
future years from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions, i.e., prices and costs as of
the date the estimate is made. Reservoirs are considered proved if economic producibility is supported by either
actual production or conclusive formation test. The area of a reservoir considered proved includes (a) that portion
delineated by drilling and defined by natural gas-oil and/or oil-water contacts, if any, and (b) the immediately
adjoining portions not yet drilled, but which can be reasonably judged as economically productive on the basis of
available geological and engineering data. In the absence of information on fluid contacts, the lowest known
structural occurrence of hydrocarbons controts the lower proved limit of the reservoir, Reserves which can be
produced economically through application of improved recovery techniques (such as fluid injeciion) are
included in the “proved” classification when successful testing by a pilot project, or the operation of an installed
program in the reservoir, provides support for the engineering analysis on which the project or program was
based.

Proved developed oil and natural gas reserves are those expected to be recovered through existing wells
with existing equipment and operating methods. Additional oil and natural gas expected to be obtained through
the application of fluid injection or other improved recovery techniques for supplementing the natural forces and
mechanisms of primary recovery should be included as “proved developed reserves™ only after testing by a pilot
project or after the operation of an installed program has confirmed through production responses that increased
recovery will be achieved.
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Presented below is a summary of changes in estimated reserves of Chesapeake for 2007, 2006 and 2005:

Oil - Gas Total
(mbbl) (mmcf) (mmcfe)

December 31, 2007
Proved reserves, beginning of period ... ........ ... ... .. 106,030 8,319,434 8,955,614
Extensions, discoveries and other additions . . . ............ 11,644 1,053,123 1,122,986
Revisions of previous estimates ... ...............oa.. .. 7,732 1,298,802 1,345,195
Production ... ...t (9,882) (654,969) (714,261)
Sale of reserves-in-place .......... ... .. ... L — (208,141) (208,141)
Purchase of reserves-in-place .. .............. ... ... ... 8,030 329,050 377,230
Proved reserves, endof pertod .. .. ... ... ... . 123,554 10,137,299 10,878,623
Proved developed reserves: :

Beginning of period .. ....... ... .. ... oL 76,705 5,113,211 5,573,441

Endofperiod ........ ... i, 88,834 6,408,622 6,941,626
December 31, 2006
Proved reserves, beginning of period . ................... 103,323 6,900,754 7,520,690
Extensions, discoveries and other additions . . ............. 8,456 777,858 828,594
Revisions of previous estimates ........................ (3,822) 539,606 516,676
Production ..........ci i e (8,654) (526,459) (578,383)
Sale of reserves-in-place ......... . ... .. ... .., {3) (123) (141)
Purchase of reserves-in-place . ... ........ .. ... ... ..., 6,730 627,798 668,178
Proved reserves,endof period . .............. ... ... 106,030 8,319,434 8,955,614
Proved developed reserves:

Beginningof period .......... ... ... ... o 76,238 - 4,442,270 4,899,694

Endofperiod . ... ... .o i 76,705 5,113,211 5,573,441
December 31, 2005
Proved reserves, beginning of period . .. ... ... ... .. ... 87.960 4,373,989 4,901,751
Extensions, discoveries and other additions . . ............. 12,460 930,800 1,005,563
Revisions of previous estimates .. ...................... (2,123) 53.950 41,204
Production .......... i e (7.698) (422,389) (468,577
Sale of reserves-in-place .......... .. ... ... (26) (332) (486)
Purchase of reserves-in-place . .. ..... .. ... ... ....... 12,750 1,964,736 2,041,235
Proved reserves, end of period . ... ... .. oL 103,323 6,900,754 7.520,690
Proved developed reserves: .

Beginning of period ........... .. ... ... . L. 62,713 2,842 141 3218418

Endofperiod ..... .. ... ... 76,238 4,442 270 4,899,694

During 2007, Chesapeake acquired approximately 377 bcfe of proved reserves through purchases of oil and
natural gas properties for consideration of $671 million (primarily in 10 separate transactions of greater than $10
million each). In December 2007, we sold 208 befe of our proved reserves and production in certain Chesapeake-
operated producing assets in Kentucky and West Virginia for approximately 31.1 billion. During 2007, we
recorded positive revisions of 1.345 tcfe to the December 31, 2006 estimates of our reserves. Included in the
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revisions were 97 befe of positive adjustments caused by higher natural gas prices at December 31, 2007, and
1.248 tcfe of positive performance related revisions of which 1.207 tcfe relate to infill drilling and increased
density locations. Higher prices extend the economic lives of the underlying oil and natural gas properties and
thereby increase the estimated future reserves. The weighted average oil and natural gas wellhead prices used in
computing our reserves were $90.58 per bbl and $6.19 per mcf at December 31, 2007,

During 2006, Chesapeake acquired approximately 668 befe of proved reserves through purchases of oil and
natural gas properties for consideration of $1.176 billion (primarily in 15 separate transactions of greater than
$10 million each). During 2006, we recorded upward revisions of 517 befe to the December 31, 2005 estimates
of our reserves. Included in the revisions were 212 befe of downward adjustments caused by lower natural gas
prices at December 31, 2006, offset by 729 befe of positive performance related revisions of which 710 befe
relate to infill drilling and increased density locations. Lower prices reduce the economic lives of the underlying
oil and natural gas properties and thereby decrease the estimated future reserves. The weighted average oil and
natural gas wellhead prices used in computing our reserves were $356.25 per bbl and $541 per mcf at
December 31, 2006.

During 2005, Chesapeake acquired approximately 2.041 tcfe of proved reserves through purchases of oil
and natural gas properties for consideration of $3.806 billion (primarily in 18 separate transactions of greater
than $10 million each). During 2005, we recorded upward revisions of 41 befe to the December 31, 2004
estimates of our reserves. Approximately 24 befe of the upward revisions was caused by higher oil and natural
gas prices at December 31, 2005. Higher prices extend the economic lives of the underlying oil and natural gas
properties and thereby increase the estimated future reserves. The weighted average oil and natural gas wellhead
prices used in computing our reserves were $56.41 per bbl and $8.76 per mef a1t December 31, 2005.

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows (unaudited)

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 69 prescribes guidelines for computing a standardized
measure of future net cash flows and changes therein relating to estimated proved reserves. Chesapeake has
followed these guidelines which are briefly discussed below.

Future cash inflows and future production and development costs are determined by applying year-end
prices and costs to the estimated quantities of oil and natural gas to be produced. Actual future prices and costs
may be materially higher or lower than the yeur-end prices and costs used. Estimates are made of quantities of
proved reserves and the future periods during which they are expected to be produced based on year-end
economic conditions. Estimated future income taxes are computed using current statutory income tax rates
including consideration for the current tax basis of the properties and related carryforwards, giving effect to
permanent differences and tax credits. The resulting future net cash flows are reduced to present value amounts
by applying a 10% annual discount factor.

The assumptions used to compute the standardized measure are those prescribed by the Financial
Accounting Standards Board and, as such, do not necessarily reflect our expectlations of actual revenue to be
derived from those reserves nor their preseat worth. The limitations inherent in the reserve quantity estimation
process, as discussed previously, are equally applicable to the standardized measure computations since these
estimates reflect the valuation process.
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The following summary sets forth our future net cash flows relating to proved oil and natural gas reserves
based on the standardized measure prescribed in SFAS 69:

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
($ in milliens)

Future cash inflows ... ... .. e $ 73,955(a) $ 50,984(b) $ 66,287(c)
Future production costs ........ .. ... .. i i (19.319)  (13,790)  (14,795)
Future development costs . . ....... ... ... i (8.315) (6,804) (4,676)
Future income tax provisions ......... ... .. it (14,056) (8.877)  (14,856)
Future netcashflows ......... ... ... i, 32,265 21,513 31,960
Less effect of a 10% discount factor . ......... .. .couvv.nn. (17,303)  (11,506) (15,992)
Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows ...... $14962 $ 10,007 § 15968

(a) Calculated using weighted average prices of $90.58 per barrel of oil and $6.19 per mcf of natural gas.
(h) Calculated using weighted average prices of $56.25 per barrel of vil and $5.41 per mef of natural gas.
(c) Calculated using weighted average prices of $56.41 per barrel of oil and $8.76 per mcf of natural gas

The principal sources of change in the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows are as
follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
{$ in millions)

Standardized measure, beginning of period {a) ................ 310,007 $15968 § 7,646
Sales of oil and natural gas produced, net of production

COSES (D) o e (3,939) (3,204) (3,108)
Net changes in prices and productioncosts ................... 327 (10,954) 3,249
Extensions and discoveries, net of production and-development

COBES vttt e e e 2.424 1,184 3,145
Changes in future developmentcosts ........................ (639) (743) (151)
Development costs incurred during the period that reduced future

development costs .. ........... . ... L 1.410 954 491
Revisions of previous quantity estimates . .................... 2,960 948 123
Purchase of reserves-in-place ........... ... ... ..., 1,166 1,135 6,252
Sales of reserves-in-place ..................... e (708) — (1)
Accretion of discount . . ... ... ... ... ... 1,365 2,293 1,050
Net change in INCOME LAXES . ... . ... i, - (1,970) 3,325 4,107)
Changes in production rates andother ....................... 390 (899) 1,379
Standardized measure, end of peried (@) .............. e $14962 $ 10,007 $15,968

(a) The discounted amounts related to cash flow hedges that would affect future net cash flows have not been
included in any of the periods presented.
(b) Excluding gains (losses) on derivatives.
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12. Asset Retirement Obligations
The components of the change in our asset retirement obligations are shown below:

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006
($ in millions)

Asset retirement obligations, beginning of period . ..................... $193 $157
CAAdILONS ... e 19 22
ReviSIONS () . i e e 10 3
Settlements and disposals . .. ... .. . ool n {1}
ACCIETION EXPENSE ...t v ittt it _15 12
Asset retirement obligations, end of period . ....... ... ... o $236 $193

(2) Based on increasing service costs, we revised our asset retirement obligation related to oil and natural gas
wells in 2007 and 2006.

13. Divestitures
Divestitures

Producing Property Sale.  In December 2007, we sold a portion of our proved reserves and production in certain
Chesapeake-operated producing assets in Kentucky and West Virginia. In this transaction, we sold a volumetric
producticn payment (VPP) to affiliates of UBS AG and DB Energy Trading L.LC (a subsidiary of Deutsche Bank AG)
for proceeds of $1.1 billion. Additionatly, we assigned certain hedges to the purchaser valued at approximately ($52)
million. Proceeds were used to repay outstanding borrowings under our revolving bank credit facility.

The VPP entitles the purchaser to receive scheduled quantities of natural gas from Chesapeake’s interesis in
over 4,000 producing wells, free of all production costs and production taxes over a 15-year period. The
transaction included approximately 208 befe of proved reserves and an initial delivery rate of 55 mmcfe per day.
As of December 31, 2007, this would equate to approximately 2% of our proved reserves and net production. We
have retained drilling rights on the properties below producing intervals and outside of existing producing
wellbores as of such date. Our operating and financial results will no longer reflect production and proved
reserve volumes associated with the production volumes covered by the VPP transaction. Associated with the
transaction, we have committed to purchase the VPP production over the 15 year term at market prices at the
time of production, and the purchased gas will be resold. Proceeds from the sale were accounted for as a
reduction of oil and natural gas properties and no gain or loss was recognized.
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14. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

Summarized unaudited quarterly financial data for 2007 and 2006 are as follows ($ in millions except per
share data):

Quarters Ended
Murch 31, June 30, Scptember 30, December 31,

2007 2007 2007 2007
TOlal TEVETUES v vttt ettt e e e et e $1,580 $2,105 $2,027 $2,088
Grossprofit (a) ... .o e 486 836 715 612
NetinCome . ... i i et et e 258 518(b) 372 303
Net income available to common shareholders . ............. 232 493(b) 346 158
Net earnings per common share:
Basic ... 5051 $1.09 $ 0.76 $ 034
Diluted . ... ... 5050 §$1.01 5072 $ 033
Quarters Ended
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2006 2006 2006 2006
Total TEVENUES . ..ttt e e e et e $1,945 $1,584 $1,929 $1,868
Grossprofit (a) ........ .. .. i 952 673 953 835
Netincome .. ... ... ... e 624(c) 360 548 471
Net income available to common shareholders .............. 604(c) 332 523 445
Net earnings per common share:
Basic .. $ 164§ 0.87 $1.25 § 1.05
Diluted . ... $144 § 082 3 1L13 $ 096

(a) Total revenue less operating costs.

(b) Includes a pre-tax gain on sale of investment of $83 million.

(c} Includes a pre-tax employee retirement expense of $55 million and a pre-tax gain on sale of investment of
$117 million.

15. Recently Issued Accounting Standards

The FASB recently issued the foltowing standards which were reviewed by Chesapeake to determine the
potential impact on our financial statements upon adoption.

In February 2006, the FASB issved SFAS No. 155, Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments—
an amendment of FASB Statements No. 133 and 140. SFAS 155 permits an entity to measure at fair value any
financial instrument that contains an embedded derivative that otherwise would require bifurcation. This
statement is effective for all financial instruments we acquire or issue after December 31, 2006. Adoption of
SFAS 155 did not have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows,

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 137, Fair Value Measurements. This statement defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), and
expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This statement is effective for financial statements issued for
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. However, on February 12, 2008, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS
157-2, Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157 which delays the effective date of SFAS No. 157 for ali
nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in
the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually). This FSP partially defers the effective date of
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SFAS No. 157 to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal years
for items within the scope of this FSP. We are currently assessing the impact, if any, the adoption of this
statement will have on our financial positio, results of operations or cash flows.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities. This statement permils entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain
other items at fair value, This statement expands the use of fair value measurement and applies to entities that
elect the fair value option. The fair value option established by this statement permits all entities to choose to
measure eligible items at fair value at specified election dates. This statement is effective as of the beginning of
the first fiscal year that begins after November 15, 2007. We are currently assessing the impact, if any, the
adoption of this statement will have on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In November 2007, the FASB issued its preliminary views on financial instruments with characteristics of
equity as a step preceding the development of a proposed Statement of Financial Accounting Standards. Such a
standard would affect accounting for convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon conversion,
including partial cash settlements. This accounting could increase the amount of interest expense required to be
recognized with respect to such instruments and, thus, lower reported net income and net income per share of
issuers of such instruments. Issuers would have to account for the liability and equity components of the
instrument separately and in a manner that reflects interest expense at the interest rate of similar nonconvertible
debt. We have two debt series that would be affected by such a standard, our 2.75% Contingent Convertible
Senior Notes due 20335 and our 2.5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2037, If the FASB adopts the
guidance, it is expected to be effective for fiscal years starting after December 15, 2007. Companies would have
to apply the guidance retrospectively to both existing and new instruments that fall within the scope of the
guidance.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements, an amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51. This statement requires an entity to
separately disclose non-controlling interests as a separate component of equity in the balance sheet and clearly
identify on the face of the income statement net income related to non-controlling interests. This statement is
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. We are currently
assessing the impact, if any, the adoption of this statement will have on our financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141{R), Business Combinations. This statement requires
assets acquired and liabilities assumed to be measured at fair value as of the acquisition date, acquisition related
costs incurred prior to the acquisition to be expensed and contractual contingencies to be recognized at fair value
as of the acquisition date. This statement is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2008. We are currently assessing the impact, if any, the adoption of this statement will have
on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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Schedule II

CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
($ in millions)

Additions
Balance at Charged Charged Balance at
Beginning To To Other End
Description of Peried  Expense Accounts Deductions  of Period
December 31, 2007:
Allowance for doubtful accounts ... ............. $6 $2 5— $— $8
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets ... ..... - $— S— — 5—
December 31, 2006:
Allowance for doubtful accounts ................ $5 $1 $— $— 56
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets .. ...... 5— $— $— $— 5—
December 31, 2005:
Allowance for doubtful accounts ................ $5 5— $— $— $5
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets ........ $— $— $— $— $—
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ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A, Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed
by Chesapeake in reports filed or submitted by it under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange
Commission rules and forms. As of December 31, 2007, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and
with the participation of Chesapeake management, including Chesapeake’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of Chesapeake’s disclosure controls and
procedures pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b). Based upon that evaluation. our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of
December 31, 2007, to ensure that information required to be disclosed by Chesapeake is accumulated and
communicated to Chesapeake management, including Chesapeake’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Controls

No changes in the company’s internal control over financial reporting occurred during the quarter ended
December 31, 2007 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s
internal control over financial reporting,

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting and the audit report on our internal
control over financial reporting of our independent registered public accounting firm are included in Item 8 of
this report.

ITEM 9B. Other Information
Not applicable.
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PART 111

ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information called for by this Item 10 is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy
Statement to be filed by Chesapeake pursuant to Regulation 14A of the General Rules and Regulations under the }
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 not later than April 29, 2008. : \

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

The information called for by this ltem 11 is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy
Statement to be filed by Chesapeake pursuant to Regulation 14A of the General Rules and Regulations under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 not later than April 29, 2008.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information called for by this Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy
Statement to be filed by Chesapeake pursuant to Regulation 14A of the General Rules and Regulations under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 not later than April 29, 2008. ‘

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

| The information called for by this Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy
Statement to be filed by Chesapeake pursuant to Regulation 14A of the General Rules and Regulations under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 not later than April 29, 2008.

ITEM 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information called for by this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy
Statement to be filed by Chesapeake pursuant to Regulation 14A of the General Rules and Regulations under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 not later than April 29, 2008.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents ure filed as part of this report:

1. Financial Statements. Chesapeake’s consolidated financial statements are included in Item 8 of this
report. Reference is made to the accompanying Index to Financial Statements.
2. Financial Statement Schedules. Schedule 11 is included in [tem 8 of this report with our consolidated
financial statements. No other financial statement schedules are applicable or required,
3. Exhibits. The following exhibits are filed herewith pursuant to the requirements of Item 601 of
Regulation S-K:
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit SEC File Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form Number Exhibit  Filing Date =~ Herewith
RN Chesapeake’s Restated Certificate of 10-Q 001-13726  3.1.1  08/09/2006
Incorporation, as amended.
312 Certificate of Designation for Series A 10-Q 001-13726  3.1.2  08/09/2006
Junior Participating Preferred Stock, as
amended.
313 Certificate of Designation of 4.125% 10-Q 001-13726  3.1.3  05/08/2007
Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock, as
amended.
3.14 Certificate of Designation of 5% Cumulative 8-K 001-13726 3.1 11/09/2005
Convertible Preferred Stock (Series 2005B).
3.15 Certificate of Designation of 5% Cumulative X
Convertible Preferred Stock (Series 2005),
as amended.,
316 Certificate of Designation of 4.5% 8-K 001-13726 3.1 09/15/2005
Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock.
3.1.7 Certificate of Designation of 6.25% X
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, as
amended.
3.2 Chesapeake’s Amended and Restated 8-K 001-13726 31 06/13/2007
Bylaws.
4.1* Indenture dated as of May 27, 2004 among S-4  333-116555 4.1 06/17/2004
Chesapeake, as issuer, the subsidiaries
signatory thereto, as Subsidiary Guaraniors,
and the Bank of New York Trust Company,
N.A, as Trustee, with respect to 7.5% senior
notes due 2014.
4.2% Indenture dated as of August 2, 2004 among S-4  333-118378 4.1 0872072004

Chesapeake, as issuer, the subsidiaries
signatory thereto, as Subsidiary Guarantors,
and the Bank of New York Trust Company,
N.A_, as Trustee, with respect 1o 7.0% senior
notes due 2014.
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Exhibit
Number

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description Form

SEC File
Number Exhibit Filing Date

Filed
Herewith

4.3%

4.4%

4.4.1*

4.5%

4.6*

Indenture dated as of December 20, 2002 S-4
among Chesapeake, as issuer, the

subsidiaries signatory thereto, as Subsidiary
Guarantors and The Bank of New York

Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee, with

respect to our 7.75% Senior Notes due 2015.

Seventh Amended and Restated Credit 8-K
Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2007,
among Chesapeake Energy Corporation, as
the Company, Chesapeake Exploration,
L.L.C. and Chesapeake Appalachia, L.L..C,,
as Co-Borrowers, Union Bank of California,
N.A,, as Administrative Agent, The Royal
Bank of Scotland, as Syndication Agent, and
Bank of America, N.A_, SunTrust Bank and
BNP Paribas, as Co-Documentation Agents,
and the several lenders from time to time
parties thereto.

Consent & Waiver Letter dated December
12, 2007 with respect to the Seventh
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement,
dated as of November 2, 2007, among
Chesapeake Energy Corporation, as the
Company, Chesapeake Exploration, L.L.C.
and Chesapeake Appalachia, L.L.C., as Co-
Borrowers, Union Bank of California, N.A.,
as Administrative Agent, The Royal Bank of
Scotland, as Syndication Agent, and Bank of
America, N.A., SunTrust Bank and BNP
Paribas, as Co-Documentation Agents, and
the several lenders from time to time parties
thereto.

Indenture dated as of March 5, 2003 among S-4
Chesapeake, as issuer, the subsidiaries

signatory thereto, as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Trust Company, -

N.A., as Trustee, with respect to 7.5%

Senior Notes due 2013.

Indenture dated as of November 26, 2003 S-4/A
among Chesapeake, as issuer, the

subsidiaries signatory thereto, as Subsidiary
Guarantors and The Bank of New York

Trust Company, N.A_, as Trustee, with

respect to 6.875% senior notes due 2016.
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Exhibit
Number

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description Form

SEC File
Number

Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed
Herewith

4.7*

4.8%

4.9%

4.10*

4.11%*

4,12%

4.13*

Indenture dated as of December 8, 2004 8-K
among Chesapeake, as issuer, the subsidiaries
signatory thereto, as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Trust Company,

N.A. Trust Company, N A _, as Trustee, with

respect to 6.375% senior notes due 2015,

[ndenture dated as of April 19, 2005 among 10-Q
Chesapeake, as issuer, the subsidiaries '
signatory thereto, as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Trust Company,

N.A., as Trustee, with respect 10 6.625%

senior notes due 2016.

Indenture dated as of June 20, 2005 among 10-Q
Chesapeake, as issuer, the subsidiaries

signatory thereto, as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Trust Company,

N.A., as Trustee, with respect to 6.25% senior

notes due 2018.

Indenture dated as of August 16, 2005 among 8-K
Chesapeake, as issuer, the subsidiaries

signatory thereto, as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Trust Company,

N.A., as Trustee, with respect to 6.50% senior

notes due 2017.

Indenture dated as of November 8, 2005 8-K
among Chesapeake, as issuer, the subsidiaries
signatory thereto, as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Trust Company,

N.A._, as Trustee, with respect to 6.875%

senior notes due 2020.

Indenture dated as of November 8, 2005 8-K
among Chesapeake, as issuer, the subsidiaries
signatory thereto, as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Trust Company,

N.A., as Trustee, with respect to 2.75%

contingent convertible senior notes due 2035.

Indenture dated as of June 30, 2006 among 8-K
Chesapeake, as issuer, the subsidiaries

signatory thereto, as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Trust Cormapany,

N.A., as Trustee, with respect to 7.625%

senior notes due 2013,

119

001-13726

001-13726

001-13726

001-13726

_ 001-13726

001-13726

001-13726

4.1

4.12

4.13

4.1

4.1.1

4.1.2

4.1

12/14/2004

05/10/2005

08/08/2005

(8/16/2005

11/15/2005

11/15/2005

06/30/2006



Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

Incorpaorated by Reference

Form

SEC File
Number

Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed
Herewith

4.14*

4.15*

10.1.1%

10.1.2¢

10.1.31

10.1.4%

10.1.5¢

10.1.6%

10.1.8%

10.1.10%

10.1.11%

10.1.12%

10.1.131

Indenture dated as of December 6, 20006
among Chesapeake, as issuer, the
subsidiaries signatory thereto, as
Subsidiary Guarantors, The Bank of New
York Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee,
AIB/BNY Fund Management (Ireland)
Limited, as Irish Paying Agent and
Transfer Agent, and The Bank of New
York, London Branch, as Registrar,
Transfer Agent and Paying Agent, with
respect to 6.25% senior notes due 2017.

Indenture dated as of May 15, 2007 among
Chesapeake, as issuer, the subsidiaries
signatory thereto, as Subsidiary
Guarantors and The Bank of New York
Trust Company, N.A_, as Trustee, with
respect to 2.50% contingent convertibie
senior notes due 2037,

Chesapeake’s 2003 Stock Incentive Plan,
as amended.

Chesapeake’s 1992 Nonstatutory Stock
Option Plan, as amended.

Chesapeake’s 1994 Stock Option Plan, as
amended.

Chesapeake’s 1996 Stock Option Plan, as
amended.

Chesapeake’s 1999 Stock Option Plan, as
amended.

Chesapeake’s 2000 Employee Stock
Option Plan, as amended.

Chesapeake’s 2001 Stock Option Plan, as
amended.

Chesapeake’s 2001 Nonqualified Stock
Option Plan, as amended.

Chesapeake’s 2002 Stock Option Plan, as
amended.

Chesapeake’s 2002 Non-Employee
Director Stock Option Plan.

Chesapeake’s 2002 Nonqualified Stock
Option Plan, as amended.
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8-K

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

DEF14A

10-Q

001-13726

001-13726

001-13726
001-[3'726
001-13726
001-13726
001-13726
001-13726
001-13726
001-13726
001-13726
001-13726

001-13726

4.1

4.1

10.1.1

10.1.2

10.1.3

10.1.4

10.1.5

10.1.6

10.1.8

10.1.10

10.1.11

10.1.13

12/06/2006

05/15/2007

1 1/09/2007

02/14/1997

HI/07/2006

11/07/2006

11707720606

11/07/2006

11/07/2006

11/07/2006

11/07/2006

04/29/2002

11/07/2006




Exhibit
Number

Iy . P “

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description . Form

SEC File
Number

Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed
Herewith

10.1.14%

10.1.15%

10.1.t6+

10.1.16.11

10.1.18¢

10.1.18.21

10.1.18.31

10.1.19%
10.2.1%

10.2.2¢

10.2.3%

10.2.4%

10.2.5+

10.2.61

Chesapeake’s 2003 Stock Award Plan
for Non-Employee Directors, as
amended.

Chesapeake Energy Corporation 401(k) 10-K
Make-Up Plan. |

Chesapeake Energy Corporation 10-K
Deferred Compensation Plan. -

Chesapeake Energy Corporation
Amended and Restated Deferred
Compensation Plan,

Chesapeake’s Amended and Restated 10-Q
Long Term Incentive Plan.

Form of Restricted Stock Award .8-K
Agreement for the Long Term Incentive
Plan.

Form of Non-Employee Director 8-K
Restricted Stock Award Agreement for
the Long Term Incentive Plan.

Founder Well Participation Program. DEF 14A

Employment Agreement dated as of 8-K
January 1, 2008, between Aubrey K.

McClendon and Chesapeake Energy

Corporation,

Employment Agreement dated as of 8-K
October 1, 2006 between Marcus C.

Rowland and Chesapeake Energy

Corporation,

Employment Agreement dated as of 8-K
October 1, 2006 between Steven C,

Dixon and Chesapeake Energy

Corporation.

Employment Agreement dated as of " 8K
October 1, 2006 between J. Mark Lester
and Chesapeake Energy Corporation.

Employment Agreement dated as of 10-K
January 1, 2007 between Douglas 1.

Jacobson and Chesapeake Energy

Corporation.

Form of Employment Agreement
between Senior Vice Presidents and
Chesapeake Energy Corporation.
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10.1.16

10.1.18
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B

10.2.1

10.2.2

10.23

10.2.4

10.2.5

02/27/2003

02/27/2003

11/09/2007

06/16/2005
06/16/2005

04/29/2005
12/19/2007

10/06/2006

10/06/2006

10/06/2006

03/01/2007
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Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

Incorporated by Reference

Form

SEC File
Number

Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed
Herewith

10.37

10.41
10.5¢
10.6

10.6.1

10.6.2

21
23.1
23.2

233

234
235
23.6

311

31.2

321

Form of Indemnity Agreement for officers
angd directors of Chesapeake and its
subsidiaries.

Non-Employee Director Compensation.
Named Executive Officer Compensation.

Rights Agreement dated July 15, 1998
between Chesapeake and UMB Bank, N.A_,
as Rights Agent.

Amendment No. 1 dated September 11,
1998 to Rights Agreement dated July 15,
1998 between Chesapeake and UMB Bank,
N.A,, as Rights Agent.

Amendment No. 2 dated March 3, 2006 to
Rights Agreement dated July 15, 1998
between Chesapeake and UMB Bank, N.A,,
as Rights Agent.

Ratios of Eamnings to Fixed Charges and
Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred
Dividends.

Subsidiaries of Chesapeake
Consent of Pricewaterhouse Coopers, LLP

Consent of Netherland, Sewell &
Associates, Inc.

Consent of Data & Consulting Services,
Division of Schlumberger Technology
Corporation

Consent of Lee Keeling and Associates, Inc.
Consent of Ryder Scott Company L.P.

Consent of LaRoche Petroleum Consultants,
Ltd.

Aubrey K. McClendon, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, Certification pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

Marcus C. Rowland, Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer,
Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Aubrey K, McClendon, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer. Certification pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit SEC File Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form Number Exhibit  Filing Date Herewith
32.2 Marcus C. Rowland, Executive Vice President ’ X

and Chief Financial Officer, Certification
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

*  Chesapeake agrees to furnish a copy of any of its unfiled long-term debt instruments to the Securities and
Exchange Commission upon request.
t  Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirerﬁents of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION

By /s/  AUBREY K. MCCLENDON

Aubrey K. McClendon
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 29, 2008

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Capacity Date
/s AUBREY K. MCCLENDON Chairman of the Board, Chief February 29, 2008
Aubrey K. McClendon Executive Officer and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)

fs/  MaRcUs C. ROWLAND Executive Vice President and Chief ~ February 29, 2008
Marcus C. Rowland Financial Officer (Principal
Financial Officer)

/s/  MICHAEL A. JOHNSON Senior Vice President—Accounting,  February 29, 2008
Michael A. Johnson Controller and Chief Accounting
Officer (Principal Accounting
Officer)
/s/  RICHARD K. DAVIDSON Director February 29, 2008

Richard K. Davidson

/s! FRANK KEATING Director February 29, 2008
Frank Keating

/s/ BREENE M. KERR Director February 29, 2008
Breene M. Kerr

/sf CHARLES T. MAXWELL Director February 29, 2008
Charles T. Maxwell

/s/ MERRILL A. MILLER, JR Director February 29, 2008
Merrill A. Miller, Ir.

/s/  DON NICKLES Director February 29, 2008
Don Nickles
fs/  FREDERICK B. WHITTEMORE Director February 29, 2008

Frederick B, Whittemore
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Corporate Information

Corporate Information

(orporate Headquarters
6100 North Western Avenue
Oklahoma City, OK 73118

{405) 848-8000

Internet Address
(ompany financial information, pubitc disclosures and other information
are available through Chesapeake's web site at www.chk.com.

Common Stock

(hesapeake Energy (orporation's common stock is listed on the New York
Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbot CHK. As of March 31, 2008, there
were approximately 294,000 beneficial owners of our common stock.

Common Stock Dividends

During 2007, the company dedared a cash dividend of $0.06 per share on
Marchi 13 and $0.0675 per share on June 12, September 5 and December
19 for a tota! dividend declared of $0.2625 per share.

Independent Public Accountants
Pricewaterhouse(oopers LLP

6120 South Yale, Suite 1850

Tulsa, OK 74136

(918) 5241200

Stock Transfer Agent and Registrar

(ommunication concerning the transfer of shares, lost certificates,
duptlicate mailings or change of address notifications should be directed
to our transfer agent:

(omputershare Trust Company, NA.

150 Royall Street

(anton, MA 02021

(800} 884-4225

Trustee for the Company’s Senior Notes
The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A.

101 Barclay Street, 8th Floor

New York, NY 10286

SEC and NYSE Certifications

The Form 10-K, included herein, which was fled by the company with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) for the fiscal vear ended
Decernber 31, 2007, includes, as exhibits, the certifications of our chief
executive officer and chief financial officer required to be filed with
the SEC pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
The company has alse filed with the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE)
the 2007 annual certification of its chief executive officer confirming
that the company has complied with the NYSE corporate governance
listing standards.

Forward-luoking Statements

This report includes “forward-looking staternents” that give our current
expectations or forecasts of future events. They include estimates of
oil and natural gas reserves, expected oil and natural gas production
and future expenses, projections of future oil and natural gas prices,

planned capital expenditures for drilling, leasehold acquisitiens and
seismic data, and statements concerning anticipated cash flow and
liquidity, business strategy and other plans and objectives for future
operations. Discdosures concerning the fair values of derivative contracts
and their estimated contribution to our future results of aperations are
based upon market information as of a spacific date. These market prices
are subject to significant volatility.

Although we believe the expectations and forecasts reflected in these
and other forward-looking statements are reasonable, we ¢an give no
assurance they will prove to have Bieen correct. They can be affected by
inaccurate assumptions or by known or unknown risks and uncertainties,
Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from expected
results are described under “Risk Factors™ in [tem 1A of our 2007
Annual Report on Form 10-K included in this report. We caution you
not to place undue refiance on forward-locking statements, and we
undertake no obligation to update this information. We urge you to
carefully review and consider the disclosures made in this report and
our other filings with the SEC regarding the risks and factors that may
affect our business,

The SEC has generalty permitted oil and natural gas companies, in filings
made with the SEC, to disclose only proved reserves that a company
has demonstrated by actual production or conclusive formation fests
to be economically and legally producible under existing economic
and operating conditions. We use the term “unproved” to describe
volurnes of reserves potentially recoverable through additional drilling
or recovery techniques that the SEC's quidelines may prohibit us from
induding in filings with the SEC. These estimates are by their nature
more specufative than estimates of proved reserves and accordingly
are subject to substantially greater risk of being actually realized by
the company. Whife we believe our calculations of unproved drillsites
and estimation of unproved reserves have been appropriately risked
and are reasonahle, such calculations and estimates have not Been
reviewed by third-party engineers or appraisers.

2008 High Low Last
First Quarter $49.87 $34.42 #4615
2007 High Low Last
Fourth Quarter 9 $3490 $39.20
Third Quarter 3155 31.38 35.26
Second Quarter LYNL] 30.88 3460
First Quarter 31.83 nn 30.88
2006 High Low Last
Fourth Quarter Uy $2790 $29.05
Third Quarter biR 2806 1898
Second Quarter 319 26.81 0.5
First Quarter 057 an 3141

NYSE

Stock Split History

December 1996: two-for-one
June 1996: three-for-two
Dacember 1995: three-for-two
Dacember 1994: two-for-one
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Not a solid, like coal.

Not a liquid, like oil

is lighter, cleaner and

burns more efficiently.
For meeting 21st century energy needs, it’'s the answer,

And at Chesapeake,

Ches:g@peake END
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